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Oka:Oka:The 1990 Oka Crisis is considered a defi ning moment in 

Native-Canadian relations. Contrary to popular belief, it 

was not an isolated event but rather the 300-year long 

convergence of two distinct cultures that culminated in 

a violent clash in the microcosm of Oka and included the 

domestic deployment of the Canadian Forces, 4,500 strong.

Drawing on a strikingly wide range of hitherto untapped 

historical and primary sources, including interviews and 

government documents secured through the Access to Informa-

tion Act, Oka: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian
Forces dispels the common mythology and disinformation

surrounding the causes and events of the Oka Crisis. 

Winegard highlights the relevance of Oka, as an integral 

part of Canadian history, towards the formation of govern-

mental policy and the active participation of Indigenous 

Canadians in their ongoing effort to shape and alter their 

social and political realities within Canada and their 

resistance to cultural assimilation. This innovative study 

also engages in a detailed probe of the most controversial 

and volatile Canadian Forces internal security operation of 

the twentieth century.  
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FOREWORD

I am delighted to introduce Oka: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian 
Forces by Timothy C. Winegard as the latest additi on to the Canadian Defence 
Academy (CDA) Press collecti on.  With its humble beginnings in January 2005, 
the CDA Press has published books of specifi c interest to the Canadian Forces 
(CF) and to those interested in the study of the profession of arms in Canada.  
Our aim has always been to create a disti nct and unique body of Canadian mil-
itary leadership literature and knowledge that will assist leaders at all levels of 
the CF prepare themselves for operati ons in a complex security environment, 
as well as to inform the public with respect to the contributi on of CF personnel 
to Canadian society and internati onal aff airs.

As such, Oka: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian Forces is an impor-
tant volume in the CDA Press collecti on.  Aid to the civil power, parti cularly 
in cases of civil disobedience, is arguably one of the most diffi  cult tasks the 
military may be called upon to perform.  Although military forces represent 
the government’s legiti mate managers of violence, and oft en the govern-
ment’s last resort to re-establish law and order, the image of soldiers using 
violence against fellow citi zens is one that everyone, parti cularly the nati on’s 
soldiers, would rather not see. Yet, in the spring/summer of 1990, the CF was 
called on to do exactly that. The CF was deployed to assist in the sett lement of 
the emoti onally-charged Oka crisis that had already cost the life of a Quebec 
provincial police offi  cer.  

The ensuing tense weeks were fi lled with confl ict and potenti ally explosive 
situati ons, all in the glare of the ever-present media.  Throughout the 78-day 
crisis, the potenti al for catastrophe was omnipresent. Yet, in the end, although 
mistakes were made and many lessons were learned, the CF and its leadership 
made the best of a terrible situati on and earned the respect of Canadians.  That 
story is told within these pages. Tim Winegard has writt en a well-researched 
study of Oka, which also focuses on the CF’s parti cipati on during that aid to 
the civil power operati on.  As such, it provides the background and context to 
the major issues, as well as a detailed explanati on of the struggle and eventual 
outcome.  In sum it provides an excellent case study and is worthy of study by 
all military leaders and those interested in Canadian military aff airs.      

In closing, I wish to reiterate that Oka: A Convergence of Cultures and the 
Canadian Forces is an important new additi on to the CDA Press list of ti tles.  
It adds to the sparse body of contemporary Canadian military operati onal 
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leadership literature.  As such, I believe that it will provide valuable insight to 
all those who serve in, and equally those who interact with, the profession of 
arms in Canada. 

Colonel Bernd Horn
Chairman, CDA Press
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INTRODUCTION

The sleepy town of Oka, Quebec, strategically positi oned at the confl uence 
of the Ott awa and St. Lawrence Rivers, existed in relati ve obscurity save for 
the producti on of a pungent semi-soft  cheese made by the cloistered men 
of a local seminary.  Located roughly 65 kilometres (km) northwest of Mon-
treal, this one-stoplight village of 3,000 people hardly seemed the site to 
culti vate Canada’s longest and most capricious internal rebellion since the late 
nineteenth century.  Underneath what appeared to be the town’s innocent 
atmosphere and playful outdoor demeanour lurked an ugly tenebrous reality 
that had plagued the region of the Lake of Two Mountains since the arrival of 
French missionaries in the early eighteenth century.  

The protracted confl ict between the Nati ve inhabitants of Kanesatake 
(“On the Sandy Dunes”) and the religious order of the Seminary of St-Sulpice 
had been seething for almost 300 years.  On the surface, it took the proposed 
expansion of the Oka Golf Club to ignite the long-standing feud into an armed 
revolt, which spread to the neighbouring Mohawk Reserve of Kahnawake on 
the south shore of Montreal.  The masked, gun-wielding Mohawk Warriors 
and the subsequent deployment of the Canadian Forces (CF) gripped the 
curiosity of a nati on paralyzed with fear.  This was happening in Canada. 

The standoff  during the spring and summer of 1990 between elements of 
the Mohawk Nati on and various Canadian and American security agencies at 
Akwesasne, Ganienkeh, Kanesatake (Oka) and Kahnawake was not born in a 
vacuum.  The federal government of Canada, the provincial governments of 
Quebec and Ontario, and the numerous facti ons within the Mohawk Nati on 
had confl icti ng arguments to validate their own agendas.  It is evident that the 
foundati ons of the violent events that transpired lie in none of the immediate 
or neighbouring factors on which the att enti on was focused.  

To compound the confusion, the legal framework and the politi cal under-
standing for the deployment of the Canadian Forces, 4,500 strong, in the func-
ti on of Aid to the Civil Power were and are not understood.  In reality, the CF 
deployment, dubbed Operati on SALON, rivalled Canada’s commitment to the 
1st Commonwealth Division during the Korean War (1950-1953) and to NATO 
in West Germany during the Cold War.  Currently, no more than 2,500 Cana-
dian soldiers, at any given ti me, are in support of the Internati onal Security 
Assistance Force (ISAF) as part of Operati on ATHENA in Afghanistan (2001—).  
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In contrast, the Canadian Forces deployment to Kanesatake and Kahnawake, 
under Operati on SALON, peaked at 3,700 soldiers.1 

The confl ict at Kanesatake over the area locally known as “the Pines” 
appeared to stem from the decision of the Oka town council to expand the 
local golf course by nine holes, in conjuncti on with the erecti on of 60 luxury 
homes along the fairways of the proposed course.  However, this pronounce-
ment was preceded by numerous land claims dati ng back to the seventeenth 
and eighteenth centuries and what was perceived by the Aboriginal inhabit-
ants to be a neglectf ul governmental policy towards Nati ve issues.  As the 
eventual 78-day standoff  progressed, ulterior moti ves entered the Nati ve 
agenda.  Mohawk Nati on sovereignty and self-determinati on became princi-
pal points of demand and debate, overshadowing the campaign to save the 
white pine forest.  

The peaceful protests of the early spring were replaced with armed confron-
tati ons and violent blockades.  Under the guise of Nati ve rights, elements of 
the Mohawk Nati on’s Warrior Society sought to protect an illegal enterprise 
of gambling and a smuggling network for cigarett es, alcohol, weapons and 
human traffi  cking. Whether or not the Canadian public was aware of the 
deep-seated causes of the confl ict, the ensuing media barrage that engulfed 
the standoff  fi rmly entrenched Oka in the social consciousness of the Cana-
dian public, and to some extent, of the internati onal community.

Few would argue that the militant posture of a certain, relati vely small, 
collecti ve of Mohawks during the Oka Crisis amplifi ed the nati on’s awareness 
of the plight of Indigenous Canadians and their struggles for cultural and ter-
ritorial recogniti on.  Standing alone then, this was indeed a positi ve att ribute 
to the summer of 1990.  However, this point, when coupled with the larger 
violent manifestati on of Nati ve frustrati ons cannot, in any rati onal thought, 
be considered a victory for the Mohawk Nati on, Indigenous Canadians or the 
peoples and governments of Canada.  The horribly frightening scenes of Cana-
dians pointi ng guns at other Canadians cannot, and should not in the future, 
be seen as a viable soluti on to the divides of politi cs and ethnicity.  

However, in openly criti cizing the Warrior Society and its radical acti ons, the 
legiti mate grievances of the Mohawk Nati on and Canadian Aboriginals as 
an enti rety might be detrimentally overlooked.  In contrast, identi fying the 
Warriors as the voice and ambassadors of the Mohawk people would be dan-
gerous, disadvantageous and unequivocally unfounded and unwarranted.2   
Correspondingly, the Warrior Society was made up of a diverse collecti ve with 
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diff ering moti vati ons and a large disparity in stance concerning illicit practi ces.  
The vast majority of Mohawks are proud, peaceful and law-abiding members 
of their communiti es.  

What follows is neither a condemnati on nor an accusati on.  The Oka Crisis was 
the product of two disti nct cultures converging over 300 years to clash in the 
microcosm that was the spring and summer of 1990. Colonizati on and gov-
ernmental regulati ons created an atmosphere of dissent and isolati on within 
Nati ve communiti es. Colonizati on, imperial warfare in North America, west-
ern religion and subsequent regal and Canadian policies created divisions 
in both the Iroquois Confederacy and the Mohawk Nati on. This dissent and 
the long-standing religious and politi cal facti ons of the Mohawk Nati on, in 
combinati on with more recent neglectf ul governmental land claim poli-
cies, led to the violent manifestati ons of Mohawk frustrati ons.  The original 
Warriors were highly idealisti c and viewed themselves as the front-line defence 
to protect Mohawk land. With the conti nuati on of neglectf ul governmental 
policies and a loss of economic stability, the Warrior Society transformed itself 
into a multi -facet organizati on, which included criminal elements. 

In eff ect, the governments of Canada and Quebec helped create the Oka Crisis 
and the Warrior Society through a history of assimilati on, neglect and non-
negoti ated policies.  The creati on of an Indian Act and land claim policies with-
out any Nati ve input or opinion left  Aboriginal Canadians with litt le power to 
control or change the decisions made by governments that drasti cally aff ected 
their culture and communiti es negati vely. Barricading roads and bridges with 
high traffi  c volume was seen as the only opti on to bring the governments to 
the negoti ati ng table.  

The Oka Crisis was about legiti mate grievances over land rights at Kanesatake.  
There can be no doubti ng this.  However, the longer it progressed through 
failed negoti ati ons, the more members of the Warrior Society, aided by 
non-Mohawk corporate interests, were allowed to use these justi fi able grie-
vances of the Mohawk Nati on to usurp power to protect a multi -million dollar 
gaming and smuggling network.  The ulti mate goal for certain Warriors was 
to inti midate both the Mohawks who opposed them, and also the govern-
ments of Canada and Quebec, so that control of the Reserves remained with 
them, unchallenged by internal or external police forces.  The Oka Crisis origi-
nated from valid Mohawk frustrati ons over unheard and unheeded land claim 
submissions.  It was a cause that all Mohawks could support. Unfortunately, 
this included elements of the Warrior Society which altered the methods 
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for change using the classic revoluti onary formula, ulti mately transforming 
Akwesasne into a narco-parastate.3  

The deployment of the CF was in many respects unavoidable.  The Sûreté du 
Québec (SQ) was unprepared to confront the Warriors and their supporters 
and could not match the Warriors’ weapon arsenal. When the SQ att empt-
ed to forcefully end the standoff  on 11 July, they only escalated an already 
volati le situati on. Secondly, the framework of Aid to the Civil Power left  the 
CF with no choice but to intervene at the request of the Province of Quebec.  
The acti ons initi ated by the CF ended the immediate crisis without any further 
loss of life. The deployment of the Canadian Forces in such magnitude within 
Canada warrants an explanati on and an understanding, which is lacking in the 
historical record of the Oka Crisis. 

The foundati ons of the Oka Crisis are extremely complex and embody many 
perspecti ves. The strife and violence that paralyzed Mohawk country were 
not a progression of isolated events but the radical culminati on of many.  
In an att empt to reach a more comprehensive understanding of these view-
points and to connect these events, the story must begin with an outline and 
synopsis of the Mohawk positi on within the framework of North American 
politi cs and history.  Inextricably, their history is coupled with the history of 
European colonialism and western politi cal thought, the evoluti on of which 
created long-standing feuds and disagreements over land claims and Na-
ti ve self-determinati on.  The Oka Crisis represents the violent collision of the 
convergence of two disti nct cultures.4
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PART I 
Converging Cultures

The Oka Crisis was not an isolated event in the history of the Mohawk 
Nati on.  It was the unfortunate manifestati on of the convergence of 
Aboriginal culture and territorial holdings in connecti on with the 

arrival of Europeans and the posture, atti  tudes and policies of successive 
North American governments relati ng to Nati ve rights and concerns.  These 
are the two converging lines; the Indigenous peoples of Turtle Island in con-
necti on with Europeans.  In relati on, the story of the Oka Crisis must be writ-
ten as such.  The reasons for the Oka Crisis are equally as important as the 
events and approaches for resoluti on initi ated by both sides during the crisis 
itself.  

The converging lines narrowed during 300 years of precarious cohabitati on to 
fi nally and violently meet in 1990 in the form of barricades and hosti lity within 
the territories of the Mohawk Nati on.  The introducti on of these lines to form 
an uneasy relati onship began with the arrival of European explorers and their 
contact with the Nati ve nati ons of North America.  When Jacques Carti er met 
the St. Lawrence Iroquois in 1534 the future of the Nati ve populati on, more 
specifi cally the Iroquois Confederacy and its Mohawk Nati on, became insepa-
rably linked to the future of the colonizing nati ons.  It is within this history that 
the origins of the Oka Crisis lie.  

Included in this history are the politi cal organizati ons, culture and practi ces of 
the Mohawk Nati on as a microcosm of the larger Iroquois Confederacy. These 
characteristi cs were drasti cally altered by interacti on with European sett lers. 
The introducti on of Christi anity, European politi cal thought, insti tuti ons, warfare 
and capitalism, in the form of the fur trade, all had a profound impact on the 
cohesion of the Five Nati ons Iroquois Confederacy and its Great Law of Peace.  

The infusion of conti nental European wars into the landscape of North Amer-
ica, coupled with Nati ve parti cipati on, forever altered the status quo and 
ulti mately led to the downfall of the Iroquois Confederacy.  Its positi on as 
the premier military power, not only among Nati ve alliances but also among 
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the rival European powers, was irreversibly lost.  The inescapable onslaught 
of European culture unhinged the Iroquois Confederacy by creati ng politi cal, 
religious and allegiance divisions within its member nati ons including the 
Mohawk.  These divisions created through contact and fostered by consecu-
ti ve governmental policies forged the atmosphere for future confl ict within 
the Mohawk Nati on culminati ng at Akwesasne, Kanesatake and Kahnawake 
during 1990. 

The combinati on of these divisions and the failure of negoti ated land claims 
created a dissident environment leading to the foundati on of the archetype 
for militant Canadian Aboriginals in the form of the Mohawk Warrior Society.  
The Mohawk transiti on from loyal Briti sh ally to ward of Ott awa’s paternal-
isti c and assimilati onist Indian Act was stubbornly resisted and the Mohawk 
acti vely took a lead role in the 1960s “red power movement.”  In the 20 years 
before the Oka Crisis, the Warrior Society was reintroduced into Mohawk 
culture, armed itself with a sophisti cated weapon arsenal and subsequently 
grew corrupt.5 To gain legiti macy, it connected the valid frustrati ons of Ab-
original communiti es with armed militancy and criminal acti viti es.  The War-
riors implemented revoluti onary tacti cs, and inti midated and att acked their 
brethren, creati ng further splits within the traditi onal Longhouse and the 
Indian Act Band Councils.

Given the numerous parti ti ons within the Mohawk Nati on and the struggle for 
power, the Reserves were left  without any dominant form of governance.  The 
Oka Crisis was an exercise of power.  It was a struggle for power between the 
Mohawk Nati on in its enti rety against the land claims policies of the federal 
government.  However, it also represented the struggle for power within the 
Mohawk Nati on itself. While many Canadians view the Oka Crisis as a defi n-
ing moment in Canadian-Nati ve relati ons, this perspecti ve is not shared by 
the Mohawk Nati on.  It is simply one more example of contenti on within the 
converging cultures throughout the past 300 years.
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CHAPTER 1

The Iroquois Confederacy and the 
Great Law of Peace

In order to appreciate the complexiti es and causes for the Oka Crisis an 
examinati on of the remarkable, and at ti mes confusing, history of the Iroquois 
Confederacy, or the Six Nati ons is paramount.  This includes the culture, tradi-
ti ons and history of the Mohawk Nati on and its people who sti ll maintain the 
belief that they are a sovereign nati on within the confi nes of North America; 
their historical record and oral history pre-date the “discovery” of the New 
World by Christopher Columbus.  The Oka Crisis was simply another episode 
in a protracted confl ict between their culture and that of the European pow-
ers. The European presence had profound impacts on the politi cal, social and 
military systems of the Indigenous peoples of North America, the infl uences 
of which are sti ll felt today.  

Currently, more than two million Canadians can claim some Nati ve ancestry, 
650,000 under the bureaucrati c decree of “Status Indian” living on one of 
more than 2,200 Reserves totalling roughly 600,000 square kilometres.  The 
Canadian Assembly of First Nati ons esti mates that at the ti me of European 
contact, some 20 million Nati ves were living in North America, organized in di-
verse and culturally disti nct nati ons.6  Although North American Nati ve culture 
was less technologically developed than some Asian and European cultures, 
multi farious trade routes networking the enti re conti nent had existed for 
centuries and great empires fl ourished.

The Mohawk or Kanien’keha:ka (People of the Flint) was one of fi ve nati ons 
belonging to the Iroquois Confederacy or Haudenosaunee, an intricate politi -
cal and cultural associati on of neolithic farmers and hunters centred in what 
is now upper New York State.  The Iroquois nati ons migrated north from what 
is believed to be the Oklahoma-Missouri-Arkansas area in the fourteenth or 
fi ft eenth centuries, aft er being displaced by the more powerful Osage and 
Quapaw Nati ons.7  Due to the relati vely secure food supply in the north, the 
Iroquoian peoples lived a sedentary lifestyle resulti ng in greater populati on 
concentrati ons than those tribes of migratory hunter-gatherers.  Some Iroquoi-
an towns numbered 1,500 persons, while most consisted of 300-500 persons.  
This populati on density was responsible for the disti nct architectural feature 
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of the longhouse—multi -family dwellings, many of which were encircled by 
forti fi ed palisade walls to create a defensible and guarded village.  The Iroquois 
became known as “the people of the longhouse” or Roti nonhesasha:ka.8     

The Mohawk were living in forti fi ed villages along the Mohawk River near 
present-day Uti ca, Albany and Schenectady, New York State.  The eastern-
most nati on of the Confederacy or “Keepers of the Eastern Gate,” Mohawk 
territory stretched from the northern banks of the St. Lawrence River, includ-
ing Montreal Island, to as far south as the Mohawk River, encompassing the 
Adirondack Mountains in Vermont, the Connecti cut River Valley, and the lands 
surrounding Lake Champlain.  

To the west were the villages and hunti ng grounds of the Oneida (Hodene-
hiota—People of the Standing Stone), Onondaga (Onodahgeyga—People of 
the Hills), and the Cayuga (Gayogwenga—People of the Swamp).  The Seneca 
(Donahguh—People of the Great Hills) were the largest of the fi ve nati ons and 
like their Mohawk brethren in the east, were the “Keepers of the Western 
Gate.”  Seneca lands bordered the shores of Lake Erie and Lake Ontario.9 Far-
ther west existed smaller groups of Iroquoian-speaking enemies: the Huron 
(Wendat/Wyandot), the Wenro, the Neutrals, the Tionontati  and the Erie.  To 
the south in present-day Pennsylvania lived the Susquehannock, another re-
lated enemy of the fi ve nati ons.  The Carolinas were home to the Tuscarora, 
who in the early eighteenth century fl ed sett lers and rival Nati ve nati ons, tak-
ing refuge in New York among the Iroquois.  They entered the Confederacy as 
a non-voti ng member in 1722, thus creati ng the Six Nati ons Confederacy as it 
is sti ll known today.10   

The associati on of these initi al fi ve nati ons into an alliance predates European 
arrival.  Iroquois traditi on recounts that the formati on of the coaliti on was 
due to the desires of Deganawida (Peace Maker) and Aionwatha (Hiawatha) to 
end the feuding, cannibalism and war that had long been present among the 
fi ve nati ons, while also bringing a larger peace to the other Nati ve nati ons in 
the surrounding regions.11 Thus, by the creati on of this powerful alliance, the 
fi ve nati ons had the ability to defend themselves but also, if necessary, wage 
war in overwhelming numbers against their enemies.  In a demonstrati on of 
solidarity, oral traditi on recounts how the members of the fi ve nati ons, under 
the infl uence of Deganawida, buried their hatchets and war clubs under the 
Tree of Peace.  In short, the Iroquois Confederacy was an alliance predicated 
upon parallel cultural and clan associati ons for strategic military purposes.12   
Although the origin of the Confederacy has been dated as early as 1142, it 
is more likely, based on archaeological and historical evidence, that the 
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Confederacy was consolidated in the mid-fi ft eenth century, at which ti me the 
Iroquois numbered roughly 20,000.13  

Based on the matrilineal clan system of the fi ve nati ons and the fundamental 
tenet of resoluti ons by consensus, the Confederacy was a subdivided network 
of relati ons joining households to villages and in turn, connecti ng these vil-
lages to their respecti ve nati on councils.  These nati onal councils formed the 
basis for the Confederacy’s Central Fire at Onondaga, the most central of the 
nati ons.  The Onondaga also served as the “Keeper of the Wampum.”  Cus-
tomary to Iroquois traditi on, the Wampum—multi -coloured beads woven into 
a belt—served as an archival history of the treati es and important events of 
the Confederacy and its member nati ons.14   

All nati ons followed the Longhouse traditi ons, in which 15 to 20 people lived 
in a longhouse, each represented by a head Clan Mother.  In this complex 
politi cal system, all 50 of the Confederacy Chiefs and the War Chiefs were 
men, and were chosen, based on matriarchal hereditary lineage, by the Clan 
Mothers at local councils.  The Clan Mothers also had the ability to rescind a 
Chief’s ti tle and role.  While the Chiefs had the power to make decisions based 
on consensus, their appointment resided with the women, giving all members 
of society a voice in the greater Iroquois politi cal organizati ons.15   

Table 1—Iroquois Clans16

The clan arrangements also served to strengthen the ti es between the nati ons 
themselves through singular clan allegiances.  The Mohawk possessed only 
the Turtle, Wolf and Bear clans, however; other nati ons included the Heron, 

Seneca Cayuga Onondaga Tuscarora Oneida Mohawk

Wolf Wolf Wolf Wolf Wolf Wolf

Bear Bear Bear Bear Bear Bear

Turtle Turtle Turtle Turtle Turtle Turtle

Snipe Snipe - Snipe - -

Deer - Deer Deer - -

Beaver - Beaver Beaver - -

Heron Heron - - - -

Hawk - Hawk - - -

- - Eel Eel - -
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Hawk, Eel, Snipe, Deer and Beaver clans.  Correspondingly, a Mohawk of the 
Bear clan would inevitably be connected with a Seneca or Oneida of that same 
clan.  Clan kinship and loyalti es were as strong as kinship with and loyalty to 
a respecti ve nati on.17 

The Great Law of Peace (Kaianerakowa), which is essenti ally the Iroquois 
Confederacy Consti tuti on, ensured the autonomy of each nati on over local 
interests, while jurisdicti on over foreign and military policy remained at the 
Confederacy level.  The Great Law provides the laws and doctrines that are the 
foundati on of Iroquois life and culture.  It consists of 117 arti cles, including the 
rights and duti es of statesmen, ownership of land and animals, spiritual cere-
emonial customs and the rights of the people.  In additi on, as the Confederacy 
was formed for strategic military purposes, more than one-quarter of the 
arti cles refer to acti ons of war and to the role of “Warriors,” known in Mohawk 
as Roti sken’rake:ta, or carriers of the burden of peace.18 

These men who formed the war parti es were guided by the Great Law of Peace 
and did not act independently of the wishes of the Clan Mothers and the 
Chiefs, although they were under the direct control of the War Chief of each 
nati on making up the united Confederacy.  The Great Law of Peace states: “If 
the War Chief acts contrary to the instructi ons or against the provisions of 
the Great Law of Peace…he shall be deposed by his woman relati ves and by 
his male relati ves…. The woman ti tle holders shall then choose another 
candidate.”19   Again, it is clear that war itself was a democrati c philosophy 
with all levels of society parti cipati ng in the decision-making process.  

Centuries before the arrival of Europeans the Mohawk developed their tradi-
ti on of warfare.  Its origins lie in a kind of masculine sport in which batt les 
were relati vely isolated and casualti es low.  Raiding parti es were sent to sett le 
scores, to avenge the deaths of clan members or simply to replace a deceased 
family member.  In additi on, the practi ce of taking prisoners and incorporat-
ing them into the tribe, someti mes aft er a period of torture or servitude, en-
sured the exchange of cultural traditi ons and informati on, the confi gurati on of 
informal alliances, enhanced trading opportuniti es, and the disseminati on of 
broader geneti c traits.  Although these practi ces perpetuated a chronic state 
of war, the bloodshed remained minimal.20 

With the advent of the Confederacy in the mid-fi ft eenth century and the 
cessati on of internal hosti liti es, the Mohawks emerged as the strongest and 
most militarily adept nati on within the League of Iroquois.  Although the 
Mohawk populati on (roughly 2,000 in 1580) was relati vely small compared 
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with other nati ons, their military prowess aff orded them a prominent role 
within the Confederacy and so began an expansion of territory to bring peace 
and the justi ce of the Great Law to neighbouring Nati ve nati ons.  If these 
nati ons refused the requests of the Confederacy the Great Law authorized 
the use of force to conquer these objecti ng nati ons.21   

While negati ng fi ghti ng within the Iroquois, the formati on of the Confederacy 
broadened the scope and range of military excursions, and a more organized 
and disciplined method of warfare emerged from the Confederacy camps.  
War was now a tool used by the Confederacy to promote its own interests and 
policy within its sphere of infl uence.  The Iroquois Confederacy was a military 
and politi cal coaliti on unrivalled in North America.  For the next 100 years, 
through profi cient warfare and skilled diplomacy, the Confederacy expanded 
its territorial holdings and its populati on through the adopti on of conquered 
peoples.22  There were few tribes who avoided fricti on with this great power; 
in ti me this included the European nati ons.

Indigenous peoples warred, displaced one another and exterminated each 
other long before the European discovery of the New World.  Military his-
tories are marred by the oft en repeti ti ous patt ern of human behaviour; one 
culture’s greater numbers and superior technology dominati ng another 
culture. However, the sophisti cated politi cal and military organizati on of 
the Iroquois Confederacy was drasti cally altered by the infusion of European 
culture, values and weapons into North America.  Throughout the fi rst two 
centuries aft er contact French, Briti sh, Briti sh colonials (Americans), Canadians 
and Nati ve nati ons struggled for control of the conti nent.  These wars, which 
pitt ed the world’s two most dominant powers, Britain and France, against one 
another in a struggle for imperial dominati on left  the Iroquois Confederacy in 
the uncertain positi on of att empti ng to promote its own policy and agenda 
in the face of a cultural upheaval. 
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CHAPTER 2

The Effects of Colonialism on the 
Shaping of North America

There can be no doubt that for all inhabitants of the Americas the arrival of 
Europeans was the most signifi cant disturbance and threat to their popula-
ti ons, civilizati ons and futures.  The clash of mores resulti ng from European 
sett lement was composed of many contradicti ng features: a rapidly evolving 
modernity stemming from the Reformati on and the Age of Reason against 
Nati ve traditi on relati vely undisturbed by any equivalent social or intellectual 
revoluti on; Christi anity versus a multi plicity of Shamanisti c, animisti c practi ces 
and rituals; paternalism in oppositi on to maternalism; European expansion-
ism compared with relati ve changelessness and isolati on in the Americas.23 
Furthermore, the literate European society contrasted with a creati ve Nati ve 
oral traditi on led to great misunderstandings and at ti mes perfi dious acti ons 
on the part of the Europeans.24  With the arrival of Europeans also came mod-
ern weapons, deadly diseases, religion and alcohol.  In additi on, conti nental 
European wars were imported to North America and Aboriginals were en-
listed to partake in them, which, in combinati on with the fur trade fractured 
long-standing Nati ve alliances, including the Iroquois Confederacy.  All would 
have a profound impact on the shaping of the Western hemisphere and its 
Nati ve populati ons.  It is within these initi al years of European contact that the 
divisions within the Iroquois Confederacy and the Mohawk Nati on, so 
prevalent during the 1990 crisis, were generated.

The Spanish, with the likes of Columbus, de Leon, Balboa and Cortes, had 
made contact with the Nati ve inhabitants of Cuba, the Caribbean and Central 
and South America in the late fi ft eenth and early sixteenth centuries.  Spanish 
greed for riches created more expediti ons including those in North America by 
Coronado, de Vaca and de Soto in the mid-sixteenth century.  Further north, 
representi ng England, John Cabot made voyages to Newfoundland-Labrador, 
conti nuing down the eastern seaboard in 1497/1498.  The French-sponsored 
Verrazano retraced Cabot’s voyage in 1524.25 However, the Iroquois remained 
isolated from these early European expediti ons.  It was not unti l 1534 that 
Jacques Carti er, on a quest to fi nd riches comparable to the Spaniards’ seques-
tered Aztec and Inca plunder in the south (and a route to Asia), made contact 
with the Iroquoian people in the Gulf of St. Lawrence.26  
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While anchored off  of the Gaspe Peninsula near Anti costi  Island on 22 July 
1534 one of Jacques Carti er’s deck offi  cers recorded the following statement 
in his log book:  “Their heads are shaved all around in circles except for a 
tuft  on the top…long like a horse’s tail, ti ed in a knot with a leather thong.”27  
What he was describing was a fi shing party of St. Lawrence Iroquois.  They 
occupied no fewer than 11 relati vely small villages along the St. Lawrence 
River, with larger sett lements at Stadacona and Hochelaga, near present-day 
Quebec City and Montreal.  Further north and west were the communiti es of the 
Algonquian Nati ons, the primary enemies of the Iroquois.28   

Carti er erected a large wooden cross on the Gaspe Peninsula, to the curiosity 
of Nati ve onlookers, and claimed the land for his king and country.  According 
to Carti er, “at length we bartered with them…for everything they possessed, 
so that nothing was left  to them but their naked bodies; for they off ered us 
everything they owned, which was, all told, of litt le value.”29  He returned 
to France with two sons of Chief Donnacona—Taignoagny and Domagaya—
who held court with Francois I, King of France.  Carti er was disappointed at 
having to tell the royal court that, “the whole lot of them had not anything 
above the value of fi ve sous, their canoes and fi shing-nets excepted,” and that 
there were no great golden citi es or vast empires similar to those in the south.  
Nevertheless, he was ordered back to the region the following year.30 

In September 1535, Carti er returned to Stadacona with his two Nati ve guides 
and proceeded upriver, passing several smaller Iroquoian villages unti l he 
reached the larger palisaded centre of Hochelaga on 3 October.  Carti er num-
bered the populati on at roughly 1,500, living in 50 longhouses situated in the 
middle of corn fi elds at the foot of what he dubbed “le Mont Royal.”31 Aft er 
climbing this mountain, one of Carti er’s crewmembers noted: “We saw the 
river [St. Lawrence] extending beyond the place where we had left  our long-
boats.  At that point there is the most violent rapid [Lachine Rapids] it is pos-
sible to see.”32 

These Iroquois also told Carti er and his men that, “along the mountain to the 
north there is a big river [Ott awa River] that comes from the west…and that 
up there were the ‘Agojuda,’ which means bad people, who were armed to the 
teeth….  They also seemed to say that these ‘Agojuda’ waged war conti nually.”  
The Iroquois were referring to the Algonquians, who had been embroiled in a 
perpetual state of war with the Iroquois Confederacy.33  

While Basque whalers and French fi sherman conti nued coming to North 
America, none ventured any farther upriver than present-day Tadoussac.  
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There it is believed the Montagnais traded furs with these visitors in exchange 
for metal wares including knives and axes.  The Montagnais in turn traded 
these metallic weapons to the Algonquin for more furs.  These metal weapons 
were far superior to the stone weapons of the St. Lawrence Iroquois, giving 
the Algonquian Warriors a clear advantage in the long-standing feud.  Con-
sequently, the people of Hochelaga and Stadacona were forced to abandon 
their villages and retreat south to live with other members of their nati on, 
presumably the Mohawk.34   

The diaries of Carti er and his crew are the only eyewitness accounts of the 
Iroquoian villages along the St. Lawrence.  When Carti er returned for a third 
ti me in 1541 to establish the fi rst French colony in the Americas under Rober-
val, there was a small village at Montreal but it was called Tutonaguy and was 
not Iroquoian.  Later accounts by other explorers who traversed the Mon-
treal region make no menti on of any sett lements in the area.35  When Samuel 
de Champlain made his fi rst visit in 1603, there were neither cornfi elds nor 
any remnants of human occupati on where Hochelaga once stood.  It was a 
no man’s land in the protracted war between the Algonquian Nati ons to the 
northwest and northeast and the Iroquois to the south.  Champlain recounted 
in 1603 that, “This region, although pleasant is not inhabited by Indians, on 
account of their wars; for they withdraw from the rivers as far as they can into 
the interior, in order not to be surprised.”36 

Despite the arrival of Europeans, the Iroquois possessed a unity and a pur-
pose, in the form of the Great Law, which their enemies could not match.  
They conti nued to promote their interests through war on their traditi onal 
enemies.  In the east, Mohawk war parti es conti nuously harassed the Al-
gonquin and Montagnais to the point of driving them from the Adirondack 
Mountains north back across the St. Lawrence.  Threat of war with the 
Mohawk caused the smaller Pequot and Mohegan nati ons to simply migrate 
away from the potenti al confrontati on, leaving their lands for new homes in 
southern New England around 1600.  The Iroquois initi ated war with the pow-
erful Mahican Confederacy to the east, while Mohawk att acked the Poctumuc, 
a Mahican ally to the south in 1606.37  

In 1608, Champlain was charged with setti  ng up a sett lement at Quebec to de-
velop, promote and control the burgeoning fur trade with surrounding Nati ve 
peoples.  Champlain formed trade and military alliances with the Montagnais, 
Naskapi (Innu), the Algonquin and the Huron.  This partnership obliged him 
to support and parti cipate in their traditi onal wars against the Iroquois who 
were expropriati ng lands in all directi ons.38  In July of 1609, Champlain 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 12 –

accompanied a Huron, Montagnais and Algonquin war party which moved 
south along the Iroquois River (Richelieu River) and conti nued along the west-
ern shores of Lake Champlain: “We entered the lake [Champlain]…in which 
I saw four beauti ful islands…which, like the Iroquois River, were formerly 
inhabited by Indians; but have been abandoned, since they have been at war 
with one another.”39   On the 29th, they encountered a group of roughly 200 
Mohawk Warriors.  In the ensuing batt le, French arquebuses scatt ered the 
massed Mohawk formati on while killing no fewer than 50 Warriors includ-
ing two chiefs.  The following year Champlain parti cipated in another att ack 
against a Mohawk palisade village on the Richelieu River.40

The Mohawks quickly adapted their tacti cs to combat this advanced 
weaponry.  They began using small guerrilla forces instead of the previous 
mass formati ons, discarding their bulky wooden armour to achieve greater 
stealth and speed.  If confronted directly by French muskets, Warriors learned 
to fall in a ti mely fashion to avoid the shots, quickly att acking before the 
shooter could reload.  However, the French conti nued to push westward into 
Huron territory and subsequently began arming all Nati ve nati ons opposed 
to the Iroquois, who were now in a predicament.  In order to acquire these 
new technologically enhanced weapons and armour, the Iroquois needed a 
European trading partner.   Thus far, the French fur trade was controlled by 
the Iroquois’ enemies.  The Iroquois conti nued to make the French traders pay 
dearly for their outside interventi on by initi ati ng raids along trading routes 
and by controlling Lake Ontario, forcing the French traders north to use the 
Ott awa River.  Yet, they could not bring to bear the might of the Iroquois 
Confederacy without modern weapons.41 

In 1610, Dutch traders arrived in the Hudson Valley of New York and the 
Iroquois began trading furs for fi rearms.  However, the Iroquois were sti ll 
being pressed by the Algonquin, Huron and Montagnais in the north and by 
1615 were fi ghti ng the Susquehannock to the south.  To make matt ers worse, 
the powerful Mahican Confederacy blocked Mohawk access to the majority 
of Dutch traders and outposts and the Mahicans soon became the primary 
Dutch ally and business associate.  This situati on inevitably led to war, with 
the Mohawks defeati ng the Mahicans and their western Abenaki allies, the 
Pocumtuc and the Sokoki, in 1628.  Soon, the Mohawks became so dominant 
that their Dutch trading partners were forced to accept a Mohawk monopoly 
and a 1645 peace treaty using the two-row wampum belt.42  

In order to secure more furs and trapping areas, the Iroquois (using Mohawk 
Warriors) turned their att enti on to their Algonquin, Huron and Montagnais 
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enemies in the north, driving them well north of the St. Lawrence River.  
Expansion south was stymied for a ti me by a stubborn Susquehannock 
resistance created by an inexhausti ble supply of weapons from the Swedes 
along the Delaware River.  However, the Dutch expropriated the Swedish colo-
nies in 1655.  Now deprived of weapons, the Susquehannock quickly sued for 
peace with the Mohawk, who readily agreed.  There were two outcomes of 
these acti ons.  The fi rst was the enlargement of Mohawk/Iroquois territory.  
The second was an increased hosti lity between the League of Iroquois, more 
specifi cally the easternmost Mohawk, and the French.43 

The Iroquois used a combinati on of military might and skilled diplomacy to 
att ain what can be termed an Empire.  Through conquest and migrati on, at its 
height in 1680 this empire extended west from the Chesapeake Bay through 
Kentucky to the confl uence of the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, north along the 
Illinois River to Lake Michigan, across Michigan, southern Ontario and Que-
bec.  To the south the Iroquois occupied northern New England, the Hudson 
and Delaware Valleys, across Pennsylvania back to the Chesapeake.44 Aft er 
having defeated the Susquehannock and the Mahicans, southern expansion 
remained stagnant at the Carolinas.  One reason for this was that the ferti le 
hunti ng grounds to the north were of greater importance.  Another, probably 
more valid reason, was that the powerful Cherokee Nati on blocked any poten-
ti al expansion.45  

Through the massive adopti on of their conquered enemies, populati on also 
increased.  However, the Iroquois never off ered wholesale adopti on to the 
non-Iroquoian-speaking nati ons, conti nuing to regard them as second-class 
citi zens.  Ethnocentricity was not the product of European contact.  Equally 
important to future events was the fact that many of these new additi ons, the 
Huron in parti cular, had been indoctrinated with Christi anity through French 
missionizati on.46 Not only did these prisoners replace the Iroquois populati on 
that had been lost through disease and war, they also brought these religious 
facets into the Iroquoian culture contributi ng to the demise of the Confedera-
cy and also to the facti onalism and division within the Mohawk Nati on itself.

By the mid-seventeenth century, the Nati ve nati ons on the periphery of Iro-
quois land had been displaced, annihilated or absorbed and had surrendered 
their lands to the Iroquois Confederacy.  The Potawatomi, Fox, Sauk and Mas-
couten had been driven from Michigan and were living in mixed camps in up-
per Wisconsin, while the Shawnee, Kickapoo and Miami had been forced from 
the Ohio Valley and lower Indiana.  The Kickapoo and Miami relocated to Wis-
consin, and the Shawnee scatt ered across Illinois, Tennessee, South Carolina, 
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while smaller enclaves migrated into southern Michigan and Ontario.  The 
Seneca drove the peoples of the Illinois Nati on west of the Mississippi River 
aft er they had collaborated with the Huron in raiding parti es.  The Dhegiha 
Lakota (Sioux), a group of fi ve sub-tribes, all moved west of the Missouri River, 
except for the Quapaw who ventured south to Arkansas.  The Huron, Wenro, 
Tionontati , Neutrals and Erie were either close to exti ncti on or incorporated 
into the Iroquois League.  The Huron were virtually exti nct aft er a series of 
batt les along the south-eastern shores of Lake Huron and the Bruce Penin-
sula near present day Owen Sound.  The Ott awa, Nipissing and Ojibwa moved 
north en mass, leaving only small groups behind in southern Ontario and Que-
bec.  Most of these remnants were quickly absorbed into Iroquoian villages.47 

Blessed with superb organizati on, modern European weapons and high num-
bers of skilled Warriors, the Five Nati ons swept to victory against their enemies.  
The Mohawk became the dominant power in the use of guerrilla warfare in 
the vast terrain east of the Mississippi River, and enjoyed the lucrati ve posi-
ti on of being located in the centre of the North American fur trade.  However, 
Iroquoian supremacy was short-lived.  The arrival of a new European power, 
the Briti sh, drasti cally altered the division of power and the relati onships be-
tween the Iroquois nati ons and the European powers.  The Briti sh had seized 
all Dutch assets in North America by 1664 and the Treaty of Westminster ten 
years later put an end to Dutch ambiti ons in the New World.  In 1664, the 
Briti sh also revised the two-row wampum treaty originally cited by the Dutch.  
Again, the Iroquois viewed this wampum treaty as a sign that its nati ons and 
the Briti sh could both maintain politi cal and territorial sovereignty in North 
America.48 Both the Briti sh and the earlier Dutch wampum treati es would be 
referenced by the Mohawk in defence of their sovereignty and land claims 
throughout the twenti eth century including the Oka Crisis itself.  

Briti sh traders and offi  cials quickly realized the importance the Iroquois could 
play as allies, and the negati ve repercussions of having such a powerful con-
federacy as an enemy.49  The Briti sh sought to exploit the Mohawk enmity for 
the French to enhance their own positi on by forging trading opportuniti es and 
military alliance against the French.  It should be noted that most Nati ve na-
ti ons fought for themselves and not for European powers.  They pursued their 
own interests in both trade and war.  As J.R. Miller accurately pointed out: “In 
other words, noti ons that one nati on, or another took up arms to advance a 
commercial or strategic aim of the French or Briti sh were erroneous.”50  

For the Iroquois, their ambiti ons exceeded their power.  During the 1660s, 
Mohawk Warriors engaged in a series of protracted wars against the French 



 – 15 –

OKA: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian Forces

along the St. Lawrence while conti nuing their traditi onal hosti liti es with their 
Algonquian enemies.  Worn down by these enduring confl icts and losing 
populati on to both war and disease, the Iroquois made a signifi cant decision.  
Realizing that their geographical positi on between the French and the English 
made them targets of both powers and that they had litt le to gain from the 
victory of either state, the Iroquois Confederacy sought neutrality in 1665, 
against objecti ons from the Mohawk.51 This had numerous results.  For the 
French, not only did it terminate the costly war between themselves, their Na-
ti ve allies, and the Iroquois, but it also robbed Britain of a powerful partner.52 

In turn, it isolated Mohawk interests and diminished the threat of an Iroquois 
military coaliti on.  With no security off ered by the Confederacy, the Mohawk 
initi ated their own peace with the French in 1667.53 Cracks began to appear in 
the once-cohesive structure and alliance of the Confederacy itself.

The divisions within the Five Nati ons caused by the incursion of European 
war, weapons and the capitalist fur trade would never be mended.  While the 
convergence of Nati ve culture and European culture conti nued, the League 
of Iroquois became progressively weakened.  The presence of two European 
powers within the Iroquoian land base created shift ing alliances.  Individu-
al Iroquois nati ons began to promote their own agendas, disti nct from the 
greater Confederacy.  The eastern most Mohawk were in the most diffi  cult 
geographic positi on amidst the infl ux of European sett lers and the front lines 
of the colonial wars.  These unavoidable circumstances deepened the initi al 
rift s between the Mohawk Nati on and its Confederacy but also within the 
Mohawk Nati on itself.  By 1990 these separati ons were more numerous, 
complicated and complex.    
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CHAPTER 3

Deepening Divisions: 
Mohawk Communities in New France

The conti nuati on of colonial wars and the intermitt ent periods of peace fur-
thered the divisions within the nati ons of the Iroquois Confederacy.  The 
wars created alliances between one nati on and a European counterpart, 
while other nati ons remained neutral or sided with the opposite European 
counterpart, thus rejecti ng the principles of the Great Law of Peace.  The 
cessati on of hosti liti es allowed packets of the Iroquois populati on to migrate 
into once hosti le territory and begin trading furs with traditi onal enemies.  
With the diff usion of the Iroquois populati on, diff erent groups within its 
nati ons were exposed to diff erent aspects of European culture, none more 
disrupti ve than religion and French missionizati on. Converted elements of the 
Mohawk Nati on migrated north closer to their French religious benefactors, 
while other groups remained on their traditi onal lands in New York State 
and Vermont surrounded or occupied by the Briti sh.  The religious Mohawk 
communiti es of New France, isolated both culturally and geographically from 
the Confederacy and the Great Law, promoted their own agenda and policy.  
Inevitably, the gaps in the Confederacy widened. 

The fragile peace of 1667 had severe repercussions for the Mohawk and 
ulti mately on the situati ons at Kanesatake and Kahnawake over the next 300 
years. Having conquered their Nati ve enemies and secured peaceful relati ons 
with the French, Mohawk families began moving north to the Montreal area 
to farm, live and trade furs with French sett lers.  In 1671, there was a sizable 
Nati ve community (La Montagne) at the base of “le Mont Royal” and another 
on the south shore called Kahenta:ke.  Both included families of Mohawk, 
Oneida, Onondaga, Nipissing, Abenaki and Huron.54 The cultural diversity 
among these early sett lements was enhanced as many of the Nati ves present 
were adopted war capti ves and converted Christi ans.  This enabled French 
missionaries to cohabitate among these diverse Nati ves and to encourage the 
practi ces of Christi anity.55 The fact that these villages were not inhabited ex-
clusively by Mohawk had severe repercussions on Mohawk claims to the land 
in subsequent centuries, including two formal land claims submitt ed to the 
Department of Indian Aff airs in 1975 and 1977.
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Many of the Nati ves came to sett le these locati ons to avoid persecuti on within 
their own communiti es based on their religious conversion. In conjuncti on, 
the ferti le farming and hunti ng grounds along the St. Lawrence, which had 
been vacant for over 100 years due to conti nuous warring with the Algon-
quian nati ons, began to be reoccupied by Iroquoian peoples.  This included 
later sett lements at Kanesatake/Oka and St. Regis/Akwesasne.  These group-
ings became known as the “praying Indians” of New France.56 

In 1676, the Nati ve inhabitants of Kahenta:ke relocated roughly one mile 
upriver to a place astride the Lachine Rapids, known to them as Kahnawake 
or “At the Rapids.”  Before the move many of the non-Mohawk nati ves had 
left , leaving a dominant Mohawk populati on, which numbered 600 by 1680.57  
Shortly aft er this migrati on along the St. Lawrence, a priest from the Gentle-
men of the Seminary of St-Sulpice in Paris began to visit Kahnawake.  The 
Paris-based Father Superior of the Seminary of St-Sulpice was also the sei-
gneur of the Island of Montreal.  The territory of Kahnawake was composed of 
land that had been transferred to the Seminary of St-Sulpice by another reli-
gious order in 1663.  Apart from the presence of Christi anity, life in Kahnawake 
followed the Mohawk Longhouse traditi ons, language and clan affi  liati ons.58  
A system was put in place whereby Chiefs representi ng each traditi onal 
Mohawk clan served as liaisons between the people of the community and 
the Jesuit hierarchy, thus preserving Mohawk traditi ons.59  

The same can be said for the community of La Montagne, which was watched 
over by the energeti c acti ons of the Seminary of St-Sulpice, who erected sev-
eral European-style buildings, a chapel and schools for both boys and girls. By 
1683, there were roughly 200 Nati ve inhabitants from the Mohawk, Algon-
quin and Huron Nati ons, many of whom had been Briti sh or French prisoners 
of war.60  Similarly, in 1676 during the relocati on of Kahenta:ke, a small group 
of Christi an Mohawk, Nipissing and Algonquin moved to Kanesatake (Oka) at 
the Lake of Two Mountains with no accompanying religious benefactor.  The 
spot was known to the Mohawk, as it was previously used as a non-permanent 
wintering camp for Iroquois Warriors and had been witness to many confron-
tati ons between those Warriors and the French dati ng back to 1608.61  The 
relati ve peace allowed for an interacti on between once-hosti le Nati ve nati ons 
and with the introducti on of Christi anity, French mission sett lements began to 
appear throughout New France (Quebec). 

However, the uneasy peace would not last.  With the advent of King William’s 
War (1688-1697) between the Briti sh and French, the Iroquois found them-
selves in a precarious locati on between these warring nati ons.  They had been 
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trading furs with both countries; however, commercial ti es with the Briti sh 
were strengthened, and it appeared to the French that the Confederacy had 
made a decision to support Briti sh interests.62  The fact of the matt er was that 
many Iroquois saw an alternati ve source of trade in the Briti sh, without the 
disrupti on of missionary acti vity.  For the Briti sh, the religious agenda was not 
seen as a high priority, whereas the French regarded conversion of the Nati ves 
as not only a priority but a duty.

This newly created alliance with the Briti sh increased tensions within the Con-
federacy itself between non-Christi an communiti es and the French mission 
communiti es, such as Kahnawake.  The split within the Confederacy was so 
apparent that in 1684, the Confederacy indicated that it no longer recognized 
the communiti es and peoples of Kahnawake and La Montagne as part of the 
League of Iroquois.63 Henceforth, these sett lements became disti nct enti ti es, 
making independent decisions about their own interests and relati ons with 
European powers.

These Mohawk communiti es remained loyal to the French.  Likewise, the Con-
federacy could not remain neutral.  The French began to att ack Seneca and 
Onondaga villages in 1687.  The Iroquois retaliated with force, killing roughly 
200 French sett lers at Lachine across the river from Kahnawake in what has 
become known as the “Lachine Massacre.”64  The three-month siege that fol-
lowed forced the Mohawk of Kahnawake, along with the French sett lers of the 
region, to take refuge in Montreal.65  This sanctuary only served to strength-
en their politi cal and military allegiance with the French.  The Mohawks of 
Kahnawake had observed the Great Law of Peace up to this point and had 
remained neutral in the skirmishes between other Iroquois nati ons and the 
French; however, the massive Iroquois raid at Lachine altered the neutral posi-
ti on of Kahnawake with regard to the Great Law.  

Aft er a year-long refuge in Montreal, the people of Kahnawake established 
a new community west and upriver from the former site and renamed it 
Kahnawakon.  Six years later it relocated again and was known as Kanata-
kwenke.66 Conti nuing to grow due to migrants from Mohawk villages to the 
south, it moved for the last ti me in 1716, at which ti me the populati on of Kahn-
awake numbered roughly 1,000. Here Kahnawake has remained unti l the pres-
ent day.67   

Similarly, the collecti ve at La Montagne was forced to move.  It was ravaged 
by a great fi re on 11 September 1694, which destroyed most of the dwell-
ings and also the Sulpician Chapel.  A drunken Mohawk was blamed by the 
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missionaries for starti ng the fi re.  Serving their purpose, the Sulpicians used li-
quor as an excuse to move the community away from French sett lers to a more 
remote locati on called Sault-au-Récollet on the north side of Montreal Island.  
The Priests of the Seminary of St-Sulpice cohabitated with and oversaw the 
religious educati on of this populati on.68  Above all else, they deemed it neces-
sary to isolate the Nati ves from alcohol and other vices, as they believed that 
the Nati ves were of weak character and were easily enti ced into immoral be-
haviour: “Then the Priest sett led among us and the other clergy of this Island 
[Montreal] represented in council the inconvenience arising…from our living 
so near a Town, parti cularly the disorders committ ed by some of our young 
men when they got Rum, and strenuously exhorted us to remove further off  
from the Town…and pointed out to us Sault-au-Récollet as the spot.”69  The 
vacated land at La Montagne reverted back to the Superior of the Seminary 
and was used as a summer retreat.70  

These two communiti es of “Praying Indians” were markedly under French in-
fl uence and 30 Warriors from Kahnawake joined the French and their Nati ve 
allies in raids against Briti sh sett lements in New York and Mohawk villages in 
the Mohawk River Valley throughout King Williams’ War.  They also served as 
guides during Louis de Frontenac’s expediti ons between 1693-1696 that laid 
waste numerous Oneida, Onondaga and Mohawk villages.71   The Great Peace 
was broken as members of the Five Nati ons were now in direct confl ict with 
one another.  

Not only did the Iroquois populati on diminish from warfare, but smallpox 
emerged in 1690 and devastated populati ons in the interior for the next 
decade.  In 1694, the Iroquois were sensing military pressure from both the 
east and west, while coping with a smallpox epidemic.  The combinati on of 
these infl uences forced them to make overtures for a separate peace with the 
French.  These peace off erings were ignored as the Iroquois refused to stop 
raiding the villages of France’s nati ve allies, in order to press their interests in 
the fur trade.72 

A peace was fi nally struck between the Briti sh and the French with the 
Treaty of Ryswick in 1697. This did not include the Iroquois, yet it did place the 
League of Iroquois under Briti sh protectorate—an arrangement not wanted or 
requested by the Confederacy.73  Fearing that conti nuing hosti liti es with the 
Confederacy might spawn another confrontati on with the Briti sh, the French 
began to negoti ate a separate peace with the Iroquois against the wishes of 
their Algonquian allies.  Sensing the turmoil within the Confederacy and the 
devastati on wrought by disease and war, the Algonquian nati ons and the 
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Ojibwa thought that by conti nuing the fi ghti ng they could secure the fi nal 
collapse of the Iroquois Confederacy which conti nued to lose ground unti l the 
cessati on of hosti liti es in 1701.  

The Confederacy agreed to a peace with France’s nati ve allies, in exchange for 
a promise that the French would monitor and mediate any future disputes be-
tween the Iroquois and the Algonquian.  In a rush to secure Iroquois neutral-
ity, the French neglected to discuss claims to the Ohio Valley, and the Briti sh 
usurped the area, using Iroquois claims (as the latt er was allegedly under Brit-
ish protecti on).  Henceforth, Iroquois lands belonged to the Crown.  The result 
was that any French att empts to expand westward into the Ohio Valley and 
the Mississippi River delta would be a violati on of Briti sh territorial holdings.  
The Iroquois agreed to remain neutral in any future war between the two 
European powers.74  That future war would break out the same year—Queen 
Anne’s War (1701-1713).75  

The Iroquois had been a Briti sh ally during King William’s War only to the ex-
tent that it served their own interests.  War was simply politi cs by other means.  
During Queen Anne’s War, it served Iroquois interests to remain neutral.76  The 
previous war, coupled with disease, had crippled the once-dominant Confed-
eracy in both populati on and land, and left  it vulnerable.  While the Briti sh 
and French fought another war and enlisted whatever Nati ve help they could, 
the Iroquois knew that they needed to recover and replenish their stocks.  For 
the Briti sh, the Iroquois remained a useful buff er between themselves and 
French Canada.  Although the Confederacy remained neutral, Kahnawake did 
not.  It conti nued to support the French and parti cipated in a number of raids 
on Briti sh sett lements in New England and Lower Canada in conjuncti on with 
Warriors of the Abenaki Nati on.77 

Ending with the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713, Queen Anne’s War saw the defeated 
French surrender their east coast territory, including Nova Scoti a, to the Brit-
ish.  What was also agreed upon, without the consultati on of the Iroquois, was 
that the Confederacy would conti nue to be under the governing blanket of 
the Briti sh. Not having parti cipated in the treaty, the Iroquois acknowledged 
neither empire’s rule.  They sti ll maintained and regarded themselves as an 
independent, autonomous nati on within the confi nes of North America and 
conti nued to pursue their own interests.78  

By the end of Queen Anne’s War, the Iroquois found themselves strong enough 
to exert their dominati on once again.  The fur trade had fl ooded the Europe-
an market and the price of beaver pelts plummeted drasti cally.  The French, 
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under pressure from their missionaries, renounced the fur trade in a royal 
proclamati on and concentrated on the saving of Nati ve souls through mis-
sion work.  Sti ll controlling access to Briti sh and Dutch traders, the Iroquois 
proceeded to att ack the French/Nati ve alliance, not through warfare but by 
using trade as a weapon.79 

Sensing disaster, the Nati ve tribes within the coaliti on of French allies, began 
to compete and fi ght one another for the limited fur trade that was sti ll avail-
able.  The Iroquois cleverly began trading Briti sh goods, which were not only 
superior in quality but also cheaper.  One by one, French allies began trading 
with the Briti sh through the medium of the Iroquois.  With the French alli-
ance in disarray, the Confederacy realized that they held the balance of power 
between the two rival European nati ons.80 Britain, fearing French infl uence 
among Nati ve nati ons, supported the Covenant Chain—a loosely constructed 
alliance of Nati ve nati ons led by the Iroquois—and pushed numerous tribes 
into joining the coaliti on.  Membership included (at diff erent ti mes): Shawnee, 
Miami, Delaware, Susquehannock, Nanti coke, Munsee, Mahican, Cherokee, 
Creek, Choctaw and Chickasaw.  However, the League’s ability to represent 
some of the powerful nati ons was not absolute.  The mighty Cherokee, Choc-
taw and Creek Nati ons refused to submit to the Confederacy’s authority, oft en 
leading to war.81   

The Iroquois oft en placed their own interests above those of the nati ons that 
they represented.  This became a sore point for many non-Iroquoian nati ons 
within the Covenant Chain.  The only excepti on would be the Confederacy’s 
adopti on of the Iroquoian-speaking Tuscarora, who joined them in western New 
York in 1714 or 1715 under Oneida sponsorship and became a subordinate mem-
ber of the now Six Nati ons Confederacy in 1722.82  The Confederacy even went 
so far as to send war parti es to punish the Carolina colonists and their Catawba 
allies who drove the Tuscarora north during the Tuscarora War (1712-1713).83  

Although outwardly it appeared that the Confederacy was strengthening its 
bonds by the additi on of the Tuscarora and by leading the Briti sh-backed Cov-
enant Chain, in reality all was not well.  The demise of the Confederacy had 
already begun with the sett lement of French infl uenced Christi an Mohawks in 
Quebec and eastern Ontario.  These communiti es, isolated from Confederacy 
support, began their struggles with the French colonial administrati on and 
the French religious orders over issues of culture and land.  In reality, the Oka 
Crisis began in the early eighteenth century in the form of confl ict over ti tle 
to the land at the Lake of Two Mountains between the Nati ves occupants and 
their religious benefactor, the Seminary of St-Sulpice. 
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CHAPTER 4

Mohawk Settlement at the Lake of Two 
Mountains/Oka

The basis for the land claim at Kanesatake can be traced back to the early 
eighteenth century.  Having sett led within the infl uence of the Seminary of 
St-Sulpice, the Mohawks conti nuously struggled with this religious order 
over the propriety of the land they occupied at the Lake of Two Mountains.  
To compound this issue, the colonial wars conti nued and the Christi an Mo-
hawks at Kanesatake, Kahnawake and Akwesasne found themselves caught 
between the fragile Confederacy which supported the Briti sh, and the French 
with whom they were more closely associated.  While the Mohawks at newly- 
sett led Kanesatake were at odds with the Sulpician order over land rights, the 
divisions within the Iroquois Confederacy and the Mohawk Nati on conti nued 
to expand. 

By 1715, roughly 600 Nati ves were living on 400 acres of cleared land at the 
newly created locati on of Sault-au-Récollet, 14 kilometres north of Mont Roy-
al.84  In that year against their wishes these inhabitants were once again asked 
to move: 

Again our Priest, in conjuncti on with the clergy of the Seminary 
of Montreal, told us we should remove once more our families, 
for it was no longer proper that any Indians should live on this 
island [of Montreal].  If we would consent to go and sett le at 
the Lake of Two Mountains we should have a large tract of land 
for which we should have a Deed from the King of France as our 
property, to be vested in us and our heirs forever, and that we 
should not be molested again in our habitati ons.85 

Prior to this suggested relocati on, the Superior of the Seminary (de Belmont) 
had met with the Governor of Montreal and New France (Marquis Philippe de 
Rigaud de Vaudreuil).  De Belmont proposed that the mission be relocated to 
a tract of land at the Lake of Two Mountains.86 The Superior also requested 
that the land be given in trust to the Seminary for the purpose of the religious 
educati on of the Nati ves.  In additi on, he applied for an adjacent piece of 
land solely for use by the missionaries.87  Although there had been an earlier 
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request by the Seminary for lands at the Lake of Two Mountains in 1712, it 
was not given serious considerati on unti l this ti me.88 

Reasoning that the temptati ons of liquor would be diminished by the estab-
lishment of a new mission isolated from Montreal, the Sulpicians proposi-
ti oned the authoriti es of New France for these enti tlements to land at the 
Lake of Two Mountains.  However, the primary factor for moving the mission-
ary sett lement at Sault-au-Récollet to this suggested locati on was not out of 
moral or religious concerns for the Nati ves; rather, it was military in purpose.  
The creati on of a sett lement at the Lake of Two Mountains would provide se-
curity to the northwestern fl ank of Montreal and Quebec City against enemy 
Iroquois.  As menti oned, the region of the Lake of Two Mountains had been 
a non-permanent camp for Iroquois war parti es that frequently passed the 
north shore of the region to att ack Montreal.  With memories of the 1660 as-
sault on Montreal and the Lachine Massacre sti ll lingering, the French looked 
to their Nati ve allies to alleviate this potenti al western threat:89 

It would be advantageous to the Mission of the Indians of the 
Sault-au-Récollet in the Island of Montreal, which is under their 
[Sulpicians] care, that it should be immediately transferred…on 
the north-west side of the Lake of Two Mountains, which said 
Mission would be advantageous not only for the conversion of 
the Indians…but also to the colony [of Montreal] which by these 
means would be protected against incursions of the Iroquois in 
ti mes of war…90

The Governor of New France endorsed the idea, “for the good of the Island of 
Montreal and to cover it from att acks by other Indians,”91  and insisted that the 
Sulpicians build a fort within two years and raise militi a forces when needed.92   
On 15 June 1716, Philippe d’Orleans, Regent to the seven-year-old King of 
France, Louis XV, agreed that a concession at the Lake of Two Mountains be 
granted to the Seminary of St-Sulpice “in perpetuity” on conditi on that they 
would build a church, separate lodging for the missionaries and a stone fort 
within the previously proscribed two years.93  

In October 1716, the Superior of the Seminary of St-Sulpice met again with 
the Governor to discuss not only the cost of relocati on, but more importantly, 
the proprietorship of the land in questi on.  He argued that if his organiza-
ti on was responsible for the expenditures related to the building of a church 
and fort, that the Seminary be given ti tle to the land upon which they sat.94  
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The Governor agreed: “It seems there is some justi ce in granti ng the land to 
the Seminary in perpetuity.”95   

However, Governor Vaudreuil had no choice but to refer the matt er to his 
superiors in France, as a moratorium on all seigneurial concessions in Quebec 
had been imposed by the French Crown in 1711.96 He added that the new lo-
cati on would serve as a garrison protecti ng Montreal against att acks by other 
Nati ves.  The military purpose of a missionary sett lement at the Lake of Two 
Mountains was sti ll seen as a priority.97 It is important to note that Mohawk 
Chiefs from Sault-au-Récollet were not privy to these discussions and were 
not counselled on the moti ves of the Seminary or those of the administrators 
of New France.98  On 17 October 1717, the French Crown offi  cially granted the 
Seminary of St-Sulpice a land concession at the Lake of Two Mountains. The 
Sulpicians requested a ti me frame of seven years for the constructi on of the 
mandatory fort which was approved on 27 April 1718.99 

In February 1721, the fi rst families, mostly Mohawk with smaller numbers 
of Nipissing and Algonquin, arrived at their new home at the Lake of Two 
Mountains, which they called Kanesatake (“On the Sandy Dunes”).100  By this 
ti me there was relati ve peace in the area.  The Iroquois had ceased att acking 
French sett lements and there was no immediate cause for war with the Brit-
ish.  The Chiefs, as was customary, proceeded to exchange a wampum belt at 
the ti me of the move.  Not only did this symbolize a partnership, it also repre-
sented the Nati ves belief that the land they were to occupy belonged to them 
as originally promised.  According to Chief Aghneetha:

Although it was very inconvenient to us to be quitti  ng our homes 
and small clearing, yet the desire of having a fi xed property of 
our own induced us to comply, and we accordingly set out, and 
took possession of the land, and as was the custom of our fore-
fathers we immediately set about making a [wampum] Belt…by 
which our children would see that the lands were to be theirs 
forever, and as was the custom of our ancestors we placed the 
fi gure of a dog at each end of the Belt to guard our property and 
to give noti ce when an enemy approached.101   

This is the origin of the land claim dispute that led to hosti liti es between the 
Nati ve inhabitants and the Seminary and in turn the governments of Quebec 
and Canada over the next 280 years.  The 1990 Oka Crisis was the culminati on 
of the deep-rooted problems associated with the ownership of this land.  
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Aft er the Nati ve occupati on of the land at the Lake of Two Mountains, three 
more rati fi cati ons to the concession of the Seminary of St-Sulpice were ap-
proved by the King of France without any consultati on with the Nati ves.  In 
1731, the Seminary received dispensati on from the compulsion to construct 
any forti fi cati on in the area, in additi on to compensati on for the costs already 
incurred by the relocati on of the sett lement and the building of several small 
dwellings for the Nati ve inhabitants.102 In September 1733, the Seminary was 
granted additi onal land to the east of the existi ng seigneury.  Following this 
endorsement, the Seminary built a stone church, three houses along with a 
watchtower.  Three cannons were also purchased, which was the extent of any 
defensive forti fi cati ons on the Sulpician lands.103 

Two years later, on 1 March 1735, King Louis XV signed an additi onal conces-
sion providing the Seminary with additi onal lands, “…to make the said land 
more profi table, it would therefore, be necessary to extend the said land fur-
ther than the three leagues as set forth in the deed of one thousand seven 
hundred and eighteen.”104 Thus, between 1715 and 1735, the Seminary of St-
Sulpice had increased their lands 15 fold from the original decree.  Included in 
this land base was a three-square league tract granted to the Mohawk of the 
region in a 1716 lett er which dubbed it “their land.”105   

The mission sett lement at the Lake of Two Mountains remained as such for 
the next 30 years and the issue of proprietorship over the land did not arise.  
The Nati ve populati ons of both the Lake of Two Mountains and Kahnawake re-
mained loyal to the Roman Catholic Church and to the King of France, fi ghti ng 
on the French side in the wars against the Briti sh during the 1740s and 1750s.  
This further accentuated the split within the Mohawk Nati on, the Iroquois 
Confederacy and its Great Law.

In fact, other religious nati ve sett lements administered by various French reli-
gious orders appeared throughout Quebec during these decades and became 
known as the Seven Nati ons of Canada centred at Kahnawake.106 This Seven 
Nati on alliance also included Kanesatake, which was constructed of the Mo-
hawk, Nipissing and Algonquin, the Onondaga and Cayuga at Oswegatchie, the 
Huron of Lorett e and the Abenaki of Odanak (St. Francis) and Becancour.107 

The community of Oswegatchie was dispersed during the American Revolu-
ti on (1775-1783) and aft er a brief stay at La Presentati on (Ogdensburg, N.Y.), 
its members sett led with the Mohawk of St. Regis/Akwesasne (“Where the 
Partridge Drums”).  St. Regis/Akwesasne had been formed in 1755.  During 
this year, the membership of Kahnawake split.  One group remained, while 
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another travelled upriver to Akwesasne, at the union of the St. Regis, Raquett e, 
Grass, Salmon and St. Lawrence Rivers straddling present-day New York State, 
Ontario and Quebec near the city of Cornwall, Ontario.108 Akwesasne also be-
came a member of the Seven Nati ons Confederacy, which was thus composed 
of three groups of Mohawk, one of Algonquin, one of Nipissing, one of Huron 
and one of Abenaki.  All loyal to the French for the next 50 years of colonial 
confl ict, the Briti sh considered them formidable opponents and a pawn in 
French imperial strategy.109   

When the French and Briti sh resumed hosti liti es with the outbreak of King 
George’s War (1744-1748), Warriors from both Kahnawake and Kanesatake, 
along with Sokoki and Abenaki, joined in French raids against Briti sh posts in 
the New York fronti er, southern Vermont and New Hampshire.110  Although 
the Iroquois Confederacy remained neutral, the Mohawk sided with the Brit-
ish and the divisions within the Six Nati ons alliance became more apparent.111 

With the end of King George’s War in October 1748 and the Treaty of Aix-la- 
Chapelle, the once-mighty Iroquois Empire was showing unmistakable signs 
of decay.

The Seven Years’ War (1754-1763) would completely undermine the cohesive 
structure of the Six Nati ons Confederacy.  Although the Confederacy initi ally 
supported the Briti sh, the Seneca, Onondaga and Cayuga shift ed their alle-
giance to the French.  Only the Oneida and Mohawk, thanks to Sir William 
Johnson, Superintendent for Indian Aff airs, remained loyal to the Briti sh.  Al-
though Kahnawake and Kanesatake along with the other “praying Indians” in-
iti ally sought neutrality, they eventually found themselves fi ghti ng alongside 
the French.  Although the principles of the Great Law were now moot as mem-
bers of the Confederacy were involved in direct military engagements against 
one another, its tenets were not wholly ignored.  Iroquois on both sides were 
less acti ve than they had been in past colonial wars.112   

There were numerous examples whereby Iroquois refused to fi ght aft er realiz-
ing their brethren were part of the opposing force.  During the Batt le of Crown 
Point someti mes referred to as the Batt le of Lake George on 8 September 
1755, Mohawk loyal to the Briti sh under Chief Hendrick, accompanied by 13- 
year-old Joseph Brant, refused to fi ght when they saw Kahnawake Warriors 
within the French ranks.  This was but one instance where the standards of 
the Great Law were loosely adhered to during the colonial wars.113  However, 
the resulti ng Briti sh victory in the Seven Years’ War would have tremendous 
implicati ons for all Nati ves, especially for the “praying Indian” sett lements of 
New France.
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By August 1760, three Briti sh armies prepared to lay siege to Montreal, the 
last French stronghold in New France.  Sensing the inevitable capitulati on of 
Montreal, Sir William Johnson returned wampum belts to the Seven Nati ons 
of Canada, off ering, “peace and protecti on” if they laid down their weapons 
in view of the advancing Briti sh forces:114

We immediately called a Council…and determined to accept the 
protecti on held out to us.  Accordingly the chief men of our vil-
lage, as well as those from other villages, att ended Sir William 
at Oswagatchie where he…granted us protecti on in the King’s 
Name and confi rmed to us our Lands and the free exercise of our 
Religion…in confi rmati on he delivered [back] to us the [wam-
pum] Belt.115 

On 8 September 1760, Pierre de Rigaud de Vaudreuil de Cavagnial, Governor 
of New France (and also son of the former Governor Vaudreuil who died in 
1725), surrendered Montreal to the Briti sh.  Eight days later on 16 September, 
Iroquois Chiefs met with William Johnson in Montreal.  The Covenant Chain 
was renewed, friendship rekindled and the fur trade routes opened.  How-
ever, the ethnic consti tuti on of North America was changing at a dramati c 
rate against the favour of its Indigenous peoples.  Inevitably, these alterati ons 
would further depreciate the value and cohesiveness of the Great Law.  In 
additi on, the peoples of the once-great Confederacy were displaced despite 
Arti cle 40 of the Arti cles of Capitulati on signed at Montreal:116 

The Indian allies of His Most Christi an Majesty, Louis XV, shall 
be maintained in possession of the lands which they occupy, if 
they wish to remain thereon; they shall not be molested under 
any pretext whatsoever for having taken up arms and served His 
Most Christi an Majesty, they will have, like the French, liberty of 
religion, and will keep their missionaries.117  

According to an agent of Briti sh Indian Aff airs, “The Caghnawageys [Kahn-
awake] and Caneghsadageys [Kanesatake] have lately been with me, and re-
newed their Engagements entered into last fall…they never again would take 
up the Hatchet against the English but would steadily mind their hunti ng.”118 

Although major military campaigns in Canada ended with the Arti cles of 
Capitulati on in 1760, the war dragged on in other parts of the world unti l 
the fi nal peace on 10 February 1763 with the Treaty of Paris.  Briti sh colo-
nial dominati on in North America was secured for the ti me being, as French 
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and Spanish possessions were greatly reduced.  It also ended the long-
standing Briti sh-Iroquois military alliance against the French in North 
America.  Although the peoples of Kahnawake and Kanesatake saw glimpses 
of a bett er future as partners with the Briti sh, not all nati ons trusted English 
moti ves. Ott awa Chief Ponti ac’s Rebellion (1763-1765), beginning on 7 May 
1763 with a siege of Detroit, was an att empt to secure Nati ve living space 
and drive out colonial nati ons, specifi cally the Briti sh.  Ponti ac’s coaliti on 
distressed the Briti sh, and King George III quickly issued the Royal Proclama-
ti on on 7 October 1763 halti ng all new sett lement west of the Appalachian 
Mountains.119  

The Royal Proclamati on was the fi rst and most signifi cant imperial regula-
ti on and is sti ll seen by Canadian Nati ves as their equivalent to the Canadian 
Charter of Rights and Freedoms.120  Its tenets have been used in Nati ve land 
claims since its incepti on, including the land dispute at Kanesatake up to and 
including 1990.  Former Grand Chief of Canada’s First Nati ons Assembly Ovide 
Mercredi stated in 1993:

A conti nuity in treaty relati onships, from the pre-Confederati on 
period to the present, reinforces the fact that our relati on-
ship with the Crown is one of equals.  Despite this reality…the 
promises made in the treati es have been consistently breached 
by Canada’s governments.  We have been dispossessed of our 
homelands even though prerogati ve instruments like the Royal 
Proclamati on of 1763 confi rmed our pre-existi ng rights and com-
mitt ed governments to dealing with us on a consensual basis.121 

The proclamati on was intended to sati sfy imperial and trading interests, in 
conjuncti on with limiti ng colonial expansionism into Nati ve territory, thereby 
preserving an Anglo-Nati ve alliance.122  The most important secti on of this 
document for Nati ves was the provision concerning land rights: 

And whereas it is just and reasonable, and essenti al to our Inter-
est, and the Security of our Colonies, that the several Nati ons 
and Tribes of Indians with whom We are connected, and who 
live under our Protecti on, should not be molested or disturbed 
in the Possession of such Parts of Our Dominions and Territo-
ries as…are reserved to them, or any of them, as their Hunti ng 
Grounds,… [any lands that had] not been ceded to or purchased 
by Us as aforesaid, are reserved to the said Indians….  We do 
hereby strictly forbid, on Pain of our Displeasure, all our loving 
Subjects from making any Purchases or Sett lements whatever, or 
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taking Possession of any of these Lands above reserved, without 
our especial leave and Licence for that Purpose fi rst obtained…  
[N]o private Person [is allowed] to make any purchase from the 
said Indians of any Lands reserved to the said Indians…the same 
shall be Purchased only for Us, in our Name, at some public 
Meeti ng or assembly of the said Indians, to be held for the pur-
pose by the Governor or Commander in Chief of our Colony.123  

In short, the Royal Proclamati on outlined the relati onships between Nati ves, 
proprietorship of land and the responsibiliti es of the Crown.  Most impor-
tantly, it forbade the purchase of Nati ve land by anyone other than the Crown 
and the Crown alone had sole jurisdicti on to negoti ate all land claims and 
cessions.124  

French subjects who would not proclaim fealty to the King of England were 
given noti ce of 18 months to liquidate their holdings and return to France.  
This was a reiterati on of Arti cle 35 of the Arti cles of Capitulati on from 1760.  
For the Seminary of St-Sulpice, this created a problem.  The seigneurial grants 
at both Kahnawake and Kanesatake had been entrusted to the head of the 
religious order in Paris by the French King, who could not sell the land under 
the constraints of the Royal Proclamati on as Nati ves sti ll occupied the land.  
However, four months before the deadline, the Seminary in Paris transferred 
all its holdings in Briti sh North America to the branch at Montreal, who in turn 
swore allegiance to King George III.  Although the legality of this transfer was 
questi oned in Briti sh courts, the Seminary was able to retain their rights to 
the land.125 

For the inhabitants of Kahnawake and Kanesatake, the issue of land owner-
ship had arisen prior to the declarati on of the Proclamati on.  In 1761, Jesuits 
at Kahnawake att empted to sell porti ons of land to French sett lers.  The Nati ve 
inhabitants took the matt er to General Thomas Gage, the military Governor of 
Lower Canada, who proceeded to resolve the matt er in their favour in 1762.  
He reasoned that the land at Kahnawake (Le Sault) was granted for the sett le-
ment of the Indians and was therefore retained by the Briti sh Crown for their 
use.  Although the Nati ves at Kahnawake conti nued the practi ce of Christi an-
ity, Jesuit claims became invalidated and they were forced to vacate the prem-
ises.126 This was the confi rmati on of Kahnawake as a Reserve.  Earlier in 1759, 
the Mohawk Reserve at Akwesasne had been created.

Likewise, tenure of the land at the Lake of Two Mountains also came into 
questi on shortly aft er the decree of the proclamati on.  Aman, a Mohawk, 



 – 31 –

OKA: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian Forces

believing that he was the ti tle holder to land in the region, sold his house to an 
Englishman.  The Superior of the Seminary immediately appealed the trans-
acti on to the Briti sh Governor in Montreal, citi ng the deeds of 1717, 1733 and 
1735.  The land transfer was annulled, “it having appeared to us the houses 
and fi elds of the village belong to them [the Sulpicians] as soon as the said 
Indians who hold the usufruct of them abandon them.”127 This argument and 
confl ict of interest over land rights would be mirrored throughout the next 
240 years, producing numerous violent clashes, none more so than in 1990.

While the Kanesatake Mohawks conti nued to protest the Sulpician’s seigneur-
ial claims, the American Revoluti on (1775-1783) unfolded, forever altering the 
Iroquois Confederacy.  Kahnawake, Kanesatake and Akwesasne offi  cially re-
mained neutral, although a small number of Warriors fought for each side.  The 
majority were Mohawk fi ghti ng for the Briti sh under Joseph Brant.  However, 
the communiti es came out of the war relati vely unchanged and unscathed.128   

The Confederacy listened to the arguments of both combatants, and although 
recognizing the new United States of America in 1776, made the decision to 
remain neutral.  However, Mohawk were raiding American sett lements in 
the east and further west the Shawnee were ravaging fronti er sett lements in 
Kentucky.  Likewise, other members of the Iroquois Covenant Chain acti vely 
took up arms in an att empt to stop American encroachment onto their lands.  
To the Americans then, the Iroquois and their subject tribes in the Covenant 
could hardly be perceived as neutral.  Consequently, in 1777 American forces, 
with the help of allied Oneida, began extensive raids into Mohawk territory in 
New York, forcing most of the inhabitants to fl ee north to Canada.  By 1783, 
their homeland had been completely overrun with sett lement.129   

At the end of the war, Joseph Brant crossed into Canada with 2,000 subjects—
the majority Mohawk but also members of all Six Nati ons, as well as smaller 
numbers of Covenant allies.  From a pre-war populati on of roughly 8,000, 
fewer than 5,000 Iroquois survived.  Of these, roughly half migrated north to 
Canada.  In 1784, they were given lands at the Bay of Quinte near Belleville, 
which became the Tyendinaga Reserve.  A large number also sett led at a site 
on the Grand River near Caledonia known as the Six Nati ons Reserve, under 
Joseph Brant.130 

With litt le chance of victory and with poverty, hunger and disease fl ourishing 
in the communiti es, the Iroquois had no alternati ve other than to sign the 
Treaty of Fort Stanwix on 22 October 1784.  In doing so, they ceded most of 
their ancient lands, including the rights to those located west and north of 
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the Ohio River.  Perhaps more importantly, the disseminati on of the Iroquois 
not only led to the collapse of the Confederacy but also freed those nati ons 
who had been unwilling subjects of the Confederacy or the Covenant Chain, 
including the Algonquian tribes, the Shawnee and the smaller nati ons of the 
Ohio Valley.131

By the turn of the century the Mohawk and their Iroquois brethren were 
scatt ered remnants of a once-great Empire.  Apart from the Reserves and pray-
ing villages in Canada, those who remained in the United States were confi ned 
to a series of small Reservati ons in central and western New York comprising 
271,000 acres.  Although Brant conti nued to att empt to pursue the resurrec-
ti on of the Great Law and the Confederacy, both seemed confi ned to the ash 
heap of history.132     

The Revoluti onary War left  the Six Nati ons Confederacy severely weakened, 
powerless and impoverished.  The culture and traditi ons of the Iroquois 
were threatened by these factors and also by the development of American 
economic free enterprise, expansionism and alcohol abuse.  Not surprisingly, 
a Seneca prophet, Handsome Lake, began preaching a social conduct that 
was peppered with many Euro-American principles aft er receiving propheti c 
visions in 1799.  His teachings included the farming practi ces, gender roles 
and religious dogma of the Quakers.133   

His teachings (known as the karihwi:io “Good Message” or the Code of Hand-
some Lake) were somewhat embraced by those Iroquois living in the United 
States. Canadian Iroquois were less enthusiasti c as they were not experienc-
ing the social or cultural disrupti on endured by their American counterparts.  
Moreover, they were predominantly Christi anized already.  According to 
Kahn-Tineta Horn, a Mohawk acti vist and parti cipant in the 1990 standoff , 
“I think Handsome Lake was probably a well-meaning man who did see things, 
but the Quakers took that and tried to turn Mohawk society upside down.”134 
The pacifi sm and mutual coexistence of the Code of Handsome Lake was 
never adopted by the Mohawk of Canada, who maintained the belief that 
they were an independent and sovereign nati on not subject to the whims of 
any colonial administrati on or government.135   

The 1794 Jay Treaty seemed to give credence to this claim.  Following the 
American Revoluti on, the United States and Great Britain signed an agree-
ment enti tled the Treaty of Amity, Commerce, and Navigati on (the Jay Trea-
ty).  In additi on to postwar normalizati on of relati ons between the two coun-
tries, the treaty also extended and acknowledged various rights to Aboriginal 
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nati ons occupying lands on or near the U.S.-Canadian border, such as 
Akwesasne: “…the Indians dwelling on either side of the said boundary line, 
freely to pass and repass by land or inland navigati on, into the respecti ve terri-
tories and countries of the two parti es, on the conti nent of America….”136  Like 
the Royal Proclamati on, the Jay Treaty was used as a defence by the Mohawk 
who operated illegal smuggling enterprises primarily based in Akwesasne 
during the 1980s, through to the present day.137  

Although Canadian Iroquois were not subjugated like those in the United 
States, following the Revoluti on they conti nued to batt le for what they be-
lieved to be their ancestral lands.  Since the incepti on of the Proclamati on Act 
in 1763, the Nati ves of Kanesatake, which was now unoffi  cially divided into 
two secti ons—the Mohawk and a minority of other Iroquois living west of the 
Mission church, and the Algonquin and a handful of Nipissing living east of the 
church—were at odds with both the colonial government and the Seminary.  
Problems persisted between these Nati ve groups and the Seminary over the 
proprietorship of this land, its ti mber resources, and in parti cular the sale of 
this land to third parti es—French sett lers.138   

Peti ti ons were forwarded to the Legislature of Lower Canada by the Nati ve 
inhabitants in 1781, 1787, 1795 and 1802, protesti ng the Seminary’s trans-
acti ons of land to sett lers.  Any answer given by colonial administrators 
favoured the rights of the Seminary.139 By the 1780s non-Nati ve families had 
sett led on land leased or purchased from the Seminary, creati ng the origins 
of what became known as the “checkerboard” problem.  Nati ves and non-
Nati ves were living at the Lake of Two Mountains intermitt ently, with diff ering 
opinions about land use and ownership.  The Mohawk sti ll maintained that 
the seigneurial lands had been set aside for their use.  The wave of intense 
sett lement following the War of 1812 would further complicate the already 
fragile relati onships at the Lake of Two Mountains.

The War of 1812 (1812-1815) dramati cally modifi ed Nati ve relati ons in Can-
ada.  Although the Mohawk initi ally remained neutral, American incursions 
into the Montreal area threatened the lands of the Mohawk, who for their 
own interests took up arms with the Briti sh.  Warriors from Kanesatake, Kah-
nawake, Akwesasne and the Six Nati ons at Grand River were instrumental in 
the victories at Chateauguay and Beaver Dam.140 With the Rush-Bagot Treaty 
of 1817 came the demilitarizati on of the Great Lakes and nullifi cati on of fu-
ture American threats. The Iroquois lost their importance as a military ally. 
The Briti sh began to initi ate policies of assimilati on rather than co-operati on 
and understanding, thus shift ing the status quo of Euro-Nati ve relati ons in 
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Canada. This was exemplifi ed in the disillusionment of Shawnee Chief 
Tecumseh’s dream of an Indian State in the Ohio Valley.141 

Following the war, the Nati ves of the Lake of Two Mountains conti nued to pe-
ti ti on the government, submitti  ng claims in 1818, 1828 and 1839.  During this 
ti me, the Mohawks at Kanesatake prospered in the fur trade and a Hudson 
Bay Company fur post was opened in the area, handling roughly 5,000 pelts 
per year.  By 1825, a steamboat from Lachine to Carillon was using the village 
of Oka as a regular stop, and the seeds of nature tourism in the region were 
sown.  These circumstances only enti ced French- speaking farmers to sett le 
on the north shore and English traders on the south.142 By 1837, the Nati ve 
populati on of Kanesatake was reported to be, “300 Iroquois, 298 Algonquin, 
264 Nipisin [sic],” occupying 260 acres of land while sharing what was deemed 
“common land” with non-Nati ve farmers and catt le-ranchers.143  Although the 
Seminary, French/English sett lers and Nati ves were all in direct confl ict over 
the land, the situati on had remained relati vely peaceful up to this point.  This 
was not to last.

In 1841, the Legislature of Lower Canada enacted a statute confi rming an 
1840 legislati on and the ti tle of the disputed land to Seminary, while retain-
ing a relati vely vague clause of defi ned obligati ons to the Aboriginal popu-
lati on.  It was also confi rmed that the ti mber on the land belonged to the 
religious order.144  Since the decline of the fur trade in the late 1830s and the 
rise of steamboats, Mohawks began selling ti mber to circumvent their loss 
of funds.  By 1848, the Hudson Bay Company had vacated the area and 
closed its trading post.145  This led to the migrati on of many Algonquin and 
Nipissing further north towards the Ott awa region, eventually sett ling on a 
parcel of land at Maniwaki provided for them in 1853.  Kanesatake was now, 
more than ever, primarily Mohawk.  Although the government had set aside 
16,000 acres at Doncaster for the Mohawk of Kahnawake and Kanesatake 
in 1853, it was used for hunti ng and fi shing, but very few actually relocated.  
Unlike the Algonquin, the Mohawks were farmers and the ground at Doncast-
er proved unfi t for agricultural development.146  The government’s att empt at 
relocati on as a soluti on proved futi le. 

Also in 1848, the Mohawks delivered another peti ti on to Governor General 
Lord Elgin, asserti ng their right to the land and its natural resources.  Aft er an 
investi gati on by the Superintendent General of Indian Aff airs, it was repeated 
that the Sulpician deeds had been approved by Her Majesty in 1841 and that 
the Mohawk had “no right to cut down and sell any of it [ti mber] without the 
consent of the missionary.”147 The Mohawk response was to cut down more 
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wood and appeal the Seminary’s att empts to stop them in another peti ti on to 
the government.  As a result, 12 law offi  cials arrested an unknown number of 
Mohawk, jailing them in Montreal for eight days.148  

To compound the Sulpician’s anger, in 1851, Peter Jones, an Ojibwa and Meth-
odist Minister, came to the Lake of Two Mountains on order of his church to 
convert the Nati ves to Protestanti sm.  A mission was established in 1868, and 
many Mohawks simply joined as an act of defi ance against the Catholic Sulpi-
cian order. This was contested in court by the Sulpicians and the Methodist 
chapel was torn down.149    

Since the verdict in 1841, the Sulpicians conti nued to assert dominance over 
the land against a backdrop of constant feuding and tension.  In 1859, the 
Seminary gained propriety over all of the ungranted land as the result of a 
bill abolishing seigneurial tenure and ownership. Att orney-General George-
Éti enne Carti er, former legal counsel for the Sulpicians, directed this bill 
through legislature, assuring the Seminary’s right to parcel off  and sell 
common lands.150   

Mohawk resistance to the arrival of more sett lers and the Sulpicians’ increas-
ingly dominant atti  tude was accelerated by Chief Joseph Onasakenrat, or Jo-
seph Swan.  Possessing a university educati on and knowledge of the Roman 
Catholic religion, he was hired by the Sulpicians for secretarial work at the age 
of 23 in 1868.  Soon aft erwards in July, he became one of three Chiefs of Kane-
satake, and was hasti ly released by the Seminary.  Mohawk resistance now 
had a leader literate in French, English and Mohawk, who quickly drew up a 
peti ti on to the Governor General of Canada, signed by 122 other Mohawk.  It 
was rejected and again the Sulpician ownership to the land was reaffi  rmed.151  

Following the rejecti on of this peti ti on, Chief Joseph proceeded to grant a 
large number of Mohawk land within the boundaries of the religious mission.  
Police entered the village and talked to the Nati ves and no arrests were made 
for the ti me being.  Later on 26 February 1869, Chief Joseph and 40 Mohawk 
men appeared at the Seminary and served the priests a noti ce to leave.152  
On 5 March, Onasakenrat, two other Chiefs and a fourth man were arrested 
on charges of assault and trespassing.  Sympatheti c Montrealers posted the 
combined $400 bail.  The prisoners were released on 22 March, acquitt ed of 
all charges.153 

Over the next ten years, these episodes were repeated, with Mohawk being 
arrested and/or fi ned on many occasions for trespassing, cutti  ng down trees, 
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utt ering threats and unlawfully carrying and discharging weapons. The Semi-
nary also conti nued to sell land to sett lers, so much so that Oka was made 
a municipality in 1875.  By 1877, the scene at Kanesatake was becoming in-
creasingly precarious.  Those Mohawk who remained Catholic and did not 
embrace the arrival of the Protestant Methodists were threatened with death 
by anti -Catholic Mohawk.  Local sett lers were complaining to the Lieutenant-
Governor of Quebec that armed Mohawks were roaming the streets, dis-
charging their weapons and threatening to remove them from their property.  
In May, the Seminarians erected a fence around the sandy grass dunes behind 
the village (later becoming the Pines).  These dunes were part of the common 
lands where Mohawk grazed their catt le. The Mohawk removed the fence and 
burned the wooden posts.  Subsequently, on 19 May, the missionaries who 
had posted armed guards at the site were met by armed Mohawk men, in-
cluding Chief Joseph.  A fi refi ght ensued, resulti ng in no serious casualti es to 
either side.154    

Warrants were issued against 46 Mohawk and on 14 June 1877, eight men 
were arrested, indicted on charges of inciti ng a riot as a result of the armed 
engagement.  On the morning of 15 June, cannon blasts were heard and the 
Roman Catholic church and presbytery were set ablaze.  14 Mohawk men were 
subsequently arrested, including Onasakenrat.  Even more foreshadowing was 
the fact that Colonel Amyot and 15 of his police offi  cers stayed in Kanesatake 
from 15 June to the end of August—76 days in total.155

News of the violence was reported to Ott awa and a remedy was sought to 
negate any future confrontati on and violence. Having witnessed failed at-
tempts to mollify the Nati ves by liti gati on, relocati on now became the primary 
governmental soluti on to the “Oka Questi on.”  A land deal had been brokered 
with the Algonquin and Nipissing, as menti oned, and almost all had relocated 
to Maniwaki by 1868.  With this in mind, a tract of land, 12,000 acres, was 
off ered to the Kanesatake Mohawk south of Lake Temiscaming in northern 
Ontario in 1871.  The Mohawk declined, citi ng that the land was too far north, 
the soil quality poor and the tract too small.156       

In June 1881, the Government of Ontario passed an order-in-council authoriz-
ing the sale of 25,582 acres at Gibson in Muskoka to the federal government 
for the creati on of a Reserve for the Mohawk of Kanesatake.  On 22 October 
1881, the fi rst families arrived at their new locati on courtesy of the steamer 
Dagmar.  A year later, only 22 families had relocated, some to Gibson (Wahta) 
but also others to Kahnawake and Tyendinaga.  For those who did sett le at 
Gibson (roughly 175 or one-third of the Mohawk at Kanesatake), the agreed 
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provisions were never delivered by the government and most returned to 
Kanesatake to fi nd their houses sold by the Sulpicians.157 The Superintendent 
General of Indian Aff airs, Hayter Reed, off ered this response in 1894: “A re-
serve…was provided for your people at Gibson….   If they prefer to live at Oka 
they must take the consequences.  The Department has done all in its power 
for your people and has gone out of its way to help them and guard their 
interests.”158 

Thus far, both pre-Confederati on colonial administrati ons sided with the Sem-
inary of St-Sulpice in any ruling concerning the land base at the Lake of Two 
Mountains.  Without the support of the Confederacy, which was in tatt ers, the 
Mohawk of Kanesatake were left  to fend for themselves in a politi cal, religious 
and social environment that did not recognize the inherent rights of the Na-
ti ve populati on to the land.  Yet the Mohawks sti ll refused to accept the deci-
sions made by both the French and subsequently the Briti sh in favour of the 
Sulpicians when the land claim was submitt ed to the colonial administrati on.  
With the 1867 Briti sh North America Act (BNA Act), the land claim issues were 
inherited by the newly created Government of Canada.  
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CHAPTER 5

The Oka Land Claim Post-Confederation

The Government of Canada recognized its responsibiliti es to the Indigenous 
populati on of Canada through the BNA Act which assigned jurisdicti on for Na-
ti ve aff airs to the federal level.  However, the two decades prior to Confed-
erati on were marred by Briti sh att empts to assimilate the Nati ve populati on 
by undermining Nati ve links to the land and traditi onal politi cal organizati ons 
through enforced laws and regulati ons.  These programs were expanded by 
the federal government of Canada which conti nued the practi ce of usurping 
power from traditi onal Chiefs through the Indian Act, which was awash with 
assimilati onist protocols.  These policies reduced the control all Nati ves in 
Canada retained over the administrati on of their Reserves and lives.  The Mo-
hawk communiti es were equally aff ected and government policies seemed to 
further agitate the already existi ng fractures of religion and politi cs apparent 
in the Mohawk Nati on.  The government directi ves in the Indian Act directly 
aff ected the issue of land ownership at Kanesatake.

Trying to relocate the dissident Mohawk of Kanesatake to Gibson was 
consistent with the evoluti on of Canadian Indian policies during the mid-
nineteenth century.  Indian Reserves, which were born into Crown protocol 
during the 1830s, served two strategic purposes: they opened up land for 
unhindered sett lement and industry, and established a framework by which 
the Nati ves could be integrated or, if not, easily monitored.  The names of 
governmental aboriginal programs refl ect this not-uncommon ethnocentric 
view of the Victorian era.159  In 1857, the Gradual Civilizati on Act was passed, 
allowing enfranchisement for certain Nati ves who passed a test, aft er which 
they would be granted 20 acres of Reserve land.  It was a furti ve ploy on behalf 
of the Department of Indian Aff airs to remove communal ownership of and 
atti  tudes to the land.  One Mohawk was granted citi zenship under this policy, 
but his community of Six Nati ons on the Grand River refused the granti ng and 
parti ti oning of the proscribed land.160   

The BNA Act of 1867 introduced a clause assigning jurisdicti on for, “Indians 
and lands reserved for the Indians” to the federal government of the new-
ly created Dominion of Canada.  In 1869, the Gradual Enfranchisement Act 
was conceded, allowing Nati ves to live as disti nct “Municipaliti es.”  However, 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 40 –

under this act, their traditi onal laws were subject to governmental scruti ny, 
further undermining the role and power of the traditi onal Chiefs and Clan 
Mothers.  An additi onal criterion for “Status” was having geneti c Nati ve blood 
of a minimum of 25 per cent.  Likewise, the 1869 Act removed “Status” from 
any Nati ve female who married a non-Nati ve, a penalty procured by their kin 
regardless of blood quantum.161   

The Canadian Department of Indian Aff airs (DIA) was unoffi  cially formed in 
conjuncti on with the 1876 Indian Act, which aft er several revisions remains in 
force to this day.  The core features of this policy included the resett lement of 
Nati ves to federally controlled Reserves owned by the Crown, the creati on of 
residenti al schools, the banning of certain Nati ve rituals such as the Potlatch 
and sun dance, and federal control over membership and enfranchisement of 
and in Aboriginal politi cal organizati ons.  More importantly, it maintained the 
principles for elected band councils in keeping with the 1869 Act, but did so 
on a voluntary basis.162

The Department of Indian Aff airs was formally established in conjuncti on with 
the 1880 Indian Act.  The electoral system for Nati ve councils was amended 
yet again, giving the federal government powers to impose elected councils 
regardless of whether the Nati ves in questi on preferred it to traditi onal forms 
of non-elected leadership, such as the Iroquois Longhouse.  The 1884 Indi-
an Advancement Act supplemented this clause whereby Ott awa had power, 
through the medium of the Superintendent General of DIA, to depose any 
Chief who was considered unfi t.163  

With the dawn of these policies and the destabilizati on of the Iroquois Con-
federacy and Longhouse traditi ons, a tense and unfamiliar environment for 
the Nati ve populace of Canada emerged.  By the turn of the century, the di-
visions within the Iroquois Confederacy and the microcosm of the Mohawk 
Nati on were quite apparent.  Members of the now-divided Confederacy were 
scatt ered throughout Canada and the United States, making any revival of 
the Iroquois League extremely diffi  cult.  In additi on, some Mohawk had been 
Christi anized while others had not.  Large porti ons of the Mohawk popula-
ti on had followed the teaching of Handsome Lake and conti nued to adopt 
Canadian and American practi ces, including the democrati c electoral system 
and Christi anity. Others remained devout to the traditi onal Longhouse cul-
ture and band councils.  Furthermore, many of the Iroquois Reserves were 
not homogenous.  These factors created distrust within Nati ve councils and 
communiti es.  
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These divergent atti  tudes within the Mohawk Nati on manifested themselves 
during 1990.  The same suspicions and confl icti ng agendas created an atmo-
sphere of mutual distrust leading to violence, not only with the Canadian 
state, but also between the facti ons present within the Mohawk Nati on ter-
ritories of Akwesasne, Kanesatake and Kahnawake.  For those who follow the 
Longhouse, a fundamental principle of the Great Law is that any members 
of the Confederacy who cease to follow the traditi onal customs in favour 
of a foreign system of governance, religion and beliefs forfeit their positi on 
within the social and politi cal spheres of the Confederacy.164  This dichotomy 
caused a deep rift  among the Mohawk people.  Those who had converted to 
Christi anity and those who had lost matriarchal clan ti es due to intermarriage 
with non-Mohawk seemed to support the elected Chiefs, while others sti ll 
practi sed the Great Law and refused to recognize the jurisdicti on of the Indian 
Act over their lives.

Under the provisions of the Indian Act, elected band councils had been cre-
ated at Akwesasne and Kahnawake in 1898 and 1889 respecti vely. By order-in-
council of 16 May 1899 an electi ve system was applied to all bands in Ontario, 
Quebec and the Mariti mes.  There is no indicati on that the decision to initi ate 
this policy was the expressed choice of the Nati ves concerned. In fact, it was 
acti vely resisted.  At Akwesasne in 1899, traditi onal Chiefs were arrested with 
fi ve being held in prison for one year.  Similarly in 1924 at Oshweken, “the 
elected council system was summarily introduced…when Lieutenant-Colonel 
C.E. Morgan, fl anked by RCMP offi  cers, dismissed the traditi onal chiefs from 
the Council House, confi scated the Council’s Wampum belts…and organized 
the electi on of a Band Council.”165 

The Kanesatake Mohawk were included in this sweeping reform even though 
there was doubt as to whether the lands they occupied at Oka consti tuted a 
Reserve under defi niti on of the Indian Act.  The people of Kanesatake are in an 
anomalous situati on under the jurisdicti on of Canadian law and the interpre-
tati on of the Indian Act.  Although they are “Indians” under the clauses of the 
Indian Act and have an Indian Act Band Council, they do not live on an offi  cial 
Reserve.  They live on federal Crown lands reserved for their use under Sec-
ti on 91(24) of the 1867 BNA Act.166   In the early part of the twenti eth century 
a court acti on was initi ated to determine the legal rights and obligati ons of 
the Seminary to the indigenous populati on of Kanesatake.  This included the 
clarifi cati on of land rights, the ability to sell land to third parti es, as well as
determining if indeed a Reserve could be created.  
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Aft er much deliberati on in February 1909, the case of Corinthe vs. the Ecclesi-
asti cs of the Seminary of Sulpice was heard by the Superior Court in Montreal.  
This case was initi ated by Chief Angus Corinthe who had personally met with 
Prime Minster Wilfrid Laurier and the Superintendent of Indian Aff airs, Clif-
ford Sift on, in 1905: “What I told the Government when I went up there was, 
‘They [Seminary] are going to put up a fence on our common, and the fi rst 
man who comes to sti ck up a post there I will smash his head.”167 

Under the protecti on of Quebec Provincial Police in the summer of 1907, 
municipal workers erected the fence without any violent occurrences.  Early in 
1909, former Chief Joseph Gabriel ventured to England to bring the Mohawk 
grievances before Briti sh authoriti es in person:  “We now lay to the Govern-
ment of the throne our complaints to have justi ce be done, to place us in the 
employment and full possession of our land….”168   Although King Edward VII 
did not humour the peti ti on, Laurier did.  The land dispute was already be-
fore the Superior Court in Montreal.  The court’s verdict pleased neither side.  
Aft er several appeals from both parti es, the case was fi nally heard by the Ju-
dicial Committ ee of the Privy Council (JCPC), then the highest court of appeal 
in Canada, at London, England in July 1912.169     

The JCPC ruled that the Seminary of St-Sulpice maintained full ti tle to the 
disputed lands and “to place beyond questi on the ti tle of the respondents 
[Seminary] to the Seigniory; and to make it impossible for the appellants to 
establish an independent ti tle to possession or control in the administrati on.”  
More importantly, the Privy Council ruled that the Mohawk could not assert 
any claim to the land by virtue of Aboriginal ti tle, nor by way of land held in 
trust by the Seminary.  The basis for the verdict was that the legislati on of 
1841 had already confi rmed the Seminary’s right to that land.  In short, the 
court ruled that the Mohawk people had a right to occupy and use the land 
unti l that point in ti me when the Sulpicians exercised their tangenti al right to 
sell it.170 The Mohawk refused to accept this decision and conti nued to lobby 
both the courts and the government for recogniti on to their enti tlement of 
the land in questi on.

Problems arose again in 1936 when a large tract of land, including porti ons 
of the common land was sold to a Belgian syndicate, Belgo-Canadian Real Es-
tate Company.  The following year, the company laid charges against Mohawk 
for cutti  ng ti mber, which were followed by a series of arrests by the Quebec 
Provincial Police. The Seminary conti nued to liquidate parcels of land 
throughout the Second World War, prompti ng the federal government to act.  
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On 31 May 1945, the federal government procured the remaining land owned 
by the Sulpicians, which included 51 or 52 lots in the village of Oka, plus 1,556 
acres of land to the northwest “outside the town.”  Title to these lands was 
vested in the Crown, which also assumed all the Sulpician’s fi duciary obli-
gati ons to the Mohawk, save for spiritual care of the minority Catholic Mo-
hawk.171   

This was the origin of the process (which conti nues today) of assembling land 
under federal jurisdicti on for an offi  cial Reserve at Kanesatake under the Indian 
Act.  The main obstacle to assembling a Reserve is that the land purchased in 
1945 consists of a series of blocks interspersed with privately owned land and 
also land held by the Municipality of Oka.  This has been referred to in the lit-
erature of Oka as the “checkerboard problem.”  Both the municipality and the 
community of Kanesatake faced the quandary of making decisions regarding 
land management that could in turn aff ect the other community.  The predica-
ment of coordinati ng land-use policies became a source of fricti on.172 This was 
heightened in 1947 when parcels of land not occupied by the Nati ve people 
but used by them for community purposes—the Commons—was sold by the 
Seminary to the Municipality of Oka for the creati on of a municipal park.173

Over the next 15 years, the Chiefs of Kanesatake conti nued to press the gov-
ernment for an explanati on regarding the legal status of their people and their 
ti tle to the lands they now occupied.  The Mohawks did not view the 1912 
decision as a fi nal sett lement and maintained the opinion that the Seigneury 
land had been given to them initi ally in 1717 and that the religious authoriti es 
had no legal right to sell or dispose of any porti ons of these original lands.  
Nevertheless, Oka was never given offi  cial “Reserve” status as defi ned by Sub-
secti on (1), Secti on 2 of the Indian Act, C. 149 (1952).174  

The disagreement was further escalated in 1959 when the Seminary trans-
ferred lot 69 of the parish to the Municipality of Oka without consulti ng the 
Mohawk.  Lot 69 was part of the Commons, but was not acquired by the Crown 
in 1945 as no one resided on it.  In September 1959, Paul Sauve, Member of 
the Quebec Legislati ve Assembly for the Deux Montagnes region, became Pre-
mier of Quebec.  On 18 December, a private member’s bill was passed in the 
Assembly authorizing the Corporati on of Oka to acquire the lot and lease it for 
“sporti ng or commercial purposes.”  Again, the Mohawk were not consulted 
about the transacti on and the Council peti ti oned the Joint Committ ee of the 
Senate and the House of Commons on Indian Aff airs to no avail.  Soon aft er, 
constructi on of the nine-hole Oka Golf Club began in the Pines.175 
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The record of the white pine forest at Oka is worth menti oning, as it relates 
directly to the larger land claim issue.  Originally, the area of the Pines (west 
of the village of Oka) was a large sandbank some 30 metres high, which was 
unstable and prone to slides and shift s.  It had been deforested for lumber and 
for the grazing of livestock throughout the nineteenth century.  These lands 
were referred to as the “Commons,” and were used by all area residents.  With 
deforestati on and progressive grazing removing the grass coati ng, sand slides 
became more frequent. By the 1880s, damage to properti es and roads below 
became common.176  

Between 1886 and 1897, 100,000 trees were planted by the Mohawk under 
the watchful eye of Oka village priest Joseph-Daniel Lefebvre.  White pine 
(70,000) was planted on the slopes, while hemlock and red pine (30,000) were 
planted on the fl at surfaces.  Although the Sulpicians paid for the reforestati on 
project ($1700), most saplings were obtained by the Nati ves and transported 
in canoes from the north before being planted in rows at Oka.  Careful selec-
ti ve cutti  ng of white pine allowed those that took root to fl ourish.  By 1920, 
roughly 80 per cent of the saplings had been cut to provide space and light to 
the fi tt est trees, thus halti ng the erosion completely.177 

It was also during the 1920s that the Sulpicians allowed local residents to con-
struct a crude golf course of sand and gravel on the last remaining common 
grazing grounds that had not been reforested.  With the Sulpicians parcelling 
and selling land, which included areas of the reforested Commons, the new 
owners cleared land for development.  By 1947, only 18 per cent of the white 
pine remained and fewer than nine per cent of the hemlock.  With the con-
structi on of the golf club in the early 1960s, more trees were felled to enlarge 
the fairways, the borders of which came extremely close to a traditi onal Mo-
hawk cemetery.178 

While the Oka Golf Club was being built around Kanesatake, all was not well 
in neighbouring Kahnawake, either.  Constructi on of the St. Lawrence Seaway 
from 1955 to 1959 to circumvent the Lachine Rapids had a negati ve aff ect on 
the village of Kahnawake.  Besides  the hundreds of acres lost to constructi on, 
the seaway robbed the community of its riverfront shoreline.  According to 
Johansen in his work, Life and Death in Mohawk Country:

Without loss of land and the way of life that Mohawks had based 
on it, the nati onalisti c Warrior Society, a Mohawk paramilitary 
group whose image mesmerized headline writers in north-
eastern United States and most of Canada during that violent 
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summer of 1990, might never have arisen.  Had the constructi on 
of the Saint Lawrence Seaway shortly aft er World War II and sub-
sequent industrializati on of the area not destroyed traditi onal 
ways of making a living in Mohawk Country, gambling and smug-
gling may never have emerged... 179

To what measure the smuggling and gambling can be att ributed to this cause 
and eff ect duality is unknown.  However, as Johansen correctly points out, the 
rise in illegal acti viti es, gaming and Mohawk nati onalism, including the War-
rior Society, corresponds to the ti me period of the 1960s and 1970s, shortly 
aft er the constructi on of the seaway.

To further Nati ve Canadian irritati on and alienati on, in 1969, the Minister of 
Indian Aff airs, Jean Chréti en, under Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau, released 
the federal government’s vision of Nati ve-Canadian relati ons in a White Paper.  
In summary, it promulgated that Nati ves were at a social and economic disad-
vantage because they enjoyed unique legal status and considerati ons under 
Canadian law.  The soluti on was to change the directi on to “a road that would 
lead gradually away from diff erent status to full social, economic and politi cal 
parti cipati on in Canadian life.”180 

Not all Mohawk were prepared to assimilate or accept the directi on of the 
federal government without a fi ght.  The social upheaval during the 1960s 
spawned the creati on of the American Indian Movement (AIM) which was 
the forerunner to many smaller acti vist or militant nati ve groups. The Mo-
hawk Warrior Society was reborn in the tumultuous era of social conscience of 
the 1960s.  With the destabilizati on of the Iroquois Confederacy, the divisive 
politi cs within the Mohawk Nati on which was left  without concrete leader-
ship and the refusal of the governments of Canada and Quebec to appreciate, 
legislate or negoti ate Mohawk land grievances, the rise of a militant facti on of 
Mohawks was quite understandable and, given the history, predictable.  These 
factors, in conjuncti on with the radical social movements of the 1960s, solidi-
fi ed the rise, recruitment and acti ons of the Mohawk Warrior Society which 
initi ally sought to protect the land and culture of its communiti es.
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CHAPTER 6

The Rebirth of the Warrior Society

The decades of the 1960s and 1970s were a cataclysmic ti me for social reform, 
protest and movements of every kind.  It is not surprising that Nati ve rights 
organizati ons and Nati ve politi cal lobbyists also appeared alongside anti -
Vietnam War groups, African-American civil rights assemblies and women’s 
rights supporters.  However, not all organizati ons sought to change the con-
sciousness, values and laws of the United States and Canada by peaceful 
means.  In this atmosphere of politi cal ferment, Dennis Banks and George 
Mitchell, two Anishinabe, founded the American Indian Movement (AIM) in 
Minneapolis, Minnesota in 1968.  

According to the FBI, the American Indian Movement was “self-consciously 
patt erned aft er the Black Panther Party’s community of self-defense model pi-
oneered by Huey P. Newton and Bobby Seale two years earlier in Oakland.”181   
AIM chapters quickly sprang up in urban centres throughout the country, at-
tracti ng tough young Nati ves.  Within two years, AIM’s agenda smartly shift ed 
from the roots of its urban background to rural Reservati ons, creati ng a direct 
link between itself and the issues of treaty rights and lands claims, giving the 
movement a degree of legiti macy.182 

In November 1969, members of the radical coaliti on called Indians of All 
Tribes (IAT), headed by Mohawk Richard Oakes of Akwesasne, occupied the 
island of Alcatraz, citi ng an 1882 statute (22 Stat. 181) which mandates that 
all abandoned federal faciliti es be used for Nati ve schools.  The occupati on 
of Alcatraz ended aft er a 19-month standoff , when a joint task force of U.S. 
Marshals launched an assault and arrested the occupiers.  This episode dem-
onstrated an extremely important strategic lesson.  Eff ecti ve public support 
could be garnered through the media att enti on aff orded to militant Nati ve 
acti ons.  AIM conti nued to gain considerable media att enti on through numer-
ous seizures of U.S. military faciliti es, hydro and gas plants, and through high-
profi le demonstrati ons throughout the early 1970s.183  

Acti ons such as these were not restricted to the more dissident populati on of 
the United States.  On 18 December 1968, 48 Mohawk, including Kahn-Tineta 
Horn, blocked the Internati onal Bridge at Cornwall to protest the decision of 
Canada Border Services Agency to charge duty on goods carried across the 
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border by Mohawks.  The 1794 Jay Treaty was used to support the Mohawk 
argument that the border did not apply nor did they recognize its division of 
their own land.184  It was this same argument that is being used by casino oper-
ators and cigarett e/alcohol bootleggers to defend their operati ons.  The smug-
gling of weapons and other illicit drugs is an illegal acti vity in both the United 
States and Canada.  The Jay Treaty cannot be used to defend these acti viti es.  
The blockade of the bridge ended when RCMP and Ontario Provincial Police 
(OPP) retook the bridge and made arrests.  This was not an isolated event.  By 
the mid-1970s, at least fi ve armed blockades had occurred in Canada, the best 
known being the Ojibwa occupati on of a park near Kenora, Ontario.185 

In the United States, the most publicized AIM acti on occurred in 1973 at the 
Oglala Lakota (Sioux) Pine Ridge Reservati on, South Dakota, bett er known as 
Wounded Knee.   The eventual 71-day armed standoff  between AIM and joint 
U.S. security and military agencies parallels the Oka Crisis in numerous facets.  
The struggle originated over land issues, treaty rights and the prospect of ura-
nium mines on disputed territory.  It also involved numerous facti ons of Nati ve 
groups and band councils, which U.S. agents tried to pit against each other.  
AIM leaders called it, “the old divide-and-conquer tacti c: they are trying to 
pit Indian against Indian.”186  The corrupt band council led by Dick Wilson and 
his “goons” were being funded and bribed by the FBI to inti midate AIM and 
those opposed to the mines.  Lawyer William Kunstler represented the griev-
ances of AIM.  He would also be present behind the barricades at Kanesatake 
in 1990.187

In additi on, members of the 82nd Airborne and the U.S. 6th Army were deployed:  
“It is signifi cant in some of these AIM centers the residents have built bun-
kers which would literally require military assault forces if it were necessary to 
overcome resistance emanati ng from the bunkers.”188 In the fi rst instance since 
the Civil War, the U.S. Army (not to be confused with the Nati onal Guard) was 
dispatched in a domesti c operati on.  In all, 17 APCs, 200,000 rounds of various 
calibre ammuniti on, fl ares and explosives, 12 M-79 Grenade Launchers, 600 
cases of C-S Gas, F-4 Phantom jets, helicopters and personnel were deployed 
under the directi on of General Alexander Haig.189 The Oka Crisis would later 
mirror many of the events which transpired at Wounded Knee.

It was within this dissident environment of Nati ve North America that the Mo-
hawk Warrior Society began a resurrecti on of sorts aft er years of relati ve dor-
mancy.  Members of the Warrior Society identi fi ed with AIM and the militant 
trend and began to take acti on against what it perceived to be elements of 
Nati ve and non-Nati ve society in confl ict with the Longhouse traditi ons and a 
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sovereign Mohawk Nati on.  One instrumental fi gure in the rejuvenati on of the 
Warrior Society was Louis Hall of the Kahnawake Reserve.  During the 1970s, 
Hall, widely regarded by Warriors as the founder of the movement, produced 
several bodies of literature calling for the resurgence of Mohawk sovereignty 
and the Six Nati ons Confederacy through whatever means necessary, includ-
ing the use of armed force: “Legal exterminati on of the Indians as a disti nct 
people is an act of aggression.  Oppression is an act of war against the people.  
Legislati ng Indians into exti ncti on is an act of war.”190     

Hall’s most militant works are his fanati cal manifestos Rebuilding the Iroquois 
Confederacy and Warrior’s Handbook.  In both booklets, Hall cites wampums 
of the Great Law calling for acti ve resistance against the invasion of Mohawk 
territory and the protecti on of its interests.  According to Hall: “What can the 
Warrior Societi es do? They can dump bridges into the rivers which are now 
sewers and into the [St. Lawrence] seaway cancelling all traffi  c, knockout pow-
erhouses, high tension power lines, punch holes in the reactors of nuclear 
powerhouses.”191   

Using an ideology of nati onalism and the argument that Mohawks were the 
victi ms of systemati c oppression, the militant movement began to recruit 
members from Mohawk territories.  The Warrior Society at Kahnawake re-
ceived offi  cial sancti on from the Longhouse members in 1972.  However, the 
Warrior Society itself further accentuates the divisions of opinion over the 
governance of the Mohawk Nati on, the support for its various Band Councils 
and the means by which sovereignty should be addressed and procured.  The 
traditi onalists who support the Longhouse were divided over the role of the 
Society and were not as unifi ed as they may have appeared.  

This divisive atmosphere among these groups helped fuel the violence of 1990.  
One person’s freedom fi ghter is another person’s terrorist.  Accordingly, when 
members of a society are oppressed and feel isolated and alienated, they turn 
to violence to protect what remains of their land, culture and religion with 
a view that there is nothing left  to lose.  Mohawk acti vists and the Warrior 
Society developed through this system of oppression and isolati on.  Leaders 
fed on these fears, resentments and traumas to recruit members.  According 
to Mike Mitchell, former Grand Chief of the elected Canadian government 
sponsored Mohawk Council of Akwesasne: “It was a movement for cultural 
survival.  It was commonly known as the warriors.”192   

An ex-Warrior nicknamed “Cartoon” who served in Vietnam and initi ally 
trained the original Warriors in military tacti cs during the 1970s and 1980s 
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surmised that the society, “took the garbage and the throwaways and put 
pride into them.  What they [Warriors] set out to be is not what they are.”  
He renounced the Warrior movement when he was asked in 1989 to go to 
Ganienkeh “to train children to act as hit squads.”  He was also deeply con-
cerned that the movement had lost its social credibility and was now a front 
for illegal acti viti es where the “expendables” or “unstable expendables such 
as Lasagna” who were fl oundering in life were put in the front lines “to hold 
the fort” and protect the multi -million dollar illegal enterprises of a few “Silks 
or Silk-shirt.” This is derogatory Mohawk slang used to describe the business 
men or entrepreneurs behind the gaming and smuggling network who use the 
Warriors to protect their “investments.”193      

There remains much debate over Hall (who died on 9 December 1993) and 
his recruitment and methods of moti vati on. The pro-Warrior Longhouses of 
Kahnawake and Ganienkeh (Mohawk Nati on Councils) and the pro-Warrior 
facti ons of the Longhouses at Akwesasne and Kanesatake support its legiti -
macy. These Longhouse members view his interpretati on of the Great Law as 
correct and subscribe to his belief that, “We shall resist by every means, any 
aggression, any violati on of the treati es, any disturbances of our people in the 
free use and enjoyment of our land, any usurpati on of our sovereignty, any 
encroachment and oppression.  We pledge that the noise will be heard from 
one end of the world to the other.”194   

In contrast, other members of the various Longhouses vehemently reject this 
call to arms viewing Hall’s militant theories and rhetoric as a bastardizati on of 
the wampums of the Great Law, which have been twisted in meaning to pro-
mote and mobilize for his radical agenda.  These traditi onalists relate more to 
the Code of Handsome Lake.195 The Warrior Society does not have blanketi ng 
endorsement throughout the Mohawk Nati on.196  Also, in oppositi on are the 
elected councils at Akwesasne, Kanesatake and the Iroquois Grand Council.   
To Hall and his followers, this facti on of the Longhouse and those who sup-
port the governmental electoral system are traitors who have subscribed to 
the “peace-oriented path” and to the “hallucinati ons of a drunk [Handsome 
Lake].”197 

Hall’s works are bursti ng with racial slurs, ethnocentrism and fanati cal fascist 
psychological manipulati on and ideologies.  Throughout 1990, Indian Time 
produced an anonymously writt en dissecti on of Hall’s ideology and found 
frightening comparisons to Nazism and the “Big Lie” techniques of Rudolph 
Hess and Joseph Goebbels: 
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Hall appeals to the young in the same fashion Hitler appealed 
and won over young Germans to enlist as Cadets and soldiers.  
Those in society who have been labelled as ‘rejects’ are acti vely 
recruited…and are made to sense oneness with others, and a 
sense of ‘false love.’…  Hall bases his army on the insecuriti es, 
social isolati on, and low self-worth of its recruits.  It’s this false 
sense of nati onalism which, in the mind of Hall and his followers 
justi fi es their acti ons…..  Terrorism is advocated in the name of 
nati onalism.198 

Hall makes numerous allusions to Hitler and the Nazis within his works includ-
ing a claim that Hitler admitt ed to adopti ng the concept of Blitzkrieg from the 
Iroquois practi ce of warfare.199  However, despite the infl uences of a fascist 
style doctrine, Hall also repeatedly singles out Jews as a source of inspirati on: 
“Look at the Jews who have survived 3,000 years of inhuman persecuti ons….  
Behold the meek and humble Jew suddenly turned ti ger and even killed a lot 
of Arabs to set up Israel.”200  

The rise of the Warrior Society also corresponded to a ti me when the econo-
mies of Mohawk territories were in decline.  Throughout the nineteenth cen-
tury, a disproporti onate number of Mohawks had made a living in high steel, 
building bridges and skyscrapers throughout the larger centres of northeast 
North America.  By the 1970s, the demand for this brave skill was dissolving, 
deteriorati ng the economic conditi ons by producing higher unemployment 
rates among Mohawk men: “It came at a ti me when, in Mohawk country, the 
economy of the average ironworker, who had long been prosperous and re-
spected, had shrunk and collapsed.”201  

As a result, illegal enterprises began to compensate for this loss of income.  
Since the 1970s, and the introducti on of Canadian “sin-taxes” on tobacco and 
alcohol certain Mohawks have used their tax-free status to earn a profi table 
living selling cigarett es at discount prices.  A complex business and administra-
ti ve system was put in place connecti ng all of the Mohawk territories.  Also, as 
gasoline prices soared during the 1972 Oil Crisis, these Mohawks opened up 
various petrol stati ons, where motorists could fi ll up at a lesser cost.  Soon this 
underground pipeline included in its inventory liquor, drugs, alien citi zens and 
a vast array of weapons.  The 1794 Jay Treaty was used as a legal argument 
to defend the right of Mohawks to freely carry goods across the U.S/Canada 
border without penalty of duty.202   
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In additi on, bingo parlours and casinos began to appear on Reserves through-
out North America, including those of the Mohawk.  Akwesasne became the 
largest proprietor of the lucrati ve gambling enterprise in the Mohawk territo-
ries.  The gambling war can be traced back to 1983, when the St. Regis Tribal 
Council, made up of pro-gaming members, licensed the fi rst high stakes gam-
bling venue—Mohawk Bingo Palace.  By 1989, six other faciliti es located on 
tribal land were in operati on under independent owners without agreements 
from either the tribal council or the State of New York.203  

These “Bingo Chiefs” gained support as they injected new sources of income 
into the struggling Akwesasne economy. Inevitably, a connecti on emerged be-
tween the illegal smuggling, the gaming industry and the militant Warrior So-
cieti es, who quickly gained fi nancial resources from these acti viti es.  A Warrior 
on the casino’s payroll could earn upwards of $60,000 a year.  Organized crime 
syndicates, including the Hell’s Angels, became increasingly connected to the 
acti viti es of the Warrior Societi es, which helps to explain why the Reserves 
themselves did not fi nancially benefi t from the gambling industries.  Casinos 
and bingo halls also provided a medium for laundering money earned from 
smuggling operati ons.204  

It did not take long for the Warrior Society to act in a manner which they 
deemed as protecti ng Mohawk interests.  In 1973, the Kahnawake Warriors 
embarked on a campaign to remove all non-Nati ve “trespassers” from the Re-
serve and served these families with evicti on noti ces of two weeks.  Included 
were Nati ves who met the government requirement for status, but were not 
Mohawk through the traditi onal lines of descent.  Members of AIM came to 
Kahnawake to aid in the cleansing of the Reserve.  Under this pressure most 
families did leave peacefully; however, some did not, resulti ng in the force-
ful and physical occupati on of their homes by members of the Warrior Soci-
ety.  This induced the Quebec Provincial Police to intervene and patrols began 
in Kahnawake.  Aft er a riot at the police stati on on 15 October and a brief 
armed standoff  at the Longhouse, the police agreed to leave Kahnawake on 
the premise that the AIM acti vists leave Canada.205 

Shortly aft er this episode, a more radical agenda was planned. The Kahn-
awake Warriors would “repossess” traditi onal lands in New York or Vermont.    
This was not necessarily a new idea.  In 1970, Stanley and Loon Islands in 
the St. Lawrence River had been reclaimed.  It was decided that the 612 acre 
state-owned abandoned Girl Scout Camp at Moss Lake, New York would 
be the intended target.  On 13 May 1974, a convoy of cars and buses left  
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Akwesasne and travelled to Moss Lake, named Ganienkeh (“Land of Flint”) 
by the Mohawk.206  Although governmental authoriti es were slow to react, ex-
changes of gunfi re between resentf ul local residents and the Warriors became 
all too common.  On 28 October, a fi refi ght resulted in the wounding of two 
non-Nati ves; a 22-year-old man and a nine-year-old girl.207 

Soon, Ganienkeh was surrounded by law enforcement authoriti es and an 
armed standoff  ensued.  To defend the territory, the Warriors took advan-
tage of their members with Vietnam experience and military service, including 
“Cartoon,” and constructed bunkers, trench forti fi cati ons and booby-traps.208 

No raid was ever mounted, no search was ever conducted by authoriti es and 
no arrests were made.  Eventually in May 1977 an agreement was reached 
whereby the Mohawks would abandon Moss Lake and be given two parcels 
of land near Altona, New York, some 60 miles southeast of Akwesasne.  These 
lands (600 acres) are sti ll known as Ganienkeh, and are used as a Warrior 
training camp.209 

The burgeoning cigarett e trade at Akwesasne and Kahnawake had produced 
violent clashes between Warriors, those supporters of gaming, and U.S. and 
Canadian security agencies.  Aft er the 1973 standoff  at the Longhouse, al-
though maintaining jurisdicti on over Kahnawake, the SQ was reluctant to en-
force the law on the Reserve.  The unoffi  cial creati on of “no-go zones” on Mo-
hawk Reserves occurred gradually since the late 1970s.  Regular police almost 
never enforced jurisdicti on over the Reserves and policing duti es were left  in 
the hands of the Band Council appointed Mohawk Police Forces or “Peace-
keepers.”  The rise in smuggling and gaming can be correlated to this lack of 
policing and the inti midati on practi ces of the Warriors on the Nati ve police 
and the Band Councils.210   

This uneasy relati onship came to a head in 1979 on both Kahnawake and Ak-
wesasne.  At the former, David Cross, a 28-year-old Mohawk, was shot and 
killed by the SQ on the Reserve.  At Akwesasne, a dispute over the erecti on 
of a fence prompted a violent takeover of the St. Regis/Akwesasne Police Sta-
ti on and Band Council offi  ce.  This created the Racquett e Point siege.  Rough-
ly 70 Warriors avoiding arrest took refuge for a year on land owned by Lo-
ran Thompson.  Thompson is an unoffi  cial leader of the Akwesasne Warrior 
Society, a former Band Chief of the Mohawk Nati on Council, and a casino 
owner: “We have been taken for suckers long enough….  As a nati on we have 
decided we are going to fi ght for our rights….  And if it takes armed confron-
tati on, we have no choice but to do what the other side is doing….  There is 
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nothing Canada can say or do to convince me that armed resistance is neither 
necessary nor worthwhile for us.”211  Accordingly, the Warriors entrenched 
themselves for a standoff  building bunkers and trenches, while carrying AK-
47s and other weapons.  The siege ended with the police protecti ng the War-
riors from other vigilante Mohawks and then maintaining them in protecti ve 
custody aft er their surrender.  All charges, including those against Thompson 
were dismissed.212   

By this ti me the Longhouse was split into two disti nct camps; those who sup-
ported gaming and those who did not.  The anti -gambling side was made up 
of the elected Council Chiefs, those who supported the electoral process and 
those who resented the Warrior movement.  The pro-gaming facti on con-
sisted of casino owners (and those who worked for them, including ‘private 
security’), the Warriors, and those who rejected the elected councils believing 
them to be an adjunct to the governments of Canada and the United States.  

This produced sporadic violence throughout the 1980s between the Mohawk 
facti ons and also incited raids by Canadian and American security agencies.  
On 16 December 1987, the New York State Police launched a raid confi scati ng 
293 slot machines.  The offi  ce of Akwesasne Notes was set ablaze in January of 
1988 and again in 1989.  Its editor, Doug George, was an outspoken opponent 
of gaming.  On 6 June 1989, a brawl involving 400 people erupted between 
the opposing gambling facti ons.  Five Mohawks were arrested and 200 slot 
machines were confi scated as a result of state police and FBI interventi on.  
According to Johansen, by 1987, the New York State Police esti mated that the 
owners of six casino establishments at Akwesasne were profi ti ng $7 million 
tax-free per year.  By 1989 this fi gure had swelled to more than $100 million 
(annually) in unreported income generated by seven gaming faciliti es operat-
ing without tribal consent, supervision or sancti on.213   

Given the geography of Akwesasne, which is located in Ontario, Quebec and 
New York State, raids had to be carefully conducted with co-operati on from 
both countries law enforcement agencies.  If a raid was att empted by one 
country without the co-operati on of the other, Mohawks could simply cross 
the border to evade law offi  cers whose jurisdicti on was limited to their own 
side of the Reserve.  Although many Mohawks do not recognize the border, 
this was a convenient loophole used to avoid arrest and prosecuti on. 

In Kahnawake, Canadian authoriti es were making incursions into the Reserve 
to seize smuggled cigarett es, cash and drugs, much of which had been fi ltered 
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through Akwesasne.  On 1 June 1988, 200 RCMP personnel with helicopter 
support raided Kahnawake, sequestering $450,000 worth of contraband and 
another $284,000 in cash while arresti ng 17 Mohawks.  The cigarett e trade 
was costi ng the Canadian Government an esti mated $25 million a year in lost 
revenue.  The Warrior Society brandishing rifl es and bats responded by block-
ing the Mercier Bridge, connecti ng Kahnawake to Montreal, for 29 hours un-
ti l it was agreed that negoti ati ons take place over the cigarett e issue.214 The 
Warriors had exercised power and achieved their desired results.

The raids only intensifi ed the Warriors’ resolve to rid their territories of gov-
ernment interference.  There was a growing militancy between both the pro- 
and anti -gambling and smuggling camps.  Warrior patrols were set up on both 
Kahnawake and Akwesasne to give noti ce of raids and possible police inter-
venti on.  Guns, protests and odd angry shots during nights became common 
place on Akwesasne, which was undergoing a gradual metamorphosis into a 
narco-parasiti c state (Narco-Parastate): “We patrol our land as the Mohawk 
Sovereignty Security Patrol, and we will persist like the people of Vietnam or 
Afghanistan unti l outside interventi on is stopped.  Just like Afghanistan was 
to the Soviet Union and Vietnam to the United States, Akwesasne will be to 
New York State and the United States.  Our patrol is just the beginning.”215 The 
violence spawned by smuggling, casinos and armed inti midati on was spread-
ing to the other Mohawk territories.  In April 1988, an RCMP raid of a home at 
Kanesatake yielded a methamphetamine laboratory, chemicals and three kg 
of 70% pure methamphetamine.  The RCMP esti mated that the drug laborato-
ry had the ability to produce two kg per day or a street worth of $200,000.216   

Monies from illegal enterprises could support the instruments of revoluti on 
and provide the economic base for politi cal independence: “…a member of 
the Akwesasne Warrior Society, who asked not to be identi fi ed, revealed that 
the various Mohawk Warrior societi es and the Mohawk Warrior Movement 
itself has been funded by the cigarett e and gambling trade…”217 The Warrior 
Societi es and their leaders followed the classic revoluti onary formula.  Phase 
one is typifi ed by the rejecti on of all existi ng authority and the parallel con-
structi on of their own hierarchies—provisional governments, police forces, 
army, courts. They then demand their legiti macy as an autonomous nati on.  
However, in order to accomplish this, loyalty from their own peoples must be 
demonstrated.  Acquiring this allegiance can be done through schools, com-
munity groups, politi cal organizati ons or inti midati on.  Once accomplished, 
the coercion or conversion of the larger audience must occur.  In this case it 
would appear to be the Canadian public.  Next, negoti ati ons with the host 
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government(s) must occur to acquire recogniti on and fi nally victory. Pres-
sure can be put on the host nati on through employing broader internati onal 
organizati ons or non-governmental organizati ons (NGOs) such as the United 
Nati ons, the Red Cross and the Internati onal Federati on of Human Rights.  This 
process can be called phase two.218 

However, allegiance to such a militant ideology requires credibility and legiti -
macy.  People will only commit to such movements if there is a belief or sense 
of accomplishment and victory.  Hence, there is a vital need for acti on.  The 
establishment of Ganienkeh, the blockades of the bridges and the cleansing 
of Kahnawake all demonstrate the willpower and the ability of those revolu-
ti onaries to exercise this power and achieve positi ve results.  These acti ons 
can also be predicated on legiti mate grievances, such as land claims and treaty 
rights in the case of the Mohawk.  Thus, acti on and the enhancement of pow-
ers is phase three.  

As AIM had quickly learned, one acti on can serve a greater functi on than one 
hundred peti ti ons and protests. If these militant acti ons are met with au-
thority and force from the host nati on, the insurgents or revoluti onaries are 
quickly turned into martyrs, thus the mobilizati on of a nati on and the sympa-
thies of the larger audience are completed.  Inacti on on the part of the host 
government implies an acceptance of sovereignty of the revoluti onary or 
Narco-Parastate.  For the host nati on, it appears to be a lose-lose situati on.219 
In the case of the Mohawk Warrior movement, all three phases form a joint 
relati onship and were no doubt occurring in unison.  However, no stage was 
complete by any means.  The Oka Crisis was another step in this revoluti onary 
process.

This revoluti onary process is by no means isolated or original to the Mohawk 
Warrior Society. The combinati on of illegal acti viti es and revoluti onary move-
ments is widespread.  In Ireland, both the IRA and the Protestant Ulster Vol-
unteer Force funded their acti viti es with bootlegging and smuggling.  In Sri 
Lanka, the Tamil Tigers are widespread heroin smugglers and currency coun-
terfeiters.  South American Maoist guerrillas have strong connecti ons with the 
cocaine lords.  In Afghanistan, the Taliban and Al-Qaeda had economic links 
to heroin producti on.  The criminal elements and power struggle survives the 
oft en fl eeti ng legiti mate grievances and original directi ons of revoluti onary 
organizati ons and movements.220  
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The Mohawk Warrior Society was originally formed as a social movement.  
However, leadership elements quickly realized that the divisions within the 
Mohawk Nati on left  the Reserves in a state of lawlessness.  Using their tax-free 
status to circumvent the government’s “sin-taxes” on tobacco and cigarett es, 
the agenda of the Warrior Society slowly shift ed its emphasis from protectors 
of Mohawk sovereignty and land, to smuggling and gaming.  Inti midati on was 
used to quell oppositi on within Mohawk territory.  The Oka Crisis aff orded the 
Warrior Society a situati on to persuade the government that policing on the 
Reserves by outside law enforcement agencies (LEAs) would have immense 
politi cal ramifi cati ons and that the Reserves and the Warriors were bett er left  
alone.  In the years immediately preceding Oka, government raids had inten-
sifi ed in Akwesasne, Kanesatake and Kahnawake.  The Warriors wanted a re-
turn to the earlier “no-go zones.”  The Oka Crisis under the guise of legiti mate 
grievances could serve just such a purpose.  

The Oka Crisis, rooted in the uneasy convergence of two disti nct cultures over 
300 years, found its breaking point for the Mohawk Nati on at Kanesatake in 
1990.  Colonialism with all its European aspects created divides within the mil-
itary, politi cal and religious insti tuti ons and of Iroquois Confederacy and the 
Mohawk Nati on.  Successive governmental policies created an atmosphere of 
oppositi on and hopelessness within the nati ve communiti es.  The dawn of the 
assimilati onist and paternalisti c Indian Act shortly aft er Canadian Confedera-
ti on furthered the divisions within the Mohawk Nati on as federal policy shook 
the foundati ons of Mohawk Longhouse government.  Band Councils were cre-
ated in conjuncti on with the Department of Indian Aff airs accentuati ng the 
already uneasy state on Mohawk Reserves.  

The land claim at Kanesatake between the Mohawks and the Seminary of 
St-Sulpice was only a segment of the larger frustrati ons brewing within the 
Mohawk Nati on concerning sovereignty, land rights and a return to the tra-
diti onal Longhouse administrati on over their land and lives.  Many Mohawks 
tried to sett le their complaints with the federal government over land rights 
and self-determinati on peacefully through the judicial process.  However, by 
the 1960s, in connecti on with the many other social movements, a militant 
trend appeared in the Mohawk framework of resisti ng government policy and 
encroachment.

Not all Mohawks agreed with or supported the Warrior Society and its militant 
acti ons.  As the rift s within the Mohawk Nati on conti nued to fester through-
out the 1960s and 1970s, a change in governmental policies in regard to land 
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claims off ered the Mohawk of Kanesatake a legal and peaceful means to 
fi nally sett le the historic land claim at the Lake of Two Mountains.  The Com-
prehensive Land Claim system was introduced in 1975.  By this ti me many 
members of the Aboriginal community had been educated in Canadian insti -
tuti ons and Canadian law schools.  They used this knowledge to combat the 
federal government, not with guns and barriers, but by using Canada’s own 
laws and regulati ons in favour of their arguments.  
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PART II
From Convergence to 
Confrontation

The situati on within the Mohawk Nati on, and more specifi cally at Kane-
satake, had been steering towards confrontati on since colonizati on.  
The divisions within the Mohawk Nati on caused by colonial administra-

ti on and Canadian policies left  the Mohawk with litt le control over the aff airs 
of their own lives and communiti es.  The subsequent power vacuum allowed 
for the rise of a militant posture, in the form of the Warrior Society, to plant 
its roots and expand from a social protectorate to a Narco-Parastate.  The 
power struggle heightened by the politi cal divides generated an atmosphere 
of lawlessness on Mohawk Reserves.  

While militant resistance became an opti on for the radical elements, the 
vast majority of Mohawks sti ll adhered to the belief that the diff erences be-
tween the Mohawk people and the governments of Canada could be resolved 
peacefully through negoti ati on. By the mid-1970s a newly-developed frame-
work for land claim disputes gave new hope to resolving the land contenti ons 
at Kanesatake and Kahnawake without the use of revoluti onary tacti cs.  The 
promulgati on of Comprehensive Land Claims and Specifi c Land Claims by the 
federal government was the framework through which resoluti on could be 
achieved.

However, while these claims were draft ed and submitt ed, the Warrior Society 
conti nued to expropriate power from the moderate elements of the Mohawk 
Nati on in an eff ort to promote their own agenda and safeguard the lucra-
ti ve gaming and smuggling operati ons which had previously been established.  
Nowhere in Mohawk country were the divides of politi cs and opinions on the 
Warriors and their acti viti es more prevalent than at Akwesasne.  The power 
struggle at Akwesasne had been raging since the late 1970s with the intro-
ducti on of high-stakes bingo and casinos and the conti nuati on of the discount 
cigarett e and alcohol trade. The violence between the disputi ng facti ons in-
tensifi ed to the point of civil war.
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The troubled situati on at Akwesasne left  the governments of Canada and the 
United States with litt le choice.  By 1990, state interventi on was not only nec-
essary but also unavoidable.  The Canadian Forces was called upon to support 
LEAs under the legislati on of Provision of Armed Assistance in an att empt to 
detain and suppress the violence in Akwesasne.  Under this legislati on, the 
CF had to comply with the federal government’s demand to deploy and in-
tervene.

While the circumstances at Akwesasne remained mercurial, the general un-
easiness was exported to Kahnawake and Kanesatake.  The land claims at 
Kanesatake had not produced the desired results for the Mohawk inhabitants 
and their frustrati ons soon took the form of barricades to defend the Pines 
against the Municipality of Oka, which threatened their destructi on by the 
enhancement of the local golf course.  The convergence of cultures at Kane-
satake was heading towards confrontati on.  Although the Canadian public and 
media agencies were not yet focused on the impending clash at Kanesatake, 
Nati ve rights were receiving top media billing in the form of the Meech Lake 
Accord.
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CHAPTER 7

Kanesatake and the Modern Land 
Claims Process

Although there was a trend during the 1970s to get results through increasing-
ly militant diplomacy, shift ing avenues within the framework of government 
land claims opened peaceful possibiliti es for the Mohawk, most notably at 
Kanesatake.  The 1973 Calder or Delgamuukw case produced drasti c ramifi ca-
ti ons and set a precedent for future land claims.  It stated that Aboriginal ti tle 
was more than a simple right of usage and that the claimants must prove to 
be descendants from a society that occupied the land in questi on to the exclu-
sion of all other peoples at the ti me of contact.  It also stated that oral stories 
recorded in traditi on, song and dance are admissible as court evidence.221  In 
light of the Supreme Court ruling, Prime Minster Pierre Trudeau allegedly re-
sponded: “Perhaps you had more legal rights than we thought you had when 
we did the White Paper.”222         

With the advent of this new policy, a joint Comprehensive Land Claim was sub-
mitt ed by the Mohawks of Kanesatake, Kahnawake and Akwesasne in January 
1975.  According to the Department of Indian Aff airs, the general descripti on 
of the land involved in the Mohawk claim was as follows:

The southwest part of the Province of Quebec encompassing 
the area along and adjacent the St. Lawrence and Ott awa Riv-
ers stretching south and east to the U.S. border and north to a 
point near the Saguenay River and including the areas north and 
west of the St. Lawrence and Ott awa Rivers.  This territory would 
include the disputed lands in The Pines…223

Comprehensive Land Claims are accepted by the federal government for ne-
goti ati on based on the following criteria:

1.  The claimant group is and has historically been an organized soci-
ety able to exercise authority over human use of land;

2.  The claimant group has occupied the claimed territory since ti me 
immemorial.  Their use and occupancy of the land must have been 
an established fact prior to European arrival;
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3. The group historically occupied and used the land essenti ally to the 
exclusion of other aboriginal people;

4.  The claimant group can demonstrate that many of its members 
conti nue to follow traditi onal pursuits within the claim area; and

5.  The claimant group’s aboriginal rights to use the resources have 
not been exti nguished by treaty or other direct acti ons of the 
Crown.224 

Aft er reviewing the claim, the Department of Indian Aff airs and Northern De-
velopment (DIAND) under Judd Buchanan dismissed the claim on the follow-
ing grounds:  Firstly, the Mohawk could not assert aboriginal ti tle as they had 
not solely maintained possession since ti me immemorial.  The land had been 
occupied by both Iroquois and Algonquian Nati ons during their protracted 
war before and aft er colonizati on.  During the eighteenth and nineteenth cen-
turies, the land had been occupied concurrently by Mohawk, Nipissing and 
Algonquin peoples.  Furthermore, the department argued that the current 
Nati ves at Kanesatake are descendants of Nipissing, Algonquin and Mohawk; 
not solely Mohawk.225 

Secondly, any aboriginal ti tle that may have existed was exti nguished by the 
successive Kings of France in the form of land grants, including the seigneur-
ial grant(s) to the Sulpicians, and subsequently through the Briti sh Crown.226   
The Mohawk accepted none of these arguments and produced archaeological 
evidence, in the form of carbon-dated arti facts from Oka, oral histories and 
Carti er’s documentati on of the St. Lawrence Iroquois, to support the fact that 
the land had been occupied since ti me immemorial.227   

With the rejecti on of the Comprehensive Land Claim, the Kanesatake Mo-
hawk, (on advice from the Department of Justi ce), argued that the Sulpician 
land grant was for the benefi t of the Indigenous people in their religious care 
and therefore was intended for use by the Nati ves.  Thus in June 1977, the 
Kanesatake Mohawk submitt ed a Specifi c Land Claim for ti tle to the land at 
Oka.  Essenti ally, a Specifi c Land Claim refers to claims made by a Nati ve group 
or nati on against the federal government which relate to the administrati on 
of the land and other Nati ve assets and to fulfi lling the obligati ons made in 
treati es.  The pursuit of such a claim has to be made with evidence supporti ng 
the government’s failure to fulfi ll treaty rights or to administer those Nati ve 
lands in questi on.228   
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This claim was rejected verbally in April 1986 by the Minister of Indian and 
Northern Aff airs, David Crombie in a meeti ng with the Band Council.  It was 
put to paper in October of the same year.  His department concluded that the 
Kanesatake Mohawk did not meet the criteria for a Specifi c Claim, while taking 
the positi on that the 1912 decision of the Privy Council was a justi fi able and 
complete answer to the questi on of any unresolved outstanding legal obliga-
ti ons of the federal government.229 Again, Kanesatake was not a Reserve under 
the defi niti on of the Indian Act; therefore, it was not subject to the same con-
siderati ons under the land claims policies.

In summary, Mohawk claims have been advanced on a number of grounds.  
Although each represents a disti nct legal argument, they are all no doubt 
related:

1.  Territorial sovereignty stemming from status as a sovereign nati on;

2.  Treaty Rights;

3.  The Royal Proclamati on Act of 1763;

4.  Unexti nguished aboriginal ti tle under common law and Indian Af-
fairs statutes;

5.  Land rights fl owing from the obligati on imposed on the Sulpicians 
in the successive eighteenth century land grants by the King of 
France.230 

Based on these viewpoints, the federal, provincial and municipal governments 
held a positi on that these issues were decided, against the Mohawk, in the 
1912 ruling of the Privy Council.  Even with the advent of the new claims poli-
cy, these matt ers had, in the government’s view, been previously sett led.  The 
issue of sovereignty has never been applied in court.  Therefore, during 1990 
this claim was repeatedly tabled by the Mohawk during negoti ati ons.  The 
Longhouse facti on at Kanesatake stated that these past land claims had been 
submitt ed by the Indian Act Band Council and not by the traditi onal Long-
house representati ves, which were negoti ati ng their own grievances during 
1990.231



Timothy C. Winegard

– 64 –

Table 2—Mohawk Territory, 1990232 

Unti l 1985, the land claim issue at Kanesatake had been tabled primarily to the 
federal government.  Local interest and confrontati on over the land had been 
relati vely quiet over the past few decades.  However, in September 1985, the 
Band Council at Kanesatake informed the Municipality of Oka of a project to 
build a drug and alcohol rehabilitati on centre for Nati ve peoples.  The project 
was sponsored by Kahnawake, the Department of Indian and Northern Aff airs 
and Health and Welfare Canada.  This proposal was rejected by the municipal-
ity, and it urged the federal government not to purchase these lands within 
Oka for the intended use of a treatment centre.233   

Nevertheless, on 21 January 1986, the proposal received confi rmati on of fund-
ing by the Treasury Board of Canada.  Immediately, local residents protested 
and formed the Regroupement des Citoyens d’Oka (RCO).  They argued that 
such a facility would depreciate the value of their lands.  There was concern 
for the safety of their families, although a non-Nati ve treatment centre, Mai-
sonnée d’Oka, had been operati ng in the area since 1982 under no such fears 
or protest.  The Onen’to:kon Treatment Centre opened in 1987, although the 
land it was situated on was never transferred to the Mohawk.234  The allega-
ti ons of bigotry, racial tension and ethnic fear surrounding the constructi on of 
the treatment centre weakened the mutual respect and cohabitati on between 
Nati ve and non-Nati ve residents at Oka and the ill will was not forgott en. 

Territory Acres Populati on
DIAND Funding 

1989-1990 ($Cdn.)

Kahnawake 12,477 6,000 17,071,078

Akwesasne
28,460 (14,460 U.S. 

and 14,000 Canada)

9,000 (Canada)

3,000 (U.S.)
14,226,580

Kanesatake 2,100 1,500 2,608,835

Tyendinaga 17,448 2,000 

Gibson (Wahta) 14,058 500

Six Nati ons--

Brantf ord
44,914 2,000

Ganienkeh 7,500 (U.S.) ?

Doncaster 19,000 None
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Although relati onships at Kanesatake and Oka were unstable, issues sur-
rounding ownership of the Commons had been relati vely peaceful over the 
past years.  In 1987 this changed irreversibly when the Oka Golf Club tabled 
the possibility of expanding the existi ng nine-hole course to the standard 18 
holes.  Accordingly, in early March 1988, Mohawks began interrupti ng work-
ers and surveyors from the Municipality of Oka in the areas perceived to be 
reserved for Nati ve use.

On 12 April, a foreboding telex was sent by Chief Kanawato Gabriel of the Five 
Nati ons Longhouse People of Kanesatake (Longhouse Council) to the Minister 
of Indian Aff airs, William McKnight: 

You are no doubt aware of the problem that now exists here in 
Kanesatake pertaining to the land situati on and more specifi -
cally the area of ‘our’ lands we call ‘The Pines….’  Even now our 
young men have vowed that no work will be carried out in this 
area even to the extent of a possible usage of violence. Violence 
breeds more violence. The viscous circle will not end….  We re-
quest a meeti ng with you…to halt the threat of this grave situa-
ti on that faces both our peoples.235 

The municipality fi led for an injuncti on against the peoples of Kanesatake to 
allow the workers to complete appointed tasks; the injuncti on was granted on 
14 April.236      

Coinciding with these problems, was the release of the fi ndings by Pluritec-
Environnement, a private fi rm hired by the Kanesatake Band Council, to ex-
amine and report on the land base required by the community to ensure its 
proper growth and development over the next decade (1986-1996).  The fi nal 
report, Kanehsatake Indian Reserve – Land Needs Evaluati on for Community 
Expansion, no doubt frightened the Mohawks as it suggested that both popu-
lati on and the subsequent housing needs would double over this ti me period.  
Concurrently, a legal batt le was raging over the right of Mohawk Jean-Roch 
Simon to erect an apartment building on lands within the town of Oka; both 
sides claiming ti tle to the land.237 With the possibility of a golf course usurping 
the Commons and excluded from Reserve status, the people of Kanesatake 
felt that their grievances were being ignored and their demands over the land 
sacrifi ced in the name of progress.  

Nevertheless, on 8 March 1989, the Oka Golf Club unveiled its grand expan-
sion project esti mated at $1.35 million dollars.  Included in its blueprint were 
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an additi onal nine holes and “about 50 luxury houses” along the fairways just 
north of highway 344, straddling the ti ny Mohawk cemetery.  In light of this, 
Mohawks protested at the clubhouse.  The Municipality of Oka argued that 

Figure 1: Blueprint for the expansion of the Oka Golf Club.238
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the land in questi on belonged to Mr. Maurice Rousseau and is not part of 
the Commons or the Pines.  In contrast, the Mohawk argued that the land, 
including the existi ng nine-hole course, was part of the original seigneury 
and included the Commons and the hand-planted forest of white pine and 
hemlock and accordingly was reserved to them under the land grants and the 
Proclamati on Act.

By 13 March, the Municipality had accepted an off er by Mr. Rousseau of 45 
acres in exchange for $70,000, on conditi on that it be used for the golf course 
and that an additi onal 30 acres be aff orded to the planned subdivision.  Grand 
Chief Clarence Simon wrote to the municipality soon aft erwards strongly ad-
vising that the constructi on of the course be delayed, citi ng unexti nguished 
Aboriginal ti tle to the land.  Simon also made clear that any incursion would 
be seen as a violati on of Mohawk territory.  Likewise, on 1 April, 300 Mohawks, 
in additi on to other non-Nati ves and environmentalists, marched peacefully 
through the town of Oka in oppositi on to the expansion of the golf links.239    

On 27 April, facing increasing Mohawk oppositi on, representati ves from the 
governments of Canada and Quebec, the Kanesatake Band Council and the 
Municipality of Oka partook in a meeti ng whereby the federal government 
announced a land purchase program, in which the land of the proposed ex-
tension was identi fi ed.  This proposal stagnated and nothing was resolved.  
However, a moratorium on constructi on was put into eff ect on August 21 aft er 
Chief Simon, Oka-Village Mayor Jean Ouellett e, and Oka Parish Mayor Yvan 
Patry started negoti ati ons.  In additi on, the federal government initi ated a 
framework agreement in July in conjuncti on with the provincial and municipal 
governments involved and the Indian Act Band Council at Kanesatake with the 
view to creati ng a Reserve under the Indian Act in the area of the disputed 
lands.  This was not a new prospect as the federal government had tried this 
avenue in the past, most recently in 1987.240   

The volati le situati on was made worse by a high profi le SQ raid.  On 29 Septem-
ber 1989, during negoti ati ons over the golf course expansion, between 50-75 
SQ members, with the aid of a helicopter, forcefully raided the Kanesatake 
Riverside Bingo. The raid resulted in seven arrests and eight more searches.  
In the past, Mohawks had had run-ins with the SQ over hunti ng, fi shing and 
traffi  c laws and distrusted them immensely.  The SQ was seen by the Mohawks 
to be a racist adjunct arm of an oppressive Government of Quebec.  Follow-
ing the incident at the Bingo Hall, the Kanesatake Joint Services Council sent a 
lett er to the Human Rights Commissions of Canada and Quebec condemning 
the use of excessive force used by the SQ.  Another peaceful demonstrati on 
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was held in October protesti ng not only the golf course but also the SQ inter-
venti on on Mohawk Territory.241 

Although the moratorium on the expansion of the golf course was renewed 
unti l December, the situati on within the community of Kanesatake was fragile.  
On 26 January 1990, Grand Chief Clarence Simon of the Six Nati ons Traditi onal 
Hereditary Chiefs (Indian Act Council) was dismissed by the Clan Mothers over 
allegati ons of confl ict of interest.  He was replaced by Grand Chief George 
Marti n, who was not able to move into the Band Council offi  ce unti l 19 Febru-
ary as it was being picketed by Simon supporters.  They argued that the Clan 
Mothers did not follow proper procedure under band custom.  Marti n only 
gained entrance to the Band Council offi  ce under protecti on of the SQ.242  

In 1969, the Department of Indian Aff airs had used a clause in the Indian Act 
to create a hybrid (Longhouse customs and Indian Act regulati ons) council 
which was unique to Kanesatake as it was not an offi  cial Reserve.  The heredi-
tary system was used to select a council of eight Chiefs headed by a Grand 
Chief from the Turtle Clan, all appointed by the Clan Mothers in consultati on 
with the three Mohawk clans: Turtle, Bear and Wolf.  While sti ll having to 
comply with administrati ve rules set by Indian Aff airs, the council’s leaders 
were appointed not elected.  Sti ll, there was fricti on over the unique coun-
cil.  Two rival groups—Kanesatakeron League for Democracy and the Group 
of Change—wanted a return to band electi ons.  Between 1987 and 1990, the 
Clan Mothers had appointed new chiefs six ti mes.  Those who wanted the 
electoral process were made up of those who had lost clan ti es due to inter-
marriage with non-Mohawks; therefore, they had no clan to voice an opinion.  
Others who belonged to a clan argued that they were seldom consulted of 
Clan Mother decisions.  This went against the principles of the Great Law.243 

In additi on to the Band Council, there was also a Kanesatake Longhouse.  The 
Longhouse followers had their own Clan Mothers and their own Chief, Samson 
Gabriel.  The followers of the Longhouse did not recognize the hybrid Band 
Council or any outside interventi on from the Department of Indian Aff airs and 
the Indian Act.  Many Mohawks at Kanesatake belonged to many of these 
groups and were not unilateral in support for one or another, confusing the 
politi cal framework of Kanesatake even more.244   A repercussion of the politi -
cal instability at Kanesatake was that the ongoing negoti ati ons concerning the 
golf course and more importantly, the Reserve framework agreement stalled 
and a breakdown in communicati on between the confl icti ng parti es ensued.  
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With the infi ghti ng over council appointments and politi cal issues, for a ti me, 
the golf course expansion had been forgott en.  However, the moratorium on 
the golf course expansion was lift ed on 9 March 1990.  DIAND and the Kane-
satake Band Council convinced Oka Mayor, Jean Ouellett e to postpone expan-
sion for two weeks.  That night many Mohawks, mostly from the Longhouse, 
held a peaceful demonstrati on at the club house under the directi on of Allen 
Gabriel.  The following morning, a fi shing shack was dragged into the Pines 
and a make-shift  camp was erected complete with a banner reading, “Are you 
aware that this is Mohawk land?”  A peti ti on bearing the signatures of 1,276 
people opposed to the expansion was also sent to the Municipality of Oka.   
According to Ellen Gabriel of the Turtle Clan and head spokesperson for the 
people of Kanesatake during the standoff : “It was actually March 8th.  That is 
when the fi shing shack went up.  There was no barricade, but the fi shing shack 
and observati ons on whether workers were going to come in and start cutti  ng 
trees.  I don’t know where they got March 11th maybe that was when the me-
dia started paying att enti on.”245  Nevertheless, the Oka Crisis had begun.

The rejecti on of Kanesatake’s federal land claims in associati on with the pro-
posed expansion of the Oka Golf Club left  the Mohawks of the Lake of Two 
Mountains with litt le forum in which to voice their concerns and disagree-
ments.  In reality, aft er negoti ati ons concerning the Pines failed they saw litt le 
recourse other than to peacefully occupy the land in questi on.  The original 
barricades were weapons free.  Although the initi al protest was peaceful, its 
backdrop of Kanesatake was not.  The divides of politi cs, the appointment of 
a new Grand Chief and the interventi on of the SQ had created violence within 
the community.  With the SQ monitoring the Pines and court injuncti ons being 
served to forcefully remove the protestors from the land, the Mohawk terri-
tory of Kanesatake and the Province of Quebec were on a collision course to 
confrontati on.  However, the clash would begin at Akwesasne.   
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CHAPTER 8

Akwesasne: Gambling and Civil War

While the Mohawk at Kanesatake were negoti ati ng with governmental au-
thoriti es and trying to resolve matt ers without the use of violence, the situa-
ti on at Akwesasne had deteriorated and evolved somewhat diff erently, forcing 
the governments of Canada and the United States to intervene. The divisions 
of government at Akwesasne and their sponsors created complicati ons unique 
to Akwesasne and a power vacuum, leaving the Reserve with no consensus on 
policy or governance.  In this atmosphere, it became the hotbed for Warrior 
presence and operati ons.  This struggle for power, in a lawless Reserve, forged 
the conditi ons for civil war. 

Within the Reserve, there were three disparate councils which exercised func-
ti ons of government.  The Mohawk Nati on Council operated as part of the 
greater Iroquois Confederacy under the traditi onal system of the Great Law 
of Peace incorporati ng the teachings of Handsome Lake.  The oldest of all 
governing bodies, it claims to represent Mohawk on both sides of the inter-
nati onal border.  However, it is not recognized by federal, provincial or state 
authoriti es.  This right is bestowed upon two other councils.  In the New York 
State sector of the Reservati on, three elected tribal chiefs operate under the 
laws of New York State and the federal laws of the United States within the St. 
Regis Tribal Council formed in 1802.  The third council, the Mohawk Council 
of Akwesasne, was created in 1898 under the Indian Act.  It represents the 
districts of Akwesasne in Ontario and Quebec.246

Figure 2: Band Council hierarchy of the Akwesasne Reserve.
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On 6 June 1988, the DIAND received a request from the Akwesasne Councils 
to revert to a custom electoral system, to be put in place for the upcoming 
electi on scheduled for 25 June.  The request met the criteria of DIAND policy 
and it was decided to revoke secti on 74 of the Indian Act in relati on to Akwe-
sasne.  These consolidati ng orders were signed on 14 and 21 December 1989.  
Although not received in ti me for the electi on, Akwesasne held the 25 June 
electi on pursuant to the newly-adopted custom electoral system (Akwesasne 
Electi on Regulati ons) whereby a Grand Chief and 12 sub-Chiefs were selected 
for a three-year term.247   

However, this decision and these appointments were not supported by all 
members of the Akwesasne community.  On the surface, Mohawk Council of 
Akwesasne Grand Chief, Mike Mitchell, opposed the infl ux of gaming as did 
the Chief of Akwesasne Police Force, Ernest King.  Within the American St. 
Regis Tribal Council, only Head Chief Harold Tarbell contested the gambling 
culture so prevalent in the community: “I wanted the police, the governor, the 
FBI, the federal bureaucracy, the BIA—anyone—to come in and restore order.  
If they didn’t want to come in then I said give us the power, deputi ze us….  We 
couldn’t have gamblers walking around proclaiming sovereignty.  We had to 
have the rule of law.”248   This view was shared by Tom Porter, Jake Swamp and 
Ron LaFrance, all sub-Chiefs of the Mohawk Nati on Council.

In an interview with CBC, Tarbell reaffi  rmed the framework of revoluti on with-
in the Warrior movement:

It’s basically a paramilitary standing group which has taken uni-
lateral authority onto itself…. It’s a group…that understands po-
liti cal goals that we [Mohawks] have…but have formed a philoso-
phy of force to achieve those goals.  I think it is a group of people 
who are sincere in their belief…but are young and caught up in 
the machoism of it all. Then I think there are a number of others 
who are on the fringes of our society and are involved in diff er-
ent things and are either the outcasts or have vested interest in 
there being a lack of a regulatory and enforcement capacity in 
Indian communiti es so that they can capitalize on that for their 
personal gain…. Without an alternati ve to replace it [gambling 
and smuggling], it’s a hard thing to batt le against.249 

The violence at Akwesasne between the pro- and anti -gambling facti ons in-
tensifi ed throughout 1989 and 1990, the specifi cs of which are depicted by 
Johansen and Hornung with accurate detail. The 8,500 Mohawks living on the 
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Reserve began to fi ght one another, the SQ, the New York State Police, the 
OPP, the RCMP and the FBI.  Roving bands of gun-wielding Mohawks, armed 
law enforcers, barricades, frequent outbursts of gunfi re and widespread ar-
son became commonplace within the amplifying violence of the “Civil War.”  
School boards refused to send in buses to take children to school, businesses 
were shut down, postal services interrupted, cars and houses became burnt-
out carcasses, and many families fl ed to shelters set up in Cornwall by the 
Ontario Department of Transport.  It is esti mated that 2,000-4,000 Mohawks 
had left  the Reserve by April 1990.250

As the “Civil War” in Akwesasne was raging, another Mohawk Reservati on 
became embroiled in scandal and violence.  On 30 March 1990, a Vermont 
Nati onal Guard helicopter was hit by three rounds of AK-47 ammuniti on over 
Ganienkeh.  A passenger, Dr. James Kirk, was struck by a bullet and another 
bullet punctured the hydraulic line forcing the helicopter to land just out-
side the Mohawk territory.  The Mohawks refused to allow investi gators into 
Ganienkeh.  Since the formati on of the Reservati on in 1977, aft er the Moss 
Park incident in 1974, the Warrior occupants were resolved that no foreign 
agencies were allowed to set foot on this territory.  To prevent police forces 
from entering, Warriors set up barricades on in-routes and patrolled the for-
ested perimeter.  Finally, aft er an 11-day standoff , the police were allowed in 
for two hours to search one building.  A Warrior by the code name “Omega 
Man” was arrested later in September for the helicopter shooti ng incident 
aft er parti cipati ng at the barricades at Kahnawake.251 

By April, violence in Akwesasne became increasingly common.  Throughout 
April, barricades set up by both sides had been repeatedly dismantled, at-
tacked and rebuilt.  On 23 April, the North American Indian Travelling Col-
lege was one of three buildings set on fi re, destroying cultural and archival 
material of Reserve history.  That night numerous gas bombs were thrown at 
anti -gaming blockades.  A grenade was thrown into the Canadian Akwesasne 
Police Stati on, injuring three people.  Several private homes were damaged by 
fi re bombs.  The following night, anti -gambling blockades were att acked with 
hundreds of rounds of automati c weapons fi re and Molotov Cocktails.  This as-
sault was videotaped by Mike Francis and was shown on news stati ons across 
North America.  Throughout the night, scuffl  es ensued between the opposing 
sides.  By morning, the burnt out hulls of 20 cars lined Route 37.  Indicati ve 
of the anarchy unfolding, no one was arrested and fortunately no one was 
seriously injured.252 
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All rati onal law and order, whether imposed by Mohawk means or govern-
mental means, had melted away.  Akwesasne was in chaos and the head 
Chiefs for both the American and Canadian Councils urged the governments 
to act, while encouraging residents to seek safety off  of the Reserve. Harold 
Tarbell pleaded with New York Governor Mario Cuomo to order in the Na-
ti onal Guard, as did Canadian Minister of Indian Aff airs, Tom Siddon.  On 25 
April, a lett er was sent to Major-General L.P. Flynn, commander of the New 
York Division of Military and Naval Aff airs, from “all three of the governing 
Councils, acti ng on behalf of the Mohawk people of Akwesasne (Saint Regis 
Tribal Council, Mohawk Nati on Council of Chiefs and the Mohawk Council of 
Akwesasne) urgently request emergency law enforcement assistance to re-
store peace and order…Immediate acti on is needed by appropriate law en-
forcement or military agencies.”253  Grand Chief Mike Mitchell wrote a similar 
lett er to Prime Minister Brian Mulroney and Tom Siddon asking for “assistance 
in restoring Peace, Safety and Security for all citi zens of Akwesasne by sending 
in Canada’s equivalent of the Nati onal Guard.”254

Governor Cuomo, who was making provisions to legalize gaming on the U.S. 
side of the Reserve, refused to acti vate the Nati onal Guard, believing that 
the reports of violence were overblown and exaggerated.  Finally on 28 April, 
Cuomo, “directed the New York state Division of Military and Naval Aff airs…
to take steps to be prepared for that type of acti on” and the Nati onal Guard 
was readied for possible interventi on.  Cuomo added that, “There is a ti me for 
the use of military force but only aft er we have done everything in our power 
fi rst to bring about a peaceful resoluti on.”255  According to Tarbell, “It was very 
clear that the Canadian government understood the threat to public safety, 
while Cuomo just shrugged.”256  Tarbell’s Canadian counterpart, Mike Mitchell, 
agreed: “The Warriors are terrorists and if they are going to have control of 
Akwesasne, then our land is not safe for anybody who wants gambling to stop 
and our people to lead normal lives.”257  Even George Erasmus, Chief of the 
Assembly of First Nati ons publicly, condemned the Warriors.258 

Although criti cism towards the governments of both countries from Mohawk 
Chiefs was mounti ng, politi cal negoti ati ons were taking place and there was an 
understanding that multi -nati onal coordinati on was vital before implementi ng 
any operati onal components.  Acti on on each side of the border required co-
operati on at all levels of policing and governance.  On 30 April, representati ves 
from the police forces of Ontario, Quebec, New York State and the RCMP met 
to discuss tacti cal opti ons in an undisclosed desti nati on in New York State.  On 
1 May, Canadian and American mediators met at the U.S. Embassy in Ott awa 
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with a view to forming an agreement and a unifi ed politi cal stance.  Tom Sid-
don and Governor Cuomo were in constant communicati on, as were James A. 
Baker III, U.S. Secretary of State and Joe Clark, Canadian Minister of External 
Aff airs.  These occurrences were never made public.259 

The soluti on off ered by American representati ves was to legalize gambling 
with the protecti on of state police forces.  The apparent fl aw in this plan was 
that the Warrior Society was not to be included in negoti ati ons and that gam-
ing would sti ll not be under community control.  Even gambling opponents, 
such as Mike Mitchell, were willing to allowing gaming on Akwesasne if it was 
controlled by the enti re Akwesasne Council (both U.S. and Canada), that the 
profi ts be used for the enti re well-being of the territory and that these con-
cepts were enforced.  The obvious impediment to this arrangement was wres-
tling the monopoly on gaming and its profi ts away from the Warriors and their 
supporters.  Governor Cuomo secretly admitt ed that he wished to maintain a 
distance from the issue for politi cal reasons and in his opinion the worst case 
scenario was to disarm the Warriors by force, including the use of military 
personnel, a soluti on he would not endorse.260      

Although military resources had yet to be deployed, police raids conti nued 
throughout the growing violence.  During March and April, U.S. agents seized 
$1.9 million in cash and 19 pounds of cocaine.  Esti mates reveal that the co-
caine ring through Akwesasne to Montreal and Toronto was worth $40 million 
per month.261  On the Canadian side, teams of SQ, OPP and RCMP patrolled 
the roads, while the American side was curiously absent of any signifi cant law 
enforcement.  The editor of Akwesasne Notes, Doug George concurred: “It’s 
a real good strategy to sti ck to the Canadian side, where our police have the 
authority and the provincial and federal governments have said they would 
support our police.”262 

Indeed the provincial and federal governments were preparing a military re-
sponse to aid police forces if required.  Conti ngency planning was initi ated by 
Nati onal Defence Headquarters (NDHQ) on 25 April and three opti ons were 
evaluated, complete with a needs assessment.  The fi rst opti on was simply to 
support police forces in their att empt to impose law and order by supplying 
equipment and military resources.  This was seen as the most likely opti on.  
The second was the evacuati on of innocent persons, should violence occur in 
the process of opti on one.  The last opti on, regarded as the least likely, was a 
military interventi on.  All opti ons were limited to the sovereignty of nati onal 
borders and co-operati on with U.S. forces.263   
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Interesti ngly, contained in the original assessment was a clause to specifi cally 
“avoid, if possible, using 5 BM du CA….”  It was 5 Brigade that was ulti mately 
deployed to Kanesatake and Kahnawake for Operati on SALON.  There is no 
concrete evidence to suggest that NDHQ was withholding this brigade as a 
reserve force for Oka.  However, with the constructi on of barricades on 11 
March, the suspicion of weapons and with the situati on and negoti ati ons at 
Kanesatake deteriorati ng, it is feasible that NDHQ was aware that CF assis-
tance might be requested.264   

On 27 April, elements of 2nd Combat Engineer Regiment (2 CER) from CFB 
Petawawa and 450 Squadron (Ott awa), dressed in civilian clothing, conducted 
a reconnaissance of the Canadian porti ons of the Akwesasne Reserve.  In addi-
ti on, the Special Investi gati ons Unit (SIU) was conducti ng its own intelligence 
gathering.  The goal was to identi fy resource requirements and armoured 
personnel carrier (APC) fording sites between the mainland and Cornwall Is-
land (Akwesasne) and helicopter landing zones on the Islands of St. Regis and 
Cornwall.  Authority was also given to take aerial photographs and imagery of 
the Reserve with CF-5s in synchronizati on with U.S. forces and government 
satellites. Aerial imagery was considered of paramount importance.265  In ad-
diti on, the RCMP emergency response team was scheduled for familiariza-
ti on training with CF equipment including AVGPs and service weapons at CFB 
Petawawa.266    

The following day, 28 April, Prime Minster Brian Mulroney secretly alerted Bill 
McKnight, previous Minister of Indian Aff airs and now Minister of Nati onal 
Defence (MND), to prepare conti ngency plans to support operati ons by the 
RCMP, OPP and SQ, with the RCMP being the lead agency.  It was stressed that 
no military interventi on would occur unless these agencies could not handle 
the situati on.267 

Facing the prospect of a possible CF inserti on on Akwesasne, thorough intel-
ligence and threat assessments were conducted and liaison was established 
with OPP, SQ and the RCMP to determine the nature and extent of potenti al 
involvement.  A summary of all gathered intelligence revealed that the num-
ber of Warriors and sympathizers at Akwesasne fl uctuated between 300-500, 
as both Warriors and supporters seemed to come and go, including many 
from Kahnawake.  Many were identi fi ed to have U.S. Marine Corps or Vietnam 
experience.268   

It was known by Canadian and American security agencies that the War-
rior Society was heavily armed.  As of 27 April, the following weapons had 
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been seen and identi fi ed (although at this point the quanti ty was unknown): 
reacti vated grenades (inert grenades which had been refi lled with black pow-
der, rearmed resulti ng in the explosion of larger fragments), semi-automati c 
rifl es (AR-15, M-16 and shotguns with 30-round barrel magazines), automati c 
rifl es (AK-47 and 9mm Uzi) and revolvers (.357 Smith and Wesson and .223 
Mini 14 Ruger). Ammuniti on was plenti ful. 25,000 rounds of various calibres 
had been purchased through Canadian commercial sources and American 
commercial purchases were esti mated at four ti mes that amount.  It was 
known that 500-800 rounds were fi red daily, another indicati on that the 
Warrior’s ammuniti on reserve was large.  In additi on to these weapons, the 
Warriors were in possession of, or could acquire on short noti ce, two .50 
calibre heavy machine guns and M-72 light anti -tank weapons (LAW).269 

Other equipment in the Warrior arsenal included a very sophisti cated and 
expensive communicati ons network.  They were monitoring police frequen-
cies and conducted successful jamming operati ons using white noise, Nati ve 
music and threats.  They also were in possession of at least two high-powered 
speedboats (Pride and Joy) outf itt ed with 265 hp inboard/outboard engines.  
There was a concern that if police or military interventi on by force occurred 
that the use of these weapons by young men (ages 14-18) would be unpre-
dictable, as would the reacti on of the Nati ve populati on.270  However, as of 
30 April any CF involvement was sti ll considered “unlikely” by NDHQ.271  This 
changed literally overnight.       

On 30 April-1 May, incidents on Akwesasne prompted the Canadian Govern-
ment to act.  Over the course of these two days, a nine-hour gun batt le raged, 
marking the zenith of the Civil War.  The principles of the Great Law were in 
tatt ers.  Mohawks were fi ghti ng Mohawks.  During the batt le Doug George 
called a radio talk show, the guest of which was Governor Cuomo.  Aft er de-
scribing the violent situati on, George got into an argument with Cuomo, who 
promptly hung up.272   

In additi on to superfi cial injuries, two Mohawks—Matt hew Pike, an anti -gam-
er (22) and Harold “Junior” Edwards, a pro-gamer (30)—were killed by gun 
shots both on the Snye, Quebec land base of Akwesasne.  Numerous houses 
were set ablaze and an esti mated 3,000-4,000 rounds of ammuniti on were 
expended.  An RCMP patrol boat also received direct fi re from a high-speed 
power boat.273 Between 1-3 May, 500 police offi  cers from six individual orga-
nizati ons converged on Akwesasne from both borders in a well-coordinated 
joint operati on and sealed off  all access to the Reserve.  With their presence, 
an eerie calm descended over Mohawk country.274  This batt le prompted the 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 78 –

federal government to act and military resources were mobilized under the 
Nati onal Defence Act (NDA).  

At 2045 hours (hrs), 1 May 1990, the Solicitor-General of Canada, Pierre 
Cadieux, asked the Minister of Nati onal Defence, Bill McKnight, to provide 
military assistance to the RCMP in and around Akwesasne.  The request loose-
ly hinted at amphibious armoured vehicles, secure communicati on systems 
and engineering assets (totalling roughly 100 personnel) to be in readiness for 
RCMP operati ons.  However, this was not done under the traditi onal clause 
of Aid to the Civil Power.  This request was done under Provision of Armed 
Assistance.275  

A province can request, if necessary, the assistance of the Canadian Forces in 
managing riots and domesti c disturbances without invoking Aid to the Civil 
Power under Part XI of the Nati onal Defence Act.  The Solicitor-General of Can-
ada can request armed assistance from the Minister of Nati onal Defence.  The 
latt er’s response is discreti onary.  He/She can direct the Chief of the Defence 
Staff  (CDS) to order deployment; however, control remains with the federal 
government.276 This was the scenario for the CF implementati on and deploy-
ment of Operati on FEATHER (renamed Operati on AKWESASNE for obvious po-
liti cally sensiti ve reasons) to Cornwall and Akwesasne.  The creati on and legal-
ity of this operati on diff ers immensely from what would be labelled Operati on 
SALON at Kanesatake/Oka and Kahnawake which followed the traditi onal Aid 
to the Civil Power skeleton.

The federal government could no longer ignore the violence plaguing Akwe-
sasne and the Cornwall area.  The Grand Chiefs of both the American and 
Canadian Band Councils requested interventi on.  They knew that the situati on 
was well beyond the control of internal police forces and the band councils.  
The RCMP and OPP did not have the required equipment to carry out op-
erati ons without the support of the Canadian Forces.  Gathered intelligence 
also revealed that these LEAs did not have the capacity or weapon systems 
to suppress the Warriors if direct confrontati on occurred.  The result was the 
request for CF support under Provision of Armed Assistance.  This legislati on 
forced the CF to parti cipate in operati ons in and around Akwesasne through 
the planning, initi ati on and deployment of Operati on FEATHER.  Although CF 
interventi on at Akwesasne diff ered in both form and functi on from the future 
deployments to Kanesatake and Kahnawake, it no doubt served as an example 
and warning to the federal government, the Government of Quebec and the 
Canadian Forces to begin preparing for another possible request for Aid to the 
Civil Power for other domesti c operati ons in Mohawk territory. 
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CHAPTER 9

The History and Framework of Aid to 
the Civil Power and Domestic Operation 
Legislations

In order to understand the deployment of the Canadian Forces to Akwesasne, 
Kanesatake and Kahnawake the framework of legislati ons relati ng to domes-
ti c operati ons must be detailed.  In Canada there is only one “Armed Force,” 
this being the Canadian Forces controlled at the federal level.  There are no 
provincial “armies” and municipal governments do not have the right, as the 
provinces do, to requisiti on the sole federal force under Aid to the Civil Power.  
Desmond Morton has writt en numerous arti cles on the history of Aid to the 
Civil Power in Canada.  Briefl y summarized, Canadian Militi a was used on a 
frequent basis to enforce law in the period before regular or eff ecti ve police 
organizati ons.  The fi rst appearance of the phrase “Aid to the Civil Power” 
appeared in the 1855 Militi a Act.  The fi rst post-Confederati on Militi a Act of 
1868 clearly identi fi ed the requirement of a local militi a commander to take 
acti on when a request in writi ng was promulgated by a local offi  cial such as a 
city mayor or a warden.  The regular force replaced the militi a in this functi on 
in an amendment of the 1904 act.277 

According to Morton, there were 145 episodes of Aid to the Civil Power in 
Canada during the fi rst century of Confederati on.  These served a broad range 
of functi ons from preventi ng boxing matches, guarding hangings, encourag-
ing people to pay taxes, guarding the Welland Canal from Fenian threats, to 
quelling strikes and prison riots.  Apart from the Riel Rebellions of 1870 and 
1885 and the dispatch of troops to the Yukon in 1898 during the Gold Rush 
most circumstances were brief and relati vely peaceful.278  In fact, 80 of these 
occurred before the Second World War.  With the advent of modern and prop-
erly trained police forces, the involvement of the military in domesti c aff airs 
became relati vely moot.  Between 1933 and 1969, there were no requests for 
troops made during peace ti me (seven were made during WWII).  The basis 
for the decline can be found in a 1924 amendment to the Militi a Act whereby 
the authority to requisiti on federal troops rested with the att orney general of 
a province, thus reducing the potenti al for the applicati on of military force.279   
According to Morton, “The emergence of the ‘urban-guerrilla’ and the search 
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for acceptable Army roles revived an old role in two new guises: low-intensity 
warfare and domesti c peacekeeping.”280 

Accordingly, the most recent cases of Aid to the Civil Power are the 1969 Mon-
treal police strike, the 1970 October Crisis, and the 1976 Olympic Games in 
Montreal.  The FLQ or October Crisis illustrates the various levels of domesti c 
operati ons and their implementati on, including the War Measures Act.  The 
Front de la Libérati on du Québec (FLQ) embarked on a terror campaign to 
ignite ethnic revoluti on in Quebec.  Formed in 1963, the FLQ followed a fi ve-
step Maoist revoluti onary war doctrine which had been successful in Cuba 
and Algeria in the recent past: mass organizati on, politi cal mobilizati on, armed 
resistance, preparati ons for mobile warfare and fi nally nati onal liberati on.  
Evidence also showed that members were trained and backed by the Front de 
Libérati on nati onale (FLN) in Algeria, and had a broad-based network of ter-
rorist support and perhaps affi  liati on to internati onally recognized countries 
such as France.281   

Although the FLQ conducted 34 att acks in 1963, the pinnacle of acti vity oc-
curred between 1968-1970, in the form of 137 att acks using increasingly 
sophisti cated weapons on higher profi le targets, including Nati onal Defence 
Headquarters in Ott awa. On 5 October 1970, Briti sh trade commissioner 
James Cross was kidnapped in Montreal by an FLQ cell (He remained in cus-
tody unti l December when a cordon and search operati on stumbled upon his 
locati on).  In exchange for Cross, the FLQ wanted their manifesto broadcast on 
nati onal television.  Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau refused.  Similarly, on 10 
October Pierre Laporte, Minister of Labour and Immigrati on for Quebec was 
kidnapped by another cell (He was eventually murdered on 17 October and 
his body found in the trunk of a car).282  

Aft er the Laporte abducti on, newly elected Quebec Premier Robert Bourassa 
asked Trudeau to “send in the army [and] think about invoking the War Mea-
sures Act.”  Trudeau directed the Vice Chief of the Defence Staff  (VCDS) Lieu-
tenant-General Michael Dare, who was in command at that point, to establish 
liaison with the Att orney-General of Quebec to develop a plan for Aid to the 
Civil Power when and if it was requested.  This was called Operati on ESSAY.  
Concurrently, the VCDS authorized Operati on GINGER, which unlike ESSAY was 
not an Aid to the Civil Power deployment.  Similar to Operati on FEATHER in 
Akwesasne, the Solicitor-General of Canada was urged to request assistance 
to the civil authority.  The 9,000 troops of Force Mobile Command (FMC) were 
tasked to assist the RCMP in guarding federal buildings, escorti ng dignitar-
ies and government offi  cials and if necessary provide a rapid reacti on force.  
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Both operati ons were authorized on 15 October 1970 when the formal re-
quest for Aid to the Civil Power was submitt ed by the Att orney-General of 
Quebec.283   

Provincial Premiers do not possess their own military forces in the way that 
Governors in the United States have state-controlled Nati onal Guard units at 
their disposal.  The legaliti es for Aid to the Civil Power operati ons are found in 
Part XI of the Nati onal Defence Act.  Secti on 275 reads:

275. The Canadian Forces, any unit or other element thereof and 
any offi  cer or man, with material, are liable to be called out for 
service in aid of the civil power in any case in which riot or distur-
bance of the peace, beyond the powers of the civil authoriti es to 
suppress, prevent or deal with and requiring that service, occurs 
or is, in the opinion of an att orney general, considered likely to 
occur.284  

Thus, an Att orney-General of a province or territory has the right to request 
members and equipment of the Canadian Forces if they deem necessary.  It is 
important to note that this request is a right and cannot be denied according 
to Secti on 277:

277. Where a riot or disturbance occurs or is likely to occur, the 
att orney general of the province in which the place where the 
riot or disturbance occurs or is considered as likely to occur is 
situated, on the initi ati ve of the att orney general,…may, by req-
uisiti on in writi ng addressed to the Chief of the Defence Staff , 
require the Canadian Forces, or such part thereof as the Chief of 
the Defence Staff  or such offi  cer as the Chief of the Defence Staff  
may designate considers necessary, to be called out on service in 
Aid to the Civil Power.285 

Again it should be noted that the request circumvents all politi cal authority 
such as the Prime Minister or the Minister of Defence and is submitt ed direct-
ly to the CDS.  Once such a request is tabled in writi ng, it is at the discreti on of 
the CDS or a designate to decide the weight and scope of the military force on 
loan to provincial police forces as formulated in Secti on 278:

278. On receiving a requisiti on in writi ng made by an att orney 
general under secti on 277, the Chief of the Defence Staff , or 
such an offi  cer as the Chief of the Defence Staff  may designate, 
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shall call out such part of the Canadian Forces as the Chief of the 
Defence Staff  or that offi  cer considers necessary for the purpose 
of suppressing or preventi ng any actual riot or disturbance that 
is considered likely to occur.

280(4). A statement of fact contained in a requisiti on made 
under this Part is not open to dispute by the Chief of the Defence 
Staff .

283. The Canadian Forces…called out in Aid to the Civil Power 
shall remain on duty…unti l noti fi cati on that the Canadian Forces 
are no longer required…is received from the Att orney General of 
the province concerned and, from ti me to ti me as in the opinion 
of the Chief of the Defence Staff  the exigencies of the situati on 
require, the Chief of the Defence Staff  may increase or diminish 
the number of offi  cers and non-commissioned members called 
out.286

Following this premise then, there is no discreti on as to whether or not ele-
ments of the CF are deployed.  Where there is discreti on is in the number and 
amount of materials to be deployed.  This is redundantly stated in 23.09(2) 
of the Queen’s Regulati ons and Orders (QR&Os): “The compositi on of a force 
employed in Aid to the Civil Power shall be at the discreti on of the Chief of 
the Defence Staff  or of an offi  cer designated by him for that purpose.”287  The 
QR&O’s also makes clear reference to the conduct of soldiers deployed in such 
a mission.  Chapter 23, enti tled, “Duti es in Aid to the Civil Power” outlines the 
rules and orders that govern the behaviour of CF members:

Secti on 23.15, Note D: The law, that no more force may be used 
than is necessary, applies at all ti mes; lethal weapons must not 
be used to prevent or suppress minor disorders or off ences which 
are not serious, and in no case shall fi rearms be discharged if less 
extreme measures will suffi  ce.288 

With the formal 15 October request for Aid to the Civil Power, the Canadian 
Forces prepared to implement the previously constructed conti ngency plan. 
However, the following day Prime Minister Trudeau invoked the War Mea-
sures Act, which unlike Aid to the Civil Power, had jurisdicti on across Canada 
and most importantly in Ontario which was also an FLQ target.  Before 1988, 
aside from a special legislati on for the federal government to assert dictatorial 
powers aft er a nuclear att ack, the War Measures Act was the only mechanism 
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by which the federal government could authorize the use of the military with-
in Canada.289 Created in 1914 by Prime Minister Sir Robert Borden to meet the 
demands and turbulence spawned by the First World War, the act is applied 
nati onwide and cannot be confi ned to a single province:

3.(1) The Governor in Council may do and authorize such acts 
and things, and take from ti me to ti me such orders and regula-
ti ons, as he may by reason of real or apprehended war, invasion 
or insurrecti on deem necessary or advisable for the security, 
defence, peace, order and welfare of Canada; and for greater 
certainty, but not so as to restrict the generality of the foregoing 
terms, it is hereby declared that the powers of the Governor in 
Council extend to all matt ers coming within the classes of sub-
jects hereinaft er enumerated… 290

These subjects named in the act include the deployment of military forces, 
imposing censorship, undeterred arrest and detenti on, banning subversive or-
ganizati ons, the expropriati on of private and public property, and control of all 
transportati on and trade.  In short the War Measures Act imposed draconian 
principles and aff orded the Prime Minister dictatorial powers.291 

In conjuncti on with the War Measures Act, the Public Order Regulati ons was 
also passed.  Although not superseding either the War Measures Act or Part 
XI of the Nati onal Defence Act, these regulati ons gave CF personnel status 
as Peace Offi  cers, and further rights to exercise greater functi ons: 1) mainte-
nance or restorati on of law and order; 2) the protecti on of property; 3) the 
protecti on of persons; 4) the arrest and custody of persons; 5) the apprehen-
sion of persons who have escaped from lawful custody or confi nement; 6) the 
enforcement of warrants issued by the Minister pursuant to secti on 218 of the 
NDA; 7) enforcement of the Customs Act and regulati ons there under; and 8) 
the enforcement of the Boati ng Restricti on Regulati ons and the Small Vessel 
Regulati ons.292 

Due to the nati onal nature of the War Measures Act, in theory, police in Briti sh 
Columbia could have used these extraordinary powers, even though the prov-
ince faced no threat.  In actuality, some police chiefs in western Canada used 
the suspension of civil liberti es aff orded by the War Measures Act to arrest 
and harass inoff ensive left -wing hippie groups.293 It became obvious that the 
War Measures Act was too extreme.  Therefore, in early December the Tem-
porary Measures Act was introduced, nullifying both the War Measures Act 
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and the Public Order Regulati ons.  The enhanced powers did not change and 
were equally draconian, but were now limited to the Province of Quebec.294 

What cannot be overlooked is that by invoking the War Measures Act and 
the subsequent Temporary Measures Act, Prime Minister Trudeau ensured 
that the federal government held the balance of power, removing it from the 
hands of Premier Robert Bourassa.  The request for Aid to the Civil Power was 
nullifi ed the day aft er it was received by Trudeau’s acti ons.  Both the military 
and police forces conducted operati ons that seriously deterred any further 
violence and the FLQ has not conducted any terrorist operati ons since.  The 
military commitment which totalled 12,500 troops over the period of events 
was stood down in January 1971.295  Operati on ESSAY was carried out so suc-
cessfully that NDP leader T.C. Douglas compared it to “using a sledgehammer 
to crush a peanut.”296 

In 1973, a review was conducted on the provisions of internal security (IS) 
operati ons in light of the FLQ Crisis.  It concluded that the system and legisla-
ti ve provisions were competent based on the fact that the federal government 
had means to limit the powers of requisiti on by provinces but also had the 
ability to act if the provinces did not.  The War Measures Act and the Tem-
porary Measures Act were the means in which to do so.  However, a closer 
look at the legislati on for domesti c operati ons reveals both advantages and 
disadvantages.  

The fi rst advantage is that due to the circumventi on of politi cal organizati ons, 
Aid to the Civil Power reduces delay in deployment thus minimizing possible 
threats to life and property.  Secondly, for the federal government, the respon-
sibility for Aid to the Civil Power operati ons and possible negati ve impacts and 
repercussions rests solely with the requesti ng province negati ng any blame on 
the federal government.297  This scenario would play out in the Oka Crisis.

The disadvantage of Aid to the Civil Power is that a large scale CF deployment 
can be made without any federal decision or judgement. An Att orney-General 
of a province could promulgate politi cal, military and policing policies which 
may be unacceptable to the federal government.  Second, the CDS may be 
forced to make a military commitment without formal support of politi cal 
fi gures.  However, there is nothing in any law which prohibits the CDS from 
consulti ng with politi cians either before or aft er a request for Aid to the Civil 
Power.  It would be professional suicide not to do so.  The only contradicti on 
can be found in secti on 18 of the NDA which states that the CDS is subject to 
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the directi on of the Minister of Nati onal Defence.  In part XI of the same act, 
the CDS is given exclusive authority.  The latt er seems more reliable for if a 
decision was left  to the Minister, the inevitable delay in deployment due to 
politi cal discourse could endanger lives.298 

However, the nature of Aid to the Civil Power was drasti cally altered in 1988 
when the War Measures Act was replaced with the Emergencies Act.  The 
1987 Defence White Paper had concluded that the War Measures Act was 
“too broad and too sweeping” and did not include enough “safeguards against 
abuse” in domesti c operati ons.  The new act identi fi ed four types of nati onal 
emergency: 1) public welfare; 2) public order; 3) internati onal; and 4) war.299   
A nati onal emergency is defi ned as:

3. For the purposes of this Act, a “nati onal emergency” is an ur-
gent and criti cal situati on of a temporary nature that…

(b) seriously threatens the ability of the Government of Canada 
to preserve the sovereignty, security and territorial integrity 
of Canada and that cannot be eff ecti vely dealt with under any 
other law of Canada.300

However, by leaving in Part XI of the NDA, legislators consciously made it vir-
tually impossible for a Prime Minister to invoke the Emergencies Act for any 
Oka-type scenario.  More importantly, Secti on 25(3) of the act specifi cally ren-
ders the federal government impotent in the ability to override a province 
determined to use Part XI, Aid to the Civil Power:301

25.(3) The Governor in Council may not issue a declarati on of 
a public order emergency where the eff ects of the emergency 
are confi ned to one province, unless the lieutenant governor in 
council of the province has indicated to the Governor in Coun-
cil that the emergency exceeds the capacity or authority of the 
province to deal with it.302 

In eff ect, during the Oka Crisis Prime Minister Brian Mulroney did not have the 
opti ons that were available to Prime Minister Trudeau under the War Mea-
sures Act during the FLQ Crisis.  Although the violence of Oka had the poten-
ti al to spread and ignite Indigenous peoples across the country, the wording 
specifi es that the “eff ects of the emergency are,” meaning current to the ti me.  
Future predicti ons or possible eff ects cannot be legally taken into consider-
ati on.303   These legal factors surrounding Oka will be dealt with later, but were 
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no doubt infl uenti al to the decision-making process surrounding the events at 
Kanesatake and Kahnawake in 1990 which highlighted serious fl aws within the 
Emergencies Act and IS legislati on.  

Most signifi cantly, if Bourassa, who was the Premier of Quebec during the 
Oka Crisis, had ordered the CF to take direct lethal acti on against the Warriors 
at Kanesatake and Kahnawake the result could have been horrendous blood-
shed.  It could have sparked violent retaliati on from Nati ves across Canada 
and the United States.  It appears logical that the Prime Minister should have 
executi ve powers to intervene and legally commandeer control of the CF.  This 
is not the case under the Emergencies Act.304 

Another noteworthy amendment to the Emergencies Act according to Morton 
was that the new framework transformed the cost and payment att ributes of 
Aid to the Civil Power.  Under the new legislati on all Canadians would bear the 
cost burden through the Consolidated Revenue Fund, which unti l 1988 had 
rested with the municipaliti es and the provinces.  In Morton’s words: “A free 
service is likely to be used.”305     

Therefore, by 1990, there were three circumstances which aff orded the use 
of domesti c military deployments.  The fi rst and most relevant to the topic is 
Aid to the Civil Power, which fundamentally had not changed since the FLQ 
Crisis.  This is limited to a single province.  The second is through the decree 
of the Emergencies Act, but as shown, this nati onwide framework has serious 
fl aws.  The third instance, Provision of Armed Assistance, usually implies that 
the CF will be called out for non-combat or non-confrontati onal duti es.  These 
are usually for short ti me periods and follow pre-existi ng conti ngency plans.  
Operati ons include relief of natural disasters, fi sheries and narcoti c-traffi  cking 
surveillance, polluti on monitoring and ice fl ow reconnaissance.  However, this 
can also be used to request armed interventi on.306 

The deployment of the Canadian Forces in support of LEAs at Akwesasne 
was only guaranteed so long as an offi  cial request for Provision of Armed 
Assistance was submitt ed.  The federal government was handcuff ed in the 
sense that the violent situati on at Akwesasne did not consti tute a nati onal 
emergency; therefore, the newly created Emergencies Act could not be in-
voked.  Once requested, the CF had the ability to independently determine 
the commitment of resources necessary to fulfi ll its mandate and functi on in 
consultati on with LEAs and as outlined in the formal request under Provision 
of Armed Assistance.    
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CHAPTER 10

Operation FEATHER/Operation AKWESASNE

The deployment of Operati on FEATHER in May 1990 to Akwesasne was unique 
as it did not fi t the typical Aid to the Civil Power constructi on; nevertheless, it 
was sti ll an Aid to the Civil Power type operati on.  On 1 May, the request from 
Solicitor-General Pierre Cadieux for CF assistance to the RCMP was a shock to 
Lieutenant-Colonel Derald Prosser who coordinated the operati on from the 
Regional Directi on Centre in the Long Sault, Ontario detachment of the OPP: 
“Although I had met with the police the same day, there was no indicati on that 
the military would be called in to assist.”307 

By the morning of 2 May, with the excepti on of certain service and support 
elements, all CF personnel and equipment were in their designated locati ons 
with the intent to complete this mission: 

CF to provide armed assistance to RCMP to restore law and order 
on Canadian porti on of St Regis Akwesasne Indian Reserve.  CF 
assistance to be confi ned to provision of armoured vehicles for 
transport and protecti on of police personnel, mobile VHF/FM se-
cure communicati ons for LEA use and any non lethal operati onal 
support requested to ensure success and safety of personnel 
involved. Durati on of Operati on undetermined however com-
mitment made for seven days.  Conti ngency planning must take 
place to cater for any increase in scope of operati ons.308 

The operati on was strategically commanded by Force Mobile Command 
(FMC) with sub-command elements at HQ Central Region and HQ Eastern 
Region.  Major-General Bob Stewart was the designated commander, while 
Lieutenant-Colonel Norris Petti  s, commanding offi  cer (CO) of 1st Batt alion, The 
Royal Canadian Regiment (1 RCR) was appointed tacti cal commander.  He was 
well aware of the jurisdicti onal intricacies of his command: “I can’t imagine a 
more complicated problem.  We’re dealing with three police forces [SQ, OPP 
and RCMP], two provinces and two nati onal governments.  It has taken days 
to develop mutual trust and understanding.”309  To assuage miscommunica-
ti on concerns between the various forces, a Joint Operati ons Centre (JOC) 
was set up at the OPP stati on at Long Sault, 19 km west of Cornwall.  As of 2 
May under command of Petti  s, was the Special Service Force (SSF) made up of 
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248 personnel, 81 vehicles, 3 raft s, various boats and 2 CH-135 helicopters.  
The deployment to Akwesasne reached its peak on 9 May aft er which ti me 
there were conti nuous reducti ons in both men and materials:310 

Table 3—Operati on FEATHER—Peak Deployment, 09 MAY 1990311

Unit/Home Locati on Offi  cers NCMs Vehicles/Equipment

1RCR (1st Batt alion, The Royal Canadian 
Regiment) London

10 150 14 x AVGP (Grizzly)
2 x APC Dozer
1 x APC (ARVL)
2 x Husky
5 x Ilti s (all equipped with 
VINSON Comms.)
33 x Support Vehicles

2 CER (Combat Engineer Regiment) 
Petawawa

2 41 20 x Support Vehicles
5 x Kenworth
4 x Assault Boat
2 x Power Boat
2 x Sealander Jetboat
8 x Dive Team Equipment
2 x Class 16 Raft 
1 x Class 60 Raft 

2 SVC BN (Service Batt alion) 
Petawawa 

1 14 8 x Support Vehicles

2 MP PL (Military Police Platoon) 
Petawawa

4 2 x Support Vehicles

2 FD AMB (Field Ambulance)
Petawawa, Ontario

1 4 2 x Ambulances
6 x Support Vehicles

SSF HQ and SIGS (Headquarters and 
Signals)

14 17 10 x Support Vehicles

2 EW Sqn (Electronic Warfare Squad-
ron) 1 Can. Div. Kingston

3 34 12 x Support Vehicles

1 Int Coy (1 Intelligence Company) 
1 Can. Div. Kingston

1 6 2 x Support Vehicles

427 Sqn Petawawa 6 11 2  x CH-135
3 x CH-135 (8 hrs Noti ce 
to Move or NTM)
4 x CH-136 (8 hrs NTM)
1 X FARP (for refuelling)

cont...
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CF personnel had authority to carry weapons only when parti cipati ng in acti ve 
operati ons with deployed police forces.  These soldiers did carry live ammuni-
ti on; however, the magazines could only be loaded into the weapon on order 
or in self-defence and in accordance with the use of force guidelines provided 
in the QR&Os. Body armour and helmets were also mandatory.  In additi on, 
due to the Operati on FEATHER mandate as an internal security mission, no 
foreign exchange offi  cers were allowed to parti cipate.  This would hold true 
for Operati on SALON (military operati ons at Kanesatake and Kahnawake) as 
well.312 

Having completed preliminary reconnaissance patrols and intelligence gather-
ing in late April, in conjuncti on with intelligence reports from LEAs, Operati on 
FEATHER commanders knew the capabiliti es of the Warriors.  Bursts of gun-
fi re conti nued to be discharged throughout 2-4 May and were identi fi ed as 
semi-automati c weapons.  In additi on, receipts from gun stores in New York 
and Vermont recorded Warrior purchases of many heavier machine-guns and 
RPGs (rocket-propelled grenades).  However, no weapons were visible during 
joint police/military patrols and with no visual confi rmati on, the extent of the 
Warrior arsenal remained inconclusive.  Two boat loads of weapons were seen 
being transported from Cornwall Island to St. Regis Island on 2 May.  It was 
also ascertained that the Warriors had a mobile detecti on unit, which had the 
ability to intercept and jam the radio communicati ons of LEAs.313

To alleviate this concern, secure CF communicati ons equipment was re-
quested by LEAs.  The CF acquiesced to the demand by deploying elements 

Unit/Home Locati on Offi  cers NCMs Vehicles/Equipment

430 Sqn Valcarti er 3 x CH-135 (8 hrs NTM)
4 x CH-136 (8 hrs NTM)

450 Sqn Borden 1 x CH-147 (4 hrs NTM)

Other 2 18

Total 40 299 161

Cornwall Armouries: Base Security 
Force

20-30 
Reserve
Pers.

All assistance was un-
armed.  Units: 28 Ott awa 
Service Bn, Stormont, 
Dundas & Glengarry High- 
landers, Cameron High-
landers of Ott awa and the 
Brockville Rifl es.
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of 706 Communicati on Squadron from Borden.  The CF thought it was also 
necessary to monitor Warrior message traffi  c (most of which was on cellular 
phones), to locate base stati ons and mobile parti es, and if need be, jam War-
rior communicati on in the event of hosti le acti vity.  Recent Warrior phone 
traffi  c had revealed an intenti on to resume armed operati ons once the CF 
and police eff ort declined.  In additi on, the Warriors were successful in short 
length jamming of RCMP and OPP communicati ons.314   

To sati sfy their perceived needs, 1st Canadian Division (Kingston) deployed 2 
Electronic Warfare Squadron (2 EW Sqn) and 1 Intelligence Company (1 Int 
Coy) on 6 May, “to be kept to lowest profi le possible.”  However, due to com-
plicati ons over legality only radio transmission could be intercepted.  Cellular 
communicati on was a new phenomena in 1990 and although intercepti ng and 
jamming radio communicati ons did not contravene Part IV of the Canadian 
Criminal Code (under which the CF must operate), there was a questi on as to 
whether cellular phones were included in “radio communicati on.”  As such, 
informati on from cellular phones was not divulged to third parti es including 
LEAs.  All lawful Signal Intelligence (SIGINT) was for use of the CF and LEAs 
with the “understanding that CF pers would under no circumstances be called 
upon to testi fy in a court of law nor would the source of product be used in 
formal court proceedings.  Good Hunti ng!”315  

With the arrival of police and the ensuing CF deployment the situati on at Ak-
wesasne remained relati vely quiet.  Police presence on both sides of the Re-
serve seemed to have soothed the violence.  The funerals of both Pike and 
Edwards passed without incident on 5 and 7 May respecti vely.  This is not 
surprising as it is customary in Nati ve culture to cease hosti liti es during pe-
riods of mourning.  Those Mohawks who had fl ed Akwesasne in the wake of 
the gaming violence slowly began to return to their homes with support from 
governmental agencies and LEAs.  As of 6 May it was esti mated that only 215 
Mohawks remained in the Cornwall shelters, the number lessening to 125 the 
following day.  All schools reopened on 9 May.316 

Human intelligence sources (HUMINT) also reported that the police presence 
on the Reserve, “is deeply felt by the Warriors as it has cut their main sources 
of income, which are the gambling and traffi  c of cigarett es across the border 
to Canada.  This lack of money gain is also felt severely at Kahnawake Reserve 
by Warriors there, as this police presence has curtailed many main source 
of income…forcing many Kahnawake Mohawks to close their illegal tobacco 
stores.”  Canada Border Services Agency at Cornwall required the use of the 
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Cornwall Armouries in order to store an esti mated $3.1 million worth of ciga-
rett es sequestered at the border crossing over the past two months.317  

It also appeared that the Warriors were using the infl ux of media to Akwe-
sasne to convey the message that they believed the police presence was a 
form of occupati on of their territory.  They also indicated that they were the 
victi ms of a disinformati on campaign portraying them as oppressors to the 
Mohawk Nati on and terrorists to the Canadian and American public.  Accord-
ing to a 6 May intelligence report: “The request for withdrawal of all white 
police from Akwesasne Reserve by Warriors and their supporters will soon 
become the main topic in this confl ict.”318   

Up to this point, the primary functi ons of the CF were limited to service and 
support elements such as the feeding and canvas tent housing of LEA person-
nel.  The CF also supplied secure communicati on assets, intelligence cells and 
night vision equipment.  2 CER had ferried police and military vehicles, includ-
ing a helicopter from Cornwall to Cornwall Island and St. Regis on raft s in or-
der to conduct joint mobile patrols on the islands and main land of Canadian 
Akwesasne.  Each military patrol was accompanied by one or more police of-
fi cers, to avoid a situati on where CF personnel were required to make arrests.  
Concurrently, the New York State Police and the FBI conducted patrols and 
searches in American Akwesasne.319   

Having already been deployed with no foreseen extracti on in the near future, 
and facing a relati vely low immediate threat, elements of the CF took advan-
tage of the situati on to conduct training.  Joint infantry/engineer raft ing and 
amphibious inserti on training were conducted throughout the operati on, in-
cluding night movements and the recovery of a sunken OPP patrol boat.  Be-
tween 6-8 May, fl oat tests and swim tests were conducted with the Grizzly 
AVGPs.  Aft er completi ng successful fl oat tests with the aid of a cable, the 
AVGPs were loaded with troops to conduct swim tests.  These were accom-
plished with various successes, with at least one Grizzly sinking almost imme-
diately aft er entering the frigid St. Lawrence River.320   

As CF training conti nued, a joint patrol on Cornwall Island raided a home in 
the early morning of 10 May seizing over $1 million worth of cocaine (4 lbs) 
and 12 weapons.  With the arrests stemming from this raid, the total for the 
operati on was 14.321  On 13 May, fi ve more arrests were made in conjuncti on 
with the murder of Harold Edwards.  Those arrested were: Ken Lazore, Roger 
Mitchell, Steve Lazore, David George and Doug George, with the latt er two 
being formally charged.  A truck rented in the U.S. was intercepted illegally 
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crossing the border near Sutt on, Quebec carrying 350 cases of cigarett es 
headed for Kahnawake.322  (It should be noted that on 16 May, Operati on 
FEATHER was renamed Operati on AKWESASNE by the CF and will now be re-
ferred to as such).

As the overall threat to LEAs was believed to be reduced through patrolling 
and checkpoints, the supporti ng role of CF commitment was reduced.  By 25 
May the CF commitment at Akwesasne consisted of 89 personnel (all trades), 
35 vehicles (all models) and 9 marine vessels.323  All but three personnel from 
2 EW Sqn and 1 Int Coy returned to Kingston between 13-16 May, and most 
of the secure communicati ons equipment was withdrawn on 18 May.  How-
ever, the threats to both LEA personnel and the Mohawk inhabitants was not 
completely negligible thus, “the conti nued requirement for CF SP [support] 
was confi rmed…However, in view of the current comparati vely quiet situati on 
on the Reserve…it is appropriate that a prudent and gradual thinning out of 
CF resources be undertaken.  Strength has now reached bare minimum to 
meet mandate.”  It was felt that the CF was sti ll required to provide immediate 
armed assistance resources, in additi on to, off ering operati onal equipment 
and administrati ve support.324  

Although the overall atmosphere at Akwesasne was calm, there were sti ll 
instances of violent episodes.  Gunshots were sti ll heard during the nights 
and unmanned roadblocks were frequently erected to impede police acti vity. 
Cars raced towards police roadblocks with the intenti on of ramming them and 
quickly braked before skidding to a halt and racing away.  On 19 and 22 May, 
Molotov Cocktails were hurled at New York Police checkpoints.  Another box 
of 10 Molotov Cocktails was discovered on Cornwall Island and 6 more were 
found in a parked car.  There were two reported incidents of bomb threats in 
Hogansburg, New York.  On another occasion, a cache of weapons was seen 
being thrown overboard into the river.  2 CER conducted combat dive training 
in the area of the drop but did not recover the weapons.  An OPP raid on 24 
May uncovered, “6 misc. weapons and ammo including an AK-47.”  On 28 May 
a hostage-taking incident occurred, which ended without injury.325     

Informati on for conducti ng searches and raids came from the joint intelligence 
cell operati ng out of the Long Sault HQ, and mobile command post units made 
up of three members of 2 EW Sqn and 1 Int Coy as well as RCMP, OPP intel-
ligence offi  cers, DND analysts and SIU agents.  They received and analyzed 
informati on from numerous sources including intercepted communicati ons, 
visual observati ons by forces in the fi eld, aerial and mariti me observati on, 
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media reports and imbedded human intelligence agents.  Aft er compiling the 
data, fi eld operati ons were planned or adjusted accordingly.326  

During a 24-hour period, this cell intercepted an average of 21 Warrior trans-
missions citi ng that on certain occasions “net [radio network] discipline 
seemed to be poor.  There were indicati ons that those parti cipants [Warriors] 
were intoxicated and this could explain the lapse in discipline.”  As the police 
and CF posture became more relaxed and numbers began to diminish, the in-
telligence cell reported an increasing number of smuggling related incidents.  
Warriors and smugglers were sti ll monitoring police frequencies and had de-
termined the patt ern of police presence and movements and consequently 
changed their routes.  Smugglers and Warriors also used wooded area and 
holes in fences to bypass police checkpoints.327 

Compounding the already volati le environment in Akwesasne was the fact 
that an electi on for Grand Chief of the American St. Regis tribal council was 
scheduled for 2 June.  Anti -gambling supporter and incumbent Grand Chief 
Harold Tarbell was being challenged for leadership by a pro-gambling Nor-
man Tarbell (no relati on).  Harold was the only anti -gamer on the council and 
if he was defeated, the St. Regis Tribal Council would be made up of all pro-
gambling supporters.  Demonstrati ons of support for both men were frequent 
throughout late May.  The outcome of the electi on would no doubt have an 
eff ect on Warrior intenti ons.  Also, the Akwesasne Police Force (APF) returned 
to acti ve duty on 28 May under protest from groups of Mohawks who be-
lieved them to be corrupted by pro-gaming supporters.328 

Norman Tarbell won the electi on over Harold Tarbell 637 votes to 538 votes.  
The only eligible voters for the electi on were American Mohawks (roughly 
3,500 eligible) as ruled by a New York State judge.  Anti -gambling facti ons 
were quick to begin protesti ng the manner in which the electi on was conduct-
ed and also its outcome.  In relati on, threats to LEA offi  cers and damage to 
police vehicles increased as pro-gamers wanted to rid Akwesasne of outside 
forces.  In fact, Norman Tarbell who was to take offi  ce on 2 July made cam-
paign promises to reopen the casinos and remove non-Nati ve police forces 
from Akwesasne.329 

On 18 June, the Bingo Halls of Akwesasne reopened without incident.  The ca-
sinos remained closed.  Governor Cuomo and the New York State Legislature 
were negoti ati ng the legaliti es of gaming on tribal land.  While Cuomo sought 
to legalize gaming, most members of the Legislature were of the opinion that 
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keeping the casinos closed was essenti al to a conti nuing peace on Akwesasne 
in conjuncti on with conti nual police patrols.330   

Although elements of the OPP, SQ and RCMP remained in Mohawk territory, 
they all agreed that CF support was no longer required provided that the per-
sonnel and equipment as of 6 June (87 soldiers, 33 vehicles, and 11 marine 
vehicles) could be redeployed within six hours.  As a result, on 7 June Opera-
ti on AKWESASNE was withdrawn leaving behind a small rear party and 9 intel-
ligence personnel.  By 25 June the CF commitment was limited to 12 person-
nel (two from 2 EW Sqn), eight vehicles, and seven marine vessels.331   If the 
operati on was prolonged, 2 Royal Canadian Horse Arti llery (2 RCHA) was to 
provide relief in place on 3 July. 

The lack of CF support had a negati ve eff ect on policing operati ons and vio-
lent acti viti es increased almost immediately.  On 11 June the Warriors held a 
meeti ng at The Bears Den as was observed by the SQ and OPP.  Most if not 
all casino owners were present.  Use of electronic communicati on devices by 
the Warriors ceased almost completely, cutti  ng off  a vital supply of informa-
ti on to LEAs.  The Warriors also conti nued to monitor police movements and 
numbers.332   

On 15 June, 42 rounds were fi red at an RCMP roadblock, with ten near misses 
reported.  This incident was repeated at an SQ checkpoint on 17 June.  This was 
believed to be in retaliati on for the arrest of prominent Warrior spokesperson 
Christi ne King for impaired driving on 15 June.  Sporadic gunfi re sti ll plagued 
the Reserve and counts of pett y crimes and vandalism were rising.  This was 
att ributed to the beginning of summer vacati on for school students.  On the 
nights of 15, 16 and 19 June, police responded to shots fi red.  Upon investi -
gati on, members of the Warrior Society were conducti ng target practi ce.333  
An intercept by elements of 2 EW Sqn revealed the following conversati on:

Navajo: One of them state troopers that were out yesterday said 
well if he’s in his own yard he said we can’t do a damn thing about 
it and they went over there and I guess he couldn’t do nothing.

UM1: Who was shooti ng around?

Navajo: …My young Warriors were testi ng out the new machines 
that what it was…They were checking out the new arti llery…
probably start again tomorrow….

UM1: Probably get a new lot tomorrow.
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UM2: Save your ammo.

Navajo: We’ve got about 75,000 rounds just waiti ng to be used.

During the same conversati on, a bazooka was also menti oned.334  Analysts 
were cauti ous with the informati on received from monitoring Warrior com-
municati on.  The Warriors surely knew that they were being screened and 
conversati ons could be phoney as part of an overall disinformati on campaign.  
Another furti ve acti on of the Warriors was to handsomely pay non-Nati ves to 
smuggle weapons over the border.335  

Nevertheless, police presence conti nued to deter any escalati on of violence 
and patrols frequently uncovered caches of cigarett es, weapons and other 
contraband.  LEAs all cited the CF existence and support had a positi ve impact 
on their mandate.  In view of the LEA’s protracted commitment, they agreed 
that CF men and materials could be withdrawn completely, provided assis-
tance could be quickly redeployed.  Accordingly, as of 5 July, only three CF 
members remained: a liaison offi  cer and 2 members of 2 EW Sqn.  Equipment 
was reduced to three vehicles and one raft .336 

The involvement of the Canadian Forces in support of LEAs appeared to have 
a calming eff ect on the conditi on of Akwesasne.  The violence had subsided 
and for the CF, Operati on AKWESASNE was thought to be nearing completi on.  
However, the circumstances that transpired at Kanesatake and Kahnawake 
throughout the month of July prolonged CF interventi on at Akwesasne.  The 
negoti ati ons concerning the land dispute at Kanesatake were at a standsti ll.  
Neither side was willing to compromise their positi ons.  As Akwesasne was 
conti nuously monitored and patrolled by police forces, the Warriors slowly 
began to infi ltrate the peaceful Mohawk camp at Kanesatake.  Warriors and 
weapons began to appear behind the barricade in the Pines creati ng divisions 
between all elements in the Pines but also between the members and orga-
nizati ons in the community itself.  Frustrated by the Mohawk positi on, the 
Municipality of Oka secured court injuncti ons for the forceful removal of these 
Mohawk elements by the SQ, which had been closely observing the situati on; 
one that was heading towards confrontati on.   
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CHAPTER 11

Protest in the Pines at Kanesatake

Although CF involvement at Akwesasne was diminishing due to a decrease 
in overall violence, NDHQ was keeping a close watch on the events at Oka 
knowing that, “concerns about the situati on at Oka could make its way to Ak-
wesasne Reserve.”337  The environment at Oka was becoming increasingly hos-
ti le and negoti ati ons over the expansion of the golf course were fl oundering.  
With the advent of the Mohawk’s watch and picketi ng of the Pines beginning 
8 March, the relati onship between the Municipality of Oka and those Mo-
hawks who supported the acti on weakened.  The Regroupement des Citoyens 
d’Oka (RCO), which had protested the constructi on of the drug rehabilitati on 
facility, also began to protest the acti ons of the Mohawk.  In additi on, with 
the infl ux of Warriors and radical elements, the Pines were transformed into 
a defensive forti fi cati on.  

However, not all Mohawks agreed with the decisions of those protesti ng in 
the Pines and the fi shing shack was set ablaze in early April.  There were con-
ti nuous disagreements among the Kanesatake Mohawks over the course of 
acti on to be taken to protect the Pines and the Mohawk cemetery.  Thus far, 
no barricades had been erected and although weapons were at the camp, 
none were visible.  Dan Gaspé, Kanesatake band administrator from January 
to 9 March 1990 suggested in his evidence to the Standing Committ ee on 
Aboriginal Aff airs that, “On March 8, I co-chaired a meeti ng.  About 10 people 
decided that there would be an occupati on of the territory….  We tried to set 
some rules about how this project was going to go forward, we lost the argu-
ment as to whether or not arms were going to be used.”338  Having no offi  cial 
Warrior Society of its own and unfamiliar with confrontati onal tacti cs, these 
demonstrators sought advice from the leadership of the Kahnawake and Ak-
wesasne Warriors on how to best patrol, construct barricades and maintain 
surveillance on the Pines.  It appeared that certain members of the Kane-
satake community were prepared to use weapons to defend their land and 
agenda.

According to Ellen Gabriel, “The barricades didn’t start going up unti l the snow 
melted, maybe the end of March, the beginning of April, so that the non-
Nati ve people of Oka would understand that your Mayor is doing this to us, 
so we are not letti  ng you come through.  We are not holding this against you 
but this is the principle of the claim, we don’t want our trees to be cut so we 
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are only allowing our people to go through.”339 Although the exact date dif-
fers according to sources, during the ti me period menti oned, a barricade was 
erected blocking access to Chemin du Milieu, a dirt road heading north off  of 
Highway 344, running along the western boundary of the golf course.  Gabriel 
insists that it was not, “344, but on a dirt road that nobody uses, but they 
made an excuse that the ambulance needed to be able to go through, but it 
never went through because the road is so bumpy and they always use the 
highway or the paved roads.  There was a lot of propaganda going on against 
us.  The closing of the highway was aft er we were att acked on July 11th.”340 

Figure 3: Map of Oka.  The Oka Golf Club is marked by the gray (20) diamond.  The origi-
nal barricade was immediately to the left  at the juncti on of du Milieu and Highway 344.  
(Informati on touristi que d’Oka).
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On 26 April, the Superior Court of the district of St-Jérôme issued a provisional 
injuncti on as requested by the Municipality of Oka forbidding Mohawk dem-
onstrators from impeding the movement of any traffi  c, including the Chemin 
du Milieu, and from posti ng signs on neighbouring properti es.  Failure to com-
ply could result in forceful interventi on by the SQ.  The month of April had 
already seen members of the SQ in Kanesatake.  On 6 April, supporters of de-
horned Chief George Marti n occupied the Band Council offi  ce.  Acti ng Chief 
Clarence Simon called in the SQ, which forcibly removed the crowd.341   

The serving of the injuncti on changed the representati on of the Mohawks 
manning the barricades on the north and south entrances to the Pines along 
Chemin du Milieu.  During late April conti nuing into early May, the RCMP and 
SQ tracked the movements of many Warriors from Ganienkeh, Kahnawake 
and Akwesasne to Kanesatake.  Warriors from the three sister territories be-
gan to pour into Kanesatake armed with their support but also with truckloads 
of camping equipment, food, communicati on devices and weapons.  During 
this ti me period CF intelligence at Akwesasne noted that the Warriors were 
“conspicuous by their absence.”342  When asked if he saw the Warrior Society 
taking over the legiti mate land claim grievances at Kanesatake for their own 
interests, Harold Tarbell replied:

I see that happening. For example, this started over a land claim 
dispute in Oka, in Kanesatake, and I think every Indian and prob-
ably most of the people in North America agree with the Kane-
satake Mohawks on their land dispute.  But clearly with this 
promoti on of a trans-Mohawk agenda that’s coming forward 
about, for example, one of the demands in Kanesatake being 
the removal of the police from Akwesasne. It’s clear that some-
body else is promoti ng a diff erent agenda, and it’s clear that that 
agenda is beyond, I think, the desires of the Kanesatake people. 
I would encourage the Canadian federal government to acti vely 
engage in that process.  I think that it’s important that they do 
it, but if they do that and do that with the Warrior Society, they 
will in eff ect give the Warrior Society recogniti on as being the de 
facto Mohawk nati on….My view on this has always been that the 
Mohawk people…can win this situati on in Parliament, in court, 
in politi cal and public relati ons issues…I don’t think we gain with 
the long term philosophy that is promoted in our culture by force 
of arms or by having everything resolved at roadblocks.343   



Timothy C. Winegard

– 100 –

Since the Nati ves refused to co-operate and adhere to the injuncti on, on 
1 May the municipality asked a contractor to remove the barricades 
consisti ng of cement blocks, trees and other materials.  The SQ detachment 
in Oka was monitoring the situati on very closely and was ready to intervene if 
necessary.  On 1 May SQ patrol cars made frequent passes along Highway 344 
and a helicopter made routi ne passes over the area of the Pines.  On 2 May a 
planned SQ raid was called off  on the advice of Quebec Minister of Aff airs John 
Ciaccia.  The barricades remained.

On 2 May, representati ves of the municipal, provincial and federal govern-
ments met with the two rival Chiefs, Allan Gabriel (who had been the unof-
fi cial leader of the movement) and other Longhouse members at the Kanesat-
ake Longhouse roughly one kilometre northwest of the Pines.  According to 
Mayor Ouellett e:

The Indians raised issues that went beyond the questi on of the 
barricades and local territorial claims to include the vast issue of 
self-government for the Mohawks in Canada.  It should be said 
that the representati ves of the Department of Indian Aff airs and 
the Nati ve Aff airs Secretariat were duped by the radical nati ves 
and the Warriors, who had virtually carried out a coup d’état by 
neutralizing the Band Council and its Chief as well as the great 
majority of right-thinking Nati ves….They [Warriors] quickly real-
ized that with the co-operati on of the media, they could success-
fully destabilize the status quo so as to have a chance of achiev-
ing there objecti ves.344 

The talks were broken off  when two Mohawks riding an all-terrain vehicle 
(ATV) burst into the Longhouse claiming that they had witnessed police trucks 
dropping off  wooden boxes in a shed behind the clubhouse signalling a poten-
ti al police raid.  Although both negoti ati ng teams went to investi gate, nothing 
was ever found to substanti ate this claim.  Mayor Ouellett e and others later 
testi fi ed that this was a ploy by militant Mohawks to sabotage negoti ati ons.  
Aft erwards, roughly 100 Mohawk, including armed Warriors descended on 
the Pines.  Distress calls were made to the Warrior Societi es of Kahnawake 
and Akwesasne.  Although it was the wishes of the Clan Mothers to have the 
weapons remain hidden, many were visible to onlookers and the media.345 

Included in the crowd of onlookers were SQ personnel.  The rotati on of SQ 
members at Akwesasne in early May was perceived by the CF liaison elements, 
“as a step towards a future interventi on at Oka.  The troops used presently at 
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Akwesasne are trained members of the Unité d’urgence who would be used 
for any type of interventi on at Oka.  It is therefore logical to conclude that con-
crete plans are being made for a future interventi on.”  It was also addressed 
that any small incident at the two roadblocks could rapidly degenerate into 
a confl ict, “so the Quebec Provincial Police (SQ) is monitoring the situati on 
very closely.”346  The CF unit FMC Headquarters located in St-Hubert was also 
concerned with the prospect of violence at Oka and on 4 May requested, “air 
photos of the Oka and Kahnawake Indian Reserves for possible conti ngency 
plan…. This HQ considers that some disturbance might occur….”347 Canadian 
Forces conti ngency planning for Operati on SALON occurred much earlier than 
previously thought or recorded.

While negoti ati ons conti nued on the politi cal front with meeti ngs held on 7 
and 8 May, the Warriors and their supporters began digging trenches and for-
ti fi cati ons in preparati on for a raid.  Even though John Ciaccia had convinced 
Mayor Ouellett e to postpone the development of the golf course indefi nite-
ly, the Oka Town Council refused to endorse this idea unless the barricades 
were removed.348 The barricades remained. Mayor Ouellett e made a second 
request for SQ interventi on on the 7th.  Correspondence received from human 
intelligence sources revealed that 60-100 Warriors were conducti ng training 
at both Ganienkeh and Kahnawake.  This was confi rmed by both the SQ and 
the NYSP.349   

Although the Six Nati ons Traditi onal Hereditary Chiefs supported the picket-
ing of the Pines, those in the Pines began to distrust Chief Marti n and his 
non-Nati ve lawyer Jacques Lacaille.  They thought he was trying to usurp their 
role, even though they knew that the federal government recognized only 
this council as being legiti mate.  There was also growing discord between the 
members of the Longhouse.  Longhouse Chief Samson Gabriel had asked Allen 
Gabriel, Curti s Nelson and Marshall Nicholas to represent the Longhouse, in 
conjuncti on with Linda Cree, Ellen Gabriel and Debbie Éti enne.350   

However, on 14 June the women publicly severed their ti es from the other 
members of the Longhouse, citi ng the Great Law, believing that they were not 
being consulted on key decisions and meeti ngs: “Women shall be considered 
the progenitors of the Nati on.  They shall own the land and the soil.”  Although 
an uneasy peace was restored and an eff ort was made to adhere to decisions 
by consensus, this example demonstrates the divisions within the community 
despite the public façade of a “unifi ed front.”  Marshall Nicholas also began 
to remove himself from the situati on aft er weapons and armed confrontati on 
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entered the agenda.  The disparate groups within the Longhouse were the tra-
diti onalists and the moderates; those in favour of the principles of the Great 
Law and those who skewed them to promote their advantage and agenda.351   

There was a clear diff erence in opinion within the Longhouse over the criti cal 
issue of bearing arms.  While some occupants of the Pines supported the use 
of arms, Ellen Gabriel and others did not: 

We really felt like we were set up by people from our community, 
who knows maybe Kahnawake, but I know there was.  Allen Ga-
briel was working with the RCMP without our informati on.  He 
was one of three men that originally brought in weapons and 
shouted and decided that this is what they wanted.  We said we 
don’t want weapons here, take them out, take them out, and 
yet they walk around with their guns.  They had already created 
in the public sense that there were people there with weapons, 
when the perspecti ve of the group was no weapons.  He was one 
that we suspect helped set us up.  The Longhouse people stand 
in the way of the moderates and these moderates are now the 
ones that control the community….  There was someone work-
ing on the inside to set us up, to de-legiti mize our claims to the 
land.352 

By this ti me there were over 100 people in the Pines and cars bearing licence 
plates from various American states and Ontario.  With the atti  tudes of the 
Mohawks becoming more militant and with an increase in Warrior parti cipa-
ti on, Longhouse Chief Samson Gabriel, his wife Ida, Curti s Nelson and others 
left  the Pines.  Allen Gabriel claimed that it was never intended to become a 
Warrior acti on and denied any link to the presence of arms.  The departure of 
Chief Gabriel was signifi cant in that as leader of the Longhouse, this insti tuti on 
did not support the extremists’ concept of “stand and fi ght.”353  The confusion 
of politi cs within the Pines was clarifi ed by Ellen Gabriel:

Allen, Samson Gabriel and his son David, Curti s Nelson and some 
women who followed Samson, came to us in early July to say 
that we should bring the blockade down and that they disagreed 
with what was going on even though it was they who offi  cially 
invited the ‘Warriors’ and it was Marshall Nicholas, Curti s and 
Allen who encouraged and carried guns early on in the move-
ment.  The ‘People of the Pines’ were a group of people in the 
community of Kanesatake who decided that all members made 
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up of Longhouse and Christi an members would put away our dif-
ferences and that we would unite to fi ght the expansion of the 
golf course.  I include myself in this group. 

The remaining occupants described themselves as traditi onalists but were in 
eff ect acti ng contrary to the “be of one mind” principle of the Great Law.  The 
departure of those who brought in the weapons and Warriors, but now were 
seemingly opposed to the use of weapons, made it more diffi  cult for the re-
mainder to make unanimous decisions over the course of the Oka Crisis.  In 
fact, parti ally based on the fact that support from their own Longhouse Coun-
cil was withdrawn, the occupants gave themselves the name “The Longhouse 
People of the Pines,” creati ng further divisions within the politi cal community 
of Kanesatake.

Although there was disagreement among the Mohawk themselves about 
weapon use and armed resistance, negoti ati ons were sti ll taking place.  On 21 
June members of the Longhouse and the Band Council met with Tom Siddon 
in Ott awa.  The meeti ng did not go well.  Siddon concentrated on the unifi ca-
ti on proposal to grant the Mohawk a land base and Reserve at Kanesatake, the 
same proposal which had been rejected by the Mohawk in 1989.  In additi on, 
he focused his delivery on the Band Council representati ves and refused to ac-
knowledge the Longhouse People.  He, in keeping with government protocol, 
did not recognize them as the legiti mate voice of Kanesatake.  Had he negoti -
ated with them, he would have indirectly legiti mized their claims and those of 
the Warrior Society.  Aft er talks stalled, the Mohawks tabled their own agen-
da, the points of which all involved implicit assumpti ons of Mohawk Nati on 
sovereignty.  Again, Siddon, as a representati ve of the Canadian Government, 
would not endorse a sovereign Mohawk Nati on within Canada.  These refus-
als were taken as insults by the Longhouse Mohawks who left  Ott awa even 
more disillusioned about reaching an agreement.354    When asked if the gov-
ernment’s refusal to recognize and negoti ate with the Longhouse hindered a 
sett lement, Ellen Gabriel simply replied, “It hindered everything.”355

On 28 June Siddon met with Mayor Ouellett e and the Oka Town Council.  Sid-
don assured them that mediati on was sti ll possible and that he would never 
negoti ate with “terrorists” and that the Band Council was the only representa-
ti ve in his opinion.  His advice was not heeded as the following day, another 
injuncti on requested by the Municipality of Oka for the removal of the barri-
cades was granted by Judge Anthime Bergeron of the Quebec Superior Court 
in St-Jérôme.  While Bergeron described the situati on at Oka as anarchy, he 
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also advised the municipality against using his judgment as a means to pro-
mote the golf course expansion: “No golf project is valuable enough to neces-
sitate the wiping out of an important forest, especially in the context of the 
evidence I’ve heard.”356   

The injuncti on was served to Chief Marti n in the Band Council offi  ce.  How-
ever, he admitt ed that he was powerless to order the barricades down, even 
if he wanted to.  The Longhouse People did not recognize his authority and 
he refused to do the “dirty work” of the municipality.  Although Marti n made 
a feeble att empt to order the removal of the barricades, this was a gesture of 
lip-service to DIAND, as he knew full well that his voice would be ignored by 
the people of the Longhouse.357   

On 5 July, Sam Elkas, Quebec Minister of Public Security, issued public state-
ments that the injuncti on would be enforced warning the Mohawks to remove 
the barricades by 9 July (expiry date of the injuncti on) or face the possibility 
of an SQ interventi on.  On the expirati on day, John Ciaccia sent a lett er to 
Ouellett e to suspend the golf course constructi on indefi nitely to allow the bar-
ricades to be dismantled and negoti ati ons to resume.  Ciaccia argued that this 
parti cular situati on involved many more facets than strictly legal rights.  The 
Municipality of Oka interpreted this plea as evidence that Ciaccia had been 
infl uenced by the radical Mohawks.358   

On 10 July, The Oka Municipal Council requested the assistance of the Sûreté 
du Québec by addressing the Director-General of the SQ, Robert Lavigne:

We ask you…to put a stop to the various criminal acti viti es 
currently taking place on the Chemin du Milieu and to arrest 
the authors of the crimes so that we can proceed with the re-
establishing the recreati onal use of the occupied lands… but we 
will not be able to do so unti l you have restored public safety 
in the occupied territory.  We are counti ng on you to sett le the 
issue without further delay and without further requests from 
us.359 

Upon receiving this lett er, Lavigne sent a requisiti on for equipment to NDHQ/
FMC on 10 July.  This applicati on was not considered Aid to the Civil Power 
since it was limited to equipment and not CF personnel (save for vehicle driv-
ers).  According to Brigadier-General Armand Roy, Commander of 5 Canadian 
Mechanized Brigade Group (5 CMBG or 5 GBMC):
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[The] assistance was a technical one which means that we pro-
vided them with C-7 type weapons that the Sûreté du Québec 
did not possess and that they thought they would need to coun-
ter the arms that the Warriors had turned on to them.  We lent 
them some equipment that allowed them to see by night….  
We lent them bullet-proof jackets…and provided them with 18 
armoured vehicles…that were never used, but they were…in 
Longue-Pointe during the month of July, so that the Sûreté du 
Québec could use them if need be.360 

With these requests, it appeared that the SQ was ready to act.  

With increased numbers of Warriors and supporters in the Pines, the defen-
sive perimeter became more complex.  The strategic organizati on of the site 
relied on two barricades and fences along the north-south axis, strategically 
located surveillance posts along the east-west axis, a communicati ons post 
and rendezvous points (RV).  Along the north-south axis (from Highway 344 
and the intersecti ons of Chemin des Gabriel and the Chemin du Milieu) the 
only two passable approaches by vehicle were heavily barricaded and under 
constant surveillance.  Roughly 25m from the southern barricade a fence was 
built out of logs.361 

The defensive organizati on along the east-west axis of approach was less evi-
dent; however, it was no less developed.  The plan to guard this axis of advance 
was one pertaining to specifi c reference points and a functi onal defensive ar-
rangement from these locati ons for the purpose of observati on, resistance 
and retaliati on.  The Mohawks dubbed the western edge of the Pines “Flower 
Pot.”  A covered trail connected this point to the intersecti on of Chemin des 
Gabriel and Chemin du Milieu dubbed Sector 5 by the Mohawks.  Discreet 
movement along this trail “Ho Chi Minh” could be conducted.  Another fence 
was erected near the lacrosse fi eld to serve as an obstacle and observati on 
post (OP).  In the centre of the Pines were rendezvous locati ons called “AB” 
and “MP”.  At AB, a communicati on post (CP) was set up by Dennis Nicholas, 
nicknamed “Transformer.”  According to Mohawk testi mony, the radio system 
was used for communicati ons between Kanesatake and Kahnawake.  From 
this post, Warriors were also able to intercept SQ communicati ons.  Moreover, 
walkie-talkies were used to communicate between the respecti ve defensive 
positi ons.362 

Further to the east, a trench dubbed “China Beach” was dug in a tacti cally 
sound positi on to monitor the golf course.  Another trench at the extreme 
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right (east) of the Pines was constructed and given the name “Hell Hole.”  In 
additi on to the defensive forti fi cati ons menti oned, other trenches and low 
walls had been constructed using sand bags and logs.  It is quite evident that 
the Mohawks concerned had constructed a tacti cally competent defensive pe-
rimeter from “Sector 5” in the north to “Sector 4” in the south.  The Pines had 
been transformed into an armed fortress in anti cipati on of a police raid.363   On 
the night of the 10th, barbed wire was added to the perimeter and the number 
of masked Warriors increased.  To combat the wire, the SQ received 20 pairs 
of wire gloves and fi ve wire cutt ers from Force Mobile Command that same 
night.  Intelligence also revealed that on this night a large number of weapons 
were smuggled into the Pines disguised as a load of gravel.364 CF intelligence 
revealed that Warrior meeti ngs at Akwesasne and Kahnawake occurred simul-
taneously on the night of the 10th.365  According to testi mony and as stated by 
York and Pindera, the Mohawks had been ti pped off  that evening about the 
raid which came the next morning.366 

The Warrior infl uence had increased and those in the Pines were prepared to 
take a hard stance.  The stance taken by the Municipality of Oka was no less 
fi rm.  The SQ had been keeping close watch on the protest in the Pines and 
was being pushed to forcefully intervene through court injuncti ons.  The fi rst 
violent episode in the clash of cultures at Kanesatake took place on 11 July.    
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CHAPTER 12

The Sûreté du Québec Raid at Kanesatake

Shortly before 0530hrs on the morning of 11 July members of the SQ emer-
gency service unit and three SQ SWAT team groups (fi ve men each) assem-
bled at the edge of the Pines in order to conduct Operati on DORE 90-4.  They 
quickly realized that the occupants of the Pines were armed and proceeded to 
negoti ate, thus deviati ng from the planned interventi on mandate as was pre-
sented the day before.  However, the log book revealed that shots were heard 
around 0545hrs and were not fi red by SQ members.  Confusion prevailed as 
to who was speaking on behalf on the Mohawks; nevertheless, it was made 
clear that the occupants of the Pines were not prepared to leave and that they 
would remain past the SQ deadline to evacuate the premises.367 

At 0755hrs a message was received from Assistant Director General Lizott e 
for “interventi on with chemical irritants or otherwise as quickly as possible.”  
Two canisters of tear gas were fi red into the southern barricade in order to 
disperse the large crowd which had been amassing along the southern pe-
rimeter.  This process was mirrored at “Hell Hole.”  At 0847hrs, more gas was 
released along the southern barrier, in additi on to a stun grenade.  As SWAT 
teams entered the Pines, shots rang out at 0853hrs and a 20-24 second shoot-
out ensued during which an esti mated 93 rounds were expended (51 by the 
SWAT teams and 42 by the Mohawks).368 

There has been much debate concerning the events of 11 July.  Who fi red the 
fatal bullet that killed SQ Corporal Marcel Lemay?  Which side fi red the fi rst 
shot?  The coroner’s report was made public in 1995; hence, “facts” writt en 
in books prior to this date were pure speculati on.  There are two points worth 
menti oning.  The fi rst is that forensic experts and investi gators could not enter 
the Pines to conduct research unti l September 1990, as it was conti nuously 
occupied by the Mohawks unti l 3 September.  This no doubt hindered the 
eventual investi gati on.  Secondly, although policy, curiously, SQ radio trans-
missions were not recorded for the events of 11 July.  Nevertheless, the coro-
ner’s report is incredibly detailed and included 22,000 pages of stenographic 
notes from video and audio testi monies of journalists, witnesses and both 
SQ and Mohawk parti cipants, all under oath.  The shoot-out was in fact video 
taped by Guy Cote of CBC and recorded on three other audio devices.369 
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Based on the enti rety of the evidence coroner Guy Gilbert came to the follow-
ing conclusions:

1.  Corporal Lemay was struck by a 5.56mm (.223Rem.) full metal jack-
et projecti le equipped with a penetrator.  It was an American made 
round manufactured specifi cally for military purposes.

2.  The Mohawks in The Pines had armour piercing and tracer rounds 
confi rmed by forensics and audio tape: “I got armour piercers and 
tracers, can I whip at them?”

3.  On 11 July 1990, the SQ was not using such projecti les.

4.  Corporal Lemay could not have been struck by a round from mem-
bers of his own SWAT team or his own weapons (as the Mohawks 
claim).

5.  The pathology of the lesion caused at the point of entry excludes 
all possibility of a ricochet or a stray bullet (as Mohawks claim).

6.  Corporal Lemay was the victi m of an intenti onal shot fi red by some-
one who was aiming at him.

7.  The fatal shot was fi red from the weapons of one of four unidenti -
fi ed Mohawks located near the lacrosse fi eld.370 

Although nowhere in his report does Gilbert actually state who killed Lemay, 
the implicati ons are obvious.  Corporal Marcel Lemay was killed by a projecti le 
fi red from a weapon in possession of one of four Mohawks near the lacrosse 
fi eld, one of which can be heard on audio recording shouti ng, “We’ve got one, 
we’ve got one….”371  As no single shooter could be delineated, no charges were 
ever laid in connecti on with the shooti ng of Lemay who left  behind a wife and 
two daughters.  The report also revealed, “beyond a shadow of a doubt that 
the fi rst shot was fi red by the occupants [Mohawks],” at the request of War-
rior, Dennis “Psycho” Nicholas.372 Gilbert concluded in his report that, “it was a 
mistake to intervene on the morning of July 11, 1990.”373   In the words of a CF 
intelligence liaison to the SQ at the ti me, who wished not to be named, “The 
SQ raid turned into a comic opera farce.  It is one thing for a police SWAT team 
to corner a couple of punks in the corner grocery.  It is another thing to take 
on determined men who are fully armed and prepared to defend themselves.  
The Mohawks routed the police, there is no questi on.”374   
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The consequences of the raid were immediate and multi ple. By roughly 
0915hrs, the wind had changed directi on blowing the tear gas towards SQ 
lines as Corporal Lemay was being evacuated by ambulance.  The SQ unpre-
pared for and staggered by the violence and resistance, retreated down High-
way 344 to the village of Oka.  The Mohawks had commandeered three SQ pa-
trol cars.  The SQ front-end loader that had been brought up to dismantle the 
barricades was now being used to construct a barrier out of the abandoned 
SQ cruisers, logs and stones at the top of the hill along Highway 344. Two 
more barricades were hasti ly constructed.  One was erected on the western 
porti on of Highway 344 leading into Kanesatake and another at the northern 
entrance on Sainte-Germaine.  All three paved roads leading into Kanesatake 
were now under armed control of the Warriors and their supporters.375  The 
SQ responded by assembling barricades opposite those of the Mohawk.

Support for the defi ant acti on had also fi ltered into Kahnawake.  At 0545hrs, 
the Mercier Bridge, a vital lifeline connecti ng the suburbs of the south shore 
to Montreal, had been blocked at the intersecti on of Highways 132 and 138 
at the base of the bridge by Mohawk sympathizers.  The Mercier Bridge was 
the commuti ng link for over 60,000 vehicles per day, amounti ng to roughly 
200,000 passengers.376  According to parti cipant Cookie McComber, the acti on 
was done without the consent of the Kahnawake Warrior Society or the Band 
Council: “We did it on our own.  We fi gured on taking the bridge to protest the 
SQ att acks and tell them that they had to deal with us as well….”377   

Immediately aft er the raising of the initi al barricade, Warriors assembled barri-
ers at Highway 138 directly opposite the town of Chateauguay, at the southern 
entrance to the Reserve on Highway 221 and a third at the eastern entrance at 
Highway 132.  According to Kahnawake Warrior Society spokesperson Kenneth 
Deer: “There was no plan, no coordinati on….  We had to stand behind them, 
but we didn’t have any idea what it would mean.”378  Many residents of Kah-
nawake immediately challenged the Warriors acti ons and vocally condemned 
the operati ons.  These dissident voices were ignored and many revealed pub-
licly aft er the crisis that they had been threatened with their lives.379     

Although the radical Mohawk of Kahnawake claim that the barricades were 
a reacti on to the SQ raid at Kanesatake, there are considerable fl aws in this 
explanati on.  The most striking is that SQ interventi on at Kanesatake did not 
begin unti l 0755-0800hrs.  The original barricade blocking the Mercier Bridge 
occurred at or shortly before 0545hrs.  News stati ons were reporti ng this in-
cident as early as 0600hrs.380 In additi on, there were direct communicati on 
links open between those in the Pines and their supporters at Kahnawake, 
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including the Warriors.  Lastly, by all accounts the occupants of the Pines knew 
of and expected the SQ raid on 11 July and that negoti ati ons in the early morn-
ing of the 11th had been hindered and delayed for as long as possible.  Given 
this informati on, the seizure of the bridge was not a reacti on to the events of 
11 July.  Rather, it was a stratagem and an acti on designed to support Kane-
satake, while providing more negoti ati on leverage through the importance of 
the bridge itself. 

Inexorably, these acti ons aff ected the already tumultuous state at Akwesasne.    
Intelligence from 2 EW Sqn elements sti ll present in Akwesasne revealed that, 
“Akwesasne Reserve is being used as a rear supply/support base for acti viti es 
taking place on other Reserves. There is evidence of communicati on between 
Oka and Akwesasne.  Informati on is passed on and assistance is requested.”  
In additi on, it was noted that a “deliberate yet disorganized psyops campaign 
is being waged against authoriti es.”381 

Warrior acti vity increased immediately aft er the raid.  A meeti ng was held at 
the residence of War Chief Francis Boots at 0930hrs on 11 July.  Threats were 
made about occupying the Internati onal Bridge.  Warriors were observed 
purchasing large amounts of canned goods in Cornwall and eight VHF marine 
radios in Messena, New York.  Two cars driven by Akwesasne residents were 
stopped near Kahnawake carrying hundreds of pounds of food.  Gunfi re and 
protests occurred throughout the week following the SQ raid on Kanesatake.  
In additi on to supplies, Warriors from Akwesasne were routi nely observed 
travelling to and from Kahnawake and Oka.  As a precauti onary measure and 
due to increased movements within and from Akwesasne, CF commitment 
to Operati on AKWESASNE was increased in both men and material in order 
to facilitate the evacuati on of LEA personnel if necessary.  The extracti on was 
dubbed Operati on CROSSBELT.382  However, the focus of Warrior acti vity had 
shift ed from police patrolled Akwesasne to its sister Reserves near Montreal. 

The eff ects of the July raid went well beyond the Kahnawake blockades and 
a potenti al escalati on at Akwesasne where CF numbers fl uctuated between 
15-25 in support of LEAs.  For those Mohawks who believed in the use of force 
to promote their agendas, it united them in resistance, but also fuelled the 
belief that the governments would if necessary use excessive force to end the 
standoff , especially since Lemay had been killed.  CF intelligence revealed that, 
“There was a lot of resistance to the Warriors within the Mohawk Nati on, and 
they needed some kind of catalyst to get the support they did get and were 
able to hold on to for a certain period.  11 July was that catalyst.  We had 
found evidence that the closure of the bridge was already planned and 11 July 
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hastened it or was the perfect excuse.”383  The raid helped the Warrior Society 
garner support for, and promote, its revoluti onary doctrine.  

The intenti on of the governments was not to show signs of weakness or al-
low the insurgency to remain or spread to other Nati ve groups in Canada.  
Even more eye opening for the government negoti ators, who had already at-
tempted to diff use the situati on, was the realizati on that the Oka Crisis could 
result in serious bloodshed if confrontati onal tacti cs were solely adhered to.384 

For the moment, it appeared that the fi rst acti on was to seal off  Kanesatake 
and Kahnawake and hope negoti ati ons could produce a peaceful soluti on.  

The failure of the 11 July SQ raid was a victory for the Mohawks involved and 
hardened their stance against government incursion onto Mohawk territory.  
It sti mulated a renewal of violence at Akwesasne and spawned resistance at 
Kahnawake in the form of barricades.  More importantly for the Mohawks it 
brought their concerns over the land claim at Kanesatake to the forefront of 
media considerati on.  Canadian and internati onal media began to report on 
the protracted confl ict over the Pines. In actuality, apart from the meeti ngs at 
Oka, nati onal negoti ati ons and contenti on between the federal and provincial 
governments and Nati ve groups had been at the forefront of federal politi cs 
and media coverage throughout the spring and summer of 1990 in the form 
of the Meech Lake Accord.
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CHAPTER 13

The Meech Lake Accord and Elijah Harper 

Shortly before Oka received nati onal media att enti on, Canada’s Indigenous 
peoples were receiving noti ce across the country within the context of the 
Meech Lake Accord.  The new atti  tude and innovati ve tacti cs of the Nati ve 
movement were illustrated in the spring of 1990 during the Meech Lake con-
sti tuti onal negoti ati ons. This consti tuti onal document signed by Prime Min-
ister Brian Mulroney and ten Provincial Premiers in 1987, perpetuated the 
nati onal myth that Canada had two founding cultures—French and English—
and promulgated undefi ned “disti nct-society” status for Quebec.  Nati ve lead-
ers viewed this as another indicati on of the federal government’s conti nuous 
refusal to address the concerns of Aboriginal Canadians and were adamantly 
opposed the principles of the Accord.  Nati ve leaders were also worried that 
Quebec could use its “disti nct-society” clause as a guise to override Nati ve 
rights within that Province.385     

The three-year period for fi nal approval of the Accord had dwindled down to a 
few precious days in June 1990, the Provincial Governments of Manitoba and 
Newfoundland had not yet voted on a decision.386   However, the Accord could 
only pass the Manitoba Provincial Legislature if it had the unanimous approval 
of its members.  One member of the Manitoba Legislati ve Assembly was not 
prepared to endorse.  Elijah Harper, a member from the riding of Rupertsland 
in northern Manitoba and a former Chief of the Ojibwa-Cree community of 
Red Sucker Lake was an obscure member when the controversy began.  How-
ever, he became the spokesperson for all Nati ve Canadians as the negoti ati ons 
progressed.  Armed with only an eagle feather and the staunch support of 
Nati ve Chiefs, Harper quietly shook his head every ti me the council asked for 
undisputed consent to introduce the Accord into the legislature.  

The Meech Lake Accord collapsed in the face of one man who instantly became 
a nati onal hero to the Aboriginal populati on of Canada.387  Harper later said 
that, “We blocked the accord because it posed a threat to aboriginal people.  
Aboriginal people have no quarrel with Quebec.  But we are a disti nct society 
too, and we’ve fought for many years for the basic rights that Quebec takes for 
granted, such as parti cipati ng in consti tuti onal talks.”388  The death of Meech 
Lake was hailed as a major victory by Aboriginal Canadians and strengthened 
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their unity and militancy.  Harper and his dismissal of the Accord laid the 
foundati on for the nati onal support the Oka Mohawks would receive from 
Nati ve Canadians throughout the summer of 1990.  Phil Fontaine, leader of 
the Manitoba Chiefs remarked that, “Harper represents the collecti ve will of 
the Indian peoples of Manitoba and Canada…There is greater unity among us 
since Meech Lake.”389

The Nati ve oppositi on to the Accord represented resounding frustrati on and 
anger over a neglectf ul governmental policy toward Nati ve rights.  This frus-
trati on would manifest into violence in Quebec but also in and around Nati ve 
communiti es throughout Canada shortly thereaft er.  Ovide Mercredi com-
mented on this scenario:  “Had our issues been dealt with then, we would 
not have seen the defeat of the Meech Lake Accord and we would not fi nd 
ourselves in the positi on we are in now with the Province of Quebec.”390  Less 
than one month aft er the quashing of Meech Lake, the world would again be 
reminded of Canada’s unsett led business.  In turn, the Oka Mohawks used the 
internati onal coverage which Meech Lake att racted, to bring the same global 
coverage to their own plight.

With Harper and Meech Lake already att racti ng journalisti c considerati on to 
Nati ve rights in Canada, the violence and barricades of 11 July only intensi-
fi ed media interest.  The earlier events at Akwesasne and Ganienkeh received 
litt le press att enti on outside of local media publicati ons.  The Oka Crisis did 
not dominate the Canadian and internati onal media unti l aft er the 11 July 
shootout with the SQ.391  As the SQ conti nued to ti ghten the perimeter around 
Kanesatake and Kahnawake the media presence intensifi ed.  Pressure on the 
Province of Quebec to end the standoff  and reopen major traffi  c routes in-
cluding the Mercier Bridge also escalated.  
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CHAPTER 14

The Cordoning of Kanesatake 
and Kahnawake

Following the events of 11 July, the SQ quickly sealed off  both Kanesatake and 
Kahnawake by erecti ng their own barricades.  Checkpoints for both cars and 
pedestrians were maintained on a 24-hour basis to ensure no contraband and 
weapons were entering to resupply the armed Mohawks.  As menti oned, the 
SQ had already secured CF resources from the 10 July request.  These 37 ve-
hicles, 151 personnel, 113 C-7s (22,000 rounds 5.56mm), NVGs, vests and hel-
mets from the 3rd Batt alion, Royal 22e Régiment (3 R22eR) arrived at Longue-
Pointe on 12 July, under command of Lieutenant-Colonel Robin Gagnon.  His 
superior was Lieutenant-General Kent Foster, commander of Eastern Region 
and also commander of FMC.  At the same ti me, 515 RCMP offi  cers were in-
volved with operati ons in Mohawk territories and the SIU was rigorously, yet 
secretly, taking pictures of Mohawk defensive positi ons on all three Reserves.  
A CF liaison offi  cer was immediately dispatched to plan for joint operati ons 
with the SQ and RCMP.392 

On 19 July most of the equipment and personnel, save for 25 soldiers, were 
withdrawn to CFB Valcarti er and placed on 4 hours NTM.  That same morning 
elements of 2 EW Sqn and 1 Int Coy arrived at CFB Montreal to begin com-
piling an intelligence portf olio for Kanesatake and Kahnawake in support of 
Operati on SALON.  With another 2 EW Sqn/1 Int Coy post sti ll involved at Ak-
wesasne, a complete representati on of Warrior movements and communica-
ti ons could be obtained and shared.  Later that day, Lieutenant-General Kent 
Foster, commander of Force Mobile Command, met with Brigadier-General 
Armand Roy, commander of 5 CMBG, to discuss conti ngency plans for future 
operati ons.393    

The SQ established and maintained a perimeter around both Kanesatake and 
Kahnawake.  In the course of isolati ng both territories, the SQ came under 
scruti ny for allegedly denying the entrance of food stuff s, clothing and medi-
cines.  The Canadian Red Cross had analysts and medical teams on the ground 
in both Kanesatake and Kahnawake by 17 July.  The fi rst Red Cross report from 
23 July states that there were “major gaps in certain basic food groups and 
sanitary arti cles” at Kanesatake.  At Kahnawake, the food banks, commercial 
stores and the Kateri Hospital were all found to have adequate resources.394
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Interesti ngly, Francine Chartrand, Director General of the Quebec Division, 
wrote to Grand Chief George Marti n at Kanesatake complaining that the Red 
Cross offi  ce had been contacted by at least fi ve other individuals claiming to 
be the spokesperson for the Mohawks: “We have also been told that Ellen 
Gabriel has been identi fi ed as the spokesperson for the Mohawk Warriors So-
ciety.  We would appreciate your assistance in identi fying the respecti ve roles 
of these parti es…should we need to enter into discussions…we will know who 
will be the spokesperson(s) for the nati ve community.”395  The Red Cross, like 
governmental negoti ati ng teams, was also at a loss to identi fy a clear structure 
and voice within the Mohawk Nati on. 

In additi on to the Red Cross, the Commission des droits de la personne du 
Québec had representati ves behind the barricades at Kanesatake as of 5 July. 
However, the Commission states that it had “been following the situati on in 
the region since 1986.”  The Commission’s fi ndings outline numerous exam-
ples of Mohawks citi ng incidents of racial slurs and allegati ons of the denial 
of the entrance of food and other materials while the SQ was monitoring the 
perimeters.396 However, the commission also received numerous calls from 
Chateauguay residents upset by the closure of the Mercier Bridge which they 
deemed to be a violati on of their human rights.  Two-hundred such calls were 
received on 25 July alone.397 

The situati ons at Chateauguay and Sainte-Cathérine were becoming volati le.  
Residents upset by the long commute, due to the closure of the bridge, began 
to gather at the barricades and protest against the Warriors by taunti ng and 
jeering.  Throughout July and into early August, nightly riots broke out be-
tween angry residents, supremacy groups, including members of the Ku Klux 
Klan, and the SQ.  On numerous occasions, the SQ were pelted with bricks, 
rocks, bott les and vegetables, in additi on to the odd Molotov Cocktail.  They 
responded with tear gas and clubs, donning full riot gear.398 Although no one 
was seriously injured in these frequent exchanges, the racial tension was obvi-
ous to all. During one such riot, a Mohawk effi  gy was hung from a traffi  c light 
and burned.   The validity of the Warrior’s claims was only strengthened in 
the eye of the public by the louti sh behaviour of a minority of hate-mongers.  
In relati on, the acti ons of the SQ and the decisions of the Quebec Provincial 
Legislature were coming into questi on.

The tacti c by the SQ of using limited resupply was overcome with great de-
terminati on on the part of all supporters of the Mohawk.  Food and water 
were smuggled in using a variety of diff erent techniques.  Women and men 
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walked through the bush at night to deliver parcels.  Nati ve and non-Nati ve 
supporters dropped off  care packages at the barricades.  Vehicles smuggled 
in supplies, the drivers hiding goods in various places in their automobiles, 
to avoid detecti on at SQ checkpoints.  Red Cross and Salvati on Army workers 
transporti ng supplies in trucks pleaded with the offi  cers and were allowed to 
deliver their goods.399 

The “Mohawk Navy” operati ng in small craft s would venture out at night 
amidst police patrol boats and ferry provisions from Hudson, on the south 
shore.  They knew the shoals and rocky coves and safely navigated around 
them delivering much needed supplies.  The Six Nati ons Reserve also secretly 
sent two boatloads of camping equipment.400   Even the leader of the New 
Democrati c Party, Audrey McLaughlin came to Oka with a boat load of food-
stuff s:401  According to the Director of the Kateri Hospital at Kahnawake: “We 
have been getti  ng food by boats….  Most of us are stunned that this could 
happen in this day and age.  I used to think Canada was a good country, now it 
is no bett er than South Africa.”402   John Ciaccia agreed, later admitti  ng that, “I 
sti ll could not believe that an agency of the government, the SQ, would actu-
ally att empt to starve an enti re community into submission, and refuse them 
medical necessiti es…the world was watching.”403  Furthermore, the Mohawks 
even obtained permission from Ciaccia’s son to use the family dock at Dorval 
as a landing site for boats traffi  cking food, medical supplies and aid workers to 
Kahnawake: “I didn’t want politi cs to rob him of his ideals.  I didn’t have the 
heart to say no.  ‘You’re doing the right thing,’ I told him.”404   

Although tension undoubtedly increased aft er the 11 July raid and the ensu-
ing barricades, negoti ati on was sti ll seen as a viable soluti on.  On 12 July, John 
Ciaccia was sent to Kanesatake.  He assured the Nati ve community that there 
would be no more police att acks as long as the lines of negoti ati on remained 
a possibility.  On the following day, he again met with members of the Warrior 
Society led by Loran Thompson and appointed spokesperson for the Mohawk 
at Kanesatake, Ellen Gabriel.  The Mohawks demanded amnesty in the death 
of Corporal Lemay and refused to negoti ate so long as the heavy police pres-
ence remained.405   

The radical elements at Kahnawake refused to open the bridge unti l the situ-
ati on at Kanesatake was resolved.  The bridge was seen as the top bargaining 
chip.  Throughout July, talks stalled as demands were rejected by both sides. 
Though DIAND had been asked to intervene, Tom Siddon believed that federal 
mediati on would only complicate the matt er.  However, by the end of July, the 
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Mohawks demanded that negoti ati ons only take place between the Mohawk 
Nati on as a sovereign enti ty and the federal government as outlined in the 
Proclamati on Act.406 

By 24 July a politi cal framework had been developed at both the provincial 
and federal levels.  Both were based on a three ti ered approach.  Tier one for 
the province of Quebec (Cabinet Crisis Committ ee) was primarily made up of 
Sam Elkas, Minister of Public Safety and Security, Chairman Claude Ryan, and 
John Ciaccia, Minister of Nati ve Aff airs.  The second ti er was headed by Alex 
Patt erson, chief Provincial negoti ator.  Lastly, the third rung within Quebec 
was the tacti cal level, involving the SQ director, Robert Lavigne.407 

The hierarchy of the federal government was headed by an Ad Hoc Minis-
terial Committ ee.  Its membership refl ected the responsibiliti es of the 
Ministers most directly concerned with the crisis: Tom Siddon (Indian and 
Northern Aff airs), Kim Campbell (Justi ce), Bill McKnight (Defence), the 
Solicitor-General Pierre Cadieux, and in the Chair, Deputy Prime Minister Don 
Mazankowski.  The second level was invariably connected to the fi rst and con-
sisted of the Privy Council Offi  ce, the Prime Minister’s Offi  ce and head nego-
ti ator Bernard Roy.  Lastly, the administrati ve level rested with the RCMP and 
DND which was required to call federal level one at 1100hrs daily for updates 
on policy and operati ons and again at 1400hrs daily for communicati on/public 
informati on matt ers.408 

The fi rst meeti ng of the federal level one committ ee took place on 24 July.  It 
concluded that the fi rst order of stratagem was to brief all foreign embassies 
in Ott awa to get the “internati onal word out,” as well as communicati ng with 
the United Nati ons Committ ee on Indigenous Populati on in Geneva. The oc-
currence of informati on leaks was also addressed, urging all levels to treat 
informati on as “very sensiti ve.”  There was confi rmati on from CF and RCMP 
intelligence sources that an unidenti fi ed mole existed within the circles of Ot-
tawa.  On 27 July, the fi rst federal Cabinet meeti ng took place, the details of 
which are sti ll classifi ed.409 

By 25 July, DIAND was in fi nal negoti ati ons in a bid to buy the private land 
from Mr. Rousseau and the Municipality of Oka.  Although Mr. Rousseau who 
owned most of the land in questi on agreed, the municipality tabled a counter 
off er that was judged to be too high by governmental representati ves.  The 
following day DIAND submitt ed a subsequent counter off er.  Rousseau, who 
had been fl own to Ott awa from France, sold 18 hectares of land for $70,000 
to the town of Oka as had been previously arranged.  DIAND then purchased 
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the remaining land in his possession (12 hectares), which was to be used for 
the condominium development, for an infl ated $1.44 million.  Mayor Ouel-
lett e and the town of Oka were off ered $1.34 million for the remaining 28 
hectares (including the land it had just purchased from Rousseau) by DIAND. 
This off er was rejected on 31 July aft er a town council meeti ng.  In early Au-
gust, DIAND made it very clear that the land would be expropriated if a deal 
was not reached in the near future.  On 8 August, the town council begrudg-
ingly accepted a deal for the land worth $3.84 million, including $2.5 million in 
compensati on for foregone taxes and lost revenue from the expansion of the 
golf course.  The ti ny Mohawk cemetery directly west of the parking lot was 
also purchased for one dollar.410  

The purchase of land did not placate the Kanesatake Mohawk.  They insisted 
that it was rightf ully their land and it was impossible for the government to 
purchase land that already belonged to the Mohawk Nati on.  Negoti ati ons 
were suspended on 27 July and the barricades remained.  While the arrange-
ments for the purchase of the land were being sett led in early August, the SQ 
was realizing that the situati on at Kahnawake and Kanesatake was more than 
they could handle.  With rumours of the sophisti cated Mohawk weapon arse-
nal, the SQ could not and was not trained to counter such resistance.411 

In light of failed negoti ati ons and the presence of barriers, the SQ advised the 
provincial government that it did not have the resources necessary to achieve 
the forcible dismantling of the barricades, given the weapons visibly available 
to the Warriors, and the muscle of the forti fi ed defensive positi ons which they 
had developed.  According to General John de Chastelain, Chief of the Defence 
Staff , “In this assessment they were supported by the RCMP.”412

The events leading to the deployment of the Canadian Forces at Kanesatake 
and Kahnawake were numerous.  The failed SQ raid of 11 July strengthened 
Mohawk resolve to resist forceful att empts to remove them from the Pines.  
Not only did they maintain a presence in the Pines, Kanesatake and Kahnawake 
had been transformed into forti fi ed positi ons.  Secondly, the long-standing 
animosity between the Mohawk populati on and the SQ, made worse by the 
alleged denial of foodstuff s, would be a severe detriment if another SQ opera-
ti on was undertaken.  Moreover, the SQ did not possess the fi repower needed 
to confront the Warriors if a fi refi ght resulted from any further encroachment 
onto Mohawk land or any att empt to remove the barricades by force.  Hence, 
the employment of the Canadian Forces to terminate the standoff  was seen 
by the Government of Quebec as the court of last resort.  
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PART III
The Clash of Cultures

With the erecti on of barricades at Kahnawake and the violence in 
the communiti es surrounding the Reserve, the Province of Que-
bec was forced to act.  The SQ had been accused of human rights 

violati ons and unnecessary aggression and provocati on.  With the ingress of 
more Warriors and highly sophisti cated weapons behind the barricades at 
Kahnawake and Kanesatake, the SQ was in no positi on to att empt another op-
erati on.   The already unstable situati on was made worse by an accumulati ng 
presence of media and non-governmental organizati ons.  The scenes of Oka 
were being broadcast nati onally and internati onally.

The Province of Quebec needed to act and fi nd a way to end the crisis.  Ac-
cordingly, a request for Aid to the Civil Power was submitt ed to the Chief of 
the Defence Staff  for assistance in ending the standoff .  Although CF elements 
were sti ll acti ve in Akwesasne, the mission at Kanesatake and Kahnawake was 
more extensive and precarious.  There was jurisdicti onal confusion between 
the levels of government, law enforcement agencies and the CF.  Military op-
erati ons were limited by an absence of rules of engagement (ROEs) and the 
inability to use force against Mohawk positi ons.  In additi on, the conti nual 
negoti ati ons between Mohawk representati ves and all levels of the federal 
and provincial governments curbed what the CF wanted to show as an initi al 
strong show of force and its psychological impact upon deployment.

As the crisis wore on, and with CF initi ati ve hampered by negoti ati ons and 
jurisdicti onal confusion, the radical remnants of the dwindling collecti ve of 
Mohawk supporters were content to remain behind the reduced perimeters, 
conti nuing to draw media att enti on to their plight.  They bought ti me by con-
ti nuously changing their demands and agenda, the most stubborn of which 
was that they would not lay down their weapons unless they were given crimi-
nal amnesty.  They also insisted that the Mohawk Nati on be given sovereignty.  
Neither demand was acceptable to the federal government.

In att empts to end the crisis, reopen traffi  c routes and reintroduce an en-
vironment of security to the areas, the CF thought it necessary to conduct 
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numerous operati ons and raids with varying degrees of success and instances 
of violent repercussions.  Yet in doing so, the CF, most notably at Kahnawake, 
in a sense replaced the civil authority.  2 RCR and 3 R22eR found themselves 
performing the role of a police force by having to conduct crowd control op-
erati ons and cordon and searches. The CF was not equipped or trained for 
such tasks.  Nonetheless, the 4,500 soldiers deployed in Operati on SALON 
under Aid to the Civil Power ended the crisis without any further loss of life.  
However, the clash of cultures did not end with the conclusion of the 
Oka Crisis.      
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CHAPTER 15

Operation SALON

The Province of Quebec invoked Part XI of the Nati onal Defence Act on 6 Au-
gust.  Sam Elkas, acti ng as Att orney-General, issued a requisiti on for the as-
sistance of the CF in Aid to the Civil Power to, “repress the troubles which 
subsist at this moment in Oka and Kahnawake to secure the protecti on of 
works, public and private, which are essenti al to the general welfare and to 
the security of the populati on of Quebec.”413  The offi  cial writt en demand was 
received the following day by the VCDS, Vice-Admiral C.M. Thomas, as Gen-
eral de Chastelain, the CDS, was in Russia.  The VCDS immediately informed 
FMC commander, Lieutenant-General Kent Foster, to identi fy the CF alloca-
ti ons needed for this task. 

FMC had previously been tasked to maintain three batt alion-sized units (600 
personnel each) on 12 hours noti ce to respond to any defence or civil emer-
gency.  Each of these units maintained a company-sized (100 personnel) sub-
unit on eight hours noti ce as a vanguard or advance force.  Thus in an emer-
gency, FMC could quickly muster 1,800 personnel for tasks within Canada.  In 
extreme emergency, it had been designed for 5,000 personnel to be commit-
ted if required.  Air, mariti me and other CF resources had similar frameworks 
in place.414 On 8 August, Foster met with Premier Robert Bourassa to discuss 
possible approaches and to ensure that the Premier was aware of the extent 
of the operati onal capabiliti es of the CF.  Bourassa was fully cognizant of the 
CF’s role and abiliti es.  Aft er all, he had requested Aid to the Civil Power for the 
FLQ Crisis in 1970.415   

The following day, Foster, in consultati on with Brigadier-General Armand Roy, 
issued orders to begin the preliminary stages of batt le procedure to include 
briefi ngs, reconnaissance, and the establishment of liaisons with all cells of 
the SQ and RCMP currently deployed.  He also authorized the use of Primary 
Reserve personnel within the CF.  Lastly, all individuals of 5 CMBG were re-
called from leave to begin unit briefi ngs, training and full scale rehearsals with 
the strategic mission to:

1.  Remove all barricades in the aff ected areas;

2.  Restore freedom of movement on all roads and bridges;
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3.  Remove all strong points;

4.  Restore normal conditi ons of public order and security.416 

For his part, the VCDS sat in on daily meeti ngs with the Privy Council Offi  ce 
and the Prime Minister’s Offi  ce from 6-10 August unti l de Chastelain’s home-
coming.417

Upon his early return from Leningrad, the CDS was given a private briefi ng by 
Foster at 1300hrs on 10 August.  Later that night a special briefi ng was given 
by Foster to a larger audience.  In att endance at this meeti ng were 21 offi  cers 
representi ng the highest appointments in the CF, in additi on to the Deputy 
Minister of Nati onal Defence, Mr. R.R. Fowler.  Foster briefed his audience on 
the situati on and his analysis of the requirements.  Planning was deduced for 
a maximum 30-day operati on.418   

The CF chain of command for what they termed Operati on SALON was as fol-
lows:  The Chief of the Defence Staff , General John de Chastelain, was the 
strategic commander.  His immediate subordinate and operati onal command-
er was Lieutenant-General Kent Foster, commander of Eastern Region and 
also Force Mobile Command.  Brigadier-General Armand Roy, commander of 
5 CMBG, was charged to carry out the tacti cal scenario.419 Once assigned this 
role, one of Brigadier-General Roy’s fi rst acti ons was to talk to the equiva-
lent commander during the 1970 FLQ Crisis to obtain the lessons learned 
from those operati ons and, where relevant, apply them directly to Operati on 
SALON.420 

During the 10 August meeti ng, the politi cal/military fellowships were also 
generated.  For the CDS, his politi cal counterpart was Premier Bourassa, al-
though it was specifi cally stated that Foster would maintain contact on his 
behalf.  De Chastelain himself was to sit in on Cabinet meeti ngs and the as-
semblies of the Privy Council Offi  ce and the Prime Minister’s Offi  ce.  This cir-
cumvented the traditi onal Aid to the Civil Power relati onship whereby the CDS 
was under the chain of command of the Att orney-General of the province, in 
this case Sam Elkas. Although acti ng as the medium between Bourassa and de 
Chastelain, Lieutenant-General Foster’s politi cal contact was Sam Elkas. At the 
tacti cal level Brigadier-General Roy’s equivalent was Robert Lavigne, Director 
of the SQ.421 

On 8 August, Prime Minister Brian Mulroney publicly announced that he 
had personally appointed Alan Gold, Chief Justi ce of the Superior Court of 
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Quebec, as the federal negoti ator and mediator between all parti es concerned.  
Mulroney also made reference to the possible interventi on of the CF.  Chief 
Justi ce Gold was to liaise with both de Chastelain and Foster, as the events 
which transpired during negoti ati ons would have direct infl uence on military 
operati ons.422 This was reiterated to the public in the fi rst CF press conference 
held by Lieutenant-General Foster on 9 August: “The army’s deployment is 
conti ngent upon the state of negoti ati ons between Chief Justi ce Alan Gold and 
the Mohawk negoti ators...  If Mr. Gold would feel that the military presence 
would be necessary to help…we would immediately respond.”423 

On the evening of 10 August, de Chastelain spoke with Premier Bourassa.  As 
Foster had done two days earlier, the CDS confi rmed that the Premier was 
aware of the tasks at hand, the acti ons the CF was prepared to take to accom-
plish this mission and the politi cal ramifi cati ons inherent to IS deployments: 

I have instructed General Foster to commence his acti ons with 
an open and frank discussion with the Mohawk leadership of his 
plan to restore normalcy.  This is to be followed by the interposi-
ti on of the Canadian Forces between the SQ and the Mohawks 
and, hopefully, the peaceful dismantling of all barricades and as-
sociated strong points.  The fi nal stage will see…the restorati on 
of a normal, peaceful state.  Each stage will be preceded, as nec-
essary, with public statements of our intenti ons...  Once the Ca-
nadian Forces have declared publicly the intenti on, for example, 
to dismantle the barricades, precisely that will be done—with 
or without the agreement of the Mohawks…..  Accompanying 
this authorizati on will be fi rm instructi ons that the use of these 
weapons…will be the minimum necessary and will be used only 
in the event that the Mohawks open fi re on my troops fi rst.424  

Although in principle, the CF commanders were constructi ng their concept of 
operati ons, deployment of their forces to the actual areas of operati on was 
not yet solidifi ed.  On 12 August, Justi ce Gold met with Foster and, as a result, 
the restricti on on military deployment was maintained.  The same day, both 
Foster and Roy met with Premier Bourassa, who agreed that if CF interventi on 
was required, the inter-positi on opti on was the best approach.425   

Prior to the dialogue with Foster, Justi ce Gold had met with Mohawk nego-
ti ators on 10 August under a media blackout.  Both sides appeared pleased 
with the discussions. The Mohawks contented that by extension of Gold, the 
federal government was involved in the eff orts to end the standoff  with the 
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Mohawk Nati on on a nati on to nati on basis.  However, the Mohawk represen-
tati ves were displeased by the apparent connecti on between Gold and the CF.  
He had the ability to empower military interventi on if he deemed the negoti a-
ti ons futi le.  This was seen as a furti ve threat by the Mohawks not to disagree 
or argue with him.    

On 12 August, the situati on appeared to be nearing an end. Tom Siddon, 
Alan Gold and John Ciaccia met with Ellen Gabriel and other negoti ators, in 
the Pines, to sign a three point preconditi on agreement to expedite nego-
ti ati ons for a peaceful resoluti on.  The government negoti ators conceded to 
the Mohawk demands that unhindered passage of food, medicine and other 
essenti al materials take place at Kahnawake and Kanesatake.  Secondly, that 
spiritual and legal advisors have free passage through the barricades. Finally, 
the Mohawks proposed that an internati onal observer force made up of non-
Canadians be present as created by the Paris based Internati onal Federati on 
of Human Rights. These observers arrived at both locati ons on 15 August. 
Mohawk representati ves from each territory (Akwesasne, Kahnawake, and 
Kanesatake) were to sign the documents.  Among the onlookers were many 
unarmed, masked Warriors.426 

While the documents were being signed, a masked Warrior unexpectedly 
sat down and proceeded to sign his traditi onal Mohawk name on behalf of 
Akwesasne.  Although Loran Thompson was present, 17-year-old Akwesasne 
Warrior “4-20” signed on behalf of his Reserve.  Aft er the ceremony, “4-20” 
handed a properly folded Warrior fl ag to Alan Gold.427  According to Ellen 
Gabriel, someone, who was never identi fi ed, wanted to make a point to show 
Canada that they had to legiti mize the Warrior Society: “The presence of the 
masked Warrior, that didn’t help us, but that was not our intenti on either.  
We had our elder there and he was signing for us.”  She also sti ll maintains 
that someone on the inside was purposely trying to sabotage negoti ati ons.428  
Furthermore, there was also division within the Mohawk communiti es as to 
who had the right to sign on their behalf.

As a result of the ceremony, roughly 2,000 angry residents of Chateauguay 
and other supporters brawled with SQ police and riot squads throughout the 
aft ernoon and evening of 12 August.  The mob smashed police cruisers, lit fi res 
and opened fi re hydrants.  They threw golf balls, bricks and Molotov Cocktails 
at the outnumbered SQ personnel, many of whom were injured.  RCMP rein-
forcements were called in and tear gas canisters were released in an att empt 
to disperse the crowd. Nevertheless, rioti ng conti nued unti l the night of 15 
August, when local Chateauguay police offi  cers, acquaintances of many of the 
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rioters, wandered through the protestors chatti  ng and diff using the hosti li-
ti es.429   The pressure for CF interventi on was mounti ng.

Thus far, no direct CF interventi on had occurred; however, the CF elements 
tasked to carry out the mission were by no means dormant.  5 CMBG consist-
ed of three infantry batt alions: 2 R22eR, 3 R22eR and 2 RCR.  Intense training 
was conducted from 7-14 August at both Valcarti er and Gagetown CF bas-
es.  As Colonel (then Major) Alain Tremblay, Commander of “C” Coy, 2R22eR 
remembered:  

At that ti me we believed that if we were called upon it would be 
as the force of last resort, so all of the training was done at the 
upper end of the spectrum.  Training for an assault using all mili-
tary means available on the barricade in a non-permissive type 
of environment…focusing on assaults on barricades in the live-
fi re mode.  From there we went through Platoon and Company 
att acks on mock-up barricades using the full fl edged spectrum of 
military weapons.430    

According to Lieutenant-Colonel (then Major) Colin Magee, Operati ons Offi  cer 
for 2 RCR, this training was repeated within his batt alion:

We had the Engineers and some of the intelligence community 
with photos and reports as to their [Mohawk] positi ons and bar-
ricades.  We had informati on on how they were manned, what 
they were made with and how they were booby-trapped.  We set 
up barricades to those specifi cati on, had the Engineers booby-
trap them and then practi ced various live-fi re scenarios, includ-
ing the use of Leopard Main Batt le tanks, 105mm arti llery in a 
direct fi re role. The companies practi ced mounted, dismounted, 
combined arms, by day, by night, noisy, stealthily, on the various 
barricades just to get our skills down.431 

Training throughout the Brigade was very similar to the accounts described 
above.  The training was conducted at the highest level of the tacti cal and 
operati onal scale, with the idea that as a force of last resort. Failure was not 
an opti on.  Training was conducted in order to be prepared for the worst case 
scenario: a conventi onal assault on the barricades during an armed confronta-
ti on.  Consistent with this preparati on Lieutenant-Colonel R. Landry, a Captain 
at 5 CMBG HQ during the crisis, recalled: “General Roy used to say, ‘We will 
deploy but we won’t go there in shorts; all or nothing.’  I think that was a 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 128 –

surprise to the politi cians.  I don’t think they realized unti l we were on the 
ground what they had signed up for.”432  

Conspicuously absent in the pre-deployment training was riot control and 
crowd confrontati on techniques.  No previous training had been conducted for 
IS operati ons since the Canadian Army eliminated this scenario from its man-
date in 1985 and equipment for such operati ons was obsolete.  Accordingly, 
very few soldiers were knowledgeable in tacti cs for crowd confrontati on and 
the procedures of riot control.  Those who had experience in these operati ons 
were veterans of the FLQ Crisis and those who had received training prior to 
1985; however, these were, for the most part, senior NCOs and offi  cers who 
would not make up the bulk of the force being deployed.  The average private 
or corporal had no training in riot and crowd control operati ons.  In additi on, 
the CF’s equipment for such tasks was generally in non-serviceable conditi on.  
This lack of knowledge, equipment and training would be costly during the 
events which transpired during Operati on SALON.433

What was also lacking was a clear concept of the ROE for those soldiers in-
volved.  The framework for ROEs was in its infancy.  The men and women of 
5 CMBG did get a 45-minute briefi ng, by a lawyer, on the legal construct of 
the Criminal Code of Canada under which the troops were operati ng during 
Operati on SALON.434  Simply put, there were no ROEs for Operati on SALON 
other than two guiding principles:  the use of minimum force and the much 
publicized directi ve that the CF would in no case fi re the fi rst shot.  This dec-
larati on was modifi ed during operati ons to include the disclaimer that the CF 
would take the fi rst casualty.  The concepts of ROEs did not evolve unti l aft er 
the Oka Crisis in subsequent CF deployments, most notably, those to Bosnia-
Herzegovina and Croati a (1992-1995).

The insuffi  ciency of ROEs during Operati on SALON had three signifi cant con-
sequences.  Firstly, it prolonged the crisis.  Although it put the onus on the 
Nati ve side not to initi ate hosti liti es, the CF promise not to be the fi rst to en-
gage unarguably raised the bravado of the Warriors and their confi dence was 
heightened by the removal of what usually is an unknown factor in military 
operati ons.  As explained by Colonel (then Major) Jacques Morneau a staff  of-
fi cer at 5 BMC HQ: “There was [sic] never ROEs.  When you have an unknown 
factor, the level of courage is impacted by that unknown.  When you take 
away the unknown, people get more confi dent.  So that psychological factor 
was never there.  It makes your job more diffi  cult to neutralize their [War-
riors] will to fi ght because they don’t feel threatened and their will to resist is 
preserved.”435 
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The second outcome was that the soldiers were unclear of what acti ons they 
were allowed to take when being physically assaulted or pelted with debris 
and objects.  The defi niti on of the use of minimum force was very vague which 
compounded the confusion.  A senior CF intelligence agent mused over this 
predicament: “It was really quite an experience. We did not want to hurt any-
body and we didn’t want our guys to get hurt.  But we were told that we have 
to take casualti es before we can shoot back which is a prett y grim thing to say 
and have to do.  We are supposed to have the inalienable right to self-defence.  
There we did not.  That is a hell of a thing to ask soldiers to do, but they did 
it.”436  

Lastly, the tacti cs on the ground during operati ons were transformed into a 
reverse advance to contact structure.  Due to the premise that the CF would 
take the fi rst casualty before opening fi re, instead of the secti on moving for-
ward with the commander behind, the opposite actually occurred.  Colonel 
Tremblay made reference to this point during his movements at Kanesatake 
with “C” Coy 2 R22eR: 

We were moving forward with the secti on commander up front 
contrary to all of our basic principles.  That is why at Oka you see 
the company commanders up front, the platoon commanders 
and the crowd behind—almost a reverse wedge, mainly because 
of the lack of ROEs and the high constrain that you cannot open 
fi re unti l you have a confi rmed kill or casualty on your [CF] side.  
The Sergeant is not keen on this coming from Germany and the 
Cold War ideals.  So we moved forward in a follow me approach 
which someti mes made things on the ground awkward.  Some-
body had to fall fi rst—the leadership. But that was the conse-
quence of the ROEs we were dealing with—not even writt en.437  

Although the lack of ROEs and crowd control training certainly had negati ve 
repercussions on the actual manoeuvres, valuable training was conducted 
prior to the deployment of 5 CMBG to the two disti nct areas of operati on.  

All 5 CMBG training was conducted in secrecy so as not to give away CF inten-
ti ons and conti ngency planning.  For meti culous fi eld exercises, the CF even 
quietly procured the use of two White Pine forests, hand planted in rows, 
identi cal to the Pines at Oka, from the Ministry of Natural Resources, which 
owned and operated both locati ons.  The fi rst near Eganville, Ontario roughly 
40 km south of CFB Petawawa, with the second hugging the southwest border 
of CFB Borden near Barrie, Ontario.438    
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Even more secretly, Lieutenant-General Foster had authorized the Canadi-
an Airborne Regiment (CAR) to begin training for a possible deployment to 
Kanesatake.  The paratroopers, like their counterparts, conducted training on 
mock-barricades in all possible scenarios.  Foster was vehement that CAR’s 
acti viti es remain secret as he considered this elite unit his “ace in the hole.”439   
CAR members trained for six weeks during the Oka Crisis, but to their frustra-
ti on, were never deployed.440 

In additi on to practi cal training, CF members also received cultural awareness 
and threat briefi ngs on the state of aff airs.  For 2 RCR, the enti re batt alion sat 
in on a two-hour seminar:  “We brought in one or two people to talk about the 
history of the Mohawk Nati on, what was the Warrior Society, what were its 
ti es to the community, how they viewed themselves and how the police saw 
them.  They saw themselves as protectors of the Mohawk Nati on.  The police 
saw them as organized crime.  We got into that piece of it.”441    

While the combat soldiers of 5 CMBG were conducti ng exercises and receiving 
briefi ngs, the intelligence community was assiduously amassing informati on 
and photographs on the threat possessed by the Warriors, their forti fi cati ons 
and positi ons.  Intelligence was gathered through a variety of modes before 
and during CF deployments.  Highly eff ecti ve EW was used to intercept Mo-
hawk transmissions on radios and cellphones.  Aerial imagery was acquired by 
helicopters, CF-5s, and a jet ranger equipped with a WestCam system which 
monitored events on a 24-hour basis.  Daily covert RCMP fl ights, at approxi-
mately 7,000 feet, gave updates on defensive forti fi cati ons, as well as CF loca-
ti ons.  These fl ights also featured a real-ti me downlink, feeding analysis to the 
various CF headquarters as it was happening.442  5 CMBG signal squadron, with 
the aid of Bell Canada, also installed 211 regular telephone lines, 25 secure 
lines, several hotlines and land lines linking the command posts and intel-
ligence cells.443  

HumInt personnel from the CF, the RCMP, the SQ, the SIU and CSIS were also 
very acti ve.  A joint intelligence cell (JIC), or Intelligence Collecti on and Analy-
sis Centre (ICAC), was created at FMC HQ in St-Hubert, where members of the 
aforementi oned intelligence agencies could report and conference.  At least 
three highly trained intelligence members fl uent in Mohawk dialect posed as 
journalists and were behind Warrior lines at both Kanesatake and Kahnawake.  
Mohawks at all three territories opposed to the Warriors’ moti ves also sup-
plied the CF with leads and ti ps on weapons caches and Warrior acti viti es and 
plans.444  According to an intelligence agent:
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It is very interesti ng to compare the Mohawk Warrior Society 
and the people associated with the smuggling and Bingo Halls 
with somebody like Hamas or the PLO because they were busi-
ness men but were also fairly radically politi cally moti vated and 
they used the Nati ve revival movement as a mask.  Certainly not 
everyone on their side agreed with this confrontati on and these 
people provided us with very useful inside informati on.445 

However, dealing with so-called “insurgents” with no set doctrine or fi xed mil-
itary organizati ons but rather blended into a civilian populati on in a domesti c 
setti  ng, was new for the CF and the intelligence cells.  Thankfully, many senior 
offi  cers and intelligence agents had previously worked with the Briti sh Army 
and devised intelligence operati ons based on Briti sh doctrine from Northern 
Ireland.  2 RCR intelligence offi  cer Major (then Lieutenant) David Lambert cor-
rectly pointed out that at that ti me, “Focus was very much on the Cold War, 
insurgency operati ons were not on the radar screen.  Oka was an insurgency.  
What General Frank Kitson wrote in the 1970s aft er Malaya and Kenya applies 
to this scenario in varying degrees.”446  Kitson described guerrilla warfare as, 
“A weapon of protest employed to recti fy real or imagined wrongs levied on 
a people either by a foreign invader or by the ruling government.”447 The Oka 
Crisis certainly adhered to this defi niti on. 

Lambert also stated that the intelligence assets were quite aware of the dan-
ger of the CF being used by Nati ves as a tool to do “their dirty work.”  The 
threat existed that Mohawk sources would leak informati on to set the CF up 
or to get at someone within their own community: “We had to be careful that 
it wasn’t a set-up or ambush or that it wasn’t someone hacked off  at a neigh-
bour.  That threat is always there.”448  Nevertheless, intelligence cells were 
able to get a fairly lucid picture of Warrior strengths and positi ons.

Original CF esti mates placed Warrior/supporter strengths between 150-250 
at Kanesatake, with another 300-500 at Kahnawake.  It was assessed that the 
more radical members were prepared to stand their ground to oppose any 
military acti on.  Among the insurgents, there were at least 20 who had seen 
combat acti on in Vietnam.  Another six were ex-members of the CF.  In addi-
ti on, there were between 10-20 Mohawks who had more recently received 
military training with U.S. forces, most signifi cantly the U.S. Marines.  There 
were also confi rmed reports that many Mohawks with no professional experi-
ence had been pseudo-trained in basic military skills at Ganienkeh.449 
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According to York and Pindera, acti ve Mohawk members of U.S. military forces 
took their annual leave to return to Kahnawake, where they helped man the 
barricades, initi ally sti ll wearing U.S. service camoufl age uniforms.  This was 
confi rmed by an SIU intelligence report that revealed, “10 x U.S. Marines home 
on leave in Akwesasne on 17 July.  Have contacted U.S. Consulate Montreal for 
help in getti  ng them RTU [Returned to Unit].”  Another 12 Mohawks quit their 
CF Reserve training in Longue-Pointe to return home.  York and Pindera also 
make reference to 100 Oneida Warriors arriving in Kahnawake in the middle of 
July aft er a “request for assistance” was sent to Oneidas in Ontario, New York 
and Wisconsin by the Kahnawake Longhouse.450  What was clear is that the 
Mohawks relied on those with military background to design the extensive 
defensive forti fi cati ons and positi ons in both territories.  The defensive pe-
rimeter at Kanesatake has already been described.  However, aft er the 11 July 
raid aerial imagery revealed that the forti fi cati ons, trench systems, anti -tank 
ditches and obstacles had all been enhanced.  

At Kahnawake, the defensive perimeter was designed in three concentric 
rings (consisti ng of 10 sectors) of fi eld forti fi cati ons from the outer edge of 
the Reserve back into the inner core.  In additi on, there were barricades on 
all roads leading into Kahnawake, an OP on the permanently raised railway 
bridge, in conjuncti on with trenches and positi ons along the railway itself and 
patrols along the north bank of the canal.  Essenti ally, all likely approaches 
into Kahnawake were covered.  5 CMBG had created a detailed target list of 
42 individual targets.  Each individual target had its own comprehensive brief 
or “analysis of area of operati on” including numerous aerial and ground level 
photographs.451   

Like neighbouring Kanesatake, the defensive perimeter at Kahnawake included 
14 bunkers, trenches, anti -tank ditches and other obstacles including booby-
traps both homemade and commercial.452 Cans fi lled with rocks were strung 
through the bush acti ng as early warning devices, fi sh hooks were hung from 
trees and large latex balloons were placed in areas perceived to be probable 
landing zones for helicopter inserti ons.  The Warriors also possessed trip fl ares 
and fl are guns and constructed homemade mines. Colonel Tremblay summa-
rized the arrangement at Kanesatake:

Nasty booby-traps.  Fish hooks hanging from trees, holes and 
spikes.  Soldiers were injured by kneeling on nails in planks 
of wood and getti  ng fi sh hooks in their face at night. Basic 
booby-traps, no diff erent from unconventi onal war anywhere 
else.  There is no doubt that they had some level of military 
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experti se when you look at the trenches they dug, mutual sup-
port, mutual fi ring positi ons and fi ring ports.  Some of the sys-
tems they built were well planned.  They built an enti re defensive 
posture on a wedge from the golf course to the club house to the 
juncti on of the roads, with extensive trench networks, bunkers 
with overhead cover and so on.  Too long and diffi  cult to man 
but well done; they did very well from that perspecti ve.  Some of 
them had training.  You could see it in their personal movements 
and how a soldier would behave on the ground, handling weap-
ons and so on.  Despite all their planning and training, and the 
ex-militaries that came up from Akwesasne and that they had a 
decent array of weapons, they were no match.453 

The Mohawks had also established an excellent command and control net-
work at both Kanesatake and Kahnawake. Both territories were divided into 
sectors or areas of operati on.  They created squads of 12-20 men with a leader 
to maintain tacti cal control.  They had a shift  schedule and rotated squads 
through the barriers on 8 to 12-hr intervals, to allow for rest and personal 
maintenance.  Never more than 38 armed Warriors were seen at one spe-
cifi c occasion, excluding major operati ons.  The Warriors and supporters also 
maintained constant surveillance at the barricades, were intercepti ng police 
transmissions with some success, and had scouts outside of the Reserves re-
porti ng on police and CF movements.454   

The Warriors also had a sophisti cated communicati on network consisti ng of 
cellular phones, band radios, very high frequency marine band radios and 
a secure fax link.  The presence of an ICOM Receiver was confi rmed at the 
Warrior command post (CP) at Kanesatake, which permitt ed the Warriors to 
eavesdrop on unsecure military communicati on networks.  They also pos-
sessed commercial encrypti on devices and used low level codes on air. Their 
radio nets were generally operated in a professional manner.455 They had 
code names and code words for diff erent sectors, RVs and locati ons and oft en 
transmitt ed in Mohawk thinking the CF and other intelligence agencies could 
not decipher.  This assumpti on was wrong; the intelligence HQ had members 
who were adept in the Mohawk tongue.456   
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Figure 4: Kahnawake Target List, 26 August 1990.  (Canada. DND ATI).
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Figure 5: 2 RCR/3 R22eR tacti cal map of Kahnawake showing Mohawk barricades, obser-
vati on posts, strong points and command centres, 20 August 1990.  (Private Collecti on).  
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Communicati on was frequent between the triangle of Akwesasne, Kahnawake 
and Kanesatake.  All three territories were on a coloured alert system devised 
to designate threat levels and possible acti ons: “You could tell there was a 
high level of planning and knowledge.  They did have a great informati on pro-
cessing capability.  The Warrior Society was able to surge people into locati ons 
very quickly, unti l their infl uence started to decline.”457

Completi ng the Warriors defensive perimeter was a vast array of weapon sys-
tems which were transported between all Mohawk territories.  Both Cana-
dian and American security agencies had long been monitoring the weapons 
purchases made by Mohawks, most notably at Akwesasne.  Between January 
1988 and December 1990, over 800 weapons had been legally purchased by 
Mohawks.   On the other hand, the internati onal transport of certain weapons 
was by no means legal.  Fift y per cent of these weapons were military assault 
rifl e variants (21 diff erent models), including many semi-automati c weapons 
that could easily be converted to fully automati c weapons with litt le skill or 
resources.458   

Included in the list of weapons purchased by Warriors were: at least 164 vari-
ants of the AK-47 (7.62mm), 82 Mini-14 Ruger Rifl es (5.56mm), 6 Uzi Ingram 
M9-M10-M11 submachine guns, 5 Barrett  82A1 .50 calibre long-range sniping 
rifl es (bipod) and one .50 calibre HMG (heavy machine gun, tripod).  Other as-
sault weapons included: AR 15/M-16s, RPKs (7.62mm, bipod), Ruger Mini-30s 
(7.62mm) and FN Browning 125Ss among others.  The Warriors also possessed 
87 hunti ng rifl es, 109 shotguns and 203 handguns of various makes and mod-
els. They had also legally purchased over 50,000 rounds of various calibre 
ammuniti on and 400 magazines during this ti me period.  Warrior acquisiti ons 
prior to 1988 were unknown.459  

In additi on, to weapons, the Warrior arsenal also boasted over 400 grenades, 
dynamite, homemade Molotov Cocktails and pipe bombs.  Other equipment 
included night-vision devices and police scanners.  Unconfi rmed weapons in-
cluded: mines, Claymore mines, M-60 General Purpose Machine Guns (GPMG, 
7.62mm bipod), M-72 LAW, RPG 7 and 8s and light and-or medium mortars.460   
The purchase of these weapons was explained by a federal intelligence of-
fi cer: 

A lot of things were illegal on the Canadian side but not on the 
American side. All you had to do was get it across the border.  
Now at Akwesasne that is not hard.  They had a real smuggling 
network.  Everything came down that net.  When the wars in 
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Lati n America shut down in the 80s the place was awash with 
sophisti cated weapon systems, people willing to sell them for 
a litt le money.  It is not hard to get these.  For these guys [War-
riors] it is almost a free run with boat loads, car loads of ciga-
rett es, weapons, drugs, illegal immigrants, you name it.461  

Figure 6: Joint Intelligence Summary of Weapons. (Private Collecti on).
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Figure 7: List of Weapons Purchased by Warriors.  (Private Collecti on).

With the perceived threat of Warrior moti ves and the known positi ons and 
sophisti cated collecti on of weapon systems, the situati on in Mohawk country 
was above the scope of the SQ.  On 14 August, CF movements began to re-
place the SQ at the barricades in a situati on described by Lieutenant-General 
Foster as, “completely diff erent from any peacekeeping mission the Canadian 
Forces has parti cipated in.”462 According to de Chastelain, “The taking up of 
arms by an individual or any group to right their causes or to sett le their per-
ceived wrongs must be countered by the forces of law and order or else anar-
chy in this country will prevail.”463  The CF was, in the view of the Province of 
Quebec, the court of last resort in an eff ort to restore law and order.   

In order to achieve the missions previously outlined, Foster, in consultati on 
with both the CDS and Brigadier-General Roy, intended to deploy resources 
exceeding 4,400 soldiers accompanied by all the resources available to them.  
The strong CF representati on was deemed necessary for two reasons.  The 
fi rst and most obvious to all three commanders in the words of the CDS was 
that, “If we failed, what next?  It is anarchy.  If we failed there was no one left  
to call.  Armed Forces are only called out in the last instance, and at the last 
resort.”464 By virtue of the overwhelming numbers the impression was given 
to both the Warriors and the Canadian public that CF was there to do its job 
and was prepared for such a task.  In additi on, the psychological impact on the 
Warriors of having to face such a large force was also a conscious factor in the 
initi al concept of operati ons.465  Colonel (Major) Jacques Morneau, an offi  cer 
with 5 CMBG G3 (Operati ons), outlined: “As history shows, when you have 
overwhelming force you don’t need to use that force, but when you have more 
or less equal force, the other side believes that they have a chance and they 
will try you on.  Also, basic tacti cal doctrine states that if you att ack you should 
have a 3:1 rati o.”466  Secondly, the perimeter at Kahnawake was roughly 20km 
and that of Kanesatake was in the region of 15km.  In Foster’s words, “What 
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would it take me to put a net around both these areas?”  A certain amount of 
waterfront also had to be included.  Relief in place of front-line soldiers on a 
24-hour basis at what was esti mated to be 75 soldiers per kilometre was not 
an opti on: “The number of troops we used was smaller than that required to 
put enti re nets around the enti re area at those distances.”467 

 On the night of 14 August, the enti re 5 CMBG moved from their locati ons, pre-
dominantly from Valcarti er, to their designated staging areas.  Again, the move 
was designed to show overwhelming force; to induce an element of shock on 
the Warriors who were monitoring CF movements and deployments.

Table 4—Operati on SALON, 14 August 1990468 

By the morning of 15 August, all elements had completed initi al deploy-
ment.  Reconnoitring began on all SQ locati ons to be relieved by CF elements.  
2 R22eR quickly realized at Kanesatake that the SQ-controlled perimeter was 
not tacti cally sound and could not hermeti cally seal off  Mohawk movement 
through the perimeter.  Batt alion and Company Commanders also met with 
Mohawk leaders at both locati ons to relay the intenti ons of CF operati ons at 
the barriers, as previously promised.  Lieutenant-Colonel Robin Gagnon, CO of 
3 R22eR at Kahnawake recalled his fi rst meeti ng on the night of 18 August: 

UNIT LOCATION

FMC HQ St-Hubert

QGET 5 BMC (Headquarters and Signals Squadron) Longue-Pointe

2 R22eR St-Benoît

3 R22eR St-Rémi

2 RCR Farnham then Delson

5 RALC (Light Arti llery) Blainville

5 BSC (Service Batt alion) St-Hubert

430 ETAH (Tacti cal Helicopter Squadron) St-Hubert

5 AC (Field Ambulance) St-Hubert

5 PPM (Military Police) Longue-Pointe

W Batt ery and Cougar Troop Farnham
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I brought along my three rifl e company commanders and met 
with three Warriors…Red Turtle, Skywalker and Omega Man, 
as well as a politi cal representati ve of the Band Council Irwin 
Goodleaf.  The aim of the fi rst meeti ng was to lower tension, in 
order to allow a situati on of dialogue and progress to develop.  
The aim of our fi rst meeti ng was achieved.469 

Also from this meeti ng came the agreement that neither side would point 
weapons at the other.  A phone line running directly from Mohawk spokesper-
sons to FMC HQ in St- Hubert was installed as well.470  

While both R22eR batt alions were planning for the occupati on of the bar-
ricades at their respecti ve locati ons, 2 RCR, the designated reserve batt alion, 
arrived from CFB Gagetown to Camp Farnham on 17 August, some 40km 
southeast of Chateauguay.  Indicati on was given to the Mohawk negoti ators 
that 2 RCR would be called in to assist 3 R22eR at Kahnawake if all of the bar-
ricades were not removed.471  

General de Chastelain released a statement on 17 August declaring the blan-
ket intenti ons of the CF to replace the SQ at the barriers, with emphasis placed 
on the concept of minimum force.472 At 0800hrs on 20 August, the 12 main 
SQ barricades at both Kanesatake (2 R22eR ) and Kahnawake (3 R22eR) were 
manned by CF personnel in unison.  Immediately, soldiers began to transform 
the barricades into military positi ons.  Vehicles were tacti cally placed for ob-
servati on and cover, trenches were dug and wire was strung along the perim-
eter “to protect both soldiers and civilians.”473 These fi rst stage positi ons were 
completed by 2000hrs that evening.  SQ offi  cers and liaison offi  cers remained 
behind the CF barricades.  It is important to note that the CF did not replace 
the civil authority (SQ) but was there to aid the civil authority.

At many barricades, Warriors and Platoon Commanders exchanged pleasant-
ries and introducti ons and relayed intenti ons and possible approaches to their 
immediate tacti cal situati on.  No CF movement past the existi ng SQ barricades 
took place.  At one barricade at Kahnawake, Warriors became aggressive as 
they believed the CF advanced past the line agreed upon.  The CF withdrew 
to a positi on of mutual sati sfacti on.  The replacement of the SQ by the CF oc-
curred without any violent incidents.474 

Initi ally, the involvement of the CF was seen as a positi ve step by the Mo-
hawk community.  They possessed a severe hate and distrust for the SQ and 
the military was seen to be more disciplined and professional.  The cordial 
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handshakes at barricades and the open dialogue between the Warriors and 
CF commanders, which had not existed with the SQ seemed initi ally to de-
escalate the volati le situati ons and allow governmental negoti ati ons to tran-
spire.475 

Although negoti ati ons had been ongoing and resoluti on was in sight, meeti ngs 
on 21 August severely hampered a fi nal arrangement. The Mohawk negoti a-
tors at Oka tabled a three-point proposal and greatly extended their bargain-
ing demands. The fi rst point was the acquisiti on of the disputed lands at Kane-
satake.  This was not an issue as the federal government was already buying 
up the land in the hopes of creati ng a Reserve for the Mohawks in the region. 
The second was that the governments of Canada and Quebec recognize a uni-
fi ed Mohawk Nati on consisti ng of six Mohawk territories in Quebec, Ontario 
and New York State.  All future negoti ati ons and land claim issues would be 
negoti ated by this nati on to be known as Kanienkahaka.  To the governmental 
negoti ators, this was an untenable propositi on and went well beyond the is-
sues at hand.  Mohawk concerns about the expansion of the Oka Golf Club 
had now evolved to demands and recogniti on of sovereign nati onhood within 
North America.  How could the negoti ators from Ott awa and Quebec possibly 
have jurisdicti on and authority to negoti ate such a claim without consultati on 
with Ontario and the United States?  This demand was viewed by govern-
mental negoti ators as absurd, prompti ng Prime Minister Mulroney to openly 
declare this demand to be “bizarre.”  The third demand was for a guarantee 
that the SQ and other Quebec authoriti es not to interfere with gamblers and 
occupants of the high-stakes bingo facility at Kahnawake.476 

Obviously those trying to protect the Pines were no longer formulati ng the 
Mohawk agenda and were relegated to the background.  The Oka Crisis was 
now about sovereignty whereby outside police forces could not disrupt the 
lucrati ve smuggling and gaming operati ons.  The Oka Crisis was now about 
securing the right to operate bingo parlours and casinos without any form of 
government reprisal.  The Oka Crisis was now about power and money and a 
struggle for those in possession to maintain and increase their shares.  The 
crisis was no longer about saving a small patch of White Pines on the west-
ern edge of a ti ny golf club at Oka, Quebec.  The Warriors felled 155 of these 
sacred trees to build barricades and bunkers.477 The Pines were being used to 
protect profi t.      

Immediately aft er the meeti ngs of 21 August, Premier Bourassa hinted at 
other opti ons and wanted to put pressure on the Mohawks to remove the 
barricades, specifi cally the ones impeding movement over the Mercier Bridge.  
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Sam Elkas insisted that the Mohawks were negoti ati ng in “bad faith,” and 
regarded military pressure as a means to ensure that the Mohawks did not 
alter negoti ati ng demands even further.  On 22 August, detailed aerial recon-
naissance was conducted over both territories revealing remarkable improve-
ments to Warrior trench systems, anti -armour ditches and route obstacles 
which would force infantry to dismount.  This intelligence and the drasti c al-
terati on of negoti ati ons on 21 August were the catalysts for direct CF opera-
ti ons in Kanesatake and Kahnawake.478 

Figure 8: Tacti cal Map Kanesatake and Surrounding Area, 2 R22eR.  (Private Collecti on).

At 0800hrs on the morning of the 23rd, elements of “C” Company, 2 R22eR 
moved to establish a forward positi on in front of the previous SQ barricade 
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along Rang Sainte-Germaine. Soldiers advanced 1,500m unti l reaching the 
vacated Warrior barricade, which was soon dismantled.  Although not intend-
ing to advance this far, the commander pushed onward to gain a more tacti -
cally advantageous positi on where a CF barricade was erected.479  According 
to Colonel Tremblay, who commanded the operati on: “One lesson we learned 
following this fi rst gain on the ground highlights certain principles of war; sur-
prise and force concentrati on.  The massed arrival of the 14 Grizzlys armed 
with two machine guns was the best deterrent.  While utt ering their death 
threats, the Warriors nevertheless realized that they would never come out 
on top in an exchange.”480         

Following the fi rst military advance, General de Chastelain initi ally briefed the 
Minister of Nati onal Defence, Bill McKnight.  At 1800hrs on the 23rd, the CDS 
held a private briefi ng for Prime Minister Mulroney.  The Prime Minister held 
a press conference later that night urging pati ence but was adamant that the 
“situati on would be resolved at all costs.”  During the following two days of 
negoti ati ons, opti misti c talks resumed.  However, the situati on broke down 
again when the Mohawk negoti ati on team insisted that the Warriors had to 
have criminal amnesty and would not lay down their weapons or remove the 
barricades unti l the CF and police presence dispersed.  

This was not an opti on for either the government of Canada or Quebec, as 
seen through the medium of negoti ators Bernard Roy and Alex Paterson re-
specti vely.  In their opinion everyone was equal under the laws of Canada, 
despite the fact that the Warriors believed these laws did not apply to them.  
On 27 August, Premier Bourassa ordered all negoti ati ons to be terminated in 
light of the increased and unreasonable Mohawk demands and an impulsive 
agenda that seemed to change with every progressive negoti ati on.481  General 
de Chastelain publicly stated that, “Premier Bourassa has now directed the 
Canadian Forces to proceed with the mandate [four points] given to them 
by the Quebec Government….  The Canadian troops will not use force unless 
obliged to do so by the Warriors.”482 

While negoti ati ons were stalling, FMC HQ was increasing military resources 
throughout the areas of operati on.  SQ and RCMP naval vessels had been 
acti ve on the river systems, as aquati c reinforcement was known to be the 
Warriors main network.  However, on 27 August, the HMCS Acadia, a 65-foot 
patrol boat belonging to the HMCS Donnaconna began patrolling the waters 
of the St. Lawrence, specifi cally in the Lac Saint-Louis area near Kahnawake.483   
To compliment marine surveillance, covert shore-based SIU detachments 
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were deployed along the St. Lawrence River.  To aid aerial reconnaissance 10 
sets of “14- power gyro-stabilized binoculars for the use of G2 Intelligence and 
G3 Aviati on staff s,” were acquired from Fuji Photofi lm Canada at a price-tag 
of $89,000.484  

The increased low level fl ights of helicopters and CF-5s not only enhanced 
CF presence but also provided daily intelligence of Mohawk positi ons.  Re-
connaissance patrols increased at both Kahnawake and Kanesatake, where 2 
R22eR employed a squadron of soldiers on horseback to patrol areas where 
military vehicles could not venture, due to thick vegetati on, thus countering 
the Warriors’ extensive use of ATVs.485 

In preparati on for military interventi on, 2 RCR moved from Farnham to the train 
museum grounds in Delson, east of Kahnawake on 28 August.  Three Leopard 
main batt le tanks (MBT) equipped with dozer blades were also brought under 
command of FMC HQ at St-Hubert aft er being authorized directly by the CDS.  
These were to be kept under “low profi le to give negoti ati ons every possible 
chance.”  These tanks did not have 105mm ammuniti on on board although 
rounds were stored for use at ammuniti on points.486  They were equipped 
with two 7.62mm machine guns, as was the standard, and were to be used as 
mobile strong points and, if needed, to take down the barricades by force.  

On 28 August, news conferences were held by Lieutenant-General Foster and 
Brigadier-General Roy, in keeping with the CF’s policy to disclose operati onal 
plans.  This transparent approach did not include statements which would 
jeopardize tacti cal operati ons or essenti al elements of tacti cal doctrine such 
as concentrati on of force, surprise and security.  Both Foster and Roy relayed 
to the Mohawk Nati on and the populati on of Canada that the CF would fulfi ll 
its mandate and the barricades would come down either through co-operati on 
or through force.  Foster then pleaded for the Warriors and supporters, “not to 
force my soldiers to resort to the use of force as the army moves to carry out 
its orders.  We will not fi re the fi rst shot.”487  He closed his press conference 
with the statement that “the consequences of an att ack are unthinkable…the 
implicati ons of our acti ons are grave indeed.”  However, forebodingly, he men-
ti oned that those civilians in the aff ected areas may be evacuated and those 
“within a danger area will be asked to remain indoors, away from windows 
and preferably in their cellars.”488 

Immediately following the briefi ngs by Foster and Roy, DND, under directi on 
of spokesperson Colonel Alain Forand, released a videotape complete with 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 146 –

aerial photos, television footage and sti ll photos highlighti ng Warrior posi-
ti ons, forti fi cati ons and weapon systems to justi fy the forthcoming interven-
ti on to the Canadian public.  Included in this video were RPGs, M-72 LAWs, .50 
calibre heavy machine guns and mortars.489  The Warriors denied having any 
of these heavier weapons.  

They claim that they made homemade devices out of sheet metal, pipes and 
plumbing tubes to imitate the weapons the CF thought they had.  These mock 
weapons included the aforementi oned heavy weapon systems.  They also 
climbed the raft ers of the Mercier Bridge with packs on their back to simulate 
the planti ng of explosives.  They used welding torches on scrap iron to simu-
late cutti  ng the bridges bolt pins.  At both Kahnawake and Kanesatake, War-
riors ti ptoed through fi elds looking at maps to insinuate that they were weav-
ing their way through minefi elds.  The Warriors claim this was all part of their 
psychological manipulati on against the CF which included references to those 
weapons over their communicati on means hoping the CF would be listening.  
When the 28 August video was released, according to York and Pindera, the 
Warriors roared with laughter.490 Cookie McComber relayed this tacti c: “We 
played on their fears and let their imaginati ons play games with them.  It was 
paranoia.  They took themselves so seriously.”491 

There can be an argument that not all Warriors, Band Council members and 
Mohawk negoti ators knew what weapons were actually at their disposal.  
However, there were confi rmed sighti ngs of an M203S Grenade Launcher, an 
M-60 machine gun and RPKs.  In additi on, at Kahnawake, visual contact and 
HUMINT confi rmed one M-72 at the barricade along Highway 132 (KW35) 
and also a .50 calibre HMG at the barricade along Highway 207/221 (KW26).  
Furthermore, a HUMINT source within Warrior circles confi rmed that, 
“Warriors in Oka/Kahnawake have 500 to 1000 weapons including AK-47s, 
2,000 grenades, 300 Mini-14 Ruger rifl es, and a large quanti ty of mines.”492  
Aerial photographs and covert patrols also revealed mortar plate positi ons 
and “the likelihood of explosives, with remote detonati on devices, having 
been placed on the Mercier Bridge.”  While the wiring of the Mercier Bridge 
was unconfi rmed, trip wired booby-traps were confi rmed underneath the 
bridge and on the railway bridge.   None of this informati on was ever made 
public.493   

As shown, the Warriors were in possession of most of these weapons or these 
arms were close enough for immediate employment.  In aff ect, it does not 
matt er if they had them or simply made mock replicas to dupe authoriti es 
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into believing they possessed them.  Both scenarios ulti mately hurt their at-
tempts to persuade the larger audience to sympathize with their cause and 
gain credibility in accordance with the revoluti onary model.  The threat of 
these weapons was real and the public was made aware that they were in the 
hands of radical insurgents, thereby legiti mizing the involvement and future 
acti ons of the CF and the governments instead of the Warriors.  The CF could 
have knowingly allowed the Warrior disinformati on campaign to achieve this 
exact result.  

2 RCR Intelligence Offi  cer, Major David Lambert recalled that, “Air photos 
showed mortar positi ons.  When we actually got there they were stovepipes 
in spare ti res, so had they originally been there or replaced with dummy po-
siti ons we really don’t know conclusively, but it isn’t really important.  The 
perceived threat was there, so you must plan for that on the tacti cal level.”494   
Realisti cally then, one could hypothesize that had the Warriors not showcased 
their weapon systems or feigned to have them the CF deployment might have 
not been as substanti al and extensive.   

Later on the night of 28 August aft er the briefi ngs by the CF commanders 
and the showcasing of the Warriors’ arsenal, Prime Minster Mulroney held 
a nati onal press conference on CBC to solidify the CF’s justi fi cati on to inter-
vene: “They [Mohawks] have put on the table a series of totally unacceptable 
claims, including immunity from criminal law….  In short, they have sought to 
give themselves the status of an independent nati on within the boundaries of 
Canada….  Obviously there will be no pleasure in this task but the Canadian 
Forces will do their duty and the barricades will come down.”495  Prime Minis-
ter Mulroney also methodically reiterated the quanti ty and types of weapons 
in the Warriors possession, their illegal smuggling enterprises and the fact 
that many Mohawks did not condone the rhetoric and violence of the Warrior 
Society.

The Canadian Forces was collecti ng intelligence and delivering press confer-
ences to validate their operati ons by detailing the threat to the Canadian 
public.  Although they had offi  cially taken over responsibility from the SQ, no 
major operati ons had been conducted.  The CF wanted ti me to construct posi-
ti ons and gather intelligence before acti vely engaging the Warriors at the bar-
ricades.  Another reason for the delay was to give negoti ati ons every chance 
to diff use the situati on.  However, the CF commanders at the strategic, opera-
ti onal and tacti cal levels had announced, aft er failing negoti ati ons, that opera-
ti ons would commence and that the barricades would come down.  
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This point was corroborated by Prime Minister Mulroney during his 28 August 
press conference.  Although Mulroney was directly addressing the Mohawk 
communiti es and the front-line radicals at Kahnawake and Kanesatake, he also 
appealed to the larger Aboriginal populati on of Canada not to view the War-
riors as the rightf ul voice of the Mohawk Nati on.  In reality, the Prime Minister 
was worried that the violence of Oka could spread to other Nati ve communi-
ti es across Canada and also about the subsequent nati onal and internati onal 
reacti ons.496 
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CHAPTER 16

The Oka Crisis: Native Nationalism, 
Internationalism and the Media War

The Canadian Prime Minister called upon Nati ves across the country for calm 
and understanding and not to take Warrior rhetoric as a legiti mate voice 
for nati onal Aboriginal grievances and rights.  He was worried, as were his 
top Ministers, that the situati on at Oka could ignite the frustrati ons of Na-
ti ves across North America producing conti nental pockets of resistance and 
violence.  If this not unlikely scenario occurred, the Prime Minister could not 
avoid taking responsibility and would have to invoke the Nati onal Emergencies 
Act.  As it stood, under Aid to the Civil Power, the responsibility rested with 
the Province of Quebec and Premier Bourassa. Mulroney could avoid getti  ng 
“egg on his face” and any repercussions for Operati on SALON could legally be 
passed to Quebec’s use of Aid to the Civil Power.497  Mulroney had a reason to 
be worried.  

The shock waves from Oka had reverberated across Canada, even trickling 
into the United States.  Marches, protests and pickets were just as common 
as violence and vandalism.  Numerous Reserves produced “copycat” barriers 
across bridges, roads and rail lines, the majority occurring aft er the 11 July 
raid.  Many also threatened the use of arms.  It went so far that Nati ves incar-
cerated at Headingley Prison in Winnipeg went on a fast.  A group of 250 Na-
ti ves, with help from AIM members protested in Belleville and then proceeded 
to block the Causeway leading to the Royal Military College of Canada and CFB 
Kingston.  They were removed with force by OPP and Kingston Police.498 

In late July demonstrati ons took place near Nipigon, Thunder Bay and Longlac, 
Ontario.  A main railway blockade and a barrier across the Trans-Canada High-
way were established by Ojibwas of the Longlac, Pays Plat and Pic Mobert 
bands in northern Ontario.  They were removed only aft er local negoti ati ons 
on 20 August.  Canadian Nati onal Railway esti mated losses at $2.6 million per 
day in commercial backlog due to the Longlac barricade.  Nati ves near Mate-
pedia, Quebec blocked a rail line and began digging up porti ons of the track 
with a hydraulic shovel.  Five hydro towers were toppled outside of London, 
Ontario and a bridge was set on fi re nearby.499   
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Protestors picketed the provincial legislatures in Regina, Winnipeg, Edmon-
ton, Yellowknife and Vancouver.  Demonstrati ons also took place in front of CF 
bases in Saskatoon, Moose Jaw, Calgary and Oromocto.  A bridge was set on 
fi re near CFB Cold Lake in protest of CF involvement.  On 23 July, 200 Micmacs 
from the Indian Brook Reserve marched in Shubenacadie, Nova Scoti a.  Mic-
macs in Halifax organized a food bank for the residents of Kanesatake and Kah-
nawake.  A similar event took place on Manitoulin Island.  At least 30 Micmacs 
from the Atlanti c Provinces travelled to Kahnawake on 26 July.  The Mohawks 
at Tyendinaga were acti vely recruiti ng men to go to Oka and blocked three 
routes into their Reserve.  Oka Park became the rallying point for over 2,000 
Nati ve and non-Nati ve protestors.500   

The most signifi cant demonstrati ons and acti ons transpired in Briti sh Colum-
bia, which refused to negoti ate Aboriginal land claims.  It was the only govern-
ment in Canada that rejected any concept of land ti tle, as outlined in the com-
prehensive land claims process.  In July, blockades set up on seven roads and 
railway lines across the province created commercial losses in forestry, tour-
ism and transportati on.  Briti sh Columbia Rail was losing $750,000 per day.  
Originally designed in support of the Mohawks, these barricades were soon 
used as a tool to force the provincial government to recognize land rights.501 

Carter Camp, an original AIM member and AIM chairman at the ti me of the 
crisis, released a statement on 30 August revealing that Nati ves from Oklaho-
ma were on their way to Oka: “Canada must realize that an att ack on Oka will 
engulf the enti re country in fl ames.  Our people are going to fi ght alongside 
the Mohawks…they joined us at Wounded Knee and we’re going to recipro-
cate.”502  Other supporters came from inside the politi cal arenas of Canada.  
Both George Erasmus, Nati onal Chief of the Assembly of First Nati ons and 
Dene Liberal MP Ethel Blondin now refused to denounce the Warriors.503 

The federal government was so gravely concerned with the nati onal situa-
ti on that they had initi ated steps to monitor Reserves and Nati ves across the 
country.  Airlines were required to submit passenger lists directly to federal 
intelligence agencies in order to monitor patt erns and movements of the Na-
ti ve populati on.  Arms and ammuniti on dealers in Canada were also obliged 
to contact authoriti es about any irregular or large purchases by Nati ves and 
non-Nati ves.  The VCDS questi oned banning the sale of weapons and ammuni-
ti on indefi nitely but could not do so under the current gun control legislati on.  
However, many retailers in Montreal and Quebec voluntarily restricted these 
purchases.  In additi on, Reserves in “criti cal locati ons” were being examined 
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and the CF was ordered to conduct “overall plans for military involvement in 
expanded Indian disrupti on in Central Region.”504  

The federal government and the CF were both worried about the control of 
public percepti on. They, like the Warriors, needed to control the media in 
order to draw sympathy and support for their acti ons. In the war of words, 
the media was an important propaganda tool.  Both the Nati ves and the CF 
learned to appreciate the signifi cance of the media in the formulati on of pub-
lic opinion and support, and tried to use it to their advantage.  The Warriors 
and their supporters, both Nati ve and non-Nati ve, presented the acti ons at 
the barricades as the last resort of a systemati cally oppressed nati on rebelling 
against a politi cal system based on a legacy of broken promises and bad faith; 
the Mohawk David against the governmental Goliath.  This was a propaganda 
ploy to bring the Mohawk plight to the att enti on of the media, the peoples 
of Canada and the rest of the world. A plan to embarrass a government and 
country which prided itself on the cultural mosaic ideal, human rights, social-
ist policies, democracy and peacekeeping.  To further the embarrassment, the 
Mohawk used the fact that Canada pledged a fl edging force of 800 personnel 
to Operati on FRICTION as part of the UN-sancti oned, U.S-led coaliti on in the 
First Gulf War, while it deployed over 4,000 troops, armour and air support to 
quell an uprising on its own soil.505 

The manipulati on of the media was directed by a network within the Mohawk 
community and the Mohawk Nati on Offi  ce in Kahnawake.  These Mohawks 
understood the politi cs, impact and power of television and newspapers.  
Journalists remained with the Warriors and Mohawks behind the barricades, 
oft en presenti ng biased reports which were printed in leading newspapers 
across the country.  These reporters were oft en criti cized by their peers for 
less than imparti al journalism.506 An example of the less than honourable tac-
ti cs and reporti ng used to defame the CF occurred on 23 September when a 
man dressed in a CF uniform with 2 RCR insignias, claiming to be an acti ve 
member, addressed a demonstrati on and journalists criti cizing the acti ons of 
the CF.507      

In additi on, in order to put greater pressure on the Canadian government, 
the Mohawk control group also systemati cally tried to acquire the help of 
internati onal lobby and legal groups and support from countries around the 
world.  Believing they were a separate sovereign nati on, the Mohawks sought 
the help of the World Court at The Hague and also the United Nati ons.508 
As the number of educated Nati ve Canadians increased, a new generati on of 
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acti vists emerged, well-versed in the tacti cs of modern politi cal warfare, legal 
principles and the land claims process.509 While the Warriors manned the bar-
ricades with guns, these acti vists tried to use the legal system to authenti cate 
the Mohawk grievances.    

With this in mind, the Mohawks draft ed a demand to the Canadian govern-
ment that current and all future land claims be referred to the Permanent 
Court of Arbitrati on at the World Court. What started as a disagreement over 
a ti ny patch of land had transformed into a questi on of sovereignty or the 
creati on of a “nati on within a state.”  On 21 August, Mohawk negoti ators met 
with government offi  cials and submitt ed a six-page report citi ng their positi on 
on sovereignty.  It included quotes from the Great Law, colonial era treati es, 
the UN Declarati on of Human Rights, The Hague Conventi ons, and the Geneva 
Conventi on.510 

The internati onal public was already being inundated with media reports 
coming out of Oka.  The Mohawks used the SQ’s blockade of food and aid, and 
the accusati ons that the CF conti nued this practi ce, as a means to expose to 
the world the slow, relentless genocide that was being infl icted upon them in 
order to gain global support and humiliate the Canadian government.  While 
there is evidence that the SQ did deny the entrance of foodstuff s, the same 
cannot be said for the CF.  Putti  ng pressure on the Warriors and Mohawk com-
muniti es by denying food and other requirements was never menti oned by 
any level as part of the strategic, operati onal or tacti cal planning of the CF.511   

News of the events sped around the globe and the Oka Crisis received front-
page coverage in newspapers as far away as China, Italy, England and France.512   
Even the master of the “Photo-Op,” Reverend Jesse Jackson, came to Kanesat-
ake to fi lm a documentary on the Mohawk Crisis.513 The world was indeed 
watching and listening as demonstrators marched in such places as Oslo, Syd-
ney, Berlin and Rome.514  In Washington D.C., Nati ves picketed the Canadian 
Embassy and in Minneapolis, 40 AIM members invaded the Canadian Consul-
ate, seized the offi  cial fl ag and burned it on the street.515   

Despite the worldwide att enti on, the Mohawk media group sti ll communi-
cated their situati on directly to leaders of countries and organizati ons around 
the world.  Among the organizati ons that sent observers aft er being contacted 
by the Mohawks were: the Paris-based Internati onal Federati on of Human 
Rights, which is recognized by the UN, the Red Cross, S.O.S. Racism, the Que-
bec Human Rights Commission as well as dozens of smaller church and human 
rights lobbyists.516  Ed Broadbent, former head of the New Democrati c Party, 
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and the director of the Canadian Human Rights Commission urged the govern-
ment to act, insisti ng that the deliveries of the Red Cross were not enough.517   

He was worried that Canada would lose internati onal credibility when trying 
to raise human rights issues abroad: “Countries will be saying to me, ‘What 
about aboriginal rights in Canada?’”518    

In additi on to these organizati ons, numerous countries and facti ons granted 
their support aft er being summoned by the Mohawks.  The Canadian offi  ce of 
the African Nati onal Congress, representi ng Nelson Mandela, acknowledged 
a lett er sent to them and assured the Mohawks that “Your struggle is our 
Struggle…”  Nobel Peace Prize winner Desmond Tutu, who was on a visit to 
Toronto trying to bring the apartheid in South Africa to the att enti on of the 
world, was also summoned for support by the Mohawks.  The possibility of a 
meeti ng with the Mohawks was raised but never arranged.519   

The Mohawk Nati on Council of Kahnawake also invited the World Health Or-
ganizati on in Geneva to send observers and summoned the Secretary-General 
of the UN through a lett er, requesti ng that he “stop Canada’s genocidal war 
against the People of the Mohawk Nati on…. At the moment our people are 
penned up behind barbed wire, like animals.  The army has already fi red shots 
at our people there.”520  This greatly exaggerated lett er with false accusati ons 
toward the CF and the federal government also made allusions to the mas-
sacres of Shabra and Chati lla Palesti nian Refugee Camps, Soweto in South Af-
rica and Mai Lai in Vietnam.  The Mohawks urged the UN to send peacekeep-
ers and observers but it immediately declined, insisti ng that only recognized 
member nati ons could request such a force.  The UN Sub-Commission on 
Human Rights did however communicate that “non-violent negoti ati ons will 
conti nue” and closely monitored the situati on but asked only the Canadian 
government for situati on reports.  Obviously, both decisions illustrated that 
the United Nati ons did not view the Mohawk Nati on as a sovereign nati on and 
rejected this claim.521   

On 30 July, Oren R. Lyons, a Mohawk who had been behind the barricades, 
went to Geneva and addressed the 8th Session of the Working Group on In-
digenous Populati ons of the UN.  He made reference to other injusti ces tak-
ing place around the world, including the Navajo and the Indigenous pop-
ulati ons of Australia, Central and South America.522  On 13 September, the 
European Parliament adopted a resoluti on and criti cized the governments of 
Canada and Quebec, asking them to initi ate 10 steps to end the confl ict. This 
communicati on was voiced in unusually harsh diplomati c language. Aft er the 
crisis, between 13-18 January 1991, a group of Members of the European 
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Parliament (MEPs) carried out a “fact-fi nding mission on the situati on of the in-
digenous peoples of Canada.”  The fi nal report noted litt le of signifi cance.523 

Like the Mohawks, the governments concerned and the CF realized the im-
portance of the media.  While the CF realized that the presence of reporters 
on the “front-lines” reduced the likelihood of violence and the use of arms, 
the media presence also contributed to prolonging the crisis since the War-
riors could use these mediums to advance their agendas.  While the media 
certainly gave the Mohawks the avenue to garner First Nati on support across 
Canada, it also had consequences.

Decima Research, an independent survey organizati on, conducted polling 
across Canada throughout the months of July, August and September.  Its fi nd-
ings revealed that public support for the Mohawks in Canada progressively 
decreased as the crisis dragged on.  Support for the Mohawks fell by 20 per 
cent over the course of the three months while support for the federal govern-
ment increased by 17 per cent over the same ti me period.  By 12 September, 
73 per cent of those polled thought the CF was performing a helpful role in 
decreasing tensions.  The study also concluded that although most Canadians 
sympathized with the Mohawks and the land claim issue, most Canadians did 
not support the acti ons of the Warrior Society.524   

In an att empt to destroy the Mohawk’s credibility government offi  cials repeat-
edly referred to the Warriors as terrorists or insurgents. On CBC Tom Siddon 
announced that, “as a matt er of principle we cannot negoti ate behind bar-
ricades, and we cannot negoti ate under threats of inti midati on by people car-
rying guns.”525 Harry Swain, the Federal Deputy Minister for Indian Aff airs, in 
an interview with the Globe and Mail, referred to the Warriors as, “a criminal 
organizati on…it is a potent combinati on of guns, cash, and ideology.  They are 
prett y successful in cloaking themselves in the guise of Indian Rights.”526  By 
portraying the Warriors as terrorists breaking the rule of law, the Canadian 
government was successful in gaining the support of the Canadian public.  

In reality, the Warriors were terrorists according to the FBI’s defi niti on of 
the term.  Indeed, they were guilty of “the unlawful use of force or violence 
against persons or property to inti midate or coerce the government, civil-
ian populati on, or any segment thereof, in furtherance of politi cal or social 
goals.”527  There was also proof that they were funded by, supported or had 
communicated with other internati onal terrorist organizati ons such as AIM, 
the IRA, Libya and numerous black acti vist groups, most notably the All African 
People’s Revoluti onary Party.528 
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For the CF, the large media representati on so close to the areas of operati on 
was a hindrance.  However, it was realized early on that it was in the CF’s best 
interests to remain as transparent as possible and to provide the media with 
informati on good or bad rather than have them “digging around for it.” It was 
also ascertained that ti mely correspondence with the media was essenti al 
and by releasing informati on before the Warriors, credibility and support was 
heightened for the CF.529  

In fact, the concept of embedding reporters, which received so much acclaim 
during the 2003 U.S.-led invasion of Iraq, was actually initi ated by 2 RCR during 
Operati on SALON. The Regiment’s Deputy Commander, Lieutenant-Colonel 
(then Major) Rusty Bassarab, arti culated this novel idea: “Did we have the 
idea of embedded? Absolutely.  2 RCR took an embedded reporter from the 
Fredericton Gleaner and he stayed with us all that ti me we were in Farnham 
training and awaiti ng deployment.  Unfortunately he left  four days before we 
got called out.  Was the concept there? Yes.  Did we encourage it?  Yes.  We 
would have been happy to have one because then you get someone who sees 
your perspecti ve.”530       

Media centres were established at Oka and Chateauguay under control of FMC 
HQ.  These faciliti es, operati ng 24 hours a day, were responsible for all media 
queries, briefi ng CF commanders of aspects of public aff airs, and developing 
news releases. In accordance, operati onal components of the CF’s planning 
were always relayed to the media.  The CF held briefi ngs by operati onal com-
manders twice a day and arranged for interviews with tacti cal offi  cers.  The in-
formati on and press releases would be coordinated at these media centres and 
then passed to NDHQ for approval.  They would then be disseminated across 
the enti re operati on to ensure that all CF spokespersons and commanders pre-
sented unifi ed opinions and statements. The CF also provided transportati on 
to journalists, media tentage and telephone lines to facilitate reporti ng.531  

In terms of impact on military command and control, print media played less 
of a role than television.  In fact, although the live feed from the WestCam, 
Skyguard and television news reports had advantageous qualiti es as far as 
tracking movements of weapons and Warriors, they also had repercussions on 
the command and control integrity of Operati on SALON.  It was also the fi rst 
operati on in which the CF used cellphones.  According to Colonel Tremblay: 

You have to remember there were company commanders on the 
ground that chose orders.  I am the senior commander on the 
ground; it is my call, my decision.  I am fully aware of company 
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commanders on the ground refusing orders from FMC command-
ers.  You had FMC commanders calling company commanders on 
the ground short circuiti ng the enti re chain of command.  We 
were learning on the fl y some very important lessons.  Because 
of the news and all of those T.V. cameras it was almost real ti me.  
FMC commanders could sit in HQ and see acti ons on T.V. and pick 
up a cellphone and call any commander on the ground, involved, 
and say, ‘What the hell are you doing?  Move that vehicle.’532 

Field Marshall Bernard Montgomery’s dictum, “Do your esti mate, make your 
plan, give your orders and go to bed,” became during Operati on SALON, “Do 
your esti mate, make your plan, give your orders and then watch T.V.”533

Television reports also played a key role in discrediti ng the Warriors.  Average 
Canadians saw fi rst-hand the weapons in possession by the masked Warriors.  
These frightening scenes, in conjuncti on with ti mely CF releases detailing the 
quanti ty and capacity of the Warriors’ arsenal, successfully damaged the pub-
lic standing of the Warrior Society.  Under the scruti nizing eye of the media, 
numerous reports and video clips showed the Warriors hurling insults, rocks 
or pieces of wood at the soldiers, who remained calm and poised.  Televi-
sion reports and pictures also discounted the Mohawk claim that the CF was 
withholding food and supplies.  Soldiers were frequently videotaped or photo-
graphed passing boxes of food and supplies across the barricades.  The repu-
tati on of the Canadian Forces was enhanced in the public eye through its calm 
and methodical interventi on in a highly volati le situati on.

Throughout August, negoti ati ons were given priority to recti fy the standoff .  
However, both sides accused one another of negoti ati ng in bad faith and talks 
were broken off .  In light of the unsuccessful negoti ati ons, the CF was directed 
by the Province of Quebec, on 27 August, to initi ate operati ons to force the 
barriers and restore law and order on the Reserves and their surrounding 
areas.  On 28 August, through numerous press conferences both the CF and 
the governments involved stated fi rmly that direct CF interventi on was to oc-
cur and that the barricades would be removed.  The standoff  needed to be 
sett led.  The longer it dragged on, the more the Warriors could use the media 
to support their agenda and retain the status quo that thus far secured their 
positi ons.  It was also worried that this in turn could ignite other Nati ve com-
muniti es to take militant acti on. In additi on, the stagnant situati on did not 
favour the CF.  Although the discipline of soldiers had been commendable but 
the likelihood of soldiers retaliati ng in the face of provocati on would no doubt 
increase.  The barricades needed to come down.
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CHAPTER 17

The Canadian Forces: Operations in 
Kanesatake and Kahnawake

On 28 August, all politi cal and military echelons had publicly declared that 
the CF would sati sfy its four point mission through operati ons beginning the 
following day.  An event on the night of the 28th solidifi ed the need for a quick 
soluti on to the closure of the Mercier Bridge at Kahnawake.  Aft er hearing the 
CF’s intenti ons, roughly 100 Mohawks—mostly women, children, the elderly 
and those requiring advanced medical att enti on—scared for their safety evac-
uated Kahnawake crossing the Mercier Bridge in a mobile convoy.  Arrange-
ments had been previously designed with the SQ, RCMP and the CF.  

When the convoy reached the northern side of the bridge (Montreal side), 
there were not enough police offi  cers to hold back the angry mob that had 
collected to protest the closure of the bridge.  Bricks, rocks and other objects 
were hurled at the cars crawling along amongst the swarming crowd.  At least 
six Mohawks were injured in the scuffl  e.  A soldier who wished to remain 
anonymous remembered: “Something went through a windshield and hit an 
old man [71 year old Joe Armstrong a WWII veteran] in the chest and he sub-
sequently died.  The cops didn’t do anything or wouldn’t do anything.  The 
amount of hatred was just incredible.  Once a cycle of confl ict starts it is hard 
to dampen it.  You need to use more force to end it and it was strange to do it 
in our own country.”534  

The tension over the closure of the Mercier Bridge was at a breaking point.  
Groups of angry residents from the communiti es of Chateauguay and Sainte- 
Cathérine, straddling the Reserve, were becoming increasingly hosti le toward, 
not only the Mohawks, but police and CF members.  These dissident citi zens 
thought the CF was moving too slowly and could not understand why they had 
not already forcefully advanced on the barricades.  In reality, CF acti on was 
limited in order to protect these people and their fellow inhabitants of the 
surrounding communiti es as well as the Mohawks.

In his initi al evaluati on Lieutenant-General Foster assessed the level of weap-
onry possessed by the Warriors and the CF resources needed to neutralize 
these weapons with as litt le loss of life as possible in the event of a fi refi ght.  
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This analysis included the civilian populati on of Kahnawake and surrounding 
suburbia.  Foster concluded that: 

A 50-calibre bullet’s eff ecti ve range is two kilometres, but it can 
travel nine kilometres.  So if you are talking about the possibility 
of someone fi ring those kinds of rounds at you, you must take 
appropriate acti on ….  But if you take a 10-kilometre circle and 
draw it around the end of Mercier Bridge, there are many thou-
sands of people who would be in that danger area….  That brings 
you very quickly to the price you would have to pay to execute 
whatever wishes you desired and how fast you wanted to end a 
circumstance like that…we were not ready to do that, and as it 
turned out it was not necessary….  [I]t is absolutely essenti al that 
everybody in the country understand that is the kind of weap-
onry we are talking about at play on the streets of Canada.535 

This statement does not take into account larger projecti les fi red from APCs, 
Leopard tanks or arti llery pieces.  Even fi ring smoke-based extracti on rounds 
from arti llery guns could be hazardous as the canisters could end up in civilian 
neighbourhoods.

Daunted by the prospect of a military invasion, the Warriors took acti on to 
avoid legal repercussions.  On the night of the 28 August low level fl ights of 
light planes were observed by 3 R22eR Observati on Posts fl ying in and out 
of Kahnawake, the fi rst fl ight occurring at 2015hrs.  These fl ights were also 
tracked by ADATS (anti -aircraft  missile defence system) located at St-Hubert 
and by U.S. Customs in New York State.536 The Warriors and Mohawks em-
phati cally deny that any such fl ights took place claiming that it was a hoax to 
create the impression that Warriors had fl ed Kahnawake.537  However, these 
fl ights were confi rmed by a senior level intelligence agent: 

It is not a rumour.  It occurred.  People tried to play it down.  
The Canadian Government will always try to wait to dissipate 
things.  I remember when the reports came in.  They were light 
planes; they fl ew at tree-top levels and were easy to see.  There 
were eye witness accounts from Vandoo outposts. We believe 
that they got out the crew served and heavy weapons as well 
as a number of Warriors, mostly to New York State.  How many 
fl ights were there?  The reports varied but there were multi ple 
fl ights, no more than 12.  We knew at Akwesasne there were a 
couple of sea planes and we linked one to a reti red Canadian 
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Forces Captain who was a Mohawk.  There was a link that this 
plane was used.  Aft er that we deployed the Skyguard, but the 
horses had already bolted.538 

Other CF personnel interviewed also confi rmed the existence of these fl ights.  
In the words of Lieutenant-Colonel (Captain) Landry a Staff  Offi  cer at 5 CMBG 
HQ: “They were reported because they happened.”539  On 3 September, the 5 
CMBG issued a press release describing, “an unknown number of light aircraft  
made 15 landings and takeoff s on a roadway in Kahnawake between 8:15 p.m. 
and 9:35 p.m….  The aircraft  were not using instruments which would have 
allowed the Dorval or Saint-Hubert airports to record the fl ight path of planes 
fl ying at such a low alti tude.”540

Regardless of the removal of heavy weapon systems and a number of War-
riors, the barricades were required to come down.  On the morning of 29 
August, APCs and soldiers approached the Mohawk barriers as negoti ati ons 
were taking place at all levels.  On the ground the commanders of 3 R22eR, led 
by Lieutenant-Colonel Robin Gagnon, talked to their Warrior counterparts and 
discussed the appropriate acti ons for the removal of the barricades: 

It took nine days, from the 20th to the 29th…to convince them to 
co-operate in lift ing the barricades.  We gave, in return, our word 
that we would: fi rst respect the Mohawk people; and, secondly, 
that we would not use the press or make statements to place 
them in a situati on where they would lose face.  They gave cred-
ibility to our engagement and, on the aft ernoon of the 29th, we 
lift ed the fi rst row of barricades.  By 1 September, the Mercier 
Bridge was in our hands.541 

Negoti ati ons had stalled during the morning at Kahnawake.  In order to in-
crease the pressure, 2 RCR relieved 3 R22eR positi ons on the eastern por-
ti on of the perimeter around Kahnawake supported by arti llery (“W” Batt ery).  
Having already publicly stated that 2 RCR would only be moved forward in the 
need for direct acti on, many reporters and Warriors believed that the swelling 
in CF numbers signalled an assault. The movement of 2 RCR put pressure on 
Mohawk negoti ators and Band Council Chief Joseph Norton to co-operate in 
hopes of resolving the problem.  By 1900hrs, the blockades on Highways 132 
and 138 were peacefully removed in a joint eff ort.542  That night, Lieutenant-
General Foster announced that, “Army units, in co-operati on with the Mo-
hawks, will open the principle routes leading to, and including the Mercier 
Bridge….  The situati on at Oka remains unchanged.”543 
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The following morning Lieutenant-Colonel Gagnon met with Mohawk repre-
sentati ve Jack LeClerc to solidify the arrangement which included:

1.  No more than groups of 10 military personnel on Reserve;

2.  All barricades to be inspected for booby-traps and military 
engineers will supervise all road work;

3.  Routes will be patrolled by military personnel including unarmed 
Mohawks;

4.  APCs less .50 calibre machine guns can move onto Reserve;

5.  No SQ on Reserve; and

6.  Supplies must be allowed to pass through freely.544 

By the morning of 31 August, all barricades had been removed or were in the 
process of being dismantled save for the Mercier Bridge.  The Warriors were 
reluctant to give it up.  They knew that once vacated, their comrades at Kane-
satake would be in a drasti cally diff erent situati on and would have no leverage 
in further negoti ati ons.  However, the populati on of Kahnawake was suff ering 
emoti onally and economically.  CF intelligence received message traffi  c from 
the Kahnawake Peacekeepers (Reserve Police Force) suggesti ng Warriors were 
threatening those Mohawks who wished to leave the Reserve unti l normalcy 
returned.  The Warriors said they would allow women and children to leave 
but threatened to burn the houses of all Mohawk men who evacuated.545  

The hard stance taken at Kahnawake over the clearing of the bridge aff ected 
operati ons at Kanesatake.  To put pressure on both locati ons and to send a 
message that CF operati ons did not revolve around the Warrior agenda, 
Brigadier-General Roy authorized the movement of 2 R22eR to capture and 
dismantle both western Mohawk barricades on Highway 344 (there were 
two: OW1 and OW2) and also the northwest barrier at the juncti on of Rang
Sainte-Germaine and Chemin du Milieu (OW3).546 

Although Warriors were sti ll present, most of the Mohawks at the barricades 
were women and children.  This replacement of personnel had been progres-
sively taking place at Kanesatake and Kahnawake since the CF announced its 
intenti ons to remove the barricades on 28 August. At this ti me, 10 per cent 
of the populati on of Oka and Kanesatake had been evacuated.547  Lieutenant-
Colonel (then Lieutenant) John Fife had an explanati on for the withering 
support: “The people manning the barricades were not always the same, 
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most of them were teenagers, 15-19 years of age.  It was summer employ-
ment.  Believe it or not they were getti  ng paid.  When the school year started 
up and the weather began to change things changed.  It was no longer fun to 
sit up at night at a barricade when it is freezing cold.  Much of the enthusiasm 
went.”548 

At 1300hrs on 1 September 2 R22eR initi ated its encirclement operati on.  
“A” Coy was to maintain a blocking positi on starti ng at the golf grounds to 
the eastern barricade along Highway 344 (OW6), while “B” and “C” Coys 
advanced supported by reconnaissance platoons, APCs and helicopters. “B” 
Coy’s objecti ve was to advance on the two western blockades along Highway 
344 (OW1 and OW2), while “C” Coy was given the most diffi  cult task of clear-
ing the Pines while advancing to the rear of the original barricade on Chemin 
du Milieu.  Upon completi on, the perimeter and Warrior positi ons would be 
greatly reduced.549 

The advance was rapid and on site commanders decided to maintain pres-
sure, taking advantage of the element of surprise and the confusion among 
Warrior ranks.  “B” Coy advanced in unison with six APCs and found a solitary 
Warrior manning the barricades in a camoufl aged golf cart.  Robert “Mad Jap” 
Skidder—whom Colonel (then Major) Tremblay described as the rather 
rati onal leader of the Warriors at Kanesatake—and lawyer Stanley Cohen 
were soon on the scene.  Aft er negoti ati on and the realizati on that “B” Coy 
intended to advance, the Warriors vacated these positi ons.  “B” Coy pushed 
east along 344.550 

Major Tremblay was leading “C” Coy through the Pines along the back roads 
with APC support.  Warrior resistance was fi rst encountered at a bunker at 
the edge of the golf course in “Sector 5.”  In spite of Warrior threats and the 
discharge of warning shots, “C” Coy pushed forward to “exploit the situati on 
and terrain,” as remembered by Tremblay: 

Mad Jap was basically commanding their troops, he was the one 
calling the shots.  There were a lot of youngsters in the armed 
Mohawks at Oka and it was very diffi  cult for them to maintain 
control. By using some of the elder women which were very well 
placed, and they are key from the Mohawk point of view, they 
always managed to diff use the situati on before it reached the 
point of no return.  When we closed in we went much farther 
than forecasted.  We decided to maintain pressure and ended up 
pushing them back to the lacrosse arena.551 
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By 2030hrs 2 R22eR was in control of all barricades less one (OW6), the east-
ern barricade atop the hill on 344 facing down towards the village of Oka.  A 
temporary perimeter was fabricated around the last Warrior positi on and “C” 
Coy remained at stand-to.  At 2230hrs three gun shots were heard coming 
from the woods south of 344 towards the Treatment Centre.  Three hours 
later a Warrior message requesti ng advice from Akwesasne as what to do with 
weapons was intercepted.  The answer was to burn or bury them.  The CF 
took this as a sign that at least a porti on of the Warriors were “fading into the 
woodwork to fi ght another day.”552 

When dawn broke on 2 September, elements of “C” Coy 2 R22eR, including 
three APCs advanced slowly toward the last barricade on 344 and began to 
seal it off  using razor wire.  Although 20-30 Warriors were acti vely shouti ng 
and yelling, they retreated to the Rehabilitati on Treatment Centre (TC) in the 
woods south of Highway 344 towards the river.  The soldiers quickly began 
checking the overturned cars, logs and debris for booby traps and explosives.  
This fi nal barricade at Kanesatake was completely dismantled by 1800hrs that 
night.553  By 0800hrs on the morning of the 3rd, a perimeter had been estab-
lished by 2 R22eR around the TC.  On 3 September the perimeter of some 500 
square metres was ti ghtened around the TC with “B” Coy to the west, “C” Coy 
at the centre—to the north of Highway 344, and “A” Coy to the east.  Here the 
perimeter would remain unti l the fi nal stand on 26 September.554 

The situati on had Kahnawake was no less volati le during the removal of the 
barricades.  All had been removed save for the barricades blocking the en-
trances and the south side of the Mercier Bridge.  Major routes were being 
patrolled by mounted and dismounted elements of 3 R22eR in the western 
area of operati on and 2 RCR on the eastern sector of the perimeter.  CF and 
SQ roadblocks were maintained to control movement on these axis routes in 
and out of the Reserve.  A WestCam was mounted on the bridge and was used 
as a standing OP by 3 R22eR.555   

At 1530hrs on 1 September with 2 R22eR advancing on the barricades in 
Kanesatake, an urgent message was sent to the Kahnawake Warriors ordering 
them to blow the bridge.  This did not happen and it is sti ll not known if the 
Mercier Bridge was wired for demoliti on.  The Warriors certainly had enough 
explosives and the experti se to do so (steel workers experience).  No wiring or 
explosives were ever found on or adjacent to the bridge, except for minor trip 
wires and booby-traps.556  
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Aft er lengthy negoti ati ons between Lieutenant-Colonel Robin Gagnon and 
Chief Joe Norton, the bridge was vacated by the Warriors and their supporters 
20 minutes aft er midnight on the night/morning of 1-2 September.  “A” Coy of 
3 R22eR secured the bridge and waited for demoliti on experts and engineers 
to begin the arduous task of clearing the bridge of any suspected mines, wires 
and explosives.557  Although the bridge was not open to the public just yet, 
both 2 R22eR at Kanesatake and 3 R22eR and 2 RCR at Kahnawake had com-
pleted the fi rst task of their four point mission statement—remove all barri-
cades in the aff ected areas—without the use of extreme measures.  

The realizati on of the second assignment, to restore freedom of movement 
on all roads and bridges, was within grasp.  The closing two charges would be 
more diffi  cult to accomplish: remove all strong points and restore normal con-
diti ons of public order and security.  In order to achieve these goals entrance 
onto the Reserve was necessary, as many weapon caches and “strong points” 
were well into the heart of Kahnawake.

Entrance into the Reserve itself did not take long to manifest and was reac-
ti onary on the part of the CF.  As the perimeter at Kanesatake was tautened on 
3 September, a group of roughly 30-50 Mohawks including Warriors, women 
and children in additi on to vehicles, erected a makeshift  sandbag blockade 
at the southern end of the Mercier Bridge as a show of support for their kin 
at Kanesatake.  The Kahnawake Mohawks claimed that it was intended to be 
peaceful and was hijacked by the Warriors who showed up bearing arms in-
cluding a .50 Calibre machine gun.  The initi al Warrior blocking moves occurred 
at 1042hrs.  These quick reacti on barricades were all removed by 1420hrs.558   
During this att empt to retake the Mercier Bridge, most armed Warriors fl ed 
when 3 R22eR quickly redeployed APCs and soldiers across the bridge.  On the 
authority of a senior intelligence offi  cer:

We received a ti p-off  that they were going to re-occupy the 
bridge on EW.  The intercept was simply, ‘Deploy fi ve security 
teams.’ We put the WestCam over it and caught them in the act.  
It came close to confrontati on in my opinion but the internal pol-
iti cs within the Mohawk diff used it.  No matt er who was in front 
of the camera, unless the women backed it, it didn’t go.  When 
the women shut it down, they shut it down.  When they disman-
tled everything we followed the armed Warriors with a WestCam 
both in a school bus and in a van to the Longhouse on Highway 
207 which we knew to be the locati on of their communicati ons 
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network.  There was one lad that went into the bush with a long, 
heavy barrelled system which resembled a .50 calibre.559 

Brigadier-General Roy ordered 2 RCR and 3 R22eR to enter the Reserve to 
control the main access points.  Thus far no CF personnel had actually entered 
Kahnawake proper.  “G” Coy (2 RCR) commanded by Major Lawrence O’Neill 
moved forward toward the Longhouse expecti ng resistance from armed War-
riors.  “K” Coy (2 RCR) moved into a reserve positi on to support “G” Coy.  “G” 
Coy was met by 30 women who blocked the progress of the APCs.  The for-
ward Platoon dismounted and struggled forward on foot.  At this point 50-60 
more Mohawk women arrived.  Pushing forward “G” Coy reached the Long-
house by 1750hrs and was met by a hosti le crowd of roughly 100 Mohawks, 
mostly women.560  

Although SQ members were present they could not be used for crowd control 
under Brigade orders.  As “G” Coy and elements of “K” Coy set up a cordon 
around the Longhouse, 5 SQ offi  cers, with a legal search warrant were “as-
sisted into the Longhouse by rugby-style tacti cs.”  The crowd was held back 
and slowly dispersed as SQ and CF personnel began to uncover numerous 
weapons and ammuniti on.  While the search was conducted, a vehicle with 
two armed passengers trying to transport additi onal weapons out of the area 
was intercepted.  One passenger pulled a knife and was quickly subdued by a 
soldier and subsequently arrested with his fellow traveller by the SQ.  The op-
erati on was completed by 2230hrs.561 Weapons sequestered during the Long-
house search included: three AK-47’s, a Ruger Mini-14 Assault rifl e, an FNCI, 
an M-16 and a .50 Calibre 82A1 Barrett  sniper rifl e.562 

Brigadier-General Roy stated that the new barricade temporarily erected vio-
lated, “Our understanding with the Mohawks….  In response to this, I ordered 
that patrols be increased.”563  These increasing patrols entered the Reserve.  
“H” Coy (2 RCR) Commander Lieutenant-Colonel (Major) Bradley Boswell 
recalled the events of 3 September and his advance into Mohawk territory:

Rock Bass and War Pig rushed up to me and said, ‘You can’t do 
this, don’t do this.’  I told him that we had our own job and that 
these routes had to remain clear.  Things were getti  ng tense 
and you were not sure if the heavy weapons were being placed 
again.  Luckily Lieutenant-Colonel Mitchell [2 RCR Batt alion Com-
mander] arrived by Kiowa helicopter and walked over calmly 
to Rock Bass and War Pig and he pointed at me and said, ‘This 
man is going onto the Reserve today.’  Colonel Mitchell left  aft er 
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giving me some directi on and I then chatt ed to Rock Bass.  He 
told me to wait for awhile unti l he could go talk.  Obviously there 
was a chain of command.  He came back 20 minutes later and 
said that we could move as long as they could escort.  I agreed.  
We moved our four vehicles onto the onramp of the Highway 
inside the Reserve.  When my vehicle was in positi on, Rock Bass 
came up and tapped on the hull and said, “Yeah we can’t get 
through that!’  At that point he took off  his mask and we talked 
for 45 minutes sitti  ng on the guard rail.  He told me that he was 
coerced into taking a leadership role by the Warriors.  We had 
our .50 calibres mounted and part of the original agreement was 
that they would not be seen as they said they were scaring the 
children!  We covered them but had a quick release system so 
that they could be eff ecti ve in seconds.564  

The ti ghtening of the TC perimeter also aff ected the relati ve peace at Akwe-
sasne where elements of the Royal Canadian Dragoons (RCD) were now part 
of the CF conti ngent of 40 persons and nine aquati c vessels.  On 3 September, 
a group of Nati ves led by four Warriors att empted to block the Cornwall Bridge 
to no avail.  Later that day two SQ patrol cars were overturned and damaged 
by 80 Mohawk demonstrators.  That night over 100 rounds of gunfi re were 
heard throughout Akwesasne.565  

At Kahnawake, the ongoing inspecti ons of the Mercier Bridge were nearing 
completi on.  Lieutenant-Colonel (then Major) Boswell recalled this tedious 
task: 

It took a long ti me because of the amount of garbage under that 
bridge. Aft er awhile we were sti ll at it, the Warriors who were 
escorti ng/watching us got fed up and I can quote them saying, 
‘There is nothing fucking here! It is just a pop can!  It is just a 
piece of wood!’ as they were kicking at all of the garbage.  I said 
that we had a job to do and they seemed to understand that we 
had to take this seriously and I think they respected that profes-
sionalism.566 

At 2115hrs on 3 September the Mercier Bridge was declared safe and devoid 
of any explosive devices.567  

For the Mohawks of Kahnawake the incursion of the CF onto their land, ac-
companied by SQ members contravened the earlier principles established 
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between Lieutenant-Colonel Gagnon and Grand Chief Joe Norton and his ne-
goti ators: “White man speak with forked tongue.”568  As far as CF commanders 
were concerned this agreement in trust was violated by the att empt to recap-
ture the bridge and thus all points became moot.

Despite Mohawk objecti ons, the CF had begun acti ve operati ons to fulfi ll its 
four-point mandate.  At Kahnawake, all major traffi  c routes had been cleared 
by 2 RCR and 3 R22eR.  Although the raid of the Longhouse was a reacti on to 
the re-barricading of the Mercier Bridge and the sight of heavy weapons, it 
did send a signal to everyone involved that the presence of weapons would 
not be tolerated and that the rule of law would be restored.  At Kanesatake, 
all barricades had been removed and the remaining demonstrators had been 
cordoned in the TC.  
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CHAPTER 18

The Treatment Centre at Kanesatake

At Kanesatake, 2 R22eR conti nued to seal off  the TC in an att empt to cor-
ral the last holdouts and force an end to the standoff .  However, with the 
inability to use military means to solve the crisis, alternati ve methods were 
needed.  The use of psychological techniques in combinati on with negoti a-
ti ons was the soluti on implemented by the CF and performed by 2 R22eR 
around the TC perimeter. However, this would take ti me and the longer it took 
the more likely an incident or escalati on could occur whether insti gated by the 
CF or the Warriors. The close proximity of soldiers, Warriors and the general 
populati on of Kanesatake produced frequent exchanges of verbal and physical 
confrontati on. 

Aft er several shoving matches between soldiers, Warriors and Mohawk wom-
en, a second layer of concerti na wire was ordered around the enti re perim-
eter.  In reality, aft er the erecti on of this second line, Operati on SALON and 
Operati on AKWESASNE had completely depleted the supply of concerti na 
wire across the enti re CF.  Colonel Tremblay remembered using, “the enti re 
barbed wire supply in the CF at the ti me.  There was no more left  anywhere in 
Canada.  I have never put up so much barbed wire in my life; not in Bosnia or 
even Afghanistan.  It was truly amazing.”569  In additi on, the access to the river 
behind the TC was encircled by a log-boom placed by marine elements of the 
SQ on 5 September.570  

In the background, negoti ati ons conti nued.  Tom Siddon met with the Chiefs 
from the Six Nati ons Confederacy.  They told him that the military pressure 
was being felt by those remaining in the TC and that this could compromise 
a peaceful resolve.  General de Chastelain and Premier Bourassa off ered a 
sett lement to those inside.  If they laid down their weapons and exited the 
perimeter peacefully, they would be taken into military custody at Camp Farn-
ham rather than be arrested on site by the SQ, whom the Mohawks despised.  
The legal framework for a detenti on centre at Farnham had been authorised 
by the CDS on 5 September.  Those encircled in the TC refused this off er and 
submitt ed a counter off er insinuati ng that if the military withdrew they would 
vacate their positi on.  This was fl atly rejected.571   
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The government response centred around three important issues.  The fi rst 
was that all long-term subjects revolving around sovereignty and extended 
land claim issues would no longer be discussed.  The second assured that all 
military and police forces involved had the powers to enforce the Criminal 
Code of Canada and that its statutes apply to all persons including the War-
riors.  This was a reminder not a new initi ati ve as soldiers in Aid to the Civil 
Power operati ons are given the powers of a Peace Offi  cer.  Lastly, it was made 
known that both the federal and provincial governments were ready to discuss 
the possibility of a Nati ve police force at Kanesatake similar to those already 
in operati on on Kahnawake and Akwesasne.572  On 9 September Minister of 
Justi ce Kim Campbell issued the following statement:

I’m making this statement today because I’m concerned that the 
Canadian people and the media misunderstand what is happen-
ing at Oka and the events involving the Canadian Forces and the 
Warriors…. But, let me be clear,--we must not confuse the highly 
legiti mate concerns of the Indian people with the resistance of 
armed Warriors at Oka due to the due enforcement of law.  The 
Warriors at Oka do not represent legiti mate Nati ve grievances.  
They carry guns…and we will not negoti ate with them.  They bla-
tantly use the words of normal Indian claims to mask their true 
intent, just as they mask their faces…  The Army’s off er has been 
turned down…The Governments of Canada and Quebec cannot 
and will not accept that the Warriors are not governed by the 
laws of this country, including the Criminal Code.  They receive 
full protecti on of our laws, including the Charter [of Rights and 
Freedoms].  Neither they nor anyone else in Canada can pick 
which laws to obey.573

In the event of these points and the Warriors’ intransigence in rejecti ng the 
proposal, 2 R22eR proceeded to fi nd a soluti on to end the crisis.  The military 
operati on at Kanesatake aft er reducing the perimeter on 3 September was 
fairly simple.  Due to the resounding statement that the CF would not fi re the 
fi rst shot, it would have been diffi  cult and precarious to remove those holed-
up in the TC by force.  There were reports in early September that the Warriors 
were ready to lay down their arms but changed their mind aft er Lieutenant-
General Foster personally appeared at Oka to assure the Mohawk populati on, 
including the Warriors, that the CF would not initi ate a confl ict.  The impact of 
this was that the standoff  was prolonged indefi nitely.
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It was clear that the environment around the TC could only be shaped with 
limited military means, so psychological operati ons using light and sound to 
induce sleep deprivati on, thus unnerving the opponents, were used to put 
pressure on those inside.  Three towers mounted with high powered search 
lights and speakers were built around the TC.  Helicopters made conti nuous 
low level fl ights over the area.  CF observati on posts with TOW weapon sys-
tems were erected across the river near Hudson and 2 R22eR patrols were 
ever prevalent to unnerve the Warriors.  Only the resupply of essenti al re-
sources was allowed to the TC by outside agencies.  Colonel (Major) Tremblay 
recalled the situati on:

Then it became more of a PA game than anything else, by try-
ing to paint us as the bad guy and how ill-treated they were.  I 
think at that point they were more interested in gaining visibility 
with the enti re crisis with the media to promote their agenda, 
to stretch it to maintain as many visibiliti es on their claims and 
issues.  It was a matt er of keeping them off  balance and main-
taining pressure without going to the point of somebody fi r-
ing shots.  They had a network of communicati on and we were 
never able to completely sever that line.  They were sti ll able to 
go into discussions with Kahnawake, Akwesasne and the States.  
They were resupplied by daily/nightly boat runs, speed boats. 
The spectrum of military resources we had, short of using fi re 
arms, was limited, so psychological operati ons were conducted 
with light and sound and so on, to limit their sleeping ti me.  Ac-
tually we were losing the sound batt le because they had bigger 
speakers than us.574

Intelligence reports reveal that even though the TC was completely sur-
rounded, the Warriors used the river with great adroitness to resupply the TC 
throughout the fi rst two weeks of September.  Intercepti ons of cellphone calls 
and radio traffi  c also indicate that the communicati ons network, although lim-
ited, was sti ll quite acti ve.  Warrior patrols outside of the contained area were 
reporti ng military movements and acti vity to the TC.575  They were also iden-
ti fying military personnel, units and unit strengths through name tags, unit 
insignias and vehicle markings.  Lieutenant-Colonel Rusty Bassarab, Deputy 
Commander for 2 RCR made reference to this point:

Lasagna, his brother was in 3 RCR in Germany.  We had three 
Nati ves that were part of our batt alion, one was a Cree.  He had 
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an awful hard ti me, including a woman who threw hot coff ee 
in his face.  I think that the Velcro name tags we have now is a 
direct result of that operati on.  We all had to put tape over our 
name tags, in order to protect all troops from being identi fi ed.  
They [Mohawks] viewed it as hiding our names so we could com-
mit illegal acts.  No we just don’t think it wise to adverti se their 
names, except for the offi  cers, who wore berets not helmets like 
everyone else.  Prett y good target indicati on.  You can throw a 
rock prett y hard with a lacrosse sti ck.  They were also driving golf 
balls at the helicopters, which is prett y ironic.576 

As the pressure inside the TC mounted, troublesome occurrences began to 
take place along the wire perimeter.  On 6 September a soldier accidentally 
shot himself in the foot.  The Warriors responded by fi ring six high calibre 
rounds into the air.  Three more shots were fi red from inside the TC boundary 
later that night.  The military moved the media centre established by the CF 
back 300m from the wire perimeter to stop interference with soldiers and also 
for the safety of the journalists.  On the night of the 7th, Warriors in the Oka 
enclave erected a canvas screen behind which they proceeded to carry out 
a number of unknown acti viti es.  At 2154hrs, they adopted fi ring positi ons, 
aimed their weapons at the opposing soldiers and placed their front-end load-
er in a positi on to eff ect a breakout.  2 R22eR countered this move by blocking 
the exit with a D-6 Dozer.   Later that night a breach in the wire was created by 
the Warriors which was quickly sealed off .  Tempers fl ared as Warriors pelted 
soldiers with rocks.  The situati on was brought under control aft er the on-site 
commander ordered the troops to fi x bayonets.577   

Although threats and inti midati on were ubiquitous from both sides, thus far 
no major injuries had been incurred.  This changed on the night of 8 Septem-
ber during a situati on that tarnished the reputati on of the CF.  In an att empt 
to unnerve the Warriors guarding the perimeter and to prevent them from 
sleeping, 2 R22eR conducted aggressive patrols along both sides of the wire 
perimeter.  There were very few Warriors left  and by conducti ng extensive pa-
trolling, these Warriors were forced to remain in their positi ons for extremely 
long intervals.  The CF believed that only 24 Warriors remained in the TC com-
pound in additi on to 10 women, 11 children and 23 journalists.578 

At 0500hrs on the morning of the 8th, a four-man reconnaissance patrol 
crossed the perimeter to investi gate the nature of work which had been taking 
place behind the large canvas screen during the past two days.  A single soldier 
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from the patrol met a Warrior, Randy “Spudwrench” Horne, and informed him 
of the nature of the patrol and that no weapons would be used.  At this point 
a second soldier joined his comrade as “Spudwrench” appeared to be aggres-
sive.  This prompted Horne to draw a knife and slash one soldier across the 
face.  While att empti ng to restrain Horne, the other soldier was stabbed in the 
abdomen four ti mes.  The soldiers retaliated using their rifl e-buts to subdue 
“Spudwrench.”  The situati on concluded when the two other members of the 
patrol appeared along with four other Warriors.  The patrol withdrew imme-
diately.579 

Horne was taken into the TC and using the “hotline” that had been established 
between the TC and 2 R22eR HQ, medical assistance was off ered by the CF 
and was refused.  Eventually a paramedic entered the TC to provide assis-
tance.  The Warriors called their own doctor, David Gorman in Malone, New 
York.  He reached Oka at 0830hrs and was allowed inside the TC to see to the 
injuries of Horne.  The Warriors distrusted the CF and thought that if he was 
put in the care of the CF or the SQ he would be arrested.580 

At 1630hrs a private ambulance carried Mr. Horne out of Oka towards Mon-
treal.  On route to Notre-Dame Hospital in Montreal, the convoy of the ambu-
lance, army and SQ vehicles and reporters was detoured as a bomb threat was 
called in to that hospital.  Aft er some deliberati on the convoy, less reporters 
who had been lost in the trail, ended up at Hotel Dieu in the north end of 
Montreal.  From there they proceeded to Montreal General Hospital.  The in-
juries to the two soldiers were superfi cial as were those to Mr. Horne contrary 
to media reports.581   

On 12 September, Horne was taken into military custody at Farnham and was 
arrested by the SQ on fi ve charges including possession of a dangerous weap-
on.  Aft er an investi gati on no charges were laid against any members of the 
patrol.  “C” Coy commander, Colonel (then Major) Tremblay, who ordered the 
patrol insists that, “the soldiers on that patrol showed great restraint, because 
from a Criminal Code point of view they could have shot him [Spudwrench] 
right there.  Obviously the guy was injured but this was not a game and the 
military was not there to play a game.”582 

The version of the story forwarded by the Warriors diff ers immensely from 
that of the CF.  They insisted that Mr. Horne was att acked unprovoked, that 
he was asleep in his sleeping bag.  They are also very scepti cal about the 
manner in which he was taken to the hospital.583  The CF press release con-
cluded that, “The facts have been stated and obviously either side is going to 
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interpret those facts as they see fi t.”584  Like many other aspects of the Oka 
Crisis the unfortunate incident on the morning of 8 September is a matt er of 
perspecti ve.  On 9 September, “A” Coy replaced “C” Coy at the perimeter at 
Kanesatake.  This was seen by the Warriors as the CF saving face for being too 
aggressive when in reality it was the scheduled standard rotati on of CF troop 
allocati ons.585   

The potenti ally confrontati onal environment at Kanesatake did not dissipate 
aft er the events surrounding Randy Horne.  A gap in the wire perimeter was 
found on 10 September that had possibly been exploited by the Warriors to 
transport weapons and persons in and out of the TC complex.  A “journalist” 
inside the TC reported to CF intelligence that they had positi vely identi fi ed nu-
merous cellphones, two RPK weapons, at least a dozen operati onal gas masks 
and a quanti ty of grenades.  It was also relayed that Orders Groups were al-
ways carried out on the second fl oor balcony and during inclement weather 
in an offi  ce facing the water.  From this he deduced that Robert “Mad Jap” 
Skidders seemed to be in charge of those inside the TC.586  

On numerous occasions, Warriors aimed their weapons at soldiers and simu-
lated fi ring.  The Warriors were contacted through the “hotline” and made 
aware of the seriousness of these acti ons.  By 13 September, only one “hotline” 
remained.  On that day the other two telephone lines were cut to further pres-
sure the Warriors into negoti ati ng a peaceful sett lement.  It was also done to 
minimize the amount of communicati on aff orded to the Warriors inside the 
TC.  On the night of the 9th, 12th and 13th mysterious planes were again spot-
ted near Kahnawake, with an OP from “H” Coy (2 RCR) confi rming at least 
one successful landing on 9 September. Correspondingly, intercepted Warrior 
communicati ons disclosed informati on about a possible helicopter extracti on 
of those inside the TC.587 

Giving credence to this message traffi  c, on 14 September, the FBI forwarded a 
receipt of and informati on about the purchase of two helicopters at an army 
surplus store in New York, New York by a reputed member of the Kahnawake 
Warrior Society.  However, not much other informati on was forwarded except 
that the helicopters were black in colour and that the procurer had a pilot 
licence.588  FMC immediately implemented local measures to address this situ-
ati on.  Additi onal helicopters were ordered to patrol and AIRCOM (Air Com-
mand) provided the “necessary sources to allow for 24/7 radar surveillance 
and tracking.”  These resources and personnel were deployed and operati on-
al by 1400hrs on 14 September.  1 Commando was also placed on 24 hours 
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NTM.589  With the Warriors’ aerial escape route cordoned off , a tunnel feasibil-
ity reconnaissance was conducted along the perimeter of the TC.

On 15 September, 2 R22eR personnel and all OPs were questi oned about any 
unusual tunnelling acti vity or suspicious patches or colours of earth.  There 
were no reports of these acti viti es.  FMC went so far as to remove soil sam-
ples from likely tunnelling routes around the perimeter at a depth of 15 me-
tres.  The test results from the soil plugs deduced that the ground around 
the TC was primarily made up of fi ne sand overlaid by roughly 10-20cm of 
organic soil and decaying materials bound by small unstable roots.  Due to the 
soil’s compositi on, tunnelling in the area was possible yet highly unlikely as a 
large amount of bracing was needed to make any tunnel solid enough to be 
uti lized.590     

2 R22eR at Kanesatake had thus far removed all barricades and restored free-
dom of movement on traffi  c routes.  The only “strongpoint” and immediate 
threat to “normal conditi ons of public order and security” that remained was 
the TC.  Elements of 2 R22eR conti nued to deny the Warriors any escape route 
other than leaving through CF lines.  Psychological manipulati on in connecti on 
with “hotline” negoti ati ons was being used in an att empt to resolve the stand-
off  at Kanesatake without violent confrontati on.  The situati on at Kahnawake 
was quite diff erent.  Here, there were many more highly used traffi  c routes, 
a much larger Mohawk populati on, a larger land base and correspondingly 
a greater perimeter, which was sti ll fl anked by hosti le Québécois and other 
radical groups.  
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CHAPTER 19

Raids, Retaliation and Relationships

The Mercier Bridge and its on routes offi  cially opened to traffi  c on the morn-
ing of 6 September.  The bridge had been closed for 55 days.  3 R22eR and 2 
RCR conti nued to patrol and maintain checkpoints on the major routes.  They 
also began conducti ng patrols and weapon searches in Kahnawake to remove 
threats to themselves, LEAs and the Mohawk.  Although the bridge was open, 
the angry protestors surrounding the Reserve conti nued to hold rallies and 
inti midate soldiers, Warriors and the Mohawk populati on.  

Lieutenant-Colonel (then Major) Boswell will never forget episodes of racial 
hatred that serve as only two examples of the chaos surrounding Kahnawake:

The local populati on had erected a barricade and they used 40 
gallon drums, lit fi res and they also used a road chain to break 
ti res.  I never ran over it but I had the ti res on my Ilti s slashed 
on a daily basis.  They were actually more abusive towards the 
soldiers than the Nati ves or the Warriors.  They wanted us to get 
in there and clean it up, but it wasn’t that simple from a politi cal 
sense.  I will never forget two events.  One day, the fi rst weekend 
aft er the barricades had been removed, a car, a litt le Omni full of 
Mohawk women were coming back aft er grocery shopping. The 
crowd was overpowering, they smashed out the back and rear 
windows and ripped out all of the groceries and terrifi ed these 
three women inside.  We managed to get them inside.  One 
soldier began picking up the groceries and the local populati on 
started yelling and swearing at him for helping these women.  I’ll 
never forget his reacti on and quote.  He simply smiled and said, 
‘I do not speak French.  Have a nice day.’  He picked up the rest 
of the food and gave it back to the females there and off  they 
went on foot.

He vividly recalled another frightening scene:

It was 2:30 in the morning and I was out visiti ng an OP of Lieu-
tenant Fife’s Platoon on the railway line entering the Reserve.  It 
was 400m parallel to Highway 132.  We heard a terrible noise 
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and it was an old ’77 T-Bird screaming down the railway line.  It 
got to the wire and two young Mohawk guys jumped out and we 
lift ed the wire to get them under it into the Reserve just as the 
local populati on got to the car and torched it on the spot with a 
Molotov Cocktail.  The crowd had blocked 132 and chased them, 
so they had to use the rail line.  It was scary stuff .591

At another barricade on the night of 3 September locals were stopping vehi-
cles before they reached the RCR checkpoint leading into the Reserve.  Seem-
ingly out of the blue, the RCR Regimental Piper began playing “Vive la Cana-
dienne” and it completely distressed the civilian crowd.  He then proceeded 
to cross the barrier and play for the Warriors.  Lieutenant-Colonel (Major) 
Bassarab fondly remembers one of the Mohawks saying to him, “Yeah, the 
Jesuits used to do that to us too, but then we had to listen to them preach for 
two hours!”592  

There were moments when tensions at the barricades relented and the sol-
diers and Warriors or civilians facing each other oft en communicated.  Such 
was the case in a story told by Lieutenant-Colonel (Major) Brad Boswell:  “‘H’ 
Coy had a tall, thick unmistakable black Sergeant in its ranks, Sergeant Welsh 
who was a terrifi c soldier.  He went on leave for 3 days.  When he wasn’t at 
his usual barricade positi on, the kids in the house across the street put a huge 
sign up in their window reading, ‘Where’s Buckwheat?’  The folks at those bar-
ricades got to know who each other were.”593 

The CF elements at Kahnawake had accomplished the fi rst two objecti ves.  All 
barricades had been removed and by 6 September all traffi  c routes and bridges 
were open to traffi  c.  However, as the prior anecdotes illustrate, by no means 
were “normal conditi ons of public order and security” restored and a plethora 
of diff erent intelligence sources revealed the existence of “strong points” and 
weapons caches on the Reserve.  Over the next two weeks 3 R22eR and 2 RCR 
intended to fulfi ll the remaining two tasks to which they had been assigned.

At 1700hrs on 12 September, “G” Coy (2 RCR) had seen some weapons in a 
barn whilst setti  ng up for dinner.  The area was cordoned and the SQ was 
informed.  “K” Coy was moved forward as a reserve.  60 SQ offi  cers arrived 
to conduct the search but would not enter unless the building was cleared.  
Rather than wait for the SQ SWAT team, fearing that inacti on might lead to 
confrontati on with Mohawks, “G” Coy cleared the building by knocking out 
windows and hung glow sti cks to report that the room was clear.
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The house owned by Peter Diome, one of the negoti ators at Kahnawake, was 
searched and only two weapons and a small quanti ty of ammuniti on were 
found.594  However, what was also found was interesti ng and puzzling.  Nu-
merous boxes of recently dated governmental and CF paperwork was confi s-
cated from the house corresponding to a variety of organizati ons and func-
ti ons.  Federal Cabinet documents were recovered.  CF intelligence reports, 
unit strengths and fan-out sheets, some of which were stamped with confi -
denti al and secret classifi cati ons, were also recovered.  The suspected mole 
and pipeline to Ott awa was confi rmed, although no one was identi fi ed as a 
primary suspect.595 

The CF and SQ eff orts to restore safety and security to Kahnawake and the 
surrounding communiti es through cordon and searches for weapons and 
contraband conti nued two days later.  Having received a ti p from a Mohawk 
informant, cordon and searches were carried out by 2 RCR and the SQ at the 
Flea Market and the residence of Dan Delisle on 14 September.  Several cases 
of cigarett es were seized at the Flea Market.  The search of the Delisle house 
located on route 207 in Kahnawake was the result of “G” Coy (2 RCR) conduct-
ing a routi ne patrol and fi nding weapons in an orchard outside of the house.  
The SQ conducted a search of the house at 2000hrs under an offi  cial war-
rant, while "G" Coy provided the cordon.  The result was the confi scati on of 
$500,000 worth of illegal tobacco products, eight boxes of various calibre am-
muniti on, magazines for multi ple weapons, including AK-47s, and 24 weapons 
including: revolvers, shotguns and semi-automati c machine guns.596     

The following day another raid on an unidenti fi ed private home yielded 60 
boxes of assorted calibre ammuniti on, stolen golf equipment, 1.75lbs of 
packaged marijuana and 58 marijuana plants.597 On 16-17 September patrols 
involving dismounted CF and SQ personnel, the SQ scuba diving squad and 
SQ canine units produced seven more weapons and 15 Molotov Cocktails as 
well as the positi ve identi fi cati on of several reported stolen motorcycles and 
vehicles.598   

The largest raid of the Oka Crisis occurred on 18 September at Tekakwitha 
Island which is adjoined to the northern boundary of Kahnawake by a single 
bridge at the east end.  At 0800hrs, the SQ intelligence liaison to 2 RCR re-
ported receiving a ti p from a reliable source about a large weapons cache on 
Tekakwitha Island.  2 RCR HQ surmised that there were only three possible 
approaches to the Island: by land through the town (not an opti on), by sea 
(lacking the resources to do so) and by air.599
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Air-mobile planning was conducted and 5 BMC HQ gave its approval.  The 
plan was as follows: one platoon would be inserted at the bridge in a single 
Chinook Helicopter lift .  Another platoon would be dropped in a similar fash-
ion at the western end of the island as there were reports of bunkers.  Once 
the east-west axis was secure, two platoons would be inserted to conduct the 
sweep.  The SQ SWAT Team would be inserted by SQ boats to gain entry and 
secure the marina buildings at the south-western ti p.  The boats would remain 
in the vicinity to block the aquati c escape route.  Two CF sniper groups were 
inserted on a ti ny island roughly 1 km west of Tekakwitha.600      

Due to lack of helicopters the original plan was amended.  The only change 
made was that a secti on would be inserted at the bridge (instead of a full pla-
toon) and the remainder of the platoon would be dropped 300m to the west 
to secure the western perimeter.  The remainder of the plan was unchanged.  
With batt le procedure moving extremely fast, the original H-Hour (initi ati on of 
operati ons) was moved from 1330hrs to 1430hrs.  In keeping with the policy 
of informing the Mohawks prior to any movement or operati on on the Re-
serve, Lieutenant-Colonel Gagnon informed the Band Council, specifi cally Jack 
Leclair, at 1420hrs of what was taking place.  Brigadier-General Roy contacted 
Elvin Delisle fi ve minutes later.  Therefore, the residents and Warriors of Kahn-
awake had knowledge of what was happening and 15 minutes warning before 
“G,” “H”, and “K” Coys of 2 RCR deployed.  Obviously, they could also see and 
hear the Chinook Helicopters.  The fi rst detailed elements of 2RCR landed at 
1433hrs aft er one pass over the island to gain a bearing of the ground and 
surroundings.601 

The reacti on of the Nati ves who assembled at the bridge head was exceed-
ingly quick and aggressive.  In a short period of ti me a group of 300 Mohawks 
had amassed at the wire cordon of the bridge and violence quickly ensued.  
A truck was driven through the wire at the end of the bridge and the angry 
crowd spilled over pelti ng the 30 soldiers protecti ng the bridge with rocks and 
golf balls.602 Several soldiers were knocked down and were being beaten by 
numerous Mohawks.  The soldiers responded by shoving the crowd and us-
ing rifl e butt s to fend off  the protestors.  Six grenades of CS gas were released 
by the RCR which temporarily stunned most of the angry crowd; however, a 
certain porti on appeared not to be aff ected and conti nued forward.  A single 
warning shot was fi red into the air by Private Pellecchia which halted the ad-
vance momentarily.603 

The situati on was made worse when soldiers in riot gear and SQ helmets ar-
rived.  The Mohawks, believing these were actually SQ offi  cers, became even 
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more enraged.  Shortly thereaft er, a 2 RCR reconnaissance platoon command-
er att ached a Warrior fl ag upside down on his radio antenna which further 
infuriated the throng of Nati ves.  He was charged by the CF the next day, left  
the mission and was released from the Army.604 

What followed can best be described by those who were there.  Lieutenant-
Colonel (then Captain) Pat McAdam:

I was back at HQ being the Adjutant and I got a phone call telling 
me to prepare everybody I had and that we were needed on the 
Island immediately.  So I grabbed all of the cooks, clerks, truck 
drivers and everyone lying around and the Regimental Sergeant-
Major (RSM) jumped in to be my Platoon Warrant.  We fl ew into 
the island and tried to give as much help to keep that bridge 
route shut.  I started talking to Chief Joe Norton and tried to get 
him and the Peacekeepers to control the crowd.  By then the 
weapons on the island had been confi rmed.  One of the Nati ves 
caught me looking the other way and hit me on the head with 
a large rock, the size of a basketball and I went unconscious.  I 
actually have pictures of it.  I went down and Captain Shayne 
McArthur, a platoon commander ordered another round of gas.  
John Fife who was south of me came up with some soldiers in a 
reinforcement role same as me.  He was the one shown on tele-
vision being dragged by his binoculars and being beaten.  I then 
got Medivaced.  I ended up with 15 sti tches.605 

Lieutenant-Colonel (then Lieutenant) John Fife also shared his story:

The fi rst person I saw was the RSM, CWO Irving.  He told me 
that we were needed to help evacuate the Adjutant [McAdam].  
The crowd came face to face with me and a few of my soldiers.  
There was spitti  ng and punching and then a riot broke out.  I was 
in front and got pulled into the crowd and took some kicks and 
punches.  I fell and that is when one of my soldiers fi red a burst 
of C-9 [Light Machine Gun] ammuniti on which caught the att en-
ti on of the crowd and they were able to come in and drag me 
out.  I was not Medivaced but a few of my soldiers were.  They 
were beaten quite badly.  When we fi red the C-9 burst we also 
moved back creati ng a larger buff er zone.606  
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While Lieutenant Fife was being beaten on the ground, Private M.L. Tilley re-
leased a 4-6 round burst from his C-9 over the heads of the crowd.  At roughly 
the same ti me, Private M.P. Robertson fi red fi ve rounds into the air.  Corre-
spondingly another round of CS gas was volleyed at the crowd.607 

During the melee, two C-7 rifl es were taken; one from Lieutenant Fife and the 
other from Master-Corporal Corrigal who was knocked down and beaten aft er 
being pelted with rocks.  The sniper groups tracked those weapons and were 
given permission to shoot if those weapons were even pointed in the direc-
ti on of the RCR soldiers: “Had the Nati ves who took those weapons turned 
with them, even inadvertently, that was it, they were dead.  That would have 
been really bad.  That was not their intent in taking them though; they were 
scoring a coup of sorts.  If one of them had been foolish enough, even pre-
tending, pointed and turned, the snipers would not have waited to see if he 
was kidding. That was their ROE. It was close there,” as explained by a confi -
denti al source.608  

Eventually, Mohawk leaders and the Peacekeepers were able to subdue the 
crowd.  The extracti on of the troops began at 2100hrs and was completed an 
hour later in a total of eight airlift s using CH-147 Chinooks and CH-135 Twin-
Hueys, while two CH-136 Kiowas provided overhead surveillance.  In all 244 
soldiers and 78 SQ members (in a secondary role) parti cipated in the raid.  
Many of the soldiers who were fl own in as reinforcements were the service 
and support elements of 2 RCR including cooks, clerks, mechanics and soldiers 
fresh off  their QL3 infantry course.  22 soldiers were injured in total, nine of 
which had to be evacuated.  One soldier was beaten unconscious with his own 
helmet while another had to have his ear surgically reatt ached.  75 Mohawks 
were treated for minor injuries, broken bones and gas inhalati on.609 

In total 48 weapons were seized in fi ve diff erent caches.  Although all were 
illegally stored, only three were illegal including a six shot Striker Automati c 
Grenade Launcher.  6,000 rounds of ammuniti on were also found as well as a 
crossbow, knives, communicati ons equipment and other military clothing and 
kit.  Small amounts of alcohol and tobacco products were also confi scated.610 

Aft erwards many of those involved in the raid questi oned what went wrong.  
The fi rst point was that the CF was not well-versed in crowd confrontati on 
techniques, including confrontati on with women and children, nor was the 
proper equipment available.  Although crowd confrontati on training was con-
ducted during Operati on SALON itself in coordinati on with SQ offi  cers, none 
had been done before hand.  Compounding this problem, no eff ects-based 
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planning had been done at an operati onal level.  The raid occurred aft er the 
barricades had come down.  The mission now was to restore normal condi-
ti ons to the area.  Were weapon raids an implied task?  Obviously Brigadier-
General Roy and Lieutenant-Colonels Gagnon and Mitchell believed so. Fift een 
years later, this is how Lieutenant-Colonel (then Major) Bassarab analysed the 
raid on Tekakwitha Island:

One of the biggest shortf alls of that operati on was the lack of 
what we now call eff ects based planning.  Our offi  cial mission 
was to stay in place and monitor and control those routes and 
the area in general.  One of the mistakes we made during the 
control and stabilizati on was going aft er weapons.  The reason 
I say mistake is because if you check with Briti sh experiences in 
Northern Ireland, and a few other places, going aft er weapons 
in that type of environment is not easy and due to the nature of 
that parti cular job it gets back to cause and eff ect.  Is the capture 
of weapons worth all of the other aspects that you have now 
infl uenced?611 

Although soldiers with shields and batons taken from the SQ were eventu-
ally inserted on Tekakwitha, it occurred aft er the riot had subsided.  Another 
aspect of this was that offi  cers were wearing berets not helmets in order to 
be recognized by both their own soldiers and the Mohawks.  Had Captain Mc-
Adam been wearing a helmet he might not have sustained any injury.612 Cor-
respondingly, having no previous experience in this type of confrontati onal 
environment the soldiers were all wearing webbing which with all the buckles 
and straps was very easy to grab and was used to pull soldiers to the ground.613   
There was also strong evidence to suggest that those Mohawks not aff ected 
by the CS gas were on pills to negate its symptoms: “Some of them were not 
aff ected in the least bit by the gas, which is another interesti ng story, as that 
gas usually aff ects people.  They had pills against the gas,” recalled Lieutenant-
Colonel (then Major) Bassarab.614 

Three days aft er the raid, a Mohawk informant, who was an acti ve member 
of the Kahnawake Warrior Society, explained how such a large crowd accrued 
so quickly at the bridge.  He explained that the Band Council, the Mohawk 
Nati on Council and the Warrior Society did not operate as disti nct enti ti es.  
There was coordinati on and council between these groups.  Hence, when 2 
RCR telegraphed the raid by informing Mr. Leclair and Delisle, this informati on 
was made communal.  Secondly, Kahnawake had a number of systems in place 
to alert the people of the town.  These systems included the air raid/tornado 
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siren, the fi re hall bell, a telephone fan-out sheet, patrols, handheld radios 
and the Kahnawake radio stati on (103.5FM).  This was confi rmed by soldiers 
on the ground who reported that when Mohawks and Warriors arrived at a 
confrontati on they were eff ecti vely directed where to go.615  On 20 September 
Lieutenant-General Foster stated that future search operati ons would conti n-
ue but may not in all cases be announced before hand.616 

The informant also menti oned, which was confi rmed by EW, that those Mo-
hawks with Vietnam and other military experience had a great deal of input 
into operati ons and decisions.  They were instrumental in organizing the Re-
serve into sectors and coordinati ng squad leaders and squad rotati ons.  In 
additi on, the informant revealed that most of the heavy weapons had previ-
ously been taken out and were now in the U.S. at Akwesasne and Ganienkeh. 
A smaller amount had also been buried.  This man also reported that the LAWs 
had been transported elsewhere as they were, “too valuable to lose.”  He con-
cluded that these were the reasons why so few illegal weapons were found 
on Tekakwitha.617  

However, the major point of contenti on existed in the premise that the CF 
was carrying out the functi on of the civil power, the SQ.  On many occasions 
during the aforementi oned raids, the SQ refused or neglected to perform its 
functi ons.  In a sense it was not a traditi onal Aid to the Civil Power operati on; 
rather, replacement of the civil power. Jurisdicti on was oft  ti mes convoluted 
and confused.  Protocol for cordon and search operati ons was that CF ele-
ments provide the cordon and the SQ conduct the search as they have the 
warrant.  However, this did not happen in the case of the Diome raid or at 
Tekakwitha Island.  In both instances the SQ refused to co-operate and 2 RCR 
was left  to execute both functi ons.  Secondly, those CF personnel involved 
quickly realized that the involvement of the SQ was counterproducti ve as the 
Mohawks had a severe hatred for them at both Kahnawake and Kanesatake.  
Lieutenant-Colonel (then Captain) Pat McAdam:

The Mohawks complained a lot about the SQ.  We only worried 
about how it would aff ect our operati ons.  We knew that if we 
went in with the SQ beside us the Nati ves would respond very 
poorly.  Instances like the Diome house and Tekakwitha Island, 
they said they would not come in.  We lost faith in their ability to 
support us and carry out their functi ons.  So we were forced to 
because they would not react.618 



 – 183 –

OKA: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian Forces

The situati on for 2 R22eR at Kanesatake was quite diff erent.  They were not 
involved in cordon and search operati ons in conjuncti on with the SQ.  Nor 
were they ever in situati ons where crowd confrontati on became an issue for 
the soldiers where warning shots would have to be fi red.  Unlike Kahnawake, 
there was no arrangement at Kanesatake whereby the CF would have to de-
clare its intenti ons before acti ng.  The tacti cal scenarios at both locati ons were 
completely diff erent as the environment dictated the courses of acti on to be 
taken.  Colonel Tremblay highlighted these diff erences:

Apart from accidental discharges there was never a single weap-
on fi red by the CF at Kanesatake.  There was never warning shots 
because we always managed the situati on and never got into 
that crowd control situati on.  We used pure military tacti cs, no 
shields, no batons, no CS gas.  The modus operandi at the bat-
talion level between the RCR and 3 R22eR in Kahnawake and 2 
R22eR at Oka was very diff erent.  The tacti cal situati ons were 
also diff erent.  The area of operati ons around Kahnawake and 
Chateauguay was much more problemati c, higher risk of collat-
eral damage, where in Oka we managed to saniti ze a small area 
which gave us more fl exibility as there were no civilians and less 
Mohawk populati on.  The two diff erent operati ons cannot be 
compared as they were very diff erent in scope and nature.  We 
never gave them noti fi cati on.  Surprise is a principle of war.619 

The relati onship with the civilian populati on was also drasti cally diff erent.  At 
Kanesatake, only a handful of people had to be evacuated from their houses.  
Many others chose to leave the area voluntarily.  There were numerous in-
stances where these displaced people gave their house keys to senior CF com-
manders stati ng that they could use the houses for sleeping quarters or for 
other administerial purposes.  Unfortunately, there were confi rmed reports 
of both Mohawks and CF personnel stealing electronic equipment from these 
vacated homes or lounging in the backyard swimming pools.  The CF members 
were charged in military court.620   

The Warriors also committ ed arson on two houses, looted and extensively 
vandalized another owned by Mohawks sympathizers Dr. Réjean Mongeon 
and his wife Andrea on 31 August.  Later that night, they severely beat Francis 
Jacobs and his son Cory with baseball bats.  It was this incident which prompt-
ed the fi rst military acti on the following morning on 1 September throughout 
the Kanesatake area of operati on.621   
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Problems with the SQ went beyond the jurisdicti onal impediments.  Most CF 
members interviewed admitt ed that the professionalism of the SQ was mar-
ginal and they were able to pick up elements of racism.  Also, some SQ mem-
bers complained about the meals and sleeping quarters provided for them by 
the CF service and support batt alions during both Operati on AKWESASNE and 
Operati on SALON.  At the expense of the taxpayer, many SQ members chose 
to stay in hotels instead of the military modular tents provided for them.622   
An NCO who wished to remain anonymous shared his feelings and those of 
his peers:  

The soldiers were frustrated with fact that the SQ got to stay in 
hotels and they also resented the fact that the SQ worked shift  
work, could go home, see their families and then come back 
three or four days later.  Yet they [SQ] sti ll complained about ra-
ti ons and quarters when the soldiers were in tents and working 
24/7, not on shift s.  Some members of the CF viewed it as a situ-
ati on where they were called in to clean up the mess left  by the 
SQ, who seemed to shirk responsibility.623 

The SQ was seen as a corrupt force by the Mohawks even before they de-
ployed.  The raid of 11 July only enhanced this reputati on.  For the CF, any 
loss of neutrality would compromise their eff ecti veness and legiti macy.  In 
additi on, the soldiers were under close public scruti ny and acts of racism or 
intolerance would be highly visible.  More troublesome, was the realizati on 
that the initi al psychological impact of the massive deployment was lost.  This 
factor coupled with the inability of the CF to use force undermined the ac-
ti ons and capacity of the CF to perform its duti es quickly.  The longer the crisis 
dragged on the more the CF was seen by the Mohawk communiti es in the 
classic defi niti on of an occupying army. 

This resentment and the politi cal constraints, in conjuncti on with the raids on 
Kahnawake, tainted the role and neutrality of the CF so much that legal ac-
ti ons were being taken to remove the CF from its role in Aid to the Civil Power.  
As it stood under the legislati on, the CF had to remain unti l released of its du-
ti es by the Province of Quebec.  On the night of 14 September a court injunc-
ti on was served to the Federal Court of Canada in order to transfer the control 
of the CF from the Government of Quebec to the Att orney-General of Canada 
and that the CDS and CF refrain from any further acti viti es under the Nati onal 
Defence Act.  These requests were denied as no current legislati on could be 
used to overturn Quebec’s request for Aid to the Civil Power.624 
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The complex relati onship between the CF and its role in an IS operati on such 
as Operati on SALON was not inherent to only the CF.  Most western military 
forces were also clinging to the Cold War paradigm.  Training was equivalent 
to the threat; mass formati ons of Russian forces att acking Western Europe 
and the ever-present prospect of nuclear att ack.  The qualiti es required for 
fi ghti ng a conventi onal war are diff erent from those required to quell subver-
sion, insurgency or “peacekeeping” for that matt er.  When soldiers endowed 
with the skills and training to be courageous, aggressive and proacti ve be-
come involved in counter-insurgency operati ons these good qualiti es can be 
exploited by a clever enemy, nowhere more so that in an IS operati on.  Accord-
ing to Frank Kitson: “For example fi rm reacti on in the face of provocati on may 
be twisted by clever propaganda in such a way that soldiers fi nd the civilian 
populati on regarding their strength as brutality, and their direct and honest 
eff orts by helping to restore order as the ridiculous blunderings of a herd of 
elephants.”625    

Many Oka veterans recalled a single episode on 12 September which epito-
mized this fragile status of neutrality and the problems associated with do-
mesti c operati ons.  One of the initi al rules at Kahnawake was that no weapons 
would be allowed to be transported in or out of the Reserve.  The Kahnawake 
Peacekeepers possessed legal jurisdicti on to carry service weapons and up-
hold law on the Reserve as aff orded to them through the Band Council by 
the Ministry of Indian Aff airs.  On the 12th, three members of the Kahnawake 
Peacekeepers crossed a barricade with their service weapons.  The soldiers at 
the barricade arrested and handcuff ed them in plain view of all the Mohawk 
onlookers.  They were to be handed over to the SQ to face charges; however, 
Major Bassarab delayed this acti on.  Instead they were brought to a private 
locati on nearby, the handcuff s were removed and discussions ensued.626   

Eventually, they were taken by the SQ accompanied by a military police offi  cer.  
Lieutenant-Colonel (Major) Bassarab explained: “In the end we sent one of 
our MPs with them.  Is that a lack of trust?  No, it was a measure to answer 
that you could claim that you provided full assurance that you [CF] are not 
turning these guys [Peacekeepers] over to the enemy [SQ].  They were not 
hiding their weapons, they were their service weapons.  In the end we estab-
lished good relati ons with these guys.”627 

The relati onship between the Peacekeepers and 2 RCR and 3 R22eR was by 
all accounts well-natured and co-operati ve.  They oft en accompanied soldiers 
on patrol on the Reserve and frequently calmed angry crowds of Mohawks at 
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barricades.  They even went so far as to borrow mine detectors and equip-
ment from 2 RCR in att empts to locate buried weapons caches.  Although the 
arrest angered the Band Council and Grand Chief Norton, and was seen as 
provocati ve by the community of Kahnawake, it did not erode the working, 
professional relati onship between the Peacekeepers and the CF.  In fact, it 
was the Peacekeepers who recovered the two C-7 rifl es purloined during the 
acti ons on Tekakwitha Island.  They were given back to 2 RCR the day aft er the 
troubled raid.628   Lieutenant-Colonel Boswell captured the awkward positi on 
the Mohawk Peacekeepers were in: 

We dealt with the Nati ve police regularly and I must admit all in 
all they were prett y darn good.  They were stuck between a dog 
and a fi re-hydrant and they were doing the best they could to 
enforce the law within their own community but also became 
a buff ering factor between their community and the military 
which was not a welcomed or easy task.  But they did it and I 
suspect they probably paid a price for it personally.629 

The presence of the Peacekeepers was a positi ve att ribute to the mission at 
Kahnawake.  Acti ng as a go-between for the CF, the Band Council and the 
populati on led to greater lucidity during negoti ati ons.  With the help of the 
Peacekeepers, the situati on at Kahnawake seemingly sett led down aft er the 
Tekakwitha Island incident.  The worries were now the return of the SQ to the 
Reserve, the loss of status by the Peacekeepers as sole police force in the com-
munity and the realizati on that, “Chief Joe Norton is trying to establish himself 
as an authority as Band Chief but he is a Warrior promoter and has shown 
ti me and again that he cannot be trusted.”630  Kanesatake had no Peacekeep-
ing force as they were not an offi  cial Reserve and although a small diff erence, 
the absence of this force did have an impact on the military operati ons and 
the disclosure of plans as previously described by Colonel Tremblay.

The relati onships at Kahnawake were threatened by the numerous raids with-
in the village itself.  2 RCR and 3 R22eR were carrying out the role of a police 
force, in the form of crowd control and searches, for which they were not 
equipped or trained.  The grudging acceptance by the Mohawks to CF pres-
ence turned violent as the cordon and searches intensifi ed.  Although the Mo-
hawks accepted CF and LEA security around the perimeter and even agreed to 
dismantle the barricades, the raids nullifi ed negoti ated sett lements that had 
been previously arranged.  However, the raids did produce numerous weap-
ons, including a .50 calibre sniping rifl e as well as large deposits of contraband 
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and shocking government and military documents.  On the surface the raids 
were a success.  They helped restore security to the area in one sense, but in 
another sense created more animosity.  

Without eff ects-based planning and surprised by the violent resistance mount-
ed by the general Mohawk populati on, not just the Warriors, to the incursions 
into Kahnawake, the raids also had negati ve repercussions. The relati onship 
between the CF and the peoples of Kahnawake worsened.  The longer the Oka 
Crisis dragged on, the more the CF was seen by the Mohawk populati on as an 
occupying force.  The uneasy relati onship between the Canadian Forces and 
the citi zens and leadership of Kahnawake was ameliorated by the mediati on 
of the Kahnawake Peacekeepers.  From all accounts, they performed their role 
diligently in a very precarious positi on.  Nevertheless, with all traffi  c routes 
open in and around Kahnawake, the withdrawal of 2 RCR and 3 R22eR from 
this area of operati on was conti ngent on the outcome at Kanesatake where 
the last radical elements were confi ned to the compound of the Treatment 
Centre.       

At Kanesatake, the remaining protestors holed up in the TC refused to surren-
der themselves to the whims of the Canadian justi ce system.  On 14 Septem-
ber, they stated that they would no longer use the one remaining telephone 
hotline, increasing the unknowns at the perimeter.  The CF conti nued to prom-
ise that those who laid down their arms and vacated the TC would be placed 
under military control and custody and not under that of the SQ.  The remain-
ing Warriors conti nued to refuse this proposal.631  Lieutenant-General Foster 
ordered 5 CMBG to, “conti nue to exercise progressive pressure to obtain the 
surrender of the Warriors entrenched at Oka and to restore public law and 
order in the areas of Oka and Kahnawake.”632
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CHAPTER 20

Exodus from the Treatment Centre

The prolongati on of the standoff  at Kanesatake was having implicati ons on 
operati ons at Kahnawake.  2 R22eR was applying more pressure through pa-
trols, lights, sound and by limiti ng communicati on and media access.  Howev-
er, negoti ati ons were sti ll ongoing. Most of the Mohawk community thought 
that the Oka Crisis had served their purpose.  It brought governmental and 
nati onal att enti on to their land claim of the Pines which had already been 
purchased by the federal government.  Sti ll, the Warriors inside knew that 
they would be arrested upon vacati ng the compound and when they did fi -
nally exit on the night of 26 September they did so according to their design, 
not in the framework which had been agreed upon.

Lieutenant-General Foster publicly stated on 20 September that no other 
negoti ati on points from the Warriors would be entertained other than the 
matt er of disengagement.  Further to the point, Foster announced that he 
had been advised that no transfer of the land obtained earlier by the federal 
government at Oka would take place unti l the Warriors laid down their weap-
ons and were treated in accordance with the laws of Canada.633  Behind the 
scenes, Foster proposed a number of measures to resolve the situati on which 
were acquiesced to by his politi cal peers.     

It was agreed that no one outside of the TC could negoti ate for the Warriors 
and that no one should answer their “never-ending list of questi ons.”  It was 
also stressed that neither the CF nor governments should confer on those 
inside the perimeter the status or belief that they were speaking on behalf of 
the Mohawk Nati on: “The Warriors speak for themselves.”  Foster proceeded 
to give three courses open to end the crisis in considerable detail.  The fi rst 
was a “Final Assault.”  This, he believed would lead to bloodshed while put-
ti ng the children inside the TC at grave risk: “THIS OPTION CONSIDERING THE 
PRESENT SITUATION IS BEYOND MINIMUM FORCE.”  The second course of 
acti on was dramati cally “Increasing the Pressure.”  This amounted to cutti  ng 
off  food, water, clothing, electricity, heati ng oil and clothes to the TC: “Such 
a decision would reverse our positi on that food and other necessiti es would 
not be used as a weapon.  THIS OPTION CONSIDERING THE PRESENT SITUA-
TION IS BEYOND MINIMUM FORCE.”  It was assessed that while not resorti ng 
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to the denial of food and essenti al resources, pressure tacti cs would increase 
in scope to include the media as well.634 

The CF was becoming increasingly concerned and agitated with the journalists 
sti ll inside the TC.  The reports coming from inside were oft en misrepresent-
ed and it appeared to the CF and other external journalists that those inside 
were suff ering from what was known as “Stockholm Syndrome.”  Although no 
journalists were held against their will, “Stockholm Syndrome” describes the 
behaviour of kidnapped victi ms who, over ti me, become sympatheti c to and 
identi fy with their captors or guards in close contact stressful situati ons.635   

In order to alleviate this problem and the perceived biased reports originati ng 
from inside the TC, which evidently incorporated Warrior rhetoric and propa-
ganda, the CF legally secured the right to deacti vate the known cellphones of 
Warriors and journalists operati ng in the Oka area.  Through EW, the CF also 
restricted the ability for any cellphone to eff ecti vely operate in the area.  Both 
were initi ated on 14 September.  However, the most proacti ve recourse was 
the CF decision on 16 September to stop the fl ow of all tapes, fi lms, text and 
copy to or from reporters within the Detoxifi cati on Centre.  Many journalists 
were furious, citi ng the Charter of Rights and Freedoms and calling the tacti c 
“war-like censorship.”  The CF released a statement countering these claims 
using legal documentati on and court approvals.636  

With the increasing pressure put on those inside the TC by 2 R22eR and other 
branches of the CF, the mood at the perimeter became increasingly tense.  
The Warriors crept out of the perimeter and stole fl ares and other military 
devices.  On two occasions they discharged red fl ares, trying to hit a helicop-
ter on one occasion.  At one point they threw a smoke grenade at the soldiers 
opposite their positi on and cocked their weapons.  The soldiers responded 
alike.637   

Aft er the raid on Tekakwitha, “Lasagna” from inside the TC went on the air of 
the Kahnawake radio stati on and exclaimed that the people inside the TC were 
disappointed with the lack of support from their brethren.  He told the people 
of Kahnawake to take a stand against the Army and that all of the men in the 
TC were prepared to fi ght.638 The fact that “Lasagna” successfully transmitt ed 
his message revealed the holes in the CF’s jamming network.              

Warriors frequently probed the perimeter, trying to cut or jump the wire and 
test the likelihood of escape by these means.  Each att empt was thwarted by 
the reacti on of soldiers. On 23 September the Warriors pelted the soldiers 
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with bott les, rocks and pieces of wood which they had been stockpiling.  The 
scene was repeated on the night of the 25th and the soldiers responded by us-
ing a high powered water hose to push the Warriors back from the wire with 
mixed results.639 As dawn broke on the morning of the 26th off -duty soldiers 
played hide and go seek with a group of Mohawk children.  This relaxed atmo-
sphere was not indicati ve of the situati on inside the TC.640    

Inside the TC the mood and relati ons had become argumentati ve.  Many be-
lieved that the original goal of saving the Pines and bringing the government 
to the negoti ati ng table had been fulfi lled.  Canada, and to some extent the 
world, had taken noti ce of the Kanesatake Mohawk and prolonging the crisis 
served no further purpose.  However, many of the more radical Warriors sti ll 
maintained the belief that they were willing to die for the cause and in ef-
fect become martyrs.  They also distrusted the authoriti es and knew that they 
would be arrested upon exiti ng the perimeter.  What litt le freedom they had 
inside the perimeter and confi nes of the TC was bett er than no freedom in 
a penal insti tuti on.  Many of the journalists and supporters had already left  
including lawyer Stanley Cohen and reporter Geoff rey York.641  

Aft er some coaxing, the radical Warriors inside the TC agreed to leave in what 
they described as a “unilateral cessati on of hosti liti es,” not a surrender.642  
Arrangements for the exit of those in the TC had been agreed upon two days 
earlier in the presence of Stanley Cohen.  Colonel Tremblay recounted the 
plan and eventual happenings:

We had three companies around the perimeter short of the wa-
ter.  Everything was put in place for an orderly extraditi on to the 
east of the TC along 344.  The enti re plan was to have them exit 
in an orderly fashion to the main gate, separated into groups of 
men and women and children get on the awaiti ng buses and 
move out to Farnham.  But these were clever people and that 
would not make the case and would be discrete without media 
att enti on [the media had been moved further east], so that is 
not what happened.643 

Before exiti ng, those inside the TC destroyed their weapons, equipment and 
documents in a fi re or dumped them into a cesspool.  They held a traditi on-
al Mohawk ceremony, packed their belongings and said their goodbyes.  At 
1855hrs, the column of children, women and Warriors slowly approached the 
main gate towards the awaiti ng soldiers and buses.  At the halfway point the 
unarmed parade took a sharp right turn towards the northeast corner of the 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 192 –

perimeter where the media was gathered.  Stretcher boards were laid over 
the wire and the massed group began to scatt er creati ng a chaoti c scene.  CF 
representati on was scant as most of 2 R22eR had been deployed to the centre 
at the arranged departi ng area.644 

The Mohawks and their supporters in the TC breached the wire in the locati on 
of Colonel (then Major) Tremblay’s “C” Coy:

We managed to contain 99 per cent of them, some managed 
to escape and squeeze out.  It was quite nasty, because there 
were no weapons so we got into hand to hand trying to control 
and restrain people. But it gave them a lot of visibility again so 
their fi nal moment was extensively covered by the press.  I was 
hand to hand fi ghti ng with Mad Jap.  They breached the wire 
and walked out women and children fi rst and they were pushing 
very hard and that woman [Waneek Horn-Miller] got the bayo-
net wound.  I was standing right there and saw it.  The two sol-
diers said, ‘Stop moving, stop moving,’ and she basically impaled 
herself on the bayonet.  They were trying to force their way out 
but our orders were very clear—to contain them.  It was a great 
lesson on how to set up wire though.  People can breach it easier 
than we thought.645 

One of those who snuck down the road towards Oka was Loran Thompson.  
Aft er breaking clean of the rabble, he managed to hitch a ride in town and 
made his way to U.S. Akwesasne.  On 2 October he turned himself in at the 
RCMP stati on at Westmount and was handed over to the SQ.646  CF intelligence 
had previously done psychological appreciati ons on everyone present in the 
TC and also collected all legal and fi nancial records relati ng to the more radical 
holdouts:  

Loran Thompson was an extremely clever individual.  He got out.  
A very resourceful man. We got a fi nancial profi le on him.  He 
was managing these bingo halls and although his salary wasn’t 
large he was taking 4 per cent of the gross take, tax free.  Imag-
ine the money this guy had.  I have to say I was surprised by the 
amount of wealth a few people were accumulati ng through gam-
bling, smuggling and other questi onable acti viti es.647 

Waneek Horn-Miller was indeed stabbed in her sternum by a bayonet.  She 
remembered the unfortunate events with vivid recollecti on: 
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They put us in front to protect us, so that we were not mistaken 
as adults when the fi ghts broke out.  I had all of the children and 
I’ll never forget my sister screaming.  It was something no one 
should ever have to hear.  The soldier in front of me froze and 
I pushed him backwards and walked by him.  I think he was as 
scared as I was.  We originally didn’t go out the way we were sup-
posed to because the media wasn’t there and we wanted them 
there for our safety.  Everyone was afraid that even if by accident 
a shot was fi red, there had been enough tension that summer 
that we would be blown away.  I had my sister by my side and I 
was carrying a lot of stuff .  I was trying to make my way to the 
media barricade and a soldier kept pushing me back. I was not 
going backwards because I thought my safety zone was ahead 
towards the media.  I don’t really remember what happened but 
I just couldn’t breath but I got stabbed and I fell forward and 
someone kicked my feet out from under me and I was pulled 
backwards.  I was in such a state of hysteria and fear that I don’t 
really remember.  I was scared and angry.  I only realized on the 
bus that I had actually been stabbed.  On the bus the women 
MP actually kicked me back as I approached her to get medical 
att enti on.  Being totally at the mercy of someone else was scary.  
We didn’t know what was going to happen.648    

By 1955hrs, with an infl ux of 2 R22eR reinforcements, the situati on was under 
control.  The Mohawks and their supporters were loaded onto two buses for 
transportati on to Farnham.  In all 26 men, 16 women, 10 journalists and six 
children arrived at Farnham in military custody at 2215hrs.  They were pro-
cessed and photographed in the drill hall and then placed in a guarded secti on 
behind a large burlap screen all under authorizati on of the service custody 
regulati ons secti on 277 of the Nati onal Defence Act.  Eight others including 
Ronald “Lasagna” Cross were arrested by the SQ during the exodus and were in 
SQ custody at St. Eustache.649 The standoff  which had lasted 78 days was over.

The fi nal stand at Kanesatake had immediate repercussions on the uneasy 
peace at Kahnawake and Akwesasne.  Based on the events that occurred at 
Kahnawake it was obvious that communicati on lines existed between those 
in the TC and their Kahnawake brethren unti l the fi nal moments.  In additi on, 
a weapons sweep of St. Nicolas Island by 3 R22eR earlier in the day angered 
many Kahnawake residents.  Similar to past raids, they viewed this as an incur-
sion into Mohawk territory by a foreign force.  Although some Mohawks did 
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harass the soldiers performing the search, they left  on the recommendati on 
of the Peacekeepers.

On 26 September at 1942hrs, a Warrior dispatch was intercepted.  This mes-
sage summoned all Warriors and supporters to the Legion Hall.  Ten minutes 
later the alarm was rung at the Kahnawake fi re stati on. At 2025hrs a group of 
200 Mohawks armed with bats and axe handles removed the barbed wire and 
att acked an EW installati on and set its tent on fi re.  New wire was erected, “B” 
Coy 3 R22eR was deployed to reinforce the positi on and the group withdrew 
quickly.  However, they moved to strike another CF locati on.650 

Correspondingly, between 2000hrs and 2020hrs physical altercati ons took 
place between 2 RCR and a growing group of 100 Mohawks.  Warrior radio traf-
fi c conti nued to request that more supporters advance to the 2 RCR barricade 
at Highway 138.  By 2030hrs, the angry mob had swelled to roughly 300 and 
overran 2 RCR’s forward positi on and conti nued to press forward pelti ng the 
soldiers with rocks and bott les.  Many were carrying bats, batons, shields and 
gas masks which had been purchased aft er the Tekakwitha Island raid.  One 
soldier was struck with a stone and beaten.  A secti on of troops was ordered 
forward and aft er hand to hand fi ghti ng they retrieved the injured soldier and 
withdrew.  Yet, the crowd conti nued to surge forward and the requests of pla-
toon commander Lieutenant Dave Selhaney to stop, fell of deaf ears.651 

He then ordered his soldiers to fi x bayonets and form a defensive line.  The 
crowd surged forward.  Three canisters of CS gas were fi red into the crowd with 
litt le result.  Six rounds of M38 were fi red as a warning but the Mohawks con-
ti nued to advance.  Another three shots from a C-7 were fi red at the ground.  
Only aft er Lieutenant Selhaney ordered his soldiers to load their weapons and 
gave direct fi re orders to aim at the ring leaders did the crowd stop.  At this 
ti me another platoon arrived in reinforcement and a negoti ated withdrawal 
of the Mohawks took place.  Two Mohawks were injured and one soldier was 
treated with 45 sti tches aft er being beaten over the head with a lead pipe.  
He also suff ered a fractured skull.652  The incident became known as the “Riot 
at K3B.”  The Mercier Bridge was closed by the SQ for three hours during the 
melee and was reopened shortly aft er midnight.  As a result of the events of 
26 September, the Canadian Airborne Regiment was placed on three hours 
standby as a quick reacti on force.  Fortunately, they were not needed.653 

Akwesasne was also more acti ve on the night of 26-27 September due to 
the fi nality at the TC.  Several RCMP cars were vandalized.  LEA personnel 
were threatened on numerous occasions.  They were also pelted with a wide 
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variety of objects ranging from tomatoes to large stones.  Three reported cas-
es of shooti ng incidents during the early morning were also reported.  The 37 
CF personnel were placed in alert to extract police forces.  However, this did 
not occur.654  

The following morning a joint SQ/CF team conducted an extensive search in 
and around the TC.  The sweep revealed trench positi ons and also the remains 
of 54 weapons in the smouldering fi re.  The breakdown of the weapons was: 
12 shotguns, 4 handguns, 10 rifl es and 28 semi-automati c assault rifl es.655 

Inside the TC itself there was overwhelming evidence of forti fi ed positi ons, 
boxes of ammuniti on and in the words of the CDS himself, “There was an aw-
ful lot of frozen food in the freezers.  There were loads of food: canned food, 
frozen meat, etc.  There were also cars inside.”656  Colonel Tremblay was part 
of the initi al search:

The human rights violati ons that were reported were never the 
case.  Basic human needs were provided.  When we searched 
the TC, they had food, water and reserves for sti ll a while.  To 
say it was against the Geneva Conventi on or human rights that 
would not be true.  It could be perceived that way but there was 
no way we were going to allow beer, alcohol and those types of 
thing to enter.  There is a diff erence between basic needs and 
things that could be potenti ally dangerous.  But percepti on can 
be made into what ever people want to believe is reality.  There 
was plenty of food and water and diapers for a while.  It is a 
questi on of perspecti ves.657 

Reports regarding the denial of food and basic resources by the CF had been 
published throughout the standoff  at the TC.  Many of these reports came 
from journalists inside the TC.  This was generally not the case.  The CF acti vely 
parti cipated in the resupply of those inside the TC delivering packages and 
boxes over the wire perimeter.

However, certain soldiers did make independent decisions to damage food 
packages with bayonets or urinate on parcels of food and clothing.  Waneek 
Horn-Miller’s school books sent by her teacher and principal from Glebe Col-
legiate in Ott awa never found their way into her hands inside the TC.  Rott en 
food parcels were also delivered to the TC.  These acti ons and denials were not 
CF policy and these soldiers were charged in military court if they were caught 
in the act or if enough evidence against them was accrued.  Another soldier 
who tried to cross the perimeter shortly before the exit from the TC, wanti ng 
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to steal a Warrior fl ag was also punished.  In actuality, there was not one CF 
unit that did not terminate an offi  cer for incompetence or malfeasance.  At 
one point during the middle of the crisis, the enti re administrati ve staff  of the 
Farnham Base Security Company was fi red and replaced.658 

With the fi nal search of the TC, it appeared that 2 R22eR had accomplished 
its four-point mandate.  Lieutenant-Colonel Pierre Daigle, commander of 2 
R22eR, initi ated preparati ons for the withdrawal of his batt alion in a handover 
of responsibiliti es to the SQ.  By 29 September, only the 2 R22eR rear party 
remained in Oka.  The remainder had relocated to Saint-Benoît and then to 
Farnham on 1 October.  The SQ was now responsible for all operati ons in Kane-
satake.  At Kahnawake, the military presence conti nued although the CF ele-
ments gradually began to thin out.  The last weapons search was conducted by 
3 R22eR on 7 October.  A cave was searched for weapons with no results.659 

On 2 October, General de Chastelain sent a lett er to Premier Bourassa outlin-
ing the decrease in CF manning and the transiti on plan to hand over all opera-
ti ons to the SQ.  It was made clear that a batt alion would remain on standby 
unti l the Premier, through the medium of the Att orney-General of Quebec, 
cancelled the request for Aid to the Civil Power. On the 3rd, Lieutenant-
General Foster publicly announced the ti meline for the withdrawal of 5 CMBG.  
By 9 October, 1,582 CF personnel remained acti ve in Operati on SALON.  Over-
all, 4,500 soldiers had been deployed throughout the crisis.  At any one ti me 
the peak deployment was 3,700.  Included in the total numbers were almost 
700 Reservists and 180 females.660 

5 CMBG conti nued to reduce its numbers.  The Canadian Airborne Regiment 
was released from its Operati on SALON reacti on force tasking on 3 October.  
By 5 October, all detainees at the military custody area at Farnham had either 
been released or handed over to the Quebec judicial system; therefore, the 
custody area was closed.  By 15 October, only 2 EW Sqn and 3 R22eR remained 
in Farnham as a rapid reacti on force (RRF) to support LEAs.  The remainder of 
5 CMBG elements had returned to their home bases at Valcarti er and Gag-
etown.  2 EW Sqn returned to Kingston on 26 October.  By 31 October, all re-
maining CF parti cipati on was removed from the Kahnawake/Montreal area.  3 
R22eR conti nued to be tasked as the RRF on 12 hours NTM from Valcarti er.661  

The Government of Quebec sti ll refused to withdrawal its request for CF as-
sistance.  With the questi onable legislati on of Aid to the Civil Power, Quebec 
could maintain the assurances of CF parti cipati on for as long as it desired.  
However, the amount of CF parti cipati on was left  in the hands of the FMC 
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commander Lieutenant-General Foster having been appointed by the CDS.  
On 2 November, Foster told Claude Ryan that one company from 3 R22eR was 
now on 36 hours NTM as the RRF.  Ryan responded by stati ng that a withdraw-
al of the request has not yet been discussed and it was the intenti on of the 
Province of Quebec to maintain the request unti l it deemed that the situati ons 
at Kanesatake and Kahnawake had proven stable.  The Government of Quebec 
offi  cially withdrew its request for Aid to the Civil Power in writi ng on 30 May 
1991.662 Operati on SALON was fi nally terminated aft er 10 months.   

The direct parti cipati on of CF personnel actually lasted longer for Operati on 
AKWESASNE.  On 14 November LEAs reported that CF support to their opera-
ti ons was no longer required.  As a result, all CF personnel and stores were 
returned to their home units by 23 November.  On 1 December, DND sent a 
lett er to the Solicitor-General of Canada indicati ng the military’s intenti on to 
be released from its role of Provision of Armed Assistance.  Operati on AKWEͳ
SASNE was offi  cially concluded by Pierre Cadieux, the Solicitor-General, on 5 
December 1990.  The deployment, reaching its zenith at 373 CF personnel, 
had lasted just over seven months.663 

Although the standoff  ended on 26 September and all CF forces were removed 
from the various areas of operati on by November, the strife in Mohawk ter-
ritory did not end.  Aft er the withdrawal of the CF and LEAs, the Reserves 
reverted back to no-go zones.  The internal violence, facti onalism and smug-
gling conti nued. The convergence of cultures had reached its breaking point in 
Mohawk country, but was by no means over.
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CONCLUSION

Section I: The Canadian Forces

Although the soldiers accomplished their tasks without any loss of life and 
5 CMBG met its objecti ves, the standoff  illuminated inherent problems as-
sociated with IS operati ons.  These problems existed not only in the politi cal 
arenas but also throughout the strategic and operati onal doctrines originati ng 
at NDHQ for domesti c operati ons. The most obvious lesson learned was that a 
review of the Nati onal Defence Act and the principles of Aid to the Civil Power 
in conjuncti on with the Emergencies Act needed to be analyzed and subjected 
to scruti ny in light of the crisis.  This included not only the power of requisi-
ti on but also the chain of command and an override clause within the current 
legislati on to include the role of the CDS, the Minister of Nati onal Defence, the 
requisiti oning province and fi nally the Prime Minister.  In additi on, the cost 
capture for Aid to the Civil Power needed to be re-examined. 

The cost for Operati on FEATHER/AKWESASNE totalled $840,000.664  The cost 
of Operati on SALON for the Canadian Forces was $120 million, of which 80 
per cent would have been incurred on exercises, training and other previously 
planned acti viti es had the operati on not taken place.665  The cost for the RCMP 
was an additi onal $25 million.666   In relati on, the Oka Crisis cost the Province 
of Quebec $108 million of which $71 million was paid by the federal govern-
ment in compensati on.667  The fi nancial burden to the federal government, 
and in relati on to the taxpayer nati onwide, was consistent with Part 7 of the 
Emergencies Act, which states that such military acti viti es are a federal re-
sponsibility in accordance with Secti on 91(7) of the Consti tuti on Act.668 

Other agencies incurred costs as a result of the events during the summer of 
1990.  The Province of Ontario provided transportati on and accommodati on in 
Cornwall to Mohawk refugees fl eeing Akwesasne in the midst of the violence.  
The OPP also incurred infl ated costs due to its involvement in Akwesasne.669   
The Canadian Red Cross’ bill totalled $144,275 for its humanitarian eff orts in 
Kanesatake and Kahnawake.670 

On a strategic level, military interventi on cannot consti tute an end in itself.  
Any interventi on by the CF must at most be one step in a governmental 
plan which should be followed by a sett lement or, at the least, politi cal 
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negoti ati ons.  Politi cal decisions cannot be derived on the spot from the 
acti ons of the CF on the ground.  For the CF itself, both the Oka Crisis and 
the Gulf War led to the development of the J-Staff  system within NDHQ 
contributi ng to greater overall organizati on and effi  ciency.671 

Lack of military knowledge in the general populati on, the absence of recent 
IS operati ons and the lack of familiarity of military culture at the politi cal level 
resulted in poor mutual understanding between military and civil authoriti es 
during Operati on SALON.  Politi cians, government offi  cials and LEAs had limit-
ed knowledge of military capabiliti es, weapons eff ects, planning, deployment 
procedures, reacti on ti mes and control methods.  The implicati ons of order-
ing a military assault on the barricades in the presence of civilians were not 
understood.  

What is for certain is that had the Oka Crisis deteriorated to the point of en-
gagement, the outcome would have been disastrous.  Given the parameters 
of the Canadian Forces’ mandate and the weapons present within Warrior 
circles, the CF would have, had it been deemed necessary, used appropriate 
military means to end the impasse.  As General de Chastelain noted upon 
Quebec’s request for the CF under Aid to the Civil Power, “The government 
has now gone to the court of last resort, which is us. We cannot fail, because 
we are all that is left .”672  Given this realizati on and the disparate margin be-
tween the CF and the Warriors with regards to weapon systems, number of 
personnel and professional military training, there can be no questi on as to 
what the outcome would have been.  Thankfully, all parti es involved main-
tained enough dialogue and discipline to avoid such an unthinkable outcome 
to resolve the immediate elements of the Oka Crisis.    

In additi on, the civil authority (Quebec) was astounded and frustrated by the 
ti me it took the CF to plan operati ons.  Considerable ti me and discussion were 
required to arrive at a consensus between military and civilian agencies.673  If 
called out in the role of Aid to the Civil Power, CF commanders need freedom 
of acti on.  Concomitant with this freedom, bureaucrati c and politi cal interfer-
ence in CF operati ons should be eliminated or minimized.674    

Accordingly, conti ngency plans must be maintained and developed through 
intensifi ed and more focused liaison between politi cal leaders, government 
offi  cials and police forces to improve planning for future operati ons.  A closer 
and more structured civil/military relati onship is also required at all levels.  
Joint training of CF personnel, including Reservists, and LEAs is necessary 
to avoid confusion with jurisdicti on, command and control and equipment 
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when deployed in combined operati ons.675 This includes the sharing of all 
intelligence materials.

During Operati on SALON, the media played a large factor in the shaping of the 
public percepti on and demonstrated that relati ons with the public, including 
the media, must be an integral part of the operati onal plan.  It was noted that 
a technical network of public aff airs staff  should have a representati ve at every 
level of the chain of command, thus avoiding confusion of facts and state-
ments while providing the media with a unifi ed CF front.  Furthermore, the 
approach to the media should be proacti ve, not reacti ve.  It was also noted 
that the requirement for legal advisors at all levels existed.  Due to the delicate 
nature of IS operati ons, it is vital that the legal framework of the operati on be 
understood at all levels.

This legal jurisdicti on also includes a bett er understanding of the ROEs.  The 
concept of “use of minimum force” cannot be narrowly defi ned.  This principle 
and the legality that it never be violated were paramount.  Since the Oka Cri-
sis, ROEs have become extremely intricate, complex and lengthy.  They are not 
blanket statements; rather, mission orientated.  This evoluti on occurred aft er 
the Oka Crisis during subsequent CF missions to the Balkans throughout the 
1990s.  This was lacking during the operati ons in Mohawk country in 1990, the 
result of which was confusion amongst soldiers on the ground as to what they 
could and could not do.

The lack of ROEs during Operati on SALON and Operati on AKWESASNE was 
accentuated by the lack of training for IS operati ons including crowd confron-
tati on.  Had soldiers been trained for the riot scenarios they encountered and 
had the proper equipment—shields and batons—the volati le situati ons, in-
cluding the use of warning shots on many occasions, might have been less 
violent and confrontati onal.  Although warning shots seemed to quell the vio-
lence on most occasions, they also could have sparked the opposite reacti on.  

In accordance, bett er eff ects-based planning was needed.  Even though the 
Mercier Bridge had reopened, unsure of its mission, 5 CMBG ordered a series 
of raids aimed at seizing contraband and weapons.  Although many weapons 
were confi scated, these raids presented some of the uglier images of the cri-
sis, undermining the overall performance of the CF.  These raids also height-
ened tensions and sti rred up the resentment of the Mohawk populati on at 
large, not just its more radical members.  By taking up “off ensive operati ons”, 
the CF gave the Mohawk media and propaganda opportuniti es they would not 
have had.676 
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The raids also intensifi ed the general resolve of the Mohawk populati on to 
achieve sovereignty and resist the encroachment of government agencies 
onto their land.  The consequences of this resentment made its way into CF 
recruitment policy.  In 1999, the CF recruitment guide, Strengthening Rela-
ti onships Between the Canadian Forces and Aboriginal People (Recruitment 
Guide) directed CF personnel to, “Avoid the following references: the confl ict 
at Oka, Quebec, the dispute at Ipperwash, Ontario…  The 1990 incident is sti ll 
an emoti onal topic with many First Nati ons.  It invokes negati ve images of the 
CF and any reference to Oka should be avoided in a First Nati ons setti  ng.”677 

Despite these infrequent tarnishes, the CF did maintain a positi ve and pro-
fessional outward appearance to the Canadian public.  One reason for the 
acti ons of the soldiers on the ground was the familiarity of working and train-
ing together within the regimental structure.  This concept was stressed by 
numerous CF personnel that were interviewed.  Major Lambert asserted that, 
“The thing we wouldn’t be as good at now is the stability and the discipline 
from our secti ons having been together for a long ti me, what you get with 
formed Regiments and sub-units having been in garrison and the messes as 
opposed to a group coming together just a few months before deploying op-
erati onally.  The Regimental style works.”678  Prime Minister Mulroney lauded 
the CF’s performance: “The Canadian Forces…are to be commended for the 
level of professionalism that has been evident throughout….  All the personnel 
of 5 Brigade showed great courage and almost superhuman self-control in the 
face of extraordinary provocati on.  They have earned Canadians’ respect and 
grati tude for a diffi  cult job well done.”679 

As both Operati on AKWESASNE and Operati on SALON were domesti c, no CF 
individuals were awarded decorati ons and no campaign medal was issued, 
although 5 CMBG was awarded the Canadian Forces’ Unit Commendati on 
(which is not worn on uniforms).680  Both Operati on SALON and Operati on AK-
WESASNE illustrated the high level of professionalism within the ranks of the 
CF but also the fl aws associated with IS operati ons and planning.  Over a year 
aft er the crisis, Lieutenant-General Foster made these observati ons: 

The possibility exists that we could be faced with a number of 
similar incidents across Canada, in which case our limited trained 
resources would be quickly exhausted….  We must not hold back 
from early discussion with civil authoriti es at the outset of any 
potenti al crisis…and increase early warning.  At the same ti me 
we must look closely at our own…organizati ons to fi t them as 
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best we can for the simultaneous conduct of operati ons similar 
to Operati on Salon in more than one region.681 

It is also a litt le known fact that during Operati on SALON, the CF evacuated 
850 Nati ve Canadians using CC-130 Hercules transport aircraft  and CC-115 
Buff alo aircraft  on two separate occasions from Webequie, Ontario in the face 
of spreading forest fi res.  Although informati on regarding these airlift s of July 
and August was relayed to public media agencies through the CF Defence Me-
dia Liaison Offi  ce, neither humanitarian assistance airlift  was reported.  In light 
of Oka, the media seemed to be focused on guns and golf courses and not the 
positi ve disaster-relief operati ons concurrently being undertaken by the CF.682 

In actuality, the Oka Crisis was not be the fi rst ti me the CF was tasked to quell 
Nati ve violence and insurgency.  In 1989, local Innu protesti ng the decision to 
make CFB Goose Bay a NATO aerial training range began camping on the run-
way and range area.  They claimed that the low level fl ights of fi ghter planes 
and the subsequent live-fi re training disrupted the migratory patt erns of the 
Caribou. CF Reservists from the Atlanti c region were tasked to guard the base 
and remove protestors in what was dubbed Operati on UNIQUE.  The aff air 
ended peacefully and the Innu took their complaint to the judicial system.683  

If the governments of Canada are not prepared to tackle the larger issues and 
roots of the problems plaguing Aboriginal communiti es the CF could be called 
upon in the future to quell Nati ve uprisings.  The Canadian Forces must be 
adequately equipped and trained, as given the current legislati on they cannot 
refuse a request for military interventi on. Unless alterati ons in the politi cal 
arenas occur in consultati on with Aboriginal leaders, the convergence of cul-
tures towards violent clashes will conti nue.

Section II: Native-Government Relations
The outcome of the Oka Crisis for the Mohawk Nati on was varied.  The federal 
government did procure the disputed land and turn it over to the Mohawk of 
Kanesatake.  The ti ny cemetery was also purchased for one dollar.  However, 
all of the land belongs to the Crown, reserved for the use of the Aboriginal 
populati on.  In 2001 Bill S-24: The Kanesatake Interim Land Base Governance 
Act was passed detailing the rules and regulati ons between the territory of 
Kanesatake and the governments of Canada and Quebec.  This legislati on is 
unique to Kanesatake, as it sti ll does not fall under the Indian Act and is not a 
Reserve.684     
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Another positi ve aspect which resulted from Oka was that the federal govern-
ment abolished the regulati on to only examine six comprehensive land claims 
at one ti me.  In conjuncti on, the province of Briti sh Columbia fi nally recog-
nized that Nati ve Canadians had land rights and agreed to the principles of 
land claim issues.685  Aside from these issues, the Oka Crisis did litt le to change 
the policies of DIAND and the federal government, while it broadened the 
divides already present within the Mohawk Nati on.  

For the communiti es of Akwesasne, Kahnawake and Kanesatake the cleaves 
of internal politi cs remained aft er the crisis.  The Warrior Society stayed ac-
ti ve and the infl uence of their acti viti es conti nued to plague the communiti es.  
Only two of the 37 Mohawks charged were ever convicted: Ronald “Lasagna” 
Cross and Gordon “Noriega” Lazore.  Neither served a full sentence.  These 
communiti es sti ll suff er from degradati on and from violence derived from 
their internal politi cal divides.  Once again the Mohawk territories have be-
come no-go zones for LEAs.  Both Kahnawake and Akwesasne conti nue to have 
their own Peacekeeper police forces and Kanesatake was granted the same 
in 1997.686  Certain members of the Mohawk Nati on conti nue to expound 
the belief that they are a sovereign nati on not subject to outside governance 
and laws. While certain traditi onalists contend that they are not subject to 
the laws of a foreign government, they have been quick to take advantage of 
the legislati on that these governments accord them.  They do not hesitate to 
use the Jay Treaty or to invoke the Canadian Consti tuti onal Charter.  At the 
Oka inquest, many Mohawks also invoked the protecti on of secti on 5 of the 
Evidence Act so that they were not compelled to testi fy.687 

It is apparent that the Warrior Society and its sect of followers are using this 
duality to gain on all fronts to promote their radical agendas.  They use liti ga-
ti on to enhance these agendas but also do not hesitate to borrow the tacti cs 
of revoluti onary insurgency in order to inti midate the oppositi on within their 
own communiti es and also the governments of Canada.  Aft er the Oka Crisis, 
the Government of Canada was reluctant to become embroiled in another 
standoff  and took a hands-off  approach to dealing with the conti nuing smug-
gling, inti midati on and revoluti onary upheaval spawned by the Warrior Soci-
ety.  Correspondingly, lawlessness and the infl uence of the Warrior Society in-
creased in Mohawk territories, nowhere more prevalenty than in Akwesasne.  
In this sense, the Warriors won the Oka Crisis and same situati on of pre-1990 
was conti nued.

As smuggling acti vity increased, the violence between the Nati ve fac-
ti ons increased as well.  By 1993, the smuggling and violence was reaching 
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epidemic proporti ons and gunfi re became a common sound to the residents 
of Akwesasne and neighbouring Cornwall.  As of 1993, “sin-taxes” on tobacco 
and alcohol had grown enormously.  The price of a pack of cigarett es in Canada 
was double that of the same brand in the United States.  These costs and the 
increased demand created unparalleled profi t margins for the “Silks” and the 
Warriors.  At Akwesasne, $3.6 billion worth of tobacco products were fl owing 
south to north through the Reserve, in additi on to alcohol and weapons.  In 
exchange, the Warriors shutt led counterfeit money, illegal aliens and narcoti cs 
south.  Before 1990, loose ti es had existed between the Warrior Society and 
organized crime.  By 1993, these connecti ons had grown stronger and larger to 
include the Chinese triads, the Russian Mafi a, Jamaican Posses and other eth-
nic mafi a organizati ons.  A senior police offi  cer in Cornwall described the area 
as the, “Klondike of organized crime [and] multi culturalism’s fi nest hour.”688      

Ott awa was fi nally ready to act. Throughout December 1993 and January 
1994, strategies were discussed and preparati ons and training were conduct-
ed for joint operati ons in all three Mohawk territories by CSIS personnel, elite 
members of Joint Task Force 2 (or JTF 2, Canada’s Special Forces), 800 RCMP 
offi  cers and over 2,000 CF members.  The operati on was given two names: 
Operati on CAMPUS and Operati on SCORPION-SAXON.  The fi rst was used in 
reference to the actual operati on.  The second was a decoy used to describe 
a “training exercise” in order to deceive the media about the real acti ons.  
Members of JTF 2 and the CF conducted training exercises similar to those 
of 5 CMBG leading up to deployment during Operati on SALON.  Stories were 
concocted and released to the media to mislead journalists about the move-
ments of CF personnel and equipment throughout the country during January 
and February 1994.689

The operati on was eventually called off  eight days prior to its scheduled start.  
Intelligence revealed that the element of surprise had been lost and that the 
acti ons would lead to bloodshed and the possibility of a nati onwide indig-
enous uprising. Instead, the government took noti ce of the reduced sales and 
tax revenue from alcohol and tobacco and lessened “sin-taxes.”  Although 
never disappearing, the cigarett e industry in Mohawk territory took a hard 
hit.690 Nevertheless, JTF 2 members were covertly inserted on the Reserves 
to conduct surveillance on smuggling personnel and routes.  This informati on 
was relayed to other LEAs.691

To placate the diff erent politi cal elements present at Kanesatake and att empt 
to fi nd common ground, the structure of the band council was changed to 
combine the traditi onal and electoral systems.  Before the Oka Crisis, Chiefs 
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were appointed by Clan Mothers.  The council consisted of three Chiefs from 
each clan (Turtle, Bear, Wolf) including one Grand Chief.  Aft er the crisis, the 
council was amended to consist of six Chiefs and one Grand Chief (instead of 
eight) all elected by the people.  However, most of the Longhouse followers 
refuse to vote, deeming the electoral system to be a bastardizati on of the 
Great Law of Peace. 

The politi cal divides remain as evidenced as recent as 2004.  Grand Chief James 
Gabriel, with the help of DIAND, gathered a group of Aboriginal police offi  cers 
from other regions of Quebec in a large anti -crime raid on Kanesatake target-
ing cigarett e dealers and the mounti ng number of drug growers and opera-
tors.  In order to do this Gabriel bypassed the Kanesatake Police Commission 
and also secured a $900,000 emergency loan from DIAND.  This compounded 
the already rising debt of the band council.  Gabriel had also negoti ated and 
agreed to the controversial Bill S-24 in 2001, which angered many Longhouse 
supporters.  

The police raid went ahead on 12 January 2004, causing violence within Kane-
satake.  In light of the resistance, Gabriel requested SQ interventi on.  The pro-
vincial authoriti es refused.  Soon aft er the conglomerati on of police forces 
left  the community, Gabriel was forced to fl ee to Laval aft er his house was set 
ablaze.  He was later defeated in an electi on, losing to Steven Bonspille on 26 
June 2005.  However, the six band members elected with Bonspille are Gabriel 
supporters.  The politi cal stalemate conti nues and the divisions in the commu-
nity are far from reaching a consensus.  Ellen Gabriel recognized the inherent 
problems in Kanesatake: 

The Longhouse people stand in the way of the moderates who 
are now the ones that really control the community, like last year 
when they burned James Gabriel’s house down.  These are the 
moderates who have been able to do what ever they want in the 
community without any prosecuti on by the SQ or anyone else.  
We know they [SQ] have surveillance and the means to come in 
and to get rid of these criminal elements within the community.  
I think 15 years ago up to now it is sti ll in place; the undermin-
ing.  Also in land claims the government sets all the rules and the 
conditi ons for negoti ati ons.  There is no fl exibility or consultati on 
for the Aboriginal people to say, ‘No this is not what we wanted 
and we want to approach it this way.’  If you say that then they 
replace you with someone else through the department [DI-
AND] who will perform their agenda. The impact of colonizati on 
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throughout the Americas has created a lot of dysfuncti on and 
I told Prime Minister Marti n that when we had our meeti ng….  
You may think that you are not responsible because these things 
happened before you were born, but no, the perpetuati on of 
colonizati on, insti tuti onal racism, these are the things hamper-
ing our people.  As long as this trend conti nues there is going to 
be diffi  culti es, problems, unrest and all the high incidents of ‘the 
whatever’ in our communiti es.692   

If the legacy of Oka is represented by any single facet within the community 
of indigenous peoples of Canada, it is that the trend of violent insurgency has 
not diminished.  Young radical Nati ves respect neither the laws of Canada nor 
the traditi onal authority of the First Nati ons peoples.  Using the asserti on of 
legiti mate Aboriginal grievances, they undermine the peaceful intenti ons and 
negoti ati ons of the people they purportedly represent. For the Government 
of Canada, the legacy of Oka is that Mohawk threats and frustrati ons went 
unheeded by successive governments for 300 years.  Although certain amend-
ments were made to the framework of land claim policies and governmental 
infl uence at Kanesatake, litt le has actually changed. Ipperwash, Gustafsen Lake 
and the current barricade at the Six Nati ons Reserve near Caledonia demon-
strate that the dissati sfacti on of Canada’s Nati ve populati on has not been mol-
lifi ed.  In relati on, the militant trend within Aboriginal communiti es conti nues.  
According to Mohawk Waneek Horn-Miller, “It is alive and well.”693  

The revival of Nati ve traditi ons and Aboriginal rights through peaceful means 
is understandable and extremely necessary for the future of both Nati ve ter-
ritories and Canada as a whole.  Unless the Government of Canada and those 
of its Provinces fi nd alternati ve and compromising ways of dealing with the 
complex problems associated with indigenous Canadians and their legiti mate 
demands, there can be no doubt that extreme Nati ve facti ons will conti nue to 
usurp power and promote an atmosphere of violence.  DIAND must incorpo-
rate Nati ve concerns into its policies for land claims.  Aboriginal contributi ons 
into the legislati on and mechanisms which infl uence their communiti es and 
lives must be recognized.  To avoid future violence, Canadians must also learn 
new views about Nati ve peoples and their cultures and reassess our own du-
ti es and responsibiliti es to these proud people and provide the respect they 
deserve.   Confrontati onal tacti cs should not be the court of last resort.

However, the onus for a more co-operati ve and harmonious existence does 
not rest solely with the non-Nati ve populati on and governments of Canada.  
Nati ve Canadians must come to some unifi ed consensus and conti ngency plan 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 208 –

as to the directi on they see themselves progressing.  Simply claiming to be a 
sovereign nati on and clinging to an isolati onist policy is not the answer.  They 
must understand and accept the constraints imposed by the historical record 
of events which has infl uenced their nati ons.    

Promoti ng legiti mate grievances through the use of violence and insurgency 
tacti cs is also not an opti on. The violent manifestati ons of a select few Mo-
hawks who wish to maintain the power and money of their communiti es 
to the detriment of sincere and legiti mate grievances must cease.  The Re-
serves must somehow rid themselves of the presence of the violent radicals 
and unify themselves to peacefully promote their justi fi able and valid voice 
of complaints.  When this occurs, the governments involved must listen and 
co-operate to fi nd a soluti on that both parti es can agree upon and live with 
by incorporati ng the Nati ve voice and concerns.  To achieve this end, Mohawk 
territories cannot remain “no-go zones” for LEAs.  The “un-policing” of the 
Reserve in the past left  them to the mercy of corrupt elements.  That was and 
should not remain Canada’s failure to those undeserving of such communi-
ti es.  

The RCMP reported in May 2006 that seizures of contraband cigarett es at Ak-
wesasne were on the rise, confi scati ng 100,000 more cases of cigarett es in 
2005 than in 1994, when they began keeping inventory.  The year 2005 saw a 
20 per cent increase in confi scated contraband compared to the year before.  
Currently, 10 factories are operati ng on the Akwesasne Reserve with only four 
having offi  cial licence.694  In additi on, a 1996 Globe and Mail report cited that 
U.S. Border Security had intercepted 299 “deportable aliens” moving across 
the border through Akwesasne between October 1995 and October 1996.  
Another report connected Akwesasne with internati onal human smuggling 
networks transporti ng “thousands of illegal immigrants into Canada…a new 
breed of global outlaws.”695 There is also evidence linking Akwesasne to the 
movement of Al-Qaeda operati ves shortly before 9/11.696  

As it stands, the process of alienati on and mutual distrust conti nue to plague 
Nati ve-government relati ons.  The Oka Crisis did litt le to solve the larger prob-
lems of corrupti on within the administrati on of Nati ve communiti es. Nor 
did the Oka Crisis remove the hard stance of the government to accept the 
radical agenda or to negoti ate with Nati ves carrying weapons or threaten-
ing to use them to achieve their revoluti onary goals.  The use of weapons 
and violence does not follow the Great Law of Peace.  Alternati vely, the use 
of the CF cannot be used to solve problems that should be negoti ated by all 
parti es involved in a room at Parliament and around a sacred fi re.  As tacti cal 
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commander Brigadier-General Roy aptly stated at the end of the crisis, “There 
is no glory in conducti ng an operati on like this in your own country against 
your fellow citi zens.”697  Confrontati onal tacti cs to remedy the convergence of 
cultures should not be the court of last resort.  When asked if another Oka was 
likely, Ellen Gabriel replied: 

It is possible because you have the same situati on happening. 
But the likelihood is not as great as 15 years ago.  I think people 
are trying to use words; however, the government is learning that 
they cannot only pay att enti on to the deep-rooted concerns and 
the long-standing issues of Aboriginal people only if you put up 
a barricade.  Sti ll before 1990 the government only recognized 
the Band Councils which they imposed on the communiti es, a 
system created by them and it is sti ll conti nuing today.  They put 
a lot of things in the disguise of self-government but it is sti ll not 
self-determinati on.698 
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EPILOGUE 

From Oka to Caledonia—The Clash 
Continues 

The historical record since Oka illustrates that litt le has changed and that 
certain elements of the Nati ve Canadian populati on perceive the erecti on of 
barricades or occupati on of lands as the only means by which to bring gov-
ernments to the negoti ati ng table.  In reality, the Government of Canada was 
assessing future Nati ve “hot-spots” during the Oka Crisis itself.  Ipperwash 
eventually became the setti  ng for another violent confrontati on between Na-
ti ve acti vists and the Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) in 1995.  During the Oka 
Crisis, in response to the nati onal support for the Mohawks given by other 
First Nati on communiti es, the CF, in conjuncti on with other security agencies, 
was tasked to complete a threat assessment of areas and Reserves where po-
tenti al violence was likely.   

The fi nal document was called “The Next Oka.”  Heading the list of 118 loca-
ti ons was Ipperwash, Ontario, 35km northeast of Sarnia on shores of Lake 
Huron.699  Not only was Ipperwash home to a CF training facility, it was also 
Reserve residence to the Kett le and Stoney Point Nati ves.  Between 02-16 
September 1990, during the Oka Crisis, 50 Nati ves had camped inside the pe-
rimeter of CF Camp Ipperwash in support of the Mohawks.  CF conti ngency 
planning was done for the possibility of armed confrontati on with the local 
Nati ves. However, aft er negoti ati on with local CF personnel stati oned at Ip-
perwash they peacefully withdrew.700   

Tempers over the transfer of Camp Ipperwash back to the local Nati ves, as had 
been promised, fl ared in 1995 when a group of Stoney Point Chippewa/Ojib-
wa occupied the base and nearby Ipperwash Provincial Park (which contained 
a Nati ve Burial Ground) in protest.  The OPP tacti cal response unit, fl anked by 
snipers, was called in on 6 September and during a brief shootout unarmed 
Nati ve Dudley George was shot and killed.  Although the CF was not involved, 
the OPP did submit a request for a Bison APC to transport its personnel, which 
never materialized.  CF conti ngency planning to move 1 RCR from Petawawa 
was also promulgated in what was dubbed Operati on MAPLE and Operati on 
PANDA.  However, there was no direct CF interventi on at Ipperwash.701   
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The Nati ves maintain that no arms were present and neither police offi  cers 
nor police equipment showed signs of gunfi re.  Although there is no indica-
ti on that Mohawk Warriors were present, the patt ern of the leaders doing the 
talking and off ering up “expendables” to confront police appeared to have 
played itself out again at Ipperwash.  An observer inside the Nati ve camp as-
serted that George was exhorted into “proving himself” by the protest leaders 
consisti ng of Buck Doxtater and Oneida Peacekeepers (Warriors).702 

The protest was not backed by the Stoney Point Band Council but the att rac-
ti on of free housing and the lack of band council regulati on, in conjuncti on 
with an ambiguous treaty over the land, prompted the occupati on to con-
ti nue.703  The disparate views concerning the land at Ipperwash dated back to 
June 1942, when the Government of Canada appropriated the land under the 
War Measures Act against the wishes of its Nati ve occupants.704  

The CF land was given back to the Stoney Point Band and the fi ndings of the 
long awaited Ipperwash Inquiry were released on 31 May 2007. Great con-
troversy and conspiracy surrounded the use of force by the OPP, a subse-
quent cover-up and perjury on the stand by its members and also the role of 
Premier Mike Harris in the decision-making processes.705 Since the Nati ve 
occupati on, the area has become a centre for criminal acti viti es and narcoti c 
traffi  cking.  One only needs to drive by the old Army barracks or “sacred healing 
place” along Highway 21 to see the state of disrepair, the clutt er of burnt-out 
automobiles and the signs warning of unexploded ordnance left  by the 
CF.  In additi on, the once thriving deer populati on has been hunted out of 
existence.706   

Following the release of the fi nal report and fi ndings of the Ipperwash Inquiry, 
negoti ati ons between the Province of Ontario and members of the Chippewa 
of Kett le and Stoney Point First Nati on took place regarding the Ipperwash 
Provincial Park.  On 20 December 2007, the Ontario government announced 
its intenti on of returning the 56 hectare Provincial Park to its original Nati ve 
owners.  The park, formed in 1936, will be co-managed by the province and 
the Nati ves, with consultati on from the surrounding communiti es, for an un-
specifi ed ti me period before complete control is given to the Kett le and Stoney 
Point Chippewa.       

Although the CF was not directly involved in the altercati on at Ipperwash, 
1 Canadian Mechanized Brigade Group (1 CMBG) assisted the RCMP in coun-
tering another armed Nati ve movement in 1995 at Gustafsen Lake, Briti sh 
Columbia near the Nautley Reserve some 130km west of Prince George.  
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It allegedly started over protest concerning the non-Nati ve use of a “Sundance 
site.”  The Plains Nati ve traditi on was never practi ced in the Briti sh Columbia 
interior before 1989.707  This uprising of Shuswap Nati ves transpired at the 
same ti me as the occupati on in Ipperwash, although there is no evidence to 
suggest that they were linked.  The CF contributed a platoon of Bison APCs 
and drivers to what was dubbed Operati on WALLABY in support of the RCMP 
around Gustafsen Lake.  Elements of JTF 2 were also present.  On 11 Septem-
ber 1995, a tense fi refi ght erupted between the RCMP backed by CF elements 
and the armed Nati ves.  The siege ended on 17 September when the Na-
ti ves peacefully surrendered.  18 Nati ves were charged in connecti on to what 
the locals called Wolverine’s War named aft er the ring-leader code named 
“Wolverine.”708  

The convergence of cultures conti nues.  While in the process of writi ng this 
work, barricades were erected on 28 February 2006 near the Six Nati ons Re-
serve south of Caledonia, Ontario along Highway 6.  This author was allowed 
behind the barricades on 23-24 March 2006.  The script is identi cally frighten-
ing to that of the beginning of the Oka Crisis almost 16 years earlier.  Nati ves 
of the Reserve, mostly Mohawk, were joined by others from Akwesasne and 
New York State to protest the constructi on of a new subdivision of nine to 10 
houses called Douglas Creek Estates by the local fi rm of Henco Industries Lim-
ited.  Although not supported by the Band Council, the original spokesperson 
Dawn Smith stated that the council did not have jurisdicti on over land issues 
and that, “It doesn’t matt er if they support us or not.”  The following day, she 
was replaced by Janie Jamieson.  The confusion of politi cs and leadership was 
evident when speaking to those behind the barricade, although no weapons 
were visible.709 

The protestors are arguing that a 385,000 hectare tract of land along the Grand 
River, with six miles on either side from its source to Lake Erie, was granted in 
ti tle to the Six Nati ons under Joseph Brant in the Haldimand Proclamati on of 
1784 aft er the exodus from the United States following the American Revo-
luti on.  In 1792, Lieutenant-Governor John Graves Simcoe reduced the land 
grant to 111,000 hectares.  Four years later, Six Nati ons granted Chief Joseph 
Brant the power of att orney to sell off  parcels of the land in questi on and in-
vest the proceeds for the benefi t of the enti re Reserve.  The Crown opposed 
this decision but eventually conceded to the Nati ve’s demand.  Six Nati ons 
maintains that although Brant did sell off  large tracts of the original land grant, 
this parcel was never transferred to non-Nati ves.710   
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To compound the complicati ons of land ownership, in 1840, the Crown recom-
mended that a Reserve of 8,000 hectares be established on the south side of 
the Grand River and the remaining land be sold or leased.  The following year 
Six Nati ons Chiefs agreed to this proposal on the sti pulati on that the govern-
ment sell the land and invest the revenue into the Reserve.  At this point, a 
facti on of the Reserve protested the Chiefs’ decision believing that they were 
deceived and inti midated into the arrangement.  This decision became the 
basis for a lawsuit in 1995.711   

The specifi c tract of land which is currently being disputed was sold on 15 
May 1848 to George Marlot Ryckman for 57 pounds and 10 shillings and a 
Crown land deed was issued to him upon fi nality of the sale.  Henco Industries 
argues that the land in questi on was originally granted to the Nati ves in the 
form of a licence to occupy the land, but that the ownership was sti ll vested 
with the Crown.  The Nati ves dispute this claim.  In 1850, the Crown and Six 
Nati ons Chiefs agreed to a proclamati on detailing the extent of the Reserve 
lands totalling roughly 19,000 hectares (an Indian Act Band Council was not 
established at Six Nati ons unti l 1924 under RCMP enforcement).712 

It was not unti l 1992 that Henco Industries Ltd. purchased a company that 
owned the 40 hectares of what would later be called Douglas Creek Estates.  
Nati ve oppositi on to this sale occurred in 1995.  In March 1995, Six Nati ons 
sued the federal and provincial governments citi ng 14 specifi c allegati ons and 
claims, one of which included the Douglas Estate land. Prior to this liti gati on, 
the Six Nati ons fi led 29 claims with Canada between 1976-1994.  Henco Indus-
tries insists that this legal acti on was for, “all assets which were not received 
but ought to have been received, managed or held by the Crown for the ben-
efi t of the Six Nati ons,” which would negate this private land.  In 1999, the Six 
Nati ons Reserve fi led a land claims suit over the area known as the Haldimand 
Tract.  Although the governments of Canada and Ontario met with Six Nati ons 
representati ve in 1999, 2000 and 2001, it remained unsett led.713 

In July 2005, the blueprint for the planned Douglas Creek Estates received 
registered approval with ti tle to the property guaranteed by the Province of 
Ontario. When dealing with non-Nati ve land, the provinces of Canada have 
exclusive rights to legislate concerns of property and civil rights, including land 
transacti on, under Secti on 91 (13) of the Consti tuti on Act, 1867.  While it is 
law that Nati ves can only surrender their land to the Crown, once transferred, 
full ti tle of the land then passes to the province.714   
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On 26 October, Six Nati ons Chief David General wrote a lett er to Henco Indus-
tries warning the company of the probable dangers of developing the Douglas 
Creek Estates.  On 28 February 2006, Nati ves began to occupy Douglas Creek 
Estates area and prevented constructi on workers from entering the subdivi-
sion building zone.  Soon aft er an RV was brought forward, tents erected and 
a small barricade complete with Six Nati ons and Mohawk Warrior fl ags was 
constructed on the access road to the west of Highway 6.  Signs reading: “Can-
ada, your home on Nati ve Land,” “Thou shall not steal, including Land,” and 
“This country needs a true history lesson” among others were visible along 
the highway.  Another large banner reading “Six Nati ons Land” straddled the 
northern boundary of the Iroquois camp.715

The Iroquois asked for a moratorium on the building of the subdivision but 
nothing was ever negoti ated or granted.  On 3 March, Ontario Superior Court 
Justi ce David Marshall issued an injuncti on (submitt ed by Henco Industries): 
“This court issued an order requiring the occupiers to clear the site by March 
10, 2006 at 10:00am. The protestors did not leave…and burned the court or-
der.”  On 17 March, Marshall issued another injuncti on against the Nati ves and 
their supporters that by 1400 hrs on 22 March they must vacate the site or be 
arrested by the Ontario Provincial Police on contempt of court charges.716  As 
the deadline approached there was no indicati on that the Nati ves were pre-
pared to break camp.  Shortly before the deadline, the OPP stated that they 
did not intend to arrest or remove the Nati ves by force.  Instead they parked 
patrol cars along the northern and southern boundaries of the barricade and 
monitored the situati on.  Also present that day was a throng of journalists and 
media, including the CBC.  The barricade at Caledonia had gone nati onal.717 

The Nati ves were asking for negoti ati ons to begin with the federal govern-
ment and the Department of Indian Aff airs on a nati on to nati on level, citi ng 
the Royal Proclamati on Act. Developer Don Henning of Henco Industries said 
the he was sympatheti c to some of the Nati ve causes but also told the Hamil-
ton Spectator that, “We have done nothing wrong or illegal.  The real problem 
is with the federal government.  It has nothing to do with us.  We are caught 
in the middle.  We’d like to see a quick and peaceful resoluti on to this.”  He 
has repeatedly appealed to the Minister of Indian Aff airs, Jim Prenti ce, to help 
resolve the protest and land dispute. Thus far, the only response from the 
Ministry of Indian Aff airs was to send an emissary on a “fact fi nding mission” 
which was not cordially welcomed by those at the barricade.718  The resound-
ing statement from the Nati ves at the barricade was: “We are here for the 
long haul unti l it is recognized as Six Nati ons territory.”719 
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The “fact fi nding mission” Henning referred to was that of Michael Coyle, a 
law professor from the University of Western Ontario. On 24 March 2006, 
Indian Aff airs stated that Coyle, was assigned “to undertake a fact-fi nding ini-
ti ati ve related to the ongoing situati on involving members of the Six Nati ons 
of the Grand River, to investi gate the nature of the grievances, identi fy the 
jurisdicti onal implicati ons and explore the possibility for mediati on.”  Accord-
ing to Indian Aff airs, the dossier on Six Nati ons’ claims already contained some 
70,000 pages of materials dati ng back to the 17th century.720 

On 29 March, the OPP met with the Six Nati ons Chiefs and the Clan Mothers 
and hinted that they would remove protestors by force.  This was met by a 
challenge from Michael “Sahtakaientes” Laughing of Akwesasne, one of about 
two dozen Nati ves behind the barricade.  He repeated that he was ordered to 
the barricade by his own Clan Mothers of Akwesasne to protect the people 
and the land: “If I have to die here that’s what I’m going to do.  They will have 
to kill me to take me out of here.”  In a lengthy interview with the Hamilton 
Spectator, he made reference to the Great Law of Peace and the Two-Row 
Wampum Belt stati ng that they govern his way of life and that his orders from 
his Clan Mothers supersede those of the OPP from the Ontario Court.  Laugh-
ing also alluded to the fact that many believe the Band Councils to be an arm 
of the federal government.   He made numerous references to the Oka Crisis 
and the military tacti c game played by the governments: “I hope the world 
sees this…  We are here ready for a confrontati on again.”  Jeff  Hawk, a resident 
of the Six Nati ons Reserve, added that they will only deal with the Att orney-
General of Canada, the Governor General, the Queen or her delegates on a 
“nati on to nati on” basis.721  Deirdre McCracken, a spokesperson for Minister 
of Indian Aff airs Jim Prenti ce, has stated that the blockade, “has nothing to do 
with the federal government.  This isn’t a land-claims matt er.  The actual root 
of the problem is not a land claim.”722     

On 5 April another incident eerily mirrored the Oka Crisis.  With the barricade 
sti ll in place, 300 to 400 angry Caledonians gathered in front of the OPP sta-
ti on to protest the in acti on of both the police force and the federal govern-
ment.  The Caledonia OPP detachment released a public statement stressing 
that they had no intenti on to forcibly remove the Iroquois protestors from 
the site stati ng that they had learned their lesson at Ipperwash in connecti on 
with the fatal shooti ng of Dudley George.723   Although the OPP were reluc-
tant to use force to solve the dispute, the court order compelled them to act.  
At roughly 0430hrs on 20 April, OPP offi  cers conducted a raid on the Nati ve 
protest lines using tear gas, pepper spray and tasers.  Aft er violent skirmishes, 
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16 Nati ve protesters were arrested.  However, the remainder of the protesters 
refused to vacate the site and the barricade remained.724  

Similarly to the Oka Crisis, the repercussions of the raid extended beyond the 
Six Nati ons Reserve. Mohawks in Kahnawake responded by raising Warrior 
fl ags and temporarily blocking the Mercier Bridge for 30 minutes.  Mohawks 
from Tyendinaga lit bonfi res on a CN railway line suspending cargo and pas-
senger rail service for two days.  The situati on at Caledonia was also made 
worse by the OPP raid.  A railway bridge near Caledonia was set ablaze.  A van 
was hurled over a bypass on Highway 6 and a new barricade was erected on 
the highway using burning ti res and gravel.  On Argyle Street South in Cale-
donia two more barricades were erected using a dump truck, ti res and gravel, 
blocking the road to both the north and south of the original barricade on the 
service road leading into the subdivision.725   

As a result of the escalati ng unrest, the Grand Erie School Board and the Brant-
Haldimand School Board closed their schools for the two days following the 20 
April raid.  In additi on to the swelling number of OPP offi  cers, RCMP members 
began to form a presence at the barricades.  Police forces were not the only 
groups growing.  The Nati ve numbers at the multi ple barricades increased as 
support was fi ltering in from Ontario and parts of the U.S., including members 
of various Warrior Societi es.  This was met by an increasingly larger and more 
hosti le crowd of local Caledonia residents backed by outside radical group 
members including the Ku Klux Klan.726   

As in 1990, the police now found themselves in the precarious positi on of 
keeping these two facti ons apart.  On 24 April, roughly 3,000 area residents 
marched toward the police lines.  During the ensuing violence police vehicles 
were smashed, sporadic fi ghts erupted between Nati ves, non-Nati ves and the 
police forces, before order was restored and the angry crowd melted away.  
This ugly scene was repeated on 29 April and non-Nati ve protesters became 
regular at the barricades, as Caledonia businesses were suff ering from the 
blockade of the two major north-south axis of the town (Highway 6 and Argyle 
Street).727

While the tension over the land claim mounted, politi cal negoti ati ons were 
ongoing between the Nati ves, Henco Industries and the Province of Ontario.  
Although federal Minister of Indian Aff airs, Jim Prenti ce, was monitoring the 
situati on and was in communicati on with his subordinates in the provincial 
and municipal governments, most notably Ontario Aboriginal Aff airs Min-
ister David Ramsey and local MP Diane Finley, both he and Prime Minister 



Timothy C. Winegard

– 218 –

Stephen Harper maintained their stance that the dispute remained a provin-
cial matt er.728  On 30 April, the Government of Ontario responded by appoint-
ing former Liberal Ontario Premier David Peterson as chief arbitrator.  Peter-
son publicly stated that he is aware of the complexiti es of the situati on:  “The 
genius here is to fi nd common ground….  The reality is this has been going 
on for 200 years, so we have to fi nd something that everybody wins with…  
What you fear is something like the permanent stain of an Oka.”  Peterson also 
contradicted Prime Minster Harper by insisti ng that Ott awa has the biggest 
role “by a long-shot” in solving the Six Nati ons standoff .729  The Nati ve lead-
ers agreed, sti ll upholding their argument that it is a Crown issue as set forth 
in the Royal Proclamati on Act.  Clan Mother Doreen Silversmith relayed this 
and other grievances to the United Nati ons Committ ee on Aboriginal Aff airs in 
Geneva, Switzerland on 3 May.730 

Growing frustrati ons over the politi cal impasse and the barricades heightened 
the tensions in Caledonia itself.  On 16 May, Nati ve protestors removed part of 
the barricade on Highway 6, allowing traffi  c on one lane of the road, stopping 
each vehicle that passed through.  They went so far as to issue I.D. cards to 
those living behind the barrier.  Non-Nati ve residents responded by erecti ng 
their own barricade, thus preventi ng Nati ves from entering the protest site.  
In what was described as a “gesture of good will,” Nati ve protestors removed 
the barricade on Highway 6 at 0800hrs on 22 May aft er the government 
announced an indefi nite moratorium on constructi on the day before.731  This 
did not mollify the non-Nati ve protestors.

At roughly noon on the 22nd, non-Nati ves formed a human barricade across 
Highway 6, preventi ng Six Nati ons members from passing through.  Shortly 
thereaft er, Aboriginal protestors re-established their barricade using an elec-
trical transmission tower.  In additi on, two backhoes were used to tear a 
trench across the road.  Soon Nati ve and non-Nati ve protestors began trading 
punches and racial slurs.  The OPP quickly formed a buff er between the hosti le 
groups.  During the violent exchanges, vandals shut down a transformer in 
Caledonia cutti  ng power to 8,000 of residents in the surrounding Norfolk and 
Haldimand counti es.  The OPP Emergency Response Team arrived later that 
night in riot gear to shore up the police buff er zone and calm was restored.732 

The following day, 23 May, 17 schools were closed due to the ongoing power 
disrupti on which was eventually restored on 24 May.  Also on 23 May, the 
barricade on Highway 6 was removed and the trench was fi lled in; however, 
barricades sti ll remained on Argyle Street and at the original site.  Following a 
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week of relati ve calm, Ontario Superior Court Justi ce David Marshall ordered 
all parti es involved in the dispute to a special court session in order to explain 
why his initi al court order for the Aboriginal protestors to be evicted was not 
enforced.  The session appeared to be futi le and nothing was resolved.733 

The situati on at the barricades escalated on 9 June with a series of violent 
events all occurring within the period of one hour.  The fi rst incident involved a 
couple in their 70s from Simcoe, Ontario who pulled their car over to the side 
of the road near the protest site.  Nati ve demonstrators quickly surrounded 
the car, forcibly removed the occupants and stole the vehicle.  A short ti me lat-
er, two news reporters from Hamilton’s CH approached the couple who were 
standing in front of the nearby Canadian Tire for an interview.  They were at-
tacked by Nati ve protestors, who demanded the footage and stole their cam-
eras.  Both reporters were taken to hospital for treatment and sti tches.  The 
third incident involved an unmarked U.S. Border Patrol car, which was study-
ing the methods used by the OPP in dealing with the standoff .  The car was 
swarmed, the offi  cers inside dragged out.  The car was stolen and the driver 
proceeded to try to run down an OPP offi  cer, who was subsequently injured.  
During this incident classifi ed police documents, including the identi ti es of 
undercover agents and informati on from Nati ve informants, were taken from 
the vehicle.734 

The violence ended the ongoing negoti ati ons between the Six Nati ons and the 
Province of Ontario.  The OPP issued warrants for seven Nati ves believed to 
be involved in the violent events.  The OPP suspected that they were taking 
refuge on the Reserve but did not enter as they have a protocol not to enter 
the land base of the actual Reserve.   Ontario Premier Dalton McGuinty stated 
that negoti ati ons would only resume once the barricades had been disman-
tled.  Nati ve protestors responded by using heavy machinery to remove the 
Argyle Street barricade made of ti res and twisted metal.  However, the original 
barricade into the constructi on site sti ll remained intact.  In another eff ort to 
resume the negoti ati ons, the stolen documents were returned to the OPP, but 
not before being photocopied.735  

On June 15, negoti ati ons resumed between the Nati ves and the Province of 
Ontario.  The following day, the province buys the land in questi on from Henco 
Industries for an undisclosed amount.  On 23 June, David Ramsey fi nally re-
vealed the amount paid out for the piece of land; $12.3 million.  The McGuinty 
government also announced that it will off er $1 million, in additi on to the 
already proposed $760,000, to compensate Caledonia businesses aff ected by 
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the barricades and road blocks on 15 June.736  Despite these events, the bar-
ricade remained at the constructi on site, with Nati ves conducti ng an archaeo-
logical dig of the site, claiming that it is a Nati ve burial ground.  An archaeo-
logical survey done during Henco Industries’ initi al layout of the subdivision 
revealed Nati ve arti facts but showed no evidence of burials.737  On 5 July, the 
Henco lands in questi on were offi  cially transferred to Government of Ontario 
not to the Government of Canada as Crown lands “reserved for the use of 
Indians” as sti pulated in the Royal Proclamati on Act. The land was privately 
owned before the transfer and was not, in the eyes of the government, Nati ve 
land.  The land was not transferred to the Six Nati ons.738 

Although the land was now in the possession of the Government of Ontario, 
neither the Nati ves nor elements of the Caledonia community were assuaged. 
Protests conti nued from both parti es, one resulti ng in a violent clash on 7 
August.  Many citi zens of Caledonia were questi oning why the OPP had not 
enforced the injuncti on to remove the protestors, citi ng a two-ti er judicial sys-
tem and that the rule of law applies equally to all Canadian citi zens regardless 
of ethnicity.  The following day, Judge Marshall stated that, “in the court’s 
view, aft er much deliberati on, there should be no further negoti ati ons ti ll the 
blockades are lift ed and the occupati on is ended…these reasons be send to 
the Att orney General who has the responsibility for enforcing the criminal 
law…in regard to the criminal contempt.” He also ordered the province/OPP 
to arrest and charge the protestors with contempt of court for not obeying his 
previous court injuncti ons.739 

The following day, aft er another violent confrontati on between residents, Na-
ti ves and police, Ontario’s Att orney General Michael Bryant stated that while 
the province would comply with the ruling that all negoti ati ons cease, the 
province will appeal the decision.  On the ground, the OPP conti nued to sepa-
rate the crowds but did not make the arrests demanded by Judge Marshall.  
The appeal was heard on 25 August in The Court of Appeal for Ontario which 
granted a stay on the injuncti on: “[I]n our view, the maintenance of the rule 
of law favours a stay.”  Moreover, the court gave instructi ons to the OPP to 
proceed cauti ously: “The uncontradicted evidence of the O.P.P. is that a stay of 
the injuncti on order will reduce the risk of harm to the community.  The Prov-
ince should be permitt ed to determine what level of occupati on and what use 
of its own property best promote the public interest in these diffi  cult ti mes…
and negoti ati ons will conti nue.”740 
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Table 5—Six Nati ons (Caledonia) Negoti ati on Structure, August 2006741 

Although negoti ati ons were ongoing, increased civil unrest prompted a con-
sensus with the Six Nati ons and the Ontario government to form a 100-foot 
buff er-zone on the north end of the disputed lands on 25 September “intend-
ed to facilitate a bett er sense of privacy and security for both the people living 
in close proximity…and the Haudenosaunee/Six Nati ons.”  Signage and yellow 
police tape were used to cordon off  the area.  According to the agreement 
only the OPP and other authorized persons, such as the archaeological teams, 
were permitt ed in the buff er-zone with the OPP monitoring the area “as op-
erati onal requirements necessitate.”742   

Despite the buff er-zone, on 15 October, more than 300 Caledonia residents 
and their supporters staged a rally headed by Gary McHale of Richmond Hill, 
while the nati ve protestors and their advocates staged a “potluck dinner for 
peace.”  Dozens of police offi  cers formed a protecti ve barrier between the 
two facti ons and although there were three arrests, the feared violence did 
not manifest.  The frustrati on of some Caledonia residents was voiced over 
the duality of the law while “Caledonia is held hostage.” Conservati ve MPP of 
Haldimand-Norfolk-Brant, Toby Barrett  took the opportunity to criti cize the 
McGuinty government for their inacti on: “There does appear to be a double 
standard.  People see a diff erent applicati on of the law depending on which 
side of the barricade you stand.”743 

Although Barrett  may have used the opportunity for politi cal grandstanding, 
the politi cal situati on was far from cooperati ve.  On his fi rst day as newly ap-
pointed Commissioner of the Ontario Provincial Police, former Toronto Police 
Chief Julian Fanti no stated on 30 October that the OPP’s job is to “preserve 
the peace, deal with off ences and bring those who transgress the laws of the 
land to justi ce. Beyond that, the resoluti on of this is beyond the police doings, 
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beyond any scope that I could have.”  He also alluded to the fact that the drain 
on his force’s manpower cannot conti nue.744  The following day, Federal Indian 
Aff airs Minister Jim Prenti ce canceled a scheduled meeti ng with his Ontario 
counterpart David Ramsey, his offi  ce stati ng that he was “disturbed [by the] 
politi cal grandstanding” of both Ramsey and McGuinty.  Ramsey was plan-
ning on asking the federal government for $25 million to cover some of the 
provincial costs while McGuinty publicly stated that the crisis and land claims 
at Caledonia were, “If you check the Consti tuti on, it’ll make it perfectly clear 
that when it comes to these land claims issues, that is solely the responsibility 
of the federal government.”  Ramsey echoed his leader’s disapproval: “This is 
another example of the federal government failing to live up to its obligati ons 
to the people of Ontario.”745 

This politi cal manoeuvring came on the heels of Michael Coyle’s submission 
and presentati on to the Senate Committ ee on 3 October detailing his investi -
gati on into the Six Nati ons standoff .  In his fi ndings, he stressed that the gov-
ernments of Canada and Ontario must co-operate: “Each takes the positi on 
that it is confi dent that if the Crown is liable for wrongdoing in relati on to Six 
Nati ons’ land claims, that it is the other government that is legally respon-
sible.  It is diffi  cult to see how the Crown will be able to reach a sett lement of 
Six Nati ons’ land claims unless Canada and Ontario can agree on a reasonable 
sharing between them.”  Among his recommendati ons were the following:

1.  Recommendati on: The government should signifi cantly increase 
the number of personnel devoted to the historical and legal review 
of claims.

2.  Recommendati on: Canada should establish an independent body 
with the power to resolve disagreements over the validity of all 
Specifi c Claims, and where negoti ati ons reach impasse, on the 
extent of Canada’s liability in accordance with legal principles.

3.  Recommendati on: The same body, or a related independent 
body, should be established to supervise the adherence to agreed 
ti me frames in claims negoti ati ons and to off er mediati on where 
requested by one party.746 

Despite these suggested reforms, the barricades remained at Caledonia 
and negoti ati ons conti nued as did local protests.  On 16 December another 
rally was headed by Gary McHale, who maintains a website called “Caledo-
nia Wake Up Call,” dedicated to those who oppose the occupati on. He was 
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arrested, along with another man, although the OPP said that he would not 
face criminal charges.  However, negoti ati ons between the Main Table oc-
curred on 11 January 2007, with Side Table meeti ngs sitti  ng for the week of 
15-19 January.747 

During these discussions, Ontario’s Ministry of Culture stated that stones dis-
carded by nomadic hunti ng groups dati ng back to 9,000 years ago were found 
on the disputed land.  Spokesperson Gary Lepage also stated that remains of 
an 800-year-old Longhouse, complete with pott ery and waste refuse pits, was 
also unearthed.  However, despite vast media documentati on claiming the 
contrary, these arti facts were discovered in digs during 2002 and 2005, not by 
the Nati ve archaeological dig conducted aft er the occupati on of the disputed 
lands which was overseen by the Ministry.  Neither a burial site nor human 
remains have ever been unearthed.  Six Nati ons spokesperson Janie Jamieson 
said the fi ndings strengthen their claims and connecti on to the land: “It just 
goes to show you how far back our connecti on to that territory goes.  Our con-
necti on stems back to our very existence, our creati on.”748   

In reality, the evidence found in the digs has minimal infl uence.  Firstly, it 
needs to be determined if the land was legally and willingly sold or given back 
to the Crown.  Within this context of the dispute, the arti facts bring no weight 
to bear. Secondly, given that the Six Nati ons people occupied the land under 
Joseph Brant in 1784, the arti facts could belong to another Nati ve Nati on, 
albeit an Iroquoian (Longhouse) Nati on, and does it show occupati on to the 
exclusion of all other peoples as outlined in a comprehensive land claim?  For 
this type of claim, the arti facts become relevant.  However, this criterion is not 
part of a specifi c land claim which makes up the bulk of the 29 claims made by 
the Six Nati ons as of 1995, all of which are unanswered.

As of writi ng, the barricades remain at Caledonia, negoti ati ons are ongoing 
as is the convergence of cultures.  Although the violence has subsided for the 
ti me being, the clash of cultures conti nues and by no means is the standoff  at 
Caledonia over.  As of 1 February 2007, the Government of Ontario released 
the fi gures of expenditures thus far for the standoff :
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Table 6—Six Nati ons Negoti ati ons Costs as of February 2007.749  

While the occupati on of the disputed lands at Caledonia/Six Nati ons con-
ti nues, another litt le known standoff  is occurring at the Mohawk Reserve of 
Tyendinaga (Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte) near Belleville, Ontario. Simi-
lar to the Six Nati ons Reserve, Tyendinaga was established by Captain John 
Deserontyon, a Mohawk serving in the Briti sh Army during the American 
Revoluti on. Tyendinaga was named aft er Deserontyon’s superior Joseph 
Brant or Thayendanegea. On the 22 May 1784, Deserontyon and about 20 
families arrived on the shores of the Bay of Quinte, Lake Ontario.  On 1 April 
1793, a tract of land was granted to the Six Nati ons people by the Lieutenant-
Governor of Upper Canada, John Graves Simcoe, in a document known as the 
Simcoe Deed (also referred to as Treaty 3½). The original area of the territory 
was approximately 92,700 acres and currently stands at 18,191 acres with a 
populati on of roughly 7,600 both on and off  the Reserve.

The land in questi on in the current claim, the 923-acre Culbertson Tract, runs 
along the eastern boundary of the Reserve.  The federal government procured 
the land in 1837 and it is this transacti on which is under dispute.  The Mo-
hawks claim that they never surrendered ti tle.  Similar to both Oka and Cale-
donia, the land in questi on was the proposed site of a $35 million, 140-home 
subdivision of developer Intergroup Financing AG headed by Tim Letch.  Con-
structi on was slated to begin on 15 November 2006.  With lett ers of protest 
coming from Chief Don Maracle and members of the community, talks began 
with the federal government, including federal Minister Jim Prenti ce in early 

Item Cost (in millions)

Purchase of Douglas Creek Estates Property 15.8

Other costs paid to Henco 1.1

Acquisiti on of interests of other builders to Douglas Creek lands 4.0

Other costs paid to builders 1.8

Financial Assistance Recovery Program to businesses of Caledonia 1.4

Support for Haldimand County economic recovery acti viti es 
(including chariti es aff ected by lower business contributi ons)

0.56

Policing Operati ons (to date) 21.6

Other Ongoing Costs TBD

Total $46.26 million
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November.  Chief Maracle outlined his community’s stance: “We believe it is 
absolutely imperati ve that the developer should not proceed with the devel-
opment unless there’s some sort of arrangement made that’s agreeable to 
our people,” and must be brokered by the federal government.  Letch, who 
agreed to meet with Maracle, stated that he believes, “the federal govern-
ment should resolve the matt er properly with the Nati ve people.  But I don’t 
think it is my responsibility to resolve it.”  Similar to Caledonia, and to some 
extent Oka/Kanesatake, Nati ve and non-Nati ve communiti es had been living 
harmoniously for decades in what Marcale described as a “ti ght-knit commu-
nity.”  He added that, “I don’t believe any of the citi zens want to see any kind 
of quarrel among neighbours [like Caledonia] over the property, and I think we 
would like to see that harmony conti nue.”750 

Tyendinaga Chief Don Maracle was opti misti c aft er a meeti ng on 10 November 
with Minister of Indian Aff airs Jim Prenti ce: “I think the minister made a very 
positi ve gesture.  It was one we appreciate. I’m very hopeful there’s an op-
portunity to work out something.”  Deseronto Mayor Clarence Ziemen hoped 
the meeti ng resulted in the postponement of constructi on: “I’m not in favour 
of proceeding with this at all at this ti me unti l we get some of this land claim 
issue out of the way.”  The federal government also confi rmed to all parti es 
that there is a claim involving 827 acres of land, including the contested site, 
accepted under Canada’s Specifi c Claims Policy in November of 2003.751  

However, on the proposed day of constructi on, 15 November 2006, roughly 
20-30 Mohawk protestors, claiming that they only intended to post signs, 
blocked a secti on of Highway 2 using two vans, as fi ve Canadian Forces ve-
hicles approached: “It was not a planned blockade, it was just posti ng of the 
land to let people know that it is Mohawk land.  Coincidently, the army drove 
through Deseronto [town] today.  They were stopped and asked why they 
were there, what they were doing in the area.  They were detained for…may-
be half an hour, then they were allowed to go through.”  While the CF vehicles 
were stopped and blocked from both sides, tempers fl ared but there was no 
violence.  The OPP arrived on site shortly aft er to supervise the demonstrati on 
and to divert traffi  c around the roadblock.  In reality, according to CF Cap-
tain Dan Madryga, the convoy was travelling from CFB Borden to CFB Trenton, 
near Tyendinaga, as part of a long road move for a driver training course and 
inadvertently encountered the protestors. The vehicles were all marked with 
yellow signs reading, “Student Driver.”752 

Acti vist Shawn Brant, who is also involved in the Tyendinaga tobacco indus-
try, claimed that he did not, “necessarily agree with the noti on that they 
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[CF] just happened to be passing through.”  He also stated that the community 
of Deseronto has been supporti ve and there were no plans to occupy the land 
on a full-ti me basis, but would conti nue to monitor the situati on and gather 
again in protest if need: “People know what we have here.  We have the 401, 
[rail] tracks, bridges, highways and a lot of infrastructure to manipulate if 
negoti ati ons get stalled.  It was only through the co-operati ve eff orts of the 
band council, Nati ve peoples and other support parti es that it did not happen 
[today].”753

Constructi on was delayed on the housing development while talks ensued be-
tween the Tyendinaga Band Council and Indian Aff airs.  Another protest was 
held on the disputed land on 17 November.  Initi ally, the land claim dispute 
raised fears that the situati on could escalate into one similar to that in Cale-
donia. However, the Tyendinaga Territory’s chief of police, Larry Hay, stated 
that peace will likely conti nue in Deseronto, provided the federal government 
works quickly toward a resoluti on.  Norm Clarke, the incoming mayor of De-
seronto, also said that he hoped the negoti ati ons will resolve the situati on 
quickly.754

On 9 January 2007, Minister Jim Prenti ce announced the appointment of 
Sean Kennedy as chief federal negoti ator to the Tyendinaga Mohawks’ Cul-
bertson Tract specifi c claim: “I have full confi dence in Mr. Kennedy’s abiliti es 
to advance the work to resolve the First Nati on’s specifi c claim and related is-
sues.”755  Despite this announcement, the following day, 20 protestors blocked 
a county road off  of Highway 2, barring access to Thurlow Aggregates quarry, 
which is also on disputed land.  The protestors handed out informati on pam-
phlets to passing motorists.  The protest was not sancti oned by Maracle or his 
council, which believed it to be, “premature considering a federal negoti ator 
has been appointed to sett le the land dispute.”756   

On 12 January, an OPP offi  cer, exercising existi ng warrants arrested Shawn 
Hill and Mario Bapti ste in connecti on with the confrontati on with the CF on 
15 November 2006.  Hill was charged with three counts of utt ering death 
threats, while Bapti ste was charged with two counts of assault and one count 
of mischief.  OPP Spokesperson Sergeant Kristi ne Rae issued a statement to 
“ensure that everyone is aware that the OPP respects lawful protests, but will 
not tolerate criminal acti vity.”757  On 24 January, Tim Letch, the developer, an-
nounced that he had hired a lawyer and planned to bring his grievances to 
court as the landowner. The ongoing protests and barricades at both Caledo-
nia (now entering its second year) and Tyendinaga remind Canadians of the 
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grievances and frustrati ons of today’s First Nati ons Peoples and the ongoing 
convergence of cultures.  

As of 31 December 2006, Indian Aff airs had sett led 277 specifi c land claims 
with another 123 in negoti ati on. Likewise, there have been 29 fi nal agree-
ments for comprehensive land claims, with a further 18 negoti ated in prin-
ciple or subject to a framework agreement.  However, there remain roughly 
800 outstanding comprehensive and specifi c Nati ve land claims lodged with 
Indian Aff airs.758  Hopefully, these and future claims are resolved sati sfactorily 
for all concerned parti es without resorti ng to violence or barricades as were 
witnessed at Akwesasne, Kanesatake, Kahnawake, Ipperwash, Gustafsen Lake, 
Caledonia and Tyendinaga.  The convergence of cultures must be mutually 
benefi cial for both Canada and its Indigenous Peoples.
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Glossary

1 CMBG 1 Canadian Mechanized Brigade Group
1 RCR 1st Batt alion, The Royal Canadian Regiment
1 Int Coy 1 Intelligence Company, 1st Canadian Division
2 CER 2nd Combat Engineer Regiment
2 EW Sqn 2 Electronic Warfare Squadron
2 R22eR 2nd Batt alion, Royal 22e Régiment
2 RCHA 2 Royal Canadian Horse Arti llery
2 RCR 2nd Batt alion, The Royal Canadian Regiment
3 R22eR 3rd Batt alion, Royal 22e Régiment
5 CMBG 5 Canadian Mechanized Brigade Group

ADATS anti -aircraft  missile defence system
ATI Access to Informati on Act
AIM American Indian Movement
AIRCOM Air Command
APC armoured personnel carrier
AR automati c rifl e
ATV all-terrain vehicle
AVGP armoured vehicle, general purpose

BNA Act Briti sh North America Act

CAR Canadian Airborne Regiment
CBC Canadian Broadcasti ng Corporati on
CDS Chief of the Defence Staff 
CF Canadian Forces
CFB Canadian Forces Base
CO commanding offi  cer
CP command post
CS gas 2-chlorobenzalmalononitrile, tear gas
CSIS Canadian Security Intelligence Service

DIAND Department of Indian Aff airs and Northern Development
DND Department of Nati onal Defence

EW Electronic Warfare
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FBI Federal Bureau of Investi gati on (United States)
FIA Freedom of Informati on Act (United States)
FLN Front de Libérati on nati onale (Algeria)
FLQ Front de la Libérati on du Québec
FMC Force Mobile Command

GPMG general purpose machine gun

HMCS Her Majesty’s Canadian Ship
HMG heavy machine gun
hp horsepower
hrs hours
HQ Headquarters
HUMINT Human Intelligence

IAT Indians of All Tribes 
ICAC Intelligence Collecti on and Analysis Centre
ICOM intercepted communicati ons
IRA Irish Republican Army
IS internal security
ISAF Internati onal Security Assistance Force

JIC joint intelligence cell
JOC Joint Operati ons Centre
JTF 2 Joint Task Force 2, Canada’s Special Forces

LAW Light Anti -Tank Weapon
LEA outside law enforcement agencies

MBT main batt le tank
MND Minister of Nati onal Defence

NCM Non-Commissioned Member
NDA Nati onal Defence Act
NDHQ Nati onal Defence Headquarters
NTM noti ce to move

OP observati on post
OPP Ontario Provincial Police
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PA Public Aff airs
PLO Palesti ne Liberati on Organizati on
psyops psychological operati ons

QR&O Queen’s Regulati ons and Orders

RCD Royal Canadian Dragoons
RCMP Royal Canadian Mounted Police
RCO Regroupement des Citoyens d’Oka
ROEs rules of engagement
RPG rocket-propelled grenade
RPK Russian-designed light machine gun
RRF rapid reacti on force
RSM regimental sergeant-major
RTU Returned to Unit
RV recreati onal vehicle

SIGINT Signal Intelligence
SIU Special Investi gati ons Unit
SQ Sûreté du Québec (Quebec Provincial Police)
SSF Special Service Force 

TC Rehabilitati on Treatment Centre
TOW tube-launched, opti cally tracked, wired-guided missile

UN United Nati ons
U.S. United States

VCDS Vice Chief of Defence Staff 
VHF very high frequency

WHO World Health Organizati on
WWII World War Two
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– Timothy C. Winegard

Oka:Oka:The 1990 Oka Crisis is considered a defi ning moment in 

Native-Canadian relations. Contrary to popular belief, it 

was not an isolated event but rather the 300-year long 

convergence of two distinct cultures that culminated in 

a violent clash in the microcosm of Oka and included the 

domestic deployment of the Canadian Forces, 4,500 strong.

Drawing on a strikingly wide range of hitherto untapped 

historical and primary sources, including interviews and 

government documents secured through the Access to Informa-

tion Act, Oka: A Convergence of Cultures and the Canadian
Forces dispels the common mythology and disinformation

surrounding the causes and events of the Oka Crisis. 

Winegard highlights the relevance of Oka, as an integral 

part of Canadian history, towards the formation of govern-

mental policy and the active participation of Indigenous 

Canadians in their ongoing effort to shape and alter their 

social and political realities within Canada and their 

resistance to cultural assimilation. This innovative study 

also engages in a detailed probe of the most controversial 

and volatile Canadian Forces internal security operation of 

the twentieth century.  
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